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The Covid-19 pandemic had a profound
impact on many aspects of national life
in 2020 and it continues to affect people
across the UK in 2021. Channel 4's year
was likewise impacted with all of our
people, places and production severely
affected by the lockdown and ongoing
social distancing requirements.

Always creating
positive change

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Chair's Statement 4




Charles
Gurassa
Chair’s
statement

Qur priority throughout this difficult crisis was to
ensure we played our part in helping, supporting,
informing and entertaining all the Naticns and
Regions of the UK. The Channel 4 team was
focused on keeping the public up to date with the
very latest information available, to explore, explain
and challenge as events unrolled and reach out to
every corner of the country and to all sectors of

the community - one of cur fundamental roles

as a public service broadcaster.

Strong performance

Despite the restrictions of lockdown and the
commercial constraints of reduced budgets, the
organisation’s creative and operational response
to the crisis was swift and effective. Audiences
responded positively to our ‘spirit of the times’

programming, which saw our share of audience grow.

Inthe second half of the year, ourinceme bounced
back rapidly and, together with our cost reduction
initiatives, this enabled us to start reinvesting back
in content, to pay back all furlough money received
from government and to announce a record financial
surplus of £74 million at year-end. Our revenues
were resilient, and we finished the year down only
5% on 2019.

A special thanks is due to our partnersinthe
independent production sector who suffered badly
as a result of cutbacks and restrictions but who,
together with our commissioning team, responded
magnificently to the challenge and created new
formats and compelling content that captured the
imagination of the millions of people stuck at home.

Channel 4 continued to meet or exceed all of
its public remit metrics and to outperform for
younger and diverse audiences. We are the clear
leader as the channel that ‘caters for audiences
others don’t’ and our commitment to inclusion and
diversity is a central tenet of our strategy. As the last
year has shown, there is stitl much work te be done
inthis area both in frent of and behind the camera.

The Personal History of David Copperfield

oo

Our Leeds-based social
business 4Studio has
become the UK’s most
viewed social branded
content partner, amassing
more than 29 million views
across Facebook and
Instagram alone.

Charles Gurassa
Chair’'s Statement
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Digital future

owever, itis Channel 4's exceptional digital #StayAtHome campaign

erformance that stands out the most in 2020.

All 4 - the UK's biggest free streaming platform -
achieved 1.25 billion streams during the year.

ith more than 250 million more views than in 2019,
his is the biggest-ever increase in absolute terms,
and the highest growth rate in percentage terms
kince 2010.
Equally impressively within one year of its

aunch, our Leeds-based social business 4Studio
has become the UK’s most viewed social branded

ontent partner, amassing more than 29 million

iews across Facebook and Instagram alone -
5 nd across all social content, 4Studio achieved
more than 11 billion views of cur content.

The launch of our Futured strategy this year

has put digital at its heart, to give the viewer the
reedom to access great content when and where
hey want. This continued strong performance
S All 4 is a good platform from which to build.

Levelling up

Ali the UK continues apace with the opening of
Hur new digital studios in Leeds last year and our
new permanent headqguarters due to open there
ater this year. 2020 also saw record highs in the

ercentage both of our spend and volume on

ommissions outside of London, atestamentto
our burgeoning partnership with the creative talent
o be tound all around the Nations and Regions.




A vital public service

Public service broadcasters such as Channel 4 are the
ifeblood of the UK's creative industries and we
ecognise that we have an important role to play in the

K’s cultural and economic recovery post the
pandemic and Brexit.

We act as a catalyst and as a pioneer for

nnovation in digital, in stimulating the growth
of the independent production sector and as
b leading media and early stage accelerator
- particularly outside of Londonand among
kmaller companies and freelancer talent,

Against the background of the pandemic, the
year saw a resurgence in demand for high-quality,
Feliable news cantent with viewing numbers up 25%.
In an increasingly noisy and partisan world where' fake
hews’” abounds, Channel 4's news is consistently seen
by the public as a highly trusted independent voice.

Filmmakers experienced unprecedented

hallenges in 2020, yet despite the hostile

orking environment, Film4 continued to support,
develop and produce acclaimed films. From the
double Oscar winning The Father, starring Olivia

oleman and Anthony Hopkins, to the BAFTA-

inning Rocks, directed by Sarah Gavron, and
Armando lannucci’s The Personal History of David

opperfield, it wasanimpressive and diverse
slate from some of the best contermporary film
makers. (Read more about Filmd on pd2.}

Investing
in the future

[t has been an exceptionally challenging year in many
ays, with the organisation having to face up to the
pandemic-induced headwinds of restrictions on
production and a significant reduction in content
investment. These were offset by cur swiftand
imaginative response in creating new formats and
revitalising old favourites which, together with
eaker-than-anticipated competitor schedules and
arge lockdown audiences, enabled Channel 4 to
emerge from this unprecedented volatility in rude
ealth both creatively and financially. Our ability
o respond rapidly to the changing circumstances
roughout the year reflects well on the capabilities
d agility of the organisation and its leadership.
e nter 2021 n good shape, with a strengthened
ce sheet and excellent creative momentum, but
onise that the broader environment continues to
chiy unpredictable and will require continuous
ce and adjustment to unforeseen events.
hat the unprecedented crisis in 2020 has
demonstrated is that Channel 4 operates
ess model that is flexible, competitive
Lilient. What it has also underlined is our
ance as a distinctive, trustworthy and avthentic
oice. As glebal streamers jostie for ashare
K market, and as audiences continve to
t, Channei 4's role as a public service
aster becomes more important than ever.
ally, | would like to thank all my
es at Channrel 4 for the cutstanding
&y have contributed over the past 12
[Dften in the most difficult of personal
Ences, their energy, imagination and
aoilbogscsbled Channel 4 to be
borary and relevant for

We Need Your Butt campaign

The advertising
recovery helped us
end the year with

a stronger balance
sheet returning a
sizeable surplus of




Dialling
Up and
doubling
down

2020 has shown decisively that Channel 4
Is a vital and relevant force in UK public
service media. Our distinctive content

and our ability to tell British stories for our
audiences have never been more needed -
nor more important to protect.

Channel Four Annval Report 2020 Chief Executive’s Statement 8



Alex Mahon
Chief
Executive's
Statement

The year was marked by the Covid-19 pandemic,
which saw Channel 4 deliver responsive and

relevant public service content for all. Althoughthe
first lockdown shut down Channel 4's planned
creative pipeline cvernight, we continued to invest
and deliver reactive and tactical content. This
ensured that we were supporting the independent
production sector through the pandemic and that we
were reflecting the challenges that the UK was facing
onscreen.

At atime of great difficulty for the country, we
were able to provide essentialinformation through
our news and current affairs coverage, as wellas
keeping the nation entertained and informed during
the lockdowns. We commissioned 28 current affairs
films and documentaries in response to the crisisand
worked closely with our production partners to keep
some of our biggest shows, such as The Great British
Bake Off and Gogglebox, on air. The combination
of rapid information and relevant entertainment
ensured that Channel 4 played a vital role in
reassuring and supporting our viewers during 2020
and that cur performance was outstanding.
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Executive's
tatement
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Digital first

Qur strong creative responseled toa significant
ncrease in both our digitaland linear viewing. On digital,
our streaming platform All 4 grew particularly well.
All 4 is the biggest free streaming service inthe
K and we improved and upgraded the service for
onsumers even more during the year. All 4 of course
eatures all of our hit shows (such as Gogglebox, The
reat British Boke Off and Taskmuaster), our huge
library {featuring shows such as Friday Night Dinner,
The Inbetweeners and Scrubs), and All 4 exclusives
such as The West Wing, Married At First Sight and
Buffy: The Vampire Slayer), as wellas our rolling

atalogue of feature films, including Film4 exclusives.

As a result of the quality of the offering and
he fact people were hunkered down at home,
hannel 4 achieved its highest-ever level of views
and biggest-ever annual increase in streaming
jews, to 1.25 billion views in 2020 (up 26% year-
on-year), with 16-34-year-olds accounting forjust
nder half of our monthly average viewers on All 4.
2020 was also transformative for Channel 4's
digital media ambitions, with the creation of
our Leeds-based 45tudio. 4Studio’s mission is
o foster digital-first talent, diversify revenue
:treams and drive digital education across the
pusiness — all with a clear focus on reaching young
Judiences wherever they are consuming content.
he team had a phenomenal year, achieving
ore than 11 billion views of our content across
digital media and creating our first slate of digital-
only content. During the year, 4Studio signed
mportant partnerships with key social ptatforms
ncluding YouTube and Snapchat (see page 75).

rowtninu
viewing
Channel 4's creative slate stood out from O
public service broadcasters and global stream®
during 2020. Across our genres - from our
investigative current affairs films and documentdie
about Covid-19 and our regularly extended news
programmes, to our biggest returners and new sha
_ audiences found Channel 4 content 0 be relevess
and responsive to their needs. Stand-out exampldg
include films such as A Day in the Life of Coronavi
Britain or the programmes from our Stay At Homg
Academy, which featured some of Britain’s mosY
loved presenters, including Jamie Oliver (Jamie
Keep Cooking and Carry On), Kirstie Allsopp (KIFSig
Keep Crafting and Carry On} and many others.

Throughout 2020, programmes such as
Grayson’s Art Club, Gogglebox, Steph’s Pocked
Lunch and many others reflected our Nations in Bl
of their diversity. Alongside these, 1am very proug
of essential pieces The Talk and Take Your Knee
Off My Neck, which locked at the inherent racism
and injustice that black people face in Britain.
Content like this underlines our very purpose,
1o create change through entertainment.

Thanks to our strong creative response and
despite many major shows being cancelled,
we recorded 2% growth in viewing share toour T
channel portfolio, to 10.1% - our first year-on-yea
increase since 2011. The main channel had 3% grg

The Great British Bajs




jewers grew by 2% year-on-year, while 16-34-year-
td viewing share increased by a notable 7% on
e main channel (and grew an impressive 15% in
Beak-time) showing that our strategy of focusing on
ontent for those audiences delivered. In addition
o our strong creative response and swift actions,
& also benefited from the loss of some key events

on other channels, which are likely to return in 2021,

wift and prudent
action

he Covid-19 pandemic also unfortunately required
mediate changes to how we operate and our ability
o invest. However, Channel 4's unique modelasa
hublisher-broadcaster, in which we reinvest all of cur
evenues into the delivery of our creative remitand
Burpose, allows us to work nimbly and adapt quickly
b external circumstances, even if these decisions
fere not always easy or popular.
The dramatic nature of the pandemic and the
mediate impact of lockdown on production and
B vertising revenues meant that we had to take
Byift and prudent action to keep the schedules
Bive and also balance the books. This was not
omething that we wanted to do, and we fully
ecognise and lament the adverse impact that
lostponing shows and reducing content investment
ad on our partners in the production community.
At the start of the second quarter of the year,
ot only were revenues declining with alarming
olatility, but we all had alack of visibility of when
& economy might recover. Additionally, many
ajor shows like Hollyoaks and The Circle were
possible to produce inthe circumstances.
To protect our long-term sustainability and
bysure that we could continue to commission the
Brogrammes that viewers expected of Channel 4
iroughout the crisis, we identified £95 million of
ash savings that we could implement through a
DIl review of projects and investments if required,
byl then up to £150 million of savings from
alays and stopping spend in our 2020 content
Rudget. We created a set of financial planning
k-enarios to ensure liquidity and safeguarding of
e business through a wide range of situations.
In our content spend reductions, we ring-fenced
50% of our spending for ethnically-diverse-led,
ations and Regions based, and small indies
o ensured that we kept development spend
orotected. We also invested £16 millionin our
ast-turnaround Covid-19 programming. As soon
; the market started to improve in the autumn, we
ere able to reinvest tens of millions back into the
ontent budget and, by working collaboratively and
iftly with our production partners, we introduced
novative ways to keep producing programmes for
ur audiences, supporting jobs in productionand
alping to attract investment back into the market.
We did furlough a small volume of staff as certain
eas of work reduced during Q2/Q3; however,
s we came through the autumn, we repaid all
uricugh monies to the Exchequer, We also donated
£ 250,000 to the Covid-19 Filmand TV Emergency
Pelief Fund, to support its work with the freelance
ommunity, which is the lifeblood of Channel 4
d the wider sector. We sincerely appreciate our

ol o) artal ! [ alda sdatal ala o

The Talk

Steph’s Packed Lunch

BT R SElikels recognise the strength

Erakesilicuectodihe Channel 4 team. | am
menseoratettl for their efforts this year
Eoclicy i sydeentinued to deliver exceptional
e ath ielononisthe crisis, despite being
hdegiiemendels personal pressures.

IE T Rekogthe: strength of our creative response
B aRlstienserihan -expected bounceback in the
Perean s nelmatcet, our overall revenues for the year
enelienaukapidiesilient, finishing the year down
e vIsE Aol o8I combination with the decisive
Fosd avnesineiernented in response {o the
[Bancenichtinsiesulted in Channel 4 ending the year
v eYs e a Blesimancial surplus of £74 million, the
hishesyifevdlistory. This puts us in a position wherg
b Yea nteeatniciia (nvest in the UK's creative secto
TN dEn et rategy though 2021 and beyond.

Cleagstrategy

likeselfacHadatedof the year, we launched anew
Clate pydiog@naonel 4 in order to respond to
ol r e ewinedhabits. Future4 is focused on
i rstomnnetenannet 4 into a digital-first public
Iceavicekaioan caster ('PSB') by growing our
Siieaminandlisoeial platforms while maintaining
o linear echedulc
Weliareleet mbitious, three-year targets for
p. 7. 0 e Ve nedaoubling the viewing on All 4, for
FHleas e dededonr total revenues to come from
e levennsined and at least 10% of our total
ievenyestateaumelfrom non-advertising sources.
e elivediais, we are prioritising digital
£y Sdratings; putting viewers at the
ea e foldd eeision-making; diversifying new
lieventelsineamstto underpin our sustainability; and
feeusneentsimatesic partnerships to compete magg
Eii atve WA St mlambitious and comprehensivg
mlEelEnseimlchannel 4 into a digital PSB t
LEra r oY rydistinetve brand and public service
i pa el tetals of Future4 are on page 22.
BEcatsetalfat our revenues go back into
et Sincl@anoel 4's remit, this benefits both
Pewertandreteeative industries. We are
owl nlafeastiong position to continue to
invesdnfondanttied strategy and develop the
igodl=tionlceator for years to come.
FelliEehafiiauk our people, our creative
Shclcommensaipartners, the Channel 4 Board
B aleveenelelselwho has supported us in th
el esaleneasstaduring these unprecedents
i esAOsHimpegtantly, |‘d like to thank oy
Vi even o wiosskstieaming and linear, for thg
tl SRl el ey have sivan ta Channal 4







annel 4's purpose

O Create
hange through
entertainment

We aim to create change in
the wider world through all
of our activities: from TV,
to streaming, social media
and film - and our day-to-
day roles at Channel 4. it's
the impact that Channel 4
has on society, on viewers,
on British culture, on the
creative industries and on
the wider economy. it's
why Channel 4 is — and will
continue to be - different.
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hannel 4’s vision
Represent
unheard voices

Channel 4 has a strong
commitment to representing
he whole of the UK. It
means using our strong
brand and wide reach to
elevate unheard voices -
rom diverse communities,
emerging writers and
producers, to those who
have different points of
iew or experiences.

L2
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Channel 4's visiOl

We are here to challenge
sroupthink and hold
power to account. We
don’t challenge for the
sake of it. We are here

o test boundaries and
challenge conventions,

[BLISIE A L NPY



Channel 4's vision
Reinvent
entertainment

Channel 4 has a long-
established role
as an innovator in the
creative industries
across ‘entertainment’
in the broadest sense:
e challenge ourselves
o continuously refresh
hat we do creatively; to
develop new and emerging
alent; to find new ways of
reaching audiences; and to
wcd new ways of working
our partners.
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In 2020, the single biggest thing that we were able
to do in order to support the TV and film production

sector was to continue commissioning and producing
programmes through the pandemic. Unlike other |
commercial broadcasters — many of which have

private shareholders — Channel 4 reinvests its profits

back into working with the creative industries and
delivering on its remit.

Deadwater Fell

Covid-19:
Our work
with producers

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Channel 4's response 20
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Like the rest of the world, in March 2020, Channet 4
found itselfina pandemic. This presented huge
challenges for broadcasters and the creative
industries.

To ensure that we could navigate through the
economic impact of the crisis, we took swift action
and put into place immediate financial measures to
enable us to protect Channel 4's ongoing ability to
serve its audiences and invest in the UK's creative
industries. Channel 4's unigue model as a publisher-
breadcaster, as well as our culture and size, enables
us to be agile and respond quickly.

This included identifying up to £150 million of
reductions to our 2020 content budget and a further
£95 million of cash savings that we wereready to
implement across our projects and investments if
required. These significant cuts had a significant
impact on our production partners, but where
we could we ring-fenced budget to maintain our
support for the sector, to keep production staff in
work and te continue commissioning originated
content that audiences wanted and needed to
get through these unprecedented times.

Cur focus was to protect our spend outside
of London and we achieved the highest-ever
percentage of spend cutside of London on the main
channelin 2020, with 47% of our spend on first-run
originations from production companies Inthe
Nations and Regions. We also continued to work with
as many producersin 2020 as the year before - 274
intotal - of which 161 were independent producers
{2019: 166) and 37 were new suppliers (2019: 43).

Production companies and their creative teams
showed huge inventiveness and resourcefulness in
finding ways to make shows in difficult conditions,
as well as to keep some of our biggest shows on air,
such as Gogglebox and The Great British Bake Off
among others.

Our twin editorial pricrities were to reflect
the real impact of the pandemic on people’s
lives and to help our audiences through
lockdown - including through vital public
health messaging to stay at home (page 66).

From mid-March, we commissioned highly
relevant current affairs films and documentaries,
tackling burning questions such as how to protect
yourself against the virus or what is the impact of the
pandemic an the elderly, NHS workers and members
of ethnic minorities. QOverall, we commissioned
28 current affairs films and documentaries in
response to the crisis, with many of them rating
highly amongst audiences. These complemented

The Great British Bake Off

cur unrivalled news coverage of the pandemic,
which featured regularly extended bulletins and
additional programmes - read more on page 48,

From the end of the summer, and into the early
autumn, the advertising market saw a notable
bounce back and, while total revenues for the year
were down 5% on 2019, this recovery meant that we
were able to return £11 millien back into our 2020
content budget to spend with producers. We also
donated £250,000 to the Covid-19 Film and TV
Emergency Relief Fund, to support freelancers -
building on mentoring, training and cther practical
support from our commissioning team through
the crisis.

Channel 4 has always been at its best when
thereis a hig creative challenge that requires fresh
thinking under pressure. This Annual Report tells
the story of how we responded to the pandemic,
how audiences reacted to our content - and
how we have emerged stronger as a result.

We would like

to thank our
production and
commercial
partners for their
support in 2020.

21




FUTURE 4.

Targets:

Double All 4 viewing
by 2025

Digital advertising
to be at least 30% of
total revenue by 2025

Non-advertising to
be at least 10% of
total revenue by 2025
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Celebrity Snoop Dogs

Since Channel 4 was
created in 1982, it has

been at the centre of
national conversations

and has been instrumental
in being a catalyst for the
creation of a world-beating
production sector in the UK.

Channel 4's model enables us to adapt quickly to
how our environment is changing and respond to
market challenges head-on. Our Future4 strategy
builds upon our strong track record of digital
innovation and will accelerate Channel 4's
transformation to digital by driving online viewing
and new revenues. It is an ambitious and
comprehensive plan to transform Channel 4 intoa
digital PSB that retains its distinctive brand and
nublic service impact.

By giving us a strong bias towards digital growth,
Future4 will ensure that Channel 4 thrives inthe
digital age and continues to deliver for the creative
industries, the economy and the wider public.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Future4 22




Content: Prioritise digital
growth over linear ratings

A central goal of the Future4 strategyis to
double All 4 viewing by 2025. To achieve this,
we are dialling up our ambitions for All 4 and
doubling down on the types of programmes
that we know people love to binge on demand.

» Investing mere in highly distinctive, young-skewing
formats, which are the engines of All 4's success

* Using deeper audience insights to find shows that
drive streaming

* Maximising use of our Leeds-based digital content
hub, 45tudio, to produce more original shorts and
grow branded digital entertainment

* Continuing te be as noisy and unruly as ever and
finding new inventive and entertaining ways of
engaging people with the most importantissues

» Launching a £30 million Global Format fund to
investin new British-created and produced content
formats that have global potential

Viewers: Put viewers at the
heart of our decision-making

Viewers’ expectations are changing in a digital
world. They expect Channel 4 to know how,
where and why they watch. They expect more
content, communications and experiences
based on their motivations - not just their
demographics.

® Using a more viewer-centric approach toinform
activity and decisions across Channel 4

s Rolling out personalisation features on Al 4,
including smarter recommendations

* Evolving how we commission, schedule, plan and
develop products, sell and market to putviewers
at the heart of whatwe do

* Refining cur channel brands and their connection
with their editorial positioning

Commercial: Diversify new
revenue streams to underpin
our sustainability

We have clear commercial targets as part of the
Future4 strategy: digital advertising to be at
least 30% of total revenue and non-advertising
to be at least 10% of total revenue by 2025.

* Innovating our core advertising proposition for
adigital world through data-driven targeting,
including allowing clients to ‘bring their own data’
to target All 4 viewers via our BrandMatch offer

* Diversifying our revenue streams by making the
most of our ad-free All 4+ propaosition and
scaling the Indie Growth Fund and Channel 4
Ventures further, as well as launching new
Global Fermat Fund

* Provide innovative partnership opportunities for
our clients, including creative solutions, ad-break
takeovers, short-form and long-form branded
contentand access to talent

Partnerships: Focus on
strategic partnerships to
compete more effectively

Channel 4 has partnership in its DNA and
our success is built upon working with other
organisations, and this will become even
more important in the future.

¢ Building upon our network and forging new
arrangements to get our content in front of the
right audiences, more of the time

» Further developing mutually beneficial
collaboration in production, advertising,
distribution and technology

23




2020 at a glance

Putting
digital first

£161m record digital
advertiSing revenue (1% year on yearl

making up 17% of total corporation revenue and reflecting
Channel 4's strong strategic focus on accelerating digital
1.25bn programme

streaming views 6%

the highest-ever level and biggest-ever annual
increase in absolute terms

14,500 hours of content
available on streaming

making All 4 the biggest free streaming service in the UK

24m

viewers registered on All4, including 80% of
all16-24-year-olds and 16-34-year-olds in the UK,
making it the youngest-profiling UK PSB streaming service

Rick and Morty

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Grayson's Art Club

Financial
sustainability
despite
vuncertain times

£934m corporation revenue
(-£517m on 2019)

revenues remained resilient (down only 5% on 2019} even as
Covid-19 hit demand for advertising

£74m pre-tax surplus s100m on 2019)

the highest surplus in our 38-year history, delivered as a result of
Channel 4's swift and decisive financial response at the start of
the pandemic and the rapidly-improving ad market towards the
end of the year

£20Tm net cash reserves* .ss4mon2019

the second-highest positive cash flow in our history and the first
time Channel 4 has been cash positive since 2015 (see p130}

* Cashreserves reflect the sum of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and other

financial assets net of cash borrowings at the balance sheet date, defined on p186.
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Supporting the
British creative
industries

£522m total

content spend (o01s: ss60m)

identifying up to £150m of cuts to our content budget during the
year, two-thirds of which were for programmes that could no longer
be made in 2020. This allowed us to focus on the productions that
could still go ahead, enabling us to maintain our support for the
creative industries through the panderic and to release funds for
content investment later in the year, as the situation improved

£370m spend
on originated content :ors. 492

despite the originated content budget being reduced, we
ring-fenced the budget where we could to ensure that we could
create content that audiences needed to get through these
unprecedented times

47% of spend on first-run
originations came from
the Nations and Regions 2019. 46%)

the highest-ever percentage of investment outside of London
on the main channet

161independent producers
worked with in 2020 o9: 166)

274 producers worked with in total (equal with 2019),
of which 37 were new suppliers (2019: 43)

£250k donated
to the Film and TV Charity

supporting the mentoring and training for
those in the industry during Covid-19
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Must-watch
content

+2% growth in viewing share to
our TV channel portfolio to 10.1%

our first year-on-year increase since 2011, as viewers
turned to PSBs for news and entertainment during 2020

+3% growth in main channel
viewing share t0 5.9%

despite increased competition in the linear TV space
and the migraticn of viewers to streaming services

+7% growth in main channel
viewing share among
16-34-year-olds to 8.6%

the highest share since 2011, and 15% growth in
peak-time share to 10.7% (the highest level since 2007)

+2% growth in main channel
viewing share among
ethnically-diverse viewers to 5.2%

our highest ethnicalty-diverse yearly share since 2013
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Represent

unheard voices

Channel 4 commits to being representative of the
whole of the UK. Diversity of thought is as important
to us as other characteristics. This means hearing
from people right across the UK, from voices that
are often not heard on TV and from a wide range of

diverse communities.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020
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Take Your Knee O

My Neck



Diverse views

Channel 4 is proud of its tong history of inclusion and
diversity. Ensuring that diverse voices are portrayed
on screen in an avthentic manner is a key element of
our public service remit.

Highlights on All 4 and Charnel 4 this year
included positive and accurate representations of all
facets of diversity - whether disability or gender,
sexuality or ethnicity, diversity of thought or diverse
voices from all over the UK - in the likes of Lucy
Kirkwoaod's Adult Material, a dark comedy series
about the porn industry; Me and My Penis, which
took an uncompromising look at 21st-century
masculinity; or Peter: The Human Cyborg, a filmthat
documented the life of scientist Peter Scott-Morgan
as he navigates life with Motor Neurone Disease.

Qur daily live lunchtime show, Steph’s Packed
Lunch, filmed in Leeds, regularly featured a range of
voices, ranging from politicians such as Michael
Portillo, Baroness Warsi, Anna Soubry and Alan
Johnson, to many regional and diverse voices from
across the UK.

Divided Britain: The Lockdown Debate saw
Chonnel 4 News’ Krishnan Guru-Murthy chaira
debate about the October Covid-19 lockdowns.
Featuring a range of voices - from hospitality
business owners to police officers, intensive care
doctors to entrepreneurs and head teachers - the
debate asked whether the lockdown was too tough
or too late, too far or not far enough.

The Yorkshire Jobcentre went behind the scenes
at a busy job centre in Leeds, revealing the lives of
those living on benefits and the job coaches’ efforts
to help them. Viewers described it as “informative”,
“honest” and “thought-provoking”, with more than
75% of those surveyed agreeing that it “gave a voice
to those typically marginalised in society” and that it
reflected the diversity of the UK.

Take Your Knee Off My Neck

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

46.5%

The Black and Proud
season reached

46.5% of the population

(28.2 million viewers)

Supporting proud
black voices

Three weeks after George Floyd was killed, and as
Black Lives Matter protests spread around the world,
Channel 4 announced a series of five original shorts
by black filmmakers, to be available on streaming
and to watch on linear TV. The Take Your Knee OFff My
Neck series formed a collective - and urgent -
protest about the systemic racism and injustice
black people continue to face in Britain. They
included perscnal stories of racial abuse in My First
Time; a powerful call to action by George the Poet;
and an exploration of the impact of the toppling of
Edward Colston’s statue in The Shadow of Slavery,

Channel 4 also commissioned The Talk, in which
Tinie Tempah, Emeli Sandé and other well-known
Black Britons shared their poignant and emotional
experiences of the conversations parents have to
help their children face racism. The programme was
described as “emative”, “eye-opening” and
“honest”, with nine in ten viewers saying it
highlighted the importance of having open
discussions about race, and sevenin ten agreeing
that it explored racism in a way they'd not seen
beforeonTV.

To mark Black History Month in October,
Channel 4 curated a season of classic and new
programming, on All 4 and across our channels,
under the Black and Proud banner. Compared to
2019, views of our collection celebrating Black
History Month on All 4 were up by 67%.

The seasonincluded documentaries such as
Damiicla: The Boy Next Door and Hair Power: Me and
My Afro; comedies such as iconic sitcom Desmond’s
and Michaela Coel’s E4 hit Chewing Gum) and Film4
titles such as 12 Years a Siave and Hidden Figures.
The season reached a huge 46.5% of the population,
equivalent to more than 28 million viewers. Eightin
ten viewers agreed that the programmes helped to
break taboos, while 85% said they sparked
conversations on racism in society.

We also announced a Black Takeover Day to
showcase black talent on screenin 2027, A year on
from the death of George Floyd and leading into
Black History Month, this will encompass every
genre and service, and will be one of the most radical

diversity interventions in the channel's history.

Represent unheard voices
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Council House Britain

Deadwater Fell
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A Day in the Life of Coronavirus Britain

oo

...a beautiful
programme.
Heartbreaking,
hopeful, uplifting,
funny, poignant
and real.

A Day in the Life of
Coronavirus Britain

In March 2020, as the UK approached its first
lockdown, Channel 4 was confronted with the
challenge of how best to respond editorially to
Covid-19. A key early decision was te commission
fast-turnaround programming throughout the crisis,
to respond to our audience’s needs and to support
the independent production industry,

An editorial priority was to reflect how the
pandemic was affecting people’s lives. Amongsta
series of highly reactive current affairs programmes,
A Day in the Life of Coronavirus Britain was an
extraordinary film from Leeds-based Candour
Productions that brought together foctage shot by
over 3,000 members of the public to capture a
snapshot of British life in lockdown during a 24-hour
pericd. It epitomised our ability to move quickly:
ptanned in two and a half weeks, it was filmed ona
single Friday, edited over the weekend and then
broadcast on the following Monday, 6 April. The
documentary captured the many acts of creativity
and kindness that characterised the first lockdown
alongside the trials and tribulations of home-
schooling, caring for people who were ill or self-
isolating and working from home. Its large cast
included police, nurses, doctors, binmen and
supermarket shelf stackers.

A Day in the Life of Coronavirus Britain
reached almest two million people and was
applauded for making them smile, cry and feel
good, with one viewer from Leeds summing it
up as “...a beautiful programme. Heartbreaking,
hopeful, uplifting, funny, poignant andreal.” A
superhuman effort in production, it was rewarded
with an Edinburgh Festival TV Award nomination
for Creativity in Crisis and an AlB nomination
for Best Domestic Affairs Documentary.
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ain channelshare 10
6-34-year-olds (+7% yea
on-year), the highest figure

since 2011

Reaching
young people

e continue to work hard to engage with young
people, however and wherever they watch TV.
In 2020, record numbers of people watched our
ontent on All 4, with views up 26% to significantly
over one billion for the first time ever - of which
§-34-year-olds accounted for just under half.
In addition, a growing number of shows —
including Leaving Neverland: Michael Jackson
and Me; Spencer, Yogue and Wedding Two, and
alebs Go Dating ~ now attract more young
iewers on All 4 than on traditionat TV.
Viewing to cur main channet among young
peopte also rose by 7% year-on-year to 8.6%,
he highest figure since 20%1. During the first
jockdown in the spring, Channel 4 was watched
by more 16-34-year-olds than any other TV
hannelin the 8-11pm siot for 12 consecutive
Friday nights, thanks to the pertformance
of Gogglebox and Friday Night Dinner.
Channel 4 remains the third most pepular TV
hannel for young pecple, behind only ITV and BBC
One - and it grew more strongly than either of them.
Ouryouth-focused channel, E4, saw the
6-34-year-old share fall by 17% in 2020, to 3.9% its
owest levelin the last decade. Increased competition
amongst digital channels was exacerbated this year
by the pause in filming of popular soap Hollyocks
cue to Covid-19; with 37% fewer episodes being
aired, thisimpacted overall E4 viewing by young
people. Nevertheless, E4 remained the second-
ost-watched digital TV channelin the UK for
6-34-year-olds, behind onty ITV2. And across
hannel 4's whole TV portfotio, total 16-34-year-
olds viewing held steady year-on-year.
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Quentin Blake's Clown

Younger viewers

For younger viewers, our focus was on popular
mainstream programming that reflects their lives and
interests and helps them to better understand the
world around them.

Meat the Family, in which families considered their
eating habits by caring for animals athome, had a
strong appeal to 14-19-year-olds with its educative
content; 57% of viewers said they spoke about the
issues raised inthe programme with others,

Award-winning The School That Tried to End
Racism attracted a substantial 17% viewing share
amongst 10-15-year-clds, 148% above slot average
for this age group. Almost half of the parents who
watched it said that the programme motivated them
to ensure their children mix with friends from
different raciai or cultural backgrounds, The Daily

Telegraph called it “positive and thought-provoking”,

while the Daily Muil said it was a “brave and thought-
provoking initiative”.

Older children were also treated to a festive
treat in Quentin Blake's Clown, a glorious animated
adaptation narrated by Helena Bonham Carter,
at Christmas.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

oo

Positive
and thought-
provoking...

The Daily Telegraph

The Schoot That Tried to End Racism
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Mollyoaks
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Hollyoaks

oo

The soap most
willing to take
on challenging
issues — and do
them justice.

Hollyoaks

Twenty-five years since Hollyoaks hit our screens,
the young-skewing soap continuestoearna
reputation for grit as well as glamour, breaking
hard-hitting stories and bravely tackling taboos that
affect young pecople’slives.

2020 saw Hollyoaks launch on Snapchat’s
Discover platform, with short-form made-for-mobile
episodes going live immediately afterairingon E4,
All 4 and Channel 4. The launch also featured an
innovative bespoke augmented reality lens, which
allowed Snapchat users to create their own cliff-
hanger finale, complete with the Hollyoaks theme
tune and end credits.

Major storylines featured during the year
included child exploitation, male depression and
post-partum psychosis, helping to start
conversations on big social issues and boldly going
where no soap has gone before.

Like other broadcasters’ socaps, production of
Hollyoaks was suspended in March 2020, which
affected its performance, especially on linear.

We were forced to reduce the number of weekly
episodes transmitted before having to take it off air
completely over the summer months. The
resumption of production allowed Hollyoaks to
return to the screens in September. Despite these
disruptions, per-episode views on All 4 were up by
10% year-on-year amongst young avdiences.

Performance was also strong on social
platforms, where Holiyooks continues to innovate
- from its multi-award-winning #DontFilterFeelings
campaign to made-for-mobite shows on Snapchat’s
Discover platform, where users can create thefr own
cliff-hanger endings. Nearly 30% of viewers aged
16-34 think the show is “for people like me”
{answering six or above on a ten-point scale}.

Hollyouks was named ‘Best Soap or Continving
Drama’ at last year's Broadcast Awards, where
judges described it as “the soap most willing to take
on challenging issues - and do them justice”.
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Leeds Dock

We don't pretend
he hard stuffisn’t

vw-

Why isitimpo
Lunchis broad

We are rooted

doesn’t usuallyTiave anee

coming out of it. This makdSUs v -
of our studio backdrop at Leeds Dock, buti
also means that we've been able to providd
work to a lot of talented people, on and off 4
based in the North who can‘t - ordon’t wand
- move to London to work on national TV.

What impact are you tooking to have on
viewers?

We've thought hard about what our audiencd
needs and wants right now. We aim to entertd
but also give them a lot of information to hetp
their lives. For example, we received a
heartbreaking letter from a mum struggling to
feed her children. She asked for our help, so w8
tailored a cooking item to help with cooking on
a small budget.

It's about creating aninclusive environment on
the show. We don’t judge, so our guests feel
comfortable to be open, such as Chris Kamara
tatking about the racism that he suffered in his
football career, which touched so many of our
viewers.

We're also the only daytime show running a job
clinic where we get employers on to talk about
the vacancies they have and give advice on
applying for them - so far, we've highlighted
more than 30,000 roles.

Public service broadcasting is about more tha
news. We use our platform to entertain and
inspire our audience. We don‘t pretend the
hard stuff isn’'t happening, but we aim to
motivate and inspire people through it, while
also being part of their daily routine atatime
when most other habits have disappeared. We
bring everyone together; we laugh and then
hopefully we leave people feeling like ot
a bit more propacasts aaubotong
coming next.







Gogglebox

Since hitting our screens eight years ago, Gogglebox
has captivated viewers with its intimate glimpse
inside the nation’s living rooms, presenting a modern
Britain and becoming one of the most representative
shows anywhere on TV, offering regional, econemic,
ethnic and political diversity.

Filming during the pandemic required a more
complex production process using rigged cameras
and a remote crew, but it was worth the effort. As
people were stuck at home watching TV, watching
other people stuck at home watching TV provided
welcome light relief, and series 16 of Gogglebox
drew its highest audience ever across both volume
and share {as well as its biggest-ever 16-34 -year-old
share, at 39.2%). The series gained a further
2.0 million viewers on the main channel year-on-
year, with an average of 5.8 million consolidated
viewers per episode and a 25% viewing share, while
on All 4 it was consistently amongst the top three
shows for all ages. lts geographically diverse cast
contributed to its strong regional appeal; viewers in
Wales and the North of England were 16% more likely
to tunein than those in the rest of the UK.

With the sense of companionship and shared
experience it gave viewers during the pandemic,

81% of viewers rated Gogglebox as “good” or
“great”, more than any other Channel 4 show during
lockdown. “It’s the one tiny bit of normalcy and
routine that brightens up my week,” said one viewer.
Others described Gogglebox as "an old friend”, “the
light at the end of the tunnel” and “the healing balm

| so desperately needed”. It's the show that “turned
Friday night into laughter night" and “captured the
mood of the nation”,

oo

It's the one
tiny bit of
normalcy and
routine that
brightens up
my week.
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4 All the UK

Our 4 All the UK programme - which supports creative
talent and companies across the UK - made good
progress in 2020.

Our new Bristol office in Finzels Reach formally
opened in January. We now have more than 220
employees - including key Commissioners across
multiple content genres - working in the Nations and
Regions. This includes the Head of Features &
Daytime based in Glasgow, and the Head of Drama
and Head of Sport based in Leeds.

Despite the disruption from Covid-19, we
increased the proportions of our content sourced
from the Nations and Regions in 2020. In spend
terms, we achieved cur highest-ever level of
investment outside London on the main channel,
with 47% of our expenditure on first-run criginated
programming sourced from suppliers in the Nations
and Regions (one percentage point up year-on-year).
Across our TV portfolio, we spent £141 million on
programmes from production companies based
outside of London. Reflecting the Covid-19-related
reduction in the overall content budget, this was
down 25% on 2019's record level of £189 million.

Industry engagement continued throughout
2020. Independent producers from across the UK
attended a series of genre briefings and insight
sessions held in early summer, while our indie
Growth Fund (see page 77) made its first investment
into a Wales-based independent producer, Yeti, We
alsc launched the Emerging Indie Fund, to provide
financial assistance for slate development
underpinned by significant Commissioner
commitment to help enable small, emergingindies
across the UK grow. 11 companies, representing
every genre, were selected from more than
140 applications.

We continued to strengthen talent pools and
create opportunities inthe Nations and Regions.
Some 1,300 people participated in a four-week
virtual training programme that Channel 4 hosted
in conjunction with the National Film and Television
School ('NFTS’), specifically aimed at independent
producers and freelancers outside of London.

In October, we launched our new commitment to
training and development, 4Skills, This initiative is
focused on attracting people from diverse
backgrounds into our industry and progressing

the careers of those already within the sector, witha
particular focus on the Nations and Regions. We also
led on the creation of a new employment initiative in
the North of England, partnering with TV Talent North
to link indies with freelancers who are looking for
work. Delivered over social platforms, the initiative
attracted 3,000 members in just three months.

Qur aspiration is to rolt this out to other parts of the
UK in 2021

And we built on our relationships with the
Nations’ screen agencies. A new funding partnership
with Screen Scotland supported the development of
creative output from independent production
companies based in $cotland; a model we also hope
to replicate elsewhere.

x0g9)138809
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Everybody’s Talking About Jamie

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Film4

The closing of cinemas, curtailing of the fitm festival
circuit and difficulty of shooting under Covid-19
restrictions for much of the year meant that Film4
was as impacted as many other parts of Channel 4.
Production was disrupted, as was the release of films
that had already been shot. A number of planned
cinema releases were postponead untit 2021, and
most of those that were released in 2020 were either
premiered on streaming platforms or had just a very
limited theatrical retease in the few short periods of
the year when some cinemas were open. Despite
these challenging circumstances, Channel 4's
feature film division still achieved notable successes,

Six Film4 productions were shot and completed

in the (ast four months of the year, working within

the lockdown restrictions. Eva Husson’s adaptation
of Graham Swift's Mothering Sunday led the way,
starring Oscar-winners Olivia Colman and Colin
Firth. Film4 backed new films from two other rising
European female auteurs: £arwig from Lucile
Hadzihalilovig, and Titane, Julia Ducournauw’s highly
anticipated follow-up to her debut Raw. Michael
Pearce followed up his BAFTA-winning Film4-backed
debut Beast with the US-set Invasion, starring Riz
Ahmed and Octavia Spencer. And Boxing Day, a
Christmas-set romantic comedy with an all-black
cast from writer-director-star Aml Ameen was the
first of two comedy debuts to shoot, alongside Brian
& Chorles, featuring the comic creation of writer-star
David Eart.

Steve McQueen began shooting his first
documentary feature, The Qccupied City, in
Navember. Basil Khalil got under way with his debut
feature A Gaza Weekend. John Michael McDonagh's
The Forgiven, starring Ralph Fiennes and Jessica
Chastain, was able to wrap late-summer after being

Represent unheard voices
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The Personal History
of David Copperfield
went on to gross

fom

at the UK box office

shut down during the first tockdown. And Film4
also backed a collection of five short films from new
voices, visions of British dystopia/vtopia through a
black cultural lens.

Turning to films that were released this year,
Armando lannucci’s witty and charming take on
Dickens’ classic The Personal History of David
Copperfield, starring Dev Patel, was the sole Film4
title that had something close to a fuit theatrical run
before the pandemic closed cinemas in Britain,
Released in January, it went on to gross over £6
million at the UK box office, and was widely praised
by critics. Other titles that launched in the first
quarter of the year - Michael Winterbottom’s fast
fashion satire Greed: Justin Kurzel’s revisionist take
on a mythical Australian outlaw True History of the
Kelly Gang; and Nick Rowland’s thrilling debut Calm
with Horses - were all impacted to some degree by
the introduction of Covid-19 restrictions.

Later in the year, Coky Giedroyc’s adaptation of
Caitlin Moran's bestselling semi-autobiographical
novel How to Build a Girl piveted from a planned
summer cinema release to a debut on Amazon Prime;
and Rocks, the critically acclaimed slice-of-life
drama about a multicultural group of East Lendon
schoolgirls frem director Sarah Gavron, similarly
pivoted to Netflix after a brief bow in cinemas. Rose
Glass’s debut Saint Maud - named by fitm critic Mark
Kermode as one of his top ten films of the year -
grossed a creditable £800k in cinemas with social
distancing limits in place, just before the country
returned to lockdown in November.

High-profile films whose releases were pushed
hack to 2021 include the adaptation of Everybody’s
Talking About Jamie from the creators of the original
smash hit stage musical; Edgar Wright's Last Night in
Soho, starring The Queen’s Gambit's Anya Taylor-
Joy; awards frontrunner The Father starring Anthony
Hopkins and Olivia Colman, adapted by Florian
Zeller from his own play; and the incredibie true story
of a prize-winning Welsh racehorse, Dream Horse.

Ben Sharrock's Limbo, a wry comedy-drama
about asylum seekers awaiting the outcome of their
asylum application on a remote Scottishistand, sold
to distributors around the world after becoming an
international film festival hot ticket. The film made its
world premiere in Toronto, after being awarded the
Cannes 2020 selection label and following the
festival’s cancellation due to Covid-19. Cathy
Brady’s debut feature Wildfire is also slated for
cinema release in 2021 following a Torento bow.

Film4 finished 2020 on a high, with 52
nominations for the British Independent Film
Awards, with Saint Maud, Rocks and Calm with
Horses comprising three of the four most highly
neminated films.

Mothering Sunday

Calm With Horses
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vorking off screel

12020, Channel 4 turbocharged its efforts to
nd and develop diverse talent behind the camera by
bunching a new training and development initiative
alled 45kills. Itaims to make Channat 4
en more apen to new talent and fresh voices from
nderserved parts of the UK. Apprenticeship
schemes and outreach programmes wiil target
kchool kids and college students from diverse
packgrounds - people who might never have
onsidered a career in broadcasting.
We joined The Valuable 500, a globalinitiative
o put disability on the business leadership agenda,
and doubled cur workforce disability target,
shich will increase from 6% to 12% by 2023.
We doubled down on fighting racism, outlining
2 six-point plan to drive change and publicly
declaring ourselves an “anti-racist organisation”.
aking action to narrow our ethnically-diverse
pay gap, we launched a new mentoring scheme
or diverse employees, and set targets of at least
20% of all staff, and 20% of the top 100 highest-
aid staff, being ethnically-diverse by 2023,
As gart of our programming plans, we pledged
o doubie the number of commissions from
ethnically-diverse-led independent producers
y 2023. To help with this, we launched an Indie
Accelerator scheme that gave ten ethnically-
iverse-led indies - including Afro-Mic Productions
Northern ireland}, Meridian Line Films (York) and
Ranga Bee Productions (London) - unprecedented
access to Commissioners and bespoke support
o help supercharge their progression. We also
partnered with The TV Collective to run a series of
online events to help ethnically-diverse industry
professionals through the Covid-19 crisis, addressing
heir specific challenges and offering a mix of free
ive talks with experts, Q&As and career advice.
In 2020, 85% of our programmes met cur
Commissioning Diversity Guidelines, which set
on and off-screen diversity targets in each genre
or the peopte warking on the programimes that
e investin, as part of our efforts to promote
iversity within our industry. This is an increase
on 2019 and reflects the commitment acress
Commissioning to ensure that programmes meet
he guidelines despite the challenges of Covid-19.
Beyond our programmes, for our £1million
Diversity in Advertising Award initiative, this
year we invited agencies to create advertising
ampaigns focusing an the authentic portrayal
fUK ethnically-diverse cultures. EA Sports
nd its creative agency adam&eveDDB won
he prize, with their ad airing in 2021
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Challenge

with purpose

Peppered with shows that have something sharp to
say about modern Britain, Channel 4's creative slate
stands out from other public service broadcasters

and global streamers.
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Channel 4 News

Challenge
with purpose
continved

At its most impactful,

our content exposes the
truth and acts as a powerful
catalyst for change.

By testing conventional
thinking and inspiring
critical thought, we offer
something unique and
distinctive to the country.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Channel 4 News

2020 saw Channel 4 News achieve huge success
inreaching audiences digitally, as people spent more
time at home. During the first lockdown, as record
numbers of viewers watched Channel 4 News,
viewing increased by nearly 80%. Through the year,
more than half a billion views were recorded to
Channel 4 News content on Twitter, Facebook and
YouTube, as viewers sought unbiased news and expert
commentary. Channel 4 News is the biggest news
programme on social mediain the UK.

More than 1.5 billion minutes of Channel 4 News
content were watched on social media over 2020
(11% up year-on-year] and, in total across Facebook,
YouTube, Twitter and Instagram, Channel 4 News had

9.5 million followers or subscribers by the end of
2020.50% of its YouTube audience and 60% of its
Facebook audience are under 35 years old.

When the country first went into lockdown in
March, Channel 4's response epitomised our ability
to actfast and to respond to what was happening,
giving British viewers content that they wanted and
needed as the pandemic spread and pecple were
forced to make some of the biggest-ever
adjustments to their lives cvernight, This made us
stand out strongly in a market where global
streamers had a limited response to the pandemic.

Channel 4 boosted its News and Current Affairs
output, regularly extending bulletins to as long as
one hour and 45 minutes and adding additional
programmes. Across the whole year, we provided
a greater volume of news programming in peak-time
thanin any other yearin our history.

Preduced in the most challenging of
circumstances - with the Channei 4 News team

presenting live from their living rooms at times -

Challenge with purpose
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Fatima Manji

our enterprising journalism combined powerful
storytelling with compassion and engaging reportage
during the year. Ofcom’s research found Channel 4's
news provision to be the most trusted naticnal TV
source for information about the pandemic. italso
continues to be the most highly regarded news
providerinterms of its perceived independence
from the government and frem the influence of

big businesses, leading other public service
broadcasters by clear margins (see page 118).

The programme’s comprehensive Covid-19
coverage, led by Health and Social Care Editor
Victoria Macdonald and a team of regional
journalists, was committed to exploring and
scrutinising the government’s handling of the
pandemic, exposed injustices and charted the
devastating toll of the Covid-19 tragedy on the UK.

Beyond Covid-19, key editorial highlights in
2020 included Channel 4 News’ Deterring
Democracy investigation. Sparked by a leaked file
from Donald Trump’s 2016 Presidential campaign,
the investigation revealed its strategy to deter
3.5 million black Americans from voting. It became
aninternational news story. On social media, it drove
more views than any other Twitter video from
Channel 4 last year. “Channel 4 News unearthed
perhaps the best American political story a British
broadcaster has ever come up with,” commented UK
media columnist Raymond Snoddy.

Channe!l 4 News had an outstanding year
delivering world-class criginal journalism, hard-
hitting investigations, access-based films and a raft
of exclusive news stories. The flagship news
programme, broadcast at 7pm each weekday,
recorded a 14% increase in viewing share during the
year and also reached more young and diverse
viewers, with 52% growth among 16-34-year-olds
and 8% among ethnically-diverse audiences.

Channel 4 News’ reputation extends far beyond
the UK's shores: its internaticnai recognition
included two International Emmy® Awards, a
Peabody Award and a Rory Peck Award in 2020.

Channel 4 News

is the biggest news
programme on
social media in the
UK, with more than

9.5m

followers
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Current Affairs
and Documentaries

Beyond the news, we also responded with a

slate of Factual and Current Affairs commissions
that confronted the challenges of the pandemic
head-on. Channel 4's mission was to keep viewers
informed and connected; to help them navigate the
extraordinary new circumstances; and to bring
them the human stories of those on the frontline

of the crisis and the scientists and experts racing
to tackle it.

We commissioned 29 Current Affairs films
and documentaries that addressed different
aspects of the crisis, with a number of them
ranking among our highest-rating shows of the
year. Together, they reached 22.7 million people,
or 38% of the UK population, including over
one-quarter of all 16-34-year-olds and over
one-third of ethnically-diverse viewers.

A Day in the Life of Coronavirus Britain was
planned in two and a half weeks and shotinone
day. The documentary brought together footage
shot by over 3,000 members of the public to
capture life in lockdown: the trials and tribulations
of home-schooling; caring for pecple who areill or
self-isolating; working from home; police; nurses;
doctors; binmen; supermarket shelf stackers; and
the many acts of creativity and kindness (see case
study, page 31)
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Viewers
described the
show NHS Heroes:
Fighting to Save
Qurlivesas
“moving”,
“gye-opening”,
“important” and
“informative”.

Challen

NHS Herces: Fighting to Save Our Lives




}18SIN0A D205 D] MOH !SNIIABUOIOD

We acted fast,
commissioning
29 Current Affairs
films and
documentaries in
response to the
crisis; combined,
these reached

(o)
8%

of the UK
population

Rated by viewers as the most relevant and
interesting programme shown by Channel 4 during
the pandemic, NHS Heroes: Fighting to Save Qur
Lives gave a glimpse into what it's like to be a doctor
or nurse in the thick of the pandemic, as they filmed
powerful and tearful testimoenials from their
smartphones. Viewers described the show as
“moving”, “eye-opening”, “important” and
“Informative”.

Coronavirus: Can You Avoid It? was Channel 4's
most-watched Covid-19-related programme of the
year. Presented by Dr Helen Lawal, the one-hour
special explored how the virus is spread; it featured
interviews with experts in virclogy, microbiology and
epidemiology; and offered strategies for staying
healthy. With audiences craving such practical and
relevant advice, the show attracted 1.9 million
viewers (an 8.6% share).

Other most-viewed pandemic programmes
included Coronavirus: How to isolate Yourself, with
expert tips from Dr Xand van Tulleken and
psychologist Kimberley Wilson on coping in
lockdown; Coronavirus: How Clean Is Your House?
on making sure your home stays virus free; and Race
Against the Virus: Hunt for a Vaccine on how
Covid-19 spread unstoppably throughout the world,
told through the eyes of key scientists.
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Tackling global
social issuves

Starbucks and Nespresso: The Truth About Your
Coffee was a painstaking and lengthy Dispatches
investigation, conducted over several months,

into Starbucks’ and Nespresso's claims of not using
child labour.

The film relied on cultivating sources and
gathering documentary evidence and then involved
undercover filming in remote and hostile parts of
Guatemala. It proved conclusively that young children
were used on farms that supply beans to both
international corporations, contrary te their public
statements. Not only were these children fitmed
picking forvery long hours for minimal pay, but
sometimes they were working in hazardous conditions.

Following our reporting, Nespresso launched
its own investigation which confirmed that child
labeour in breach of international regulations was
being used and pledged to eradicate the practice
by introducing a “zero-tolerance” policy against
child labourin its supply chains and a programme
providing safe spaces for chiidren during harvest
season. Starbucks also launched an immediate
investigation and pledged to increase third-party
audits of coffee farms and pilot regional community
and childcare centres.

Attracting

1.8m

viewers (an 8.5%
viewing share) was
Trump’s Coronavirus
Catastrophe

Dispatches: Starbucks and Nespresso:
The Truth About Your Coffee

Dispatches and
Unreported World

Channel 4's investigative journalism seeks to hold
power to accountin a duly impartial way. Last year,
across 21episodes, our award-winning current
affairs programme Dispatches tackled important
topics ranging from big tobacco and traveller crime
to the Covid-12 jobs crisis and Hong Kong's battle
for freedom.

The most-watched episode in 2020, attracting
1.8 mitlion viewers (an 8.5% viewing share), was
Trump’s Coronavirus Catastrophe. As America
prepared to go to the polls, Matt Frei gained
extensiveinsider access to investigate the US
President’s policies, actions and decisions during
the pandemic. On the other side of the Atlantic,
reporter Anja Popp locked into stories of criminality
and lawlessness, as well as prejudice and attack,
in English Traveller sites in The Truth About Traveller
Crime, the second-most-watched programme
in the series with 1.7 million viewers (a 6.7% share).
Closer to home, The Great Charity Scandat
investigated how celebrities charged huge
fees to support charities.

Our foreign affairs series Unreported World
uncovered a range of extraordinary international
stories. Marcel Theroux met the Japanese schoolgirls
seeking pop stardom, performing for mostly older
male fans, and travelled to Thailand to investigate the
controversial Dhammakaya movement. Sahar Zand
wentto Kenya on the trail of the worst swarm of
locusts in decades, while Adnan Sarwar followed
migrants crossing the Alps risking hypothermia and
death. Inthe most-viewed documentary in the series,
Karishma Vyas visited California’s ‘TradWives’,
who abhor feminism, embrace submissiveness
and want Trump re-elected.
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Barrymore: The Body in the Pool

Justice and
injustices

A number of revelatory documentaries got the
nation talking this year. At atime when television is
becoming ever more glebal and content is designed
to appeal to audiences around the world, these
quintessential public service programmes stood
out for being distinctly British and different.

Nineteen years after Stuart Lubbock was found
dead at popular entertainer Michael Barrymore's
home, Barrymore: The Body in the Pool forensically
explored the full story behind one of Britain's most
high-profile unexplained deaths.

This painstaking investigation re-engaged the
public with ashocking failure of the justice system
and led to the reopening of the police investigation.
The 90-minute documentary was a hit on our
streaming service All 4, helping it to achieve its
best-ever first quarter of any year. On linear, the
programme consolidated to 2.7 millien TV viewers,
double the slot average.

Channel 4's searing, BAFTA-neminated Crime and
Punishment alsareturned in 2020, exploring the
challenges faced by the police, prosecution and prison
systems in the wake of cuts and limited resources
across six hour-long episodes.

Atough watch, key themes included rape,
domestic violence, anti-social behaviour, young
offenders and historical sex abuse cases - with the
films looking at the situations from multiple
perspectives, including those ofthe women involved,
the police and the Crown Prosecution Service. Viewers
praised the series for its “absolutely amazing insight
into our public services”,

amazing insig
into our public
services.

Challenge with purpose
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behaviours

Atthe start of the year, Chan

of provocative programmes duri
cdesigned to stimulate debate abd
is produced.

Meat the Family challenged Vi cyaniane
to eating meat. In a unigque experiment, four famiti
were asked to care for farm animals at home for
three weeks, at the end of which they were given a
choice: spare their animals from slaughter or send
them back into the food chain to be processed
by afarm and then returned to them as meat.

The programme, which reached 1.9 million
viewers, was described by viewers as "eye-
opening” and as successfully demonstrating the
moral dilemmas involved. It was Channel 4 atits
best: noisy, entertaining and thought-provoking.

And it helped change people’s behaviour: as
a direct result of watching Meat the Family, onein
five viewers claimed that they or a family member
have given up meat altogether, 57% said they had
spoken about the issues raised with other people
and 48% said the series made them think about
how they could reduce their own carbon footpring

Other programmes in the season included
environmental campaigner George Monbict's
hard-hitting documentary Apocalypse Cow:

How Mcuat Killed the Plonet, while How to
Steal Pigs and Influence People followed a
ynique ccmmunity of veganinfluencers.

M

o

Apocalypse Cow: How Meat Killed the Planet
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1.6m

viewers watched
The Write Offs,
an 8.6% share

— up 23% against
the slot average

o
The Write Offs

Imagine not being able to read a book, use the
internet or fillout a form. Five million peoplein
Britain wake up to that reality every day, with one
infive adults considered functionally illiterate.
Too often condemned as “unintelligent”, they are
frequently locked out of the job market and
shamed by scciety.

The Write Offs, atwo-part series hosted by Sandi
Toksvig, offered a group of adults - aged as young as
22 all the way up to 66 - the chance to improve their
literacy and transform their lives with 16 weeks of
intensive, one-to-cne tuition. Charting their
struggles, courage and triumphs, this joyous show
tackled animportant and largely overlocked issue.

Watched by an average 1.6 million viewers (an
8.6% share - up 23% against the slot average), The
Write Offs helped to challenge perceptions and lift the
stigma around illiteracy. Nearly 90% of viewers said
they were positively impacted by the series: more
than one-third claimed it made them “think about the
nrogramme’s subject in new and different ways” and
they had “discussed the programme with athers”.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020
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The Write Offs
nelped challenge
perceptions and
ift the stigma
around illiteracy.

The Write Offs

Born to Be Different

Challenging
preconceptions
and shaping culture

At our best, our shows drive the national
conversation and challenge preconceptions. Qur
ability to engage mass audiences and shape culture
can bring positive changes to viewers’ lives.

The School That Tried to End Racism was a bold
and successful new series that followed a South
London school’s ground-breaking programme to
combat prejudice by taking the controversial step of
racially segregating 11-12-year-old pupils and
encouraging them to talk freely about their attitudes
torace. It performed exceptionally well for
ethnically-diverse audiences {up 212% for volume
and up 201% for share compared to other
programmes in its slot) and reached 3.1 million of the
population overall,

Its impact on viewers was strong, with ninein
ten saying that the programme highlighted the
importance of having open discussions about race,
particularly from a young age, and seveninten
agreeing that it made them think about their own
possible unconscious biases when it comes to race.

Cur long-running documentary series Born to
Be Different also returned to cur screens. The
programme has been following the lives of six
children since 2003 as they grow up with different
disabilities and, across the past two series, the
programme has reached 4.3 million viewers.

This is one of Channel 4's mostimpactful
programmes in terms of challenging preconceptions
about disability, and the latest series was no
different, with 85% of viewers saying that Born to Be
Different made them think differently about the
challenges facing those with a disability. Amongst
viewers with a disability themselves or with a
disabled family, 95% agreed that the show showed
disability issues in atruelight and helped to
challenge preconceptions around disability.
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Relnvent

entertainment

Our remit encourages us to push creative boundaries,
take risks and experiment through our programming
and across our business, in ways that other
broadcasters do not. We have tasked ourselves

to continuously refresh what we do creatively, to

find new ways of reaching audiences, new ways of
delivering our content and new ways of working.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Reinvent entertainment 60




Taskmasters




Jamie: Keep Cooking and Carry On

Reinvent
entertainment
continuved

Channel 4 responded directly
to Covid-19 and lockdowns
with fast-turnaround shows
and public messaging, and with
a speed and focus on UK
viewers that made Channel 4
more responsive than any
other broadcaster. All of this
happened because of our remit
to take risks and experiment.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Richard & Judy: Keep Reading and Carry On
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The Stay At
Home Academy

Covid-19 required us to act quickly to adapt our
schedule and programmes to address the impact
that the pandemic was having on avdiences across
the country. Few, if any, broadcasters moved as
quickly as Channel 4 to bring to screen a range of
programmes designed to entertain viewers having to
newly adapt to life under lockdown.

Producers and Commissioners showed huge
inventiveness in finding ways to make shows at
reduced tariffs and with Covid-19 restrictions, with
significant effort going into keeping cur major shows
on air - or preducing them as scon as conditions
atlowed. This was rewarded with record audiences
for many of Channel 4's biggest titles.

Just two days after the Prime Minister announced
that people must stay at home, we announced our
‘Stay At Home Academy’: a slate of shows with the
mission to help avdiences navigate through the crisis
and stay connected with the rest of the country, and
to help families stay occupied inisolation and, most
importantly, keep their spirits high.

Produced at incredible pace, the Stay At Home
Academy programmes were anchored by some of
Britain's most-loved presenters: Grayson Perry
creating art with the whole nation (Grayson’s Art
Club -see case study, on next page); Kirstie Alisopp
sharing craftideas for all the family (Kirstie: Keep
Crafting and Carry On); Jamie Oliver helping people
cook with store cupboard essentials (Jamie: Keep
Cooking and Carry OnJ; Richard Madeley and Judy
Finnegan revealing their best reads (Richard & Judy:
Keep Reading and Carry Onj; and Dick and Angel
Strawbridge offering homemade help (Escape to the
Chateau: Make Do and Mend). Combined, they
reached 21.1 millicn viewers, a substantial 35%

of the population.

Among viewers of the programmes, there was
very strong agreement (82%) that Channel 4 is
always trying something new. Just under two-thirds
agreed that Channel 4 captured the spirit of the
country with its ‘Stay At Home' lifestyle
programming, and the same proportion agreed that
"youwouldn't find programmes like this on services
such as Netflix and Amazon”.
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Kirstie: Keep Crafting and Carry Cn
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rayson'’s Art ClUD

buring the first lockdown, Grayson's Art Club sa
urner Prize-winning artist Grayson Perry encourag®
he British pubtic to pick up their paint brushes and
nleash their creative side. The show truly captured
he zeitgeist of lockdown Britain better than any
other show last year.

The six-episode series, hosted from Grayson's
own studio, featured masterclasses and top tips on
how to get started with art. Grayson and his wife,
psychotherapist and author Philippa Perry, talked

o0 a string of famous faces, such as comedian Jenny
Ectair and sculptor Antony Gormley, to discover

heir creative inspirations. Yiewers were encouraged

o take part in an array of artistic challenges, from
drawing a portrait of a family member or housemate

o depicting the view from their windows.

Grayson’s Art Club was one of the best-
performing series from Channel 4's Stay At Home
Academy, attracting more than one million viewers
per episode and causing a spike in online sales for
craft specialists. Nearly 10,000 people submitted

heir art to Grayson and Philippa - a selection of
hich went on display at Manchester Art Gallery,
praviding a visual record of Britain in isolation.

Viewers described the show as “positive”,

therapeutic”, “stress releasing”, “inclusive” and
“authentic”. It was hailed by The Daily Telegraph
as “one of the most joyous bits of television made
during lockdown, a tonic amid all the gloom”.

Grayson’s Art Club was commissioned fora
econd series in 2021, featuring a host of celebrities

rom across the UK.
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#StayAtHome campaign

Vital public
health messaging

As afree-tc-air broadcaster available in all
households, Channel 4 has a reach and trusted
relationship with audiences that is unique to the PS$Bs,
and we were well placed to communicate vital public
health information and advice during the crisis.

After lockdown was announced, we activated a
‘Stay At Home' digital on-screen graphic that
appeared on screen - all day and every day - during
Channel 4’s programming across our channels. The
message was later changed to ‘Stay Safe’ from
mid-May, to reflect the next phase of lockdown. The
first public service broadcaster to do this, itwasa
very simple but powerful way to remind viewers to
keep vigilant, and these messages succeeded in
reaching 79% of the UK population.

Even more inventive, we showed a series of
ten-second, fly-on-the-wall-style films featuring
celebrities carrying cut mundane tasks at home,
from Jon Snow ircning his ties to Big Narstie mewing
the lawn and Scarlett Moffatt pairing her socks.
Targeted at hard-to-reach young male viewers, they
further amplified the important public health
message to stay home and save lives. In addition,

a cheeky Channel 4 brand film encouraged viewers
to stay at home featuring the voice of comedian Matt
Berry crying, “Britain! When was the last time you did
something that really mattered, with your arse? We
need your buttocks. No ifs. Just butts. Because we’ll
beat this faster, clenched together, on the sofa.”

Over the summer, as the country grappled with
impertant secial issues and moved out of leckdown,
we revealed a Stay Safe #BeMoreRainbow film to
remind viewers of the need to carry on being
community-minded, to be kind to each otherand to
stay safe.

Produced by ourin-house creative agency
4Creative, the film featured an animated 80s-style
sparkly talking rainbow, who recounted how busy he
was representing both the NHS and Pride while also
standing up for all communities during the Covid-19
pandemic. The trailreached 45% of the UK
population, with two-thirds of viewers agreeing that
campaigns like these brought people together.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

#BeMoreRainbow campaign
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#StayAtHome campaign We Need Your Butt campaign
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Britain! When was the last
time you did something
that really mattered,

with your arse? We need
your buttocks. No ifs.
Just butts. Because we'll
beat this faster, clenched
together, on the sofa.

#StayAtHome campaign

We Need Your Butt campaign
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reat British Bake Off

HE

as the highe
Bting individ
hannel 4 epis&8
since modern TV
iewing records
began in 2002

e Great
British Bake Off

“It's the same old Bake Off,” said judge Prue Leith
the start of season 11. “Familiar, comforting, lovely
Filming The Great British Bake Off during a
pandemic required the production team to ent
rethink its approach. To make sure tf
be made safely andwould look as familiar as
possible - the cast and crew werg te three
times hefore filming b
togetherin a self-contained 'hiosphere’ bubble at
Down HallHotel in Essex for th k shoot.
All of this meant that Paut Hollywood's famaus
handshake didn't have to be repl with an elbo
bump, and that viewers could continue to find
reassuring warmth and nostalgia in the Bake Off tg
- aplace where the worst thing that can happen is
pineapple upside-down cake ending Up O bl

egan, b g ontolive

It was the escapist entertainmentand su
coated version of reality that the nation cr
seasonwas watched by anaverage of 10.6
viewers and a 40% share of the audien

young viewers, itw

seriesan TV for 16-3

ITV's 'm a Celebrity... Get Me Qut of Here!

programme has always been comfort food

times this year, it aimost transcended teley

The Guardian. “Itfelt like a hug. It felt ike m
And with 1.5 mitlion viewers, the fina

highest-rating individual Channel 4 episo

maodern TV viewing records began in 200

most popular Buke Off final eveglaategd

across ail channels. Viewers

escape fromreality”, “theraj
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Best On Demand TV Service

2020 Edinburgh TV Festival Awards
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Record streaming
growth

With over 14,500 hours of content, All 4 is the UK’s
biggest free streaming service. Viewers turned to
All 4 inrecord numbers in 2020, surpassing one
billion views for the first time ever. Across the year,
All 4 reached a total of 1.25 billicn views (26% up
year-on-year}, of which 49% were from 16-34-year-
clds. Ali 4 now has 24 million registered viewers, an
increase of 11% year-on-year.

Digital viewing made up 11.3% of Channel 4
viewing as viewers move to a digital world, Streaming
growth is at the heart of our new Future4 strategy,
which aims to double All 4 viewing by 2025,

When on-demand viewing started to accelerate
during the first lockdown, we focused en ensuring
operational resilience on the All 4 platform to ensure
ahigh-quality and consistent viewer experience,
with some infrastructure enhancements to improve
the service’s reliability.

While Covid-19 and our swift cost-saving
measures curtailed some of our plans to develop
the All 4 platform, we rolled out a number of
improvements this year to make it amore
personalised and targeted experience. We
redesigned and rebuilt the ‘big screen’ experience
from the ground up to ensure that it is faster and
more modern, and to facilitate future enhancements.
We significantly increased the number of shows
availabie in HD, with most of the catch-up and
most-watched archive now available in HD. And
we started to roil out new personalisation features,
including smarter recommendations, and tested a
new preference centre to allow viewers to identify
their most-loved shows.

Our pald-for service, All 4+, which allows
viewers to watch TV shows without ads, continued to
grow, with the introduction of in-app payments on
i0S and new content in the autumn.

Over the year, the All 4 platform significantly
increased both its total reach and its share relative to
commercial competitors, During the second quarter
of 2020, at the time of the first lockdown, All 4
experienced simitar rates of growth to Netflix.

Growth has been fuelled by our deep archive of
Channel 4 originations - which includes popular
shows such as Fridiay Night Dinner, The inbetweeners
and Scrubs - and exclusive, bingeable box-sets such
as ER, The West Wing, Married at First Sight Austrolia
and Buffy the Vampire Slayer (many of which had
their criginal UK transmission on our channels).

Simulcasting of hit shows such as Gogglebox,
The Great British Bake Off and Hollyoaks also
strongly contributed to Alt 4's growth. Viewing to
new titles - including hits such as Deadwater Fell,
Murder in the Outback, Barrymore: The Body in the
Pooland The Great House Giveaway - further drove
up views during the year.

Driven by its unrivalled content library and our
continved innovations, Al 4 was recognised by the
industry by winning ‘Best On Demand TV Service’ at
the 2020 Edinburgh TV Festival Awards.
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Alternative Christmas Message

Tbn

views of our content on
social media platforms and
the creation of 4Studio

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Deepfakes and
misinformation

Channel 4's Alternative Christmas Message
2020, usually a message of hope and unity, was an
innovative but stark warning about how advanced
technology is enabling the proliferation of
misinformation and fake news in a digital age.

Created by Oscar-winning VFX studio
Framestore, the four-minute film featured renowned
actress Debra Stephenson as a ‘deepfake’ Queen
Elizabeth Il on screen. It was cne of Channel 4's most
pioneering and challenging programmes of the year.

Deepfake technology can be used to create
convincing (yet entirely fictional) video content of
peoplein the public eye and, therefore, can be used
to spread misinformation. With such advancements
intechnology enabling a slick and believable
presentation of misinformation across all areas of
lite — from politics to public health - it has never
been more important for viewers to seek out
trusted sources, such as Britain’s regulated public
service broadcasters.

Through the film, we created a sequence that
was entertaining enough that it would be seen by
a significant number of people while spreading the
very real message that images cannot always be
trusted. The broadcast averaged 1.2 million viewers,
which was double the volume of 2019's Alternative
Christmas Message.

Reinvent entertainment
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Alternative Christmas Message

4Studio: reaching
new audiences

2020 was a transformative year for Channel 4's
social mediaambitions, with more than 11 billion
views of cur content on social media platforms
and the creation of 45tudio. This department was
established to embody the Future4 strategy by
fostering digital-first talent, diversifying revenue
streams and driving digital education across the
business - all with a clear focus onreaching young
avdiences wherever they are consuming content.

The 49-strong 45tudio team is based in Leeds
and the surrounding Yorkshire area, supporting our
vision to establish our new National HQ as a hub of
digital excellence.

During the year, we signed landmark agreements
with key social platforms such as YouTube andl
Snapchat (see next page). These multi-faceted
agreements enable us to work in close partnership
with these major platforms to drive audience growth
and enable us tc monetise our content.

45tudio has data at its heart, and much of the
year was spent building a data warehouse which
enables us to understand the holistic impact of the
content we publish on social platferms. Supported
by a team of Sccial Analysts, this ensures that cur
digital strategies become as agite as the platforms
we publish upon.

We diversified our social media strategy in
a number of ways. Several digital original series
were commissioned tc entertain and educate young,
diverse audiences online via series such as True
Stories and The B@it, as well as one-off
documentaries such as The Boy Who Cltimbed The
Shard. The introduction of Channel 4's branded
entertainment proposition also saw the creation of
brand-funded digital commissions such as Mission:
Accessible, to critical and commercial success.
Through both types of digital commissions, we
supported our core PSB remit and diversified
new revenue streams.

Whether embedding a 45tudio Social Producer
on Steph’s Packed Lunch to help engage audiences,
creating an exclusive behind-the-scenes specialto
support our Alternative Christmas Message,
supporting and amplifying our successful public
health Covid-19 campaigns, or using data to inform
digital-first content commissions, 2020 was a year of
great experimentation and success on social media.
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124m

social engagements
achieved across
Facebook, Twitter,
YouTube and Snapchat

Scaling through
partnerships

Channel 4 has always believed in the power of
partnerships and - as an organisation without any
in-house production capacity, which relies entirely
on external suppliers — our model makes us a
naturally networked business, Being open to
partnering with other platforms gives us the best
chance of serving the widest audience possible. Itis
a complex ecosystem and striking the right
partnerships remains key for us to be successful.

In 2020, we expanded our social partnerships to
further build on our social reach with great success.
Channel 4 brands achieved 11 billion social views and
124 million social engagements across Facebook,
Twitter, YouTube and Snapchat.

A major new partnership with Snapchat was
agreed in June for upwards of 300 short-form
excerpts and edits of Channel 4 content to be posted
on Snapchat’s Discover platform over a 12-month
period. In 2020, Channel 4 content saw over 44
million unique global viewers on Snapchat from 25
shows including Tattoo Fixers, Hollyoaks, How To Get
Rich Quick, Celebs Go Dating and Divided America.

In addition to social ptatforms, we have
centinued to work on securing more innovative
partnershipsto increase Channel 4's reach and
partner strategically with services and devices that
increase the scale of All 4. We will also continue to
work with other public service broadcasters to
highlight the importance of prominence and look at
how we position our unique PSB content in an
increasingly IP-delivered world.



The Great
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£ 2 0 Global Format Fund
m In 2020, as part of our Future4 strategy, we launched

a new Global Format Fund - which will be investing

I n d i e G rowt h £30 million over coming years — to investin new

British-created and produced content formats with
FU N d h as a re m it global potential. We will partner with a range of

producers to create content focused on delivering
both UK audience appeal and potential for

tO ge n e rate exploitation ininternational territories. The fund is

focused on those genres with the greatest potential

CO m me rCial retU rnS for global format success, including Daytime,

Factual Entertainment, Features, Entertainment,
fo r C h anne l_ 4 Documentaries and Specialist Factual.

Using a research and development approach,
the Global Format Fund guarantees minimum runs
and recommissioning triggers upfront, as well as
minimum levels of marketing support. It leverages
Channel 4's creative, marketing and audience
insights to support producers with theirinternational
exploitation of the format, Within the UK, content
created by the Global Format Fund is subjectto the
current Terms of Trade.

Investing in
the future Ramy

The Indie Growth Fund has a remit to generate
commercial returns for Channel 4 by investing in and
helping to grow early-stage production companies
across the UK. All profits from the fund’s ventures are
invested back into the delivery of Channel 4's public
service remit.

Now six years old, the Indie Growth Fund has
invested in 19 companies to date, with eight exits so
far and 11 companies remaining in the fund by the end
of 2020. This year, the fund invested in two new
companies: Cardiff-based indle Yeti Media, and
Proper Content, which produces engaging factual
programmes with social purpose. There were two
successful exits: Whisper Films and Eleven Film were
both sold to Scny Pictures Television.

Sitting alongside the Indie Growth Fund, 2020
saw the launch of cur Emerging Indie Fund, whichis
specifically designed to help small, new or emerging
indies outside of Londen break through with support at
key stages of early growth. Announced in December,
11 preduction companies from across the UK benefited
from the inavgural fund. They received financial
assistance for slate development, and continue to
receive mentoring sessions and expert advice. The
Bristol and Glasgow Heads of Hub granted
discretionary awards to five further companies.

The Commercial Growth Fund was rebranded as
Channel 4 Ventures in 2020, The fund investsin
high-growth digital consumer businesses, offering
media airtime in exchange for equity. This fund has
17 active equity investments that had a balance
sheet value of £16.5 million at 31 December 2020
{2019: £20 million).

Channel 4 Ventures made five new investments
this year. They included what3words, a location
technology providing an easy way to identify precise
locations; DeadHappy, a challenger brand in life
insurance; and B-North, a firm building a regional
SME lending bank for the UK.
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.. Paralympic Games

Channel 4 has never been
more buoyant, noisy and
relevant than in 2021,

and we are delivering our
remit through a slew of
programmes that viewers
would not find elsewhere.

lan Katz
Chief Content Officer

2020 delivered a vivid reminder of the
value of public service media. When
Covid-19 hit the UK last year, Channel 4
had two clear roles as a public service
broadcaster: to tell our audiences what
they needed to know, and to help people
through a difficult time. In 2021, we've also
put our minds to cheering people up.

First Dates Hotel
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hannel 4 has never been more buoyant,
noisy and relevant than in 2021, and we
are delivering our remit through a slew of
programmes that viewers would not find
elsewhere. The year will see our slate of
programmes realigned with our Future4
strategy (see page 22), working towards
doubling All 4 views by 2023. We saw
strong growth in streaming last year -
at +26% year on year on All 4 - and 2021
is starting even bigger, up 130% so far.

e will continue to be as noisy and unruly
as ever, while finding new and inventive

ays of engaging people with the most
mportant issues.

Representing
unheard voiceS

At the heart of Channel 4 is the concepl
representing unheard voices. From dive
thought and opinion, through to elevatiffgvonce
from diverse communities, our programmes tet
stories that no other streamer or broadcaster w8
2021is already seeing record-breaking success
in drama through Russell T Davies’ five-part it’s A Si
which tells the story of five friends living and loving
in the shadow of AIDS. It has become Alt 4's biggest
instant boxset to date and 63% of viewers agree that
this is the sort of drama that you wouldn'tfind on an
other channet but Channel 4. It is exactly the type
of programme that we exist to make and that only
we would commission.

Two flagship moments will punctuate the
Channel 4 year. First, the Tokyo 2020 Paralympic
Games, which were postponed to summer 2021,

We will use the Games to build uvpon the ground-
breaking impact we have had in disability sport,
featuring the highest level of disabled presenting
talent of any Paralympic Games yet.

Second, as part of our ongoing commitment to
improve black representation on and off screen, we
are working with our production partners to create
career enhancing opportunities and amplify btack
talent, stories and voices through Black To Front. Thid
an ambitious day of new and returning programmes
in the autumn that will see our entire programming
schedule fronted by black talent. This will be much
more than a day of eye-catching programming,
providing a focal point for our efforts to drive up
on- and off-screen representation and leaving a
lasting legacy on the channeland beyond.

Throughout the year, we will continue to invest
in a mix of shows and genres that represent unheard
voices, be it through comedy - such as NigarManzoo
We Are Lady Parts, which tells the story of a geeky
student who is recruited to join a Muslim female pun|
band - or hard-hitting films such as Britain’s
Destitute Kids, a follow up film to Britain’s Breadline
Kids, filmed two years ago. Ackley Bridge is also
returning in 2021 for another series, as is Rosie Joga
in Trip Hazard: Rosie Jones, following hersucces
2020's travelogue Mission: Accessible.

We are as committed to diversity of thought
other forms of diversity so will air a wide range of
views and opinions through regular programming
such as Steph’s Packed Lunch and Chonnglaalls
as well as major commissions such as Taa
According to Paul Dacre.

]
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allenging with
purpose

At aur best, our shows drive the national
onversation. As ever, in News and Current Affairs,
e can expect a slate of polemical current affairs

programmes that address challenging themes.
hannel 4 News will also continue to lead

nvestigations and hold power to account through
ts daily hour-long news, which will be co-hosted
rom Leeds later in the year.

Aligned with the COP-26 international climate
onference in November, we will be tackling the
limate emergency from different angtes in the

second half of the year through a range of genres

and programmes.

The searing series Rape: Behind the Headlines

w/t) will look at the policing of rape in the UK.
ilmed, produced and directed by an alt-female

eam with exclusive access to Avon & Somerset

Police, the series will examine the complex reasons
hy conviction rates for these appalling crimes are

o low. A new Specialist Factual title, Grenfell (w/t),
itl explore life in London's Grenfell Tower before
he fire, locking at who should be held to account.

We will continue to explore pertinent themes

our dramas, for example through Jack Thorne's
ewest film, Help (w/t), which will star Jodie Comer
nd Stephen Graham. This will shine an unflinching
ght on the Covid-19 crisis and tell a compelling,
cart-wrenching relationship story setina

erpool care home.
And we will explore Britain's bedroom habits
Alice Levine's Sex Odyssey, a documentary
oduced by Louis Theroux that asks whether

gre is any such thing as ‘normal’ when it comes
o nrlcao iy inthas 2070

Reinventing
entertainment

Channel 4 will continue to take creative ri3
throughout the year, finding new ways to tetoNe
and to reach audiences through highly distinctive
commissions.

We will keep exploring innovative new formats
such as the genre-bending immersive competition
format Murder Island, in which members of the pub
will have one nail-biting week to compete tofind o
whether they have what it takes so sobve a murder; O
the new irreverent quiz show f Literally Just Told You

Throughout the year, we are exploring new
potential returning formats, such as the nature
documentary Secret Sofari: In the Wild, woodwork
competition fronted by Mel Giedroyc Good With
Wood, daytime restoration show Mend |t for Money
and, of course, the delayed return of The Circle
following its Covid-19 postponement in 2020,

And we'll we continue to do our bestto bring a
bit of joy to a joyless world in 2021 through feelgood
programmes and returning hits such as The Great
Pottery Throwdown, Taskmaster, Grayson el
The Great British Bake Off, Junior Bake OffplU
others, inciuding the return of BAFTA award-winning
Stath Lets Flots.

Driving digital growth while maintaining our linea]
schedule is a pricrity and we will continue to release
instant box sets for key titles {including /t's A Sin, ne
comedy Frank of Ireland, plus returning hits such as
The Dog House, Back, Dead Pixels and others) and
exclysives (such as The Tudors and The O.C.). And,
working in partnership with the BFl's Young
Audiences Content Fund, we have alsc expanded
our First Dates franchise with Teen First Dates.

We will also continue to investin All 4's
blatforms and technology to enhance functionality
and usability, acquire wider VoD content rights and
aosre that our platforms can be played acrossall

platforms - as well as expanding our reach
al platforms through key partnerships with
at and TikTok, to give audiences what they
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nnovation extends across the
full range of its creative output On
V and digital, while off-screen it

pans the geographical spread of
its supplier base and the diversit
of voices brought to the screen.




020, television viewing trends were heavily
pacted by external factors - more so perhaps
han in any previous year in Channel 4’s history.
Complicating matters, these factors pulled in
different directions. On the one hand, when
he Covid-19 pandemic reached our shores
and everyone was forced to stay at home,
demand for trustworthy news and high-quality
entertainment shot up, and Channel 4 was
ell-positioned to benefit. On the other hand,
lockdown restrictions meant that TV production
as curtailed across the industry, and reduced
advertising revenues led to reduced budgets
and fewer new programmes to attract viewers.
And meanwhile, the existing trend for viewing
o migrate from traditional TV channels to
ideo-on-demand (‘'VoD') services accelerated
his year — to the benefit of our streaming
ervice All 4 but putting pressure on our
linear channels.

Even with fewer new commissions and
increased competition from VoD services,
hen combined with our strong creative

response, the overall net impact of these
external factors was mostly positive for
Channel 4. Testament to the quality and

alue of our output - including our evening
news and a range of fast-turnaround lockdown
programmes - we enjoyed increases in both

he total volume of viewing to our digital TV
portfolio and in its viewing share, as well as
a surge in viewing to All 4 and big increases
in consumption of our news programming.
Alongside these positive trends, there were
areas where viewing declined: there were
small reductions in portfolio share by ethnically-
diverse audiences and in overall viewing to E4.

The Big Narstie Show

The Yorkshire Jobcentre




Engaging the audience

TV viewing share

10.1%

viewing share across
the TV channel
portfolio

In a year in which viewers turned in increasing
numbers to the PSBs for news and entertainment,
Channel 4 increased its TV portfolic viewing
share year-on-year for the first time since

2011. Tetal viewing was 10.1% across the TV
channel portfolio in 2020, an increase of 0.2

o percentage points {equivalent toa 2% rise).

Up 2%

on last year The main channel's share rose by 0.1 percentage
points to 5.9% (arise nf 3%}, taking it hack to

the same level as between 2014 and 20718, This
means that, apart from the 0.1-point dip in 2019,
share has held steady since 2014 at 5.9% - an
impressive record given the increased competition
in the linear TV space and the migration of

younger viewers to video-on-demand services.

In 2020, the main channel’s share grew by 7%
year-on-year amongst 16-34-year-olds (to 8.6%},
its highest figure since 2011. Share in the peak-
time hours of 7-11pm was 10.7%, the highest

figure since 2007 amongst this demographic.

For ABC1adults, viewing share rose by 2% to 6.6%,
the highest figure since 2017; and the 7-1ipm

share was 8.6%, the highest figure since 2008.

Turning to the digital channels, the viewing share
figures show little year-on-year variation in their
performance, with E4, Film4 and the Box music
channels holding steady, while More4's share rose by
0.1 percentage points. Looking at the exact figures,
Film4 and E4 experienced declines in viewing, of 2%
and 5% respectively. E4's share has fallen gradually
since 2017 and is now 0.4 points below its 2016 level;
this may be attributed to increased competition for
young audiences amongst digital channels - E4 has
not had any new hits of the scale of ITV2's Love Isfand
over this pericd. The other digital channels enjoyed
growth in their viewing share in 2020: More4 was up
by 8%, with a range of daytime shows (such as Four
ina Bedand Find It, Fix it, Flog It} performing well,
while the Box music channels’ share rose by 24%.

Channel 4 portfolio share as a percentage
of total TV viewing

2020

RN

2017
2016

B Channeid [mainchannet) B Digital channels

Source: BARB.

Viewing share of digital channelsasa
percentage of total TV viewing

Total

1041
9.9
10.2
10.5
10.5

Total

2020 [
2019
2018
2007

2016

W Eq B Mored B Film4 ¥ Box/4Music

Source. BARB.

4.2
4.1
4.3
4.6
4.6
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Engaging the audience

73.0%

of all TV viewers
reached every month
across Channet4's TV
channels

Down 2.8pts

on last year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Audience reach

Channel 4 is the third-biggest UK broadcasterin
terms of audience reach, behind only the BBC and
ITV. In 2020, almost three-quarters {73.0%) of
individualsin homes with a TV watched Channel 4's
TV channels for at least 15 consecutive minutes each
month on average (live or catching up within a week
of transmission). With viewing continuing to migrate
to streaming services (including the broadcasters’
own streaming services, which are not reported in
this metric), overall TV reach fell by 2% year-on-year.
The main P58s all suffered reductions in the reach

of their traditional TV channels - as they did in the
previous three years — with declines ranging from 2.0
percentage points (for the BBC and Channel 5)up to
4.4 points (ITY). Atthe lower end of this range of PSB
declines, Channel 4's reach fell by 2.8 percentage
points year-on-year ([equivalent to a 3.7% fall).

These declining reach figures do not painta
complete picture of what was a strong year for

TV overalland for Channel 4 in particular. The
totalamount of traditicnal viewing — measured

in terms of the volume of viewers across the

day - rose in 2020 for TV overall, by 6% for all
viewers, It rose by even more for Channel 4, by
7% across the portfolio; and by more still for the
main channel, whose volume of viewing was up

by 8%. Moreover, the reported decline in reach
only covers traditional viewing and is offset by the
continued increase in video-an-demand viewing
to Channel 4 (see 'On-demand viewing' on page 87).

Turning to the individual channels in Channel 4's

TV portfolio, the main channel's reach fellby 2.1
percentage points year-on-year {less than 2019's
2.8-point drop}. Looking at the trends in more detail
reveals notable variations across the year: atthe
time when audiences had the greatest need for
reliable information and entertainment, during the
lockdowns, Channel 4's performance was especially
strong: during the first lockdewn in March and April,
the main channel’s reach was up by 1% relative to
the same months in 2019. Of the digital channels,
E4, Mored and Fitm4 all experienced small annval
declines in reach, of less than one point, this year.

Metrics

Average monthly reach of public service
broadcasters’ TV portfolios

BBC

Chanrel 4 73 0%

N R 2020

B s 2019

Source: BARB, 15-minute consecutive, average manthly reach,

all people.

Percentage reach of individual TV channelsin
Channel 4 portfolio

Channel 4 66.2%
(main channel)
E4 26 5%

Mored 23 5%
Film4
Box/4Music . 8.2%
. 8.1%
» 2020 m 208 )

Source BARB,15-minute consecutive, average monthly reach,

all people.
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Engaging the audience

On-demand viewing

1,253m

programme views
initiated on demand

The arrival of lockdown accelerated existing trends
in television viewing in 2020, most notably the rise

in consumption of TV programmes via on-demand
services, especially amongst younger audiences.
Channel 4 continued to respond to these trends, for
example by making more new TV series available to
binge as box-sets on its streaming service, All 4, as
well as investing in exclusive content for the platform
(see ‘Reinvent entertainment’ chapter on page 60).

Up 26%

on last year

This resulted in record growth in on-demand
viewing of All 4 content this year as total views
passed the 1billion mark for the first time. The
number of programme views initiated through All
4-branded platforms - which include PCs,
smartphenes, tablets, games consoles and
connected TVs - rose by 26% to reach 1.25 billion.
With more than 250 million more views thanin 2019,
this is the biggest ever increase in absolute terms for
this metric, and the joint-highest growth rate in
percentage terms since 2010.

As was the case for the last two years, the strongest
area of growth in 2020 was on ‘big screen’ devices,
i.e. connected TVs and streaming devices that plug
into TVs, with viewing up by more than 50%. Within
this group, individual platforms on which growth
was especially high included Freeview Play and
tvOS {(Apple TV).

On-demand viewing (million)

2019 995

Source: Channel 4.
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Engaging the audience

8.9%

portfolio viewing share
amongst ethnically-
diverse audiences

Down 3%

on last year

5.2%

main channel viewing
share amongst
ethnically-diverse
avdiences

Up 2%

onlast year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Share among hard-to-reach audiences -
ethnically-diverse

As part of Channel 4's remit to make programmes
that appeal to people from different cultural
backgrounds, it isimportant for the broadcaster

to attract ethnically-diverse audiences. While

the PSBs all have lower overall viewing shares
amongst ethnically-diverse audiences than white
audiences across their portfolios, Channel 4 strives
to make this differential as small as possible.

In 2020, Channel 4's TV portfolio attracted an
8.9% viewing share amongst ethnically-diverse
aydiences. The corresponding share amongst
white audiences was 10.2%, giving a viewing share
differential between ethnically-diverse and white
audiences of 13%. Relative to the other PSBs, the
BBC and ITV had higher viewing share differentials,
of 23% and 24% respectively, but for the first time
this year Channel 5's was lower. Its 7% differential
reflected strong growth in ethnically-diverse viewing
toits digital TV channels {(by as much as 86% for
the Paramount Channel, which assumed the EPG
positions vacated by 5Spike in January 2020).

Channel 4’s TV portfolio viewing share amongst
ethnically-diverse audiences fell by 0.3
percentage pointsyear-on-year. In percentage
tarms, this was a 3% decline, and contrasts with
the corresponding 2% increase amongst white
audiences. As aresult, the 13% differential is five
percentage points higher than last year's figure,
and sits above the 4% - 11% range achieved over
the prior decade (between 2010 and 2019).

The widening of the differential in viewng between
ethnically-diverse and white audiences was driven
by Covid-19-related factors in 2020. During the
lockdowns, there was a general migration of viewing
to the main PSB channels and to the dedicated
news channels, particularly during daytime. This
benefited Channel 4’s main channel, whose viewing
share amongst ethnically-diverse audiences rose
this year, by 2%, 10 5.2% - its highest level since
2013. But Channel 4's digital channels suffered
from this migraticn, most notably E4, whose
viewing share fell this year, in large part due to the
reduced number of episodes of Holiyouks - the
soap, which performs disproporticnately well
amongst ethnically-diverse viewers, contributed

to a huge 23% decline in ethnically-diverse

viewing to E4 this year, versus a much smaller
decline of just 3% amongst white audiences.

Metrics

Public service broadcasters’ portfolio viewing
shares amongst white and ethnically-diverse
auvdiences as a percentage of total TV viewing by
those audiences (2020)

BBC

Channel 4

=

Five

Other
broadcasters

W B Ethnically diverse B B White
Scurce: BARB.
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Engaging the audience

15.7%

portfolio viewing share
amongst 16-34-year-
olds

Equal

with last year

8.6%

main channel viewing
share amongst
16-34-year-olds

Up 7%

on last year

Share among hard-to-reach avdiences -
16-34-year-olds

Channel 4 is unique amongst the P3Bs in that

its TV channels attract a disproportionately

large share of viewing amongst hard-to-reach
16-34-year-olds. Across its TV channel portfolio,
Channel 4’s viewing share amongst 16-34-year-
olds was15.7% in 2020, afigure that is 55% higher
than the corresponding all-audience share of 10.1%.
Conversely, the other PSBs’ 16-34 viewing shares
were below their all-audience shares across their
portfolios - by amounts ranging from 4% (for ITV})
up to as much as 26% (for the BBC, which hasan
especially strong appeal to older audiences).

Channel 4's 55% viewing differential was slightly
lower than the corresponding 2019 figure of 59%
{adrop of four percentage points). While viewing
amongst 16-34-year-olds held steady year-on-year
{0% change in share), across all audiences it rose
by 0.2 percentage points (equivalent to 2%) year-
on-year, leading to the small decline in the ratic of
16-34-year-olds to all-audience viewing share.

Public service broadcasters’ portfolio viewing
shares amongst 16-34-year-olds and all
avdiences as a percentage of total TV viewing
by those audiences (2020)

6.2

Channel 4

Five -

Other
broadcasters

B W 16-34-year-olds W ¥ All
Source: BARB.
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Engaging the audience

3.9%

viewing share for £4
amongst 16-34-year-
olds

Down17%

onlast year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Most popular channels for young viewers

Viewing to Channel 4's channels by 16-34-year-olds
was significantly impacted by the scheduling
changes that resulted from Covid-19. Youth-focused
channel E4 was negatively affected, primarily due

to the pause in filming of Hollyoaks due to Covid-19
restrictions, as a result of which the number of
episodes transmitted was cut back for most of

the year, with just 162 new episodes airing this year
compared 10 256 in 2019 (a 37% reduction). At the
same time, as with other age groups, 16-34-year-
olds turned to the main channelin bigger numbers
this year for its news and mainstream entertainment,
boosting its viewing share. These effects cancelled
each other out across Channel 4's TV portfolio,

with overall viewing share by 16-34-year-clds
holding steady year-on-year.

E4 was hit hard by the reduced volume of Hollyoaks
episodes; after arecord 16-34 share in 2019, viewing
to the soap fell by 19% this year, toits lowest share
in five years. 2020 was also the first year in which
there were no new episodes of popular US comedy
The Big Bang Theory, following its finale in 2019.

As aresult, overall viewing to E4 by 16-34-year-olds
fell by a substantial 17%, to 3.9%. This fall, of 0.8
percentage points, gave E4 its lowest 16-34 viewing
share in the last decade. Nonetheless, it remained
the second-most-watched digital TV channelin the
UK for16-34-year-olds (behind only ITVZ, whose
own share fell by 27% after the cancellation of
2020’'s Love Island due to the pandemic). Across

all channels, E4 felt behind Channel 5 (16-34

share; 4.1%}, making it the sixth most popular

TV channel overallfor this audience (of the main
PSE channels, it remained ahead of BBC Two).

Conversely, Channel 4's main channel enjoyed

its biggest year-on-year increase in viewing by
16-34-year-olds inthe last decade, rising by

8%. The resulting share, of 8.1%, was the highest
figure since 2013 This increase, equivalentto 0.6
percentage points, offset most of the declines
suffered by E4 thisyear. The main channelremains
the third most popular TV channel for 16-34-year-
olds, behind only ITV and BBC Cne, and perfcrmed
more strongly in terms of its growth than either

of those channels (ITV's 16-34 share fell by 5%
year-on-year, while BBC One’s share rose by 3%).

Metrics

Viewing share for the top 10 channels amongst
16-34-year-olds as a percentage of total
viewing by this age group

Year-on-year change

ITV1 14.4% -5%

Channel 4 +8%
TV 2 27%
Five +2%
E4 7%
BBC Two - +2%
CBeebles -3.1% +3%
Sky 1 .1.6% +4%
Dave .1.6% +5%
Source: BARB. T
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Engaging the audience

1%

of viewing to Channel 4
News programmes on
the main channelin
2020 accounted for by
viewers aged 16-34

Up 1pt

on last year

15%

of viewing to Channel 4
News programmes on
the main channetin
2020 accounted for by
ethnically-diverse
viewers

Down 1pt

on last year

Viewing to national news

Channei 4 News maintained its uniquely strong
appeal to young and ethnically-diverse audiences
in2020. 16-34-year-olds accounted for 11% of its
audience this year, higher than the corresponding
viewer profiles of the other main PSB channels’
national news programmes, which ranged from 9%
{Channel 5) down to as little as 5% (BBC Cne).

Channel 4 News’ profile of 16-34-year-olds was
one percentage point up year-on-year, recovering
slightly from the low point reached in 2019 following
years of gradual decline as young audiences
migrate faster than other age groups to digital

and social media for their news consumption {(see
‘Reach of Channel 4 News’, on page 92 for its
growth on other platforms). While the increaseis
small, Channel 4 was the onty main PSB channel
toincrease its 16-34 profile for its national news
programmes in 2020, and itis the first time since
2010 that it has recorded a year-on-year rise.

Channel 4 News’ appeal is more marked, and

more stable, for ethnically-diverse audiences. This
grouprepresented 15% of its total viewing in 2020.
While this is one percentage point down on 2019,
it remains at the top end of the 11% - 16% range
achieved over the last decade. Channel 4 remains
the only main PSB channel whose news viewing

by ethnically-diverse audiences matches or even
exceeds this group’s representation in the UK
population (estimated to be around 13% - 14%): the
other channels’ news programmes had ethnicatly-
diverse viewing profiles in the range of 6% - 11%.

Percentage of viewing to national news
programmes on the main PSB channels in
2020 accounted for by 16-34-year-olds and
ethnically-diverse viewers

Viewers aged16-34 Year-on-year change

BBC One Level
BBC Two Level
ITV 1 “Apt
Channel 4 _ +ipt
Ethnically-diverse viewars T
BBC One Level
BBC Two +1pt
TV 1 Level
Five Level
Source: BARE. -
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Engaging the audience

9.8m

people watched
Channel 4 News each
month

Up 25%

on last year

Reach of Channel 4 News

in 2020, an average of 9.8 millicn people watched
Channel 4 News for at least 15 consecutive minutes
each month, across the main weekday evening
programme, as well as the daytime and weekend
news bulletins on the main channel. Thisis a
massive 25% increase on the 2018 figure - by some
margin, the biggest year-on-year rise since this
metric was first reportedin 2008. After a period of
gradual decline over the last decade as avdiences
migrated to digital and social media for their news,
reach jumped back to its highest level since 2011,
While the other PSBs atso saw growth this year,
Channel 4 News enjoyed bigger gains than the
other main national news programmes - on BBC
One, ITV and Channel 5 - whose corresponding
rises in average monthiy reach ranged from

10% (BBC One) down to 4% (Channel 5).

Looking at the main weekday evening programme
specifically (which usually airs at 7pm), for

the second year running it enjoyed significant
increases in its viewing share, rising by 14% year-
on-year to 4.2% of viewing - its highest level since
2008 (when it was 4.3%), a hugely impressive
performance given the increased competition

in the digital space since then. With overall TV
audiences up this year, its absolute viewing figures
rose even more in 2020, by 18%, to 768,000.

Growth was also very strong amongst key
demographic groups. Amongst ethnically-diverse
audiences, the main weekday news programme's
share rose by 8% this year, to 8.0%, its highest
figure since ethnically-diverse audiences were
added to the BARB measurement system in

2010, ABCl1adult share also rose by 8%, to

5.6%, the highest figure since 2007. And share
amongst 16-34-year-olds increased by a huge
52%, to 4.6%, the highest level since 2010.

The figures above exclude the programme’s growing
presence on digital and social media. A highlight in
2020 was Channel 4 News’investigation into Trump's
campaign data, which drove more views than any
cther Twitter video from Channel 4 across the year.
Overall growth was particularly strong on YouTube,
with video views rising by 50% to 280 million. This
year, Channel 4 News expanded its touchpoints
among younger audiences by launching on Snapchat
with new shows such as Divided America and

Rated. Inthe month of the US election, Channel 4
News’ Snapchat show Divided America saw Gver
&.1million global unique viewers. Across the main
social platforms (Facebook, YouTube, Twitter,
instagram and Snapchat), Channel 4 News had 9.4
million followers/subscribers by the end of 2020.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Metrics
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Engaging the audience

18pt

lead over average for
other channels for
catering for audiences
that other channels
don't cater for

Down 1pt

on last year

Channel reputations - catering for audiences other
channels don’t cater for

In 2020, 27% of respondents selected Channel 4's
main channel over the other main PSB channels as
catering for audiences other channels don't cater for.
This gave Channel 4 a lead of 18 percentage points
over the average of the other main PS8 channels.

There were slight declines in Channel 4's scores
year-on-year. The proportion of people selecting
the main channel, iLts lead over the average of

the other main PSB channels, and its lead over

the next-highest-scoring channel all fell by one
percentage point. Nonetheless, this metric remains
stable: Channel 4's average lead over other
channels is at the upper end of the 10-22-point
range It has occupied over the last decade.

Caters foraudiences other channeis don’t
cater for

2020 27%

a l
'

9/’0 '
16%

2019 ; 28%

16%

B Channel 4 W Average for other main PSB channels
(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five}

----- Score for next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORI commissioned by Channel 4.

794m

total visits to
Channel 4’s websites,
mobile sites and apps

Up 14%

on last year

Total visits to Channel 4's websites and apps

In2G20, Channel 4's websites and apps attracted
arecord total of 734 million visits, after increasing
by 14% year-on-year - the highest ever total for
this metric. The dedicated All 4 app - availableon a
wide range of smartphones, tablets and connected
TVs - accounted for 79% of total visits (up from
76% in 2019), with the remaining 21% being visits

to Channel 4's websites {including mobile sites).

The growth this year was driven primarily by visits
to All 4 apps, which increased by 18%. Visits to
Channel 4’s websites were alsc up, but only by 1%.

Total annual visits to Channel 4's websites
and apps (million}

77777 Tota}
2019 i 534 699

B Websites and mobilesites W Apps

Source. Channel 4.
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Engaging the audience

73%

of total viewing across
the main channel, E4
and Mcre4 accounted
for by network
originations

Equal

with last year

Viewing to network originations

Channel 4's output can be divided between
‘network originations’ - i.e. programmes
commissioned by Channel 4 and transmitted

on any of the channels inits TV portfolio - and
programmes that were acquired by Channel 4
{primarily US content). Network originations are
important as Channel 4 deliversits public remit
for the most part through its investment in original
content: these are the programmes over which it
has creative and editorial influence in partnership
with the production companies that Channel 4
commissions to make them.

In 2020, network ariginations accounted for 73%

of total viewing to the main channel, £4 and More4.
Coming after six years of consecutive growth, the
proportion of network originations held steady this
year. Over the last two years network originations
have represented a higher proportion of viewing

1o these channels than at any time since this metric
was first reported in 2008, and network criginations’
share of viewing is ten percentage points more
thanin 2013.

Turning to the velume of programming in the
schedules, network originations represented
62% of all hours across the schedules of the main
channel, E4 and More4 in 2020, one percentage
point more than last year,

A comparison of these viewing and output figures
shows that network originations continue to be
responsible for adisproportionately high share of
overall viewing to the main channel, E4 and More4,
outperforming acquired programmes: in 2020, they
generated a higher share of viewing (73%) than their
corresponding share of the volume of programming
(62%).

Please note that:

1 The Film4 and 4Music/Box channels are excluded from this metric as

their cutputis primarily made up of acquired feature films and content.

2 Network originations differ from the narrower Ofcom detinition of
‘priginations’, which only count programmes on the individual
channel that commissioned them. Network onginations better
reflect the multichannel world by taking inte account the multiple
ocpportunities broadcasters can provide viewers to catch up on
programmes across therr digital TV portfolios
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et tne Covid-19 pandemic hit the UK early in

2020, the impact on Channel 4 was substantial
and affected plans across the whole year. The
First lockdown imposed by the government
orced an immediate hiatus in production
across all genres in March. Shortly thereafter,

he Tokyo 2020 Paralympic Games - of which

hannel 4 has exclusive UK coverage - were

postponed by the event organisers.

e initially had to cut total programming
investment by up to £150 million to ensure
e could manage the financial implications,
should the advertising market not recover
rom the extreme nature of the revenue
declines we saw in April and May 2020. From
hat point, we ring-fenced content spend in

order to protect the independent production
sector and reinvested in the content budget
later in the year, once we had better visibility.

Over the following months, this enabled us to
manage a prolonged interruption to our creative
pipeline. The ingenuity and agility demonstrated
by the sector in response to the situation was
remarkable. However, the combination of
reduced budget and enforced production
restrictions resulted in fewer hours than planned
of some regular programming (e.g. Hollyoaks),
hile some titles (e.g. The Circle and It's A Sin,
along with our extensive coverage of the
Paralympic Games) were pushed back to 2021.

owards the end of the year, once the financial
outlook began to improve and thanks in part to
our own cost-saving initiatives, we were able to
put money back in the content budget, allowing

L 116 alel’y L) o ] LG Lo Qugl te

The End of the F***ing World




Innovation through content

Meeting Channel 4's licence obligations

Compliance

Average hours per week minimum 2020
News In peak-time (6-10.30pm} 4 4
Current Affairs Overall 4 6

In peak-time (6-10.30pm) 2 4
Hours per year Schools 1 24
Percentage
Origination production Overall 56 60

In peak-time (6-10.30pm) 70 79
Independent production 25 50
European independent production 10 27
European crigin 50 69
Subtitling for the deaf and hard of hearing a0 100
Audio description 10 44
Signing 5 6
Regional production 35 47
Regional hours 35 58
Production in the Nations 9 9
Naticns hours g 12
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Innovation through content

£522m

spent on content
across all services

Down 21%

on last year

£510m

invested in criginated
and acquired
programming across
the Channel4 TV
portfolio (all genres)

Down 22%

on last year

Investment in all content

Following the enforced budget reductions,
Channel 4 spent £522 million on content acress
its services in 2020. This represented a reduction
of £138 million year-on-year, a 21% drop.

The main channel - which attracts the biggest
audiences in the portfolio - continued to account
for the bulk of the investment: its budget was £420
million this year, 81% of the total. Spend was down
by 21% year-on-year, a £110 million decline. Across
the digital TV channels, spend totalled £90 million,
adecline of £30 million relative to the 2019 level

(a 26% drop). Reflecting the growing importance

of digital media to Channel 4, centent spend on
these services actually rose in 2020, by £2 million to
£12 million {a 27% increase). Overall, digital services
(the digital TV channels and digital media) accounted
for 19% of Channel 4's total content investment

in 2020, marginally down from 20% in 2019.

Focusing onthe TV portfolio, i.e. the main channel
and digital TV channels, total spend was £510
miltion in 2020, £140 million less than in 2019

{a 22% decrease). Atthe genre level, spend was
down in most cases, with two exceptions. To
allow for the extended running times of some
editions of Channel 4 News during lockdown,
spend on News rose by 5% this year, to £29
million {a £1million increase). And with some gaps
in the schedule when production was halted by
Covid-19, spend on Film also rose, by 4% to £84
millien {a £3 million increase). In all other genres,
investment fell by at least 20%. The individual
declines do not, however, tell the main story

of the year, which was how Channel 4 reacted

in response to Covid-19 to provide relevant
programming across arange of genrestoa
population that suddenly found itself in lockdown.

Spend across the Channel 4 network on alt
content (Em)

T

otal

2020 420 90 Ww 522
2019 530 120 QL 660

B Channel 4 (mainchannel} B Digital channels
B Digital media (excluding main channel)

Source: Channel 4.

Total investment in originated and acquired
programming across the Channel 4 TV portfolio
by genre (£m)

Entertainment

9

Film
D:amé _- 58
Factual 182 B
236
Comedy B _
56
|62

News . 29
N

Current Affairs . 22

m-

Older Children |1

|6

Education |4

Sport

B 2020{£510m)

B 2019 (£650m)

Source: Channel 4.
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Innovation through content

65%

of the main channel
peak-time schedule
devoted to first-run
originations

Down 9pts

onlast year

Qutput mixon Channel 4

Changes to the programme schedule following

the Covid-19-related budget reductions led to

a significant reduction in the volume of first-run
originated content on the main channelin 2020,
especially during peak-time hours (defined by
Cfcomas 6-10.30pm). There were corresponding
increases in the shares of acquisitions and repeats.

During peak-time hours — when Channel 4 typically
premieres its originations, as they can reach the
largest audiences - the share of first-run originated
programming on the main channel was 65%, nine
points below 2019's figure. Repeats of original
programming accounted for another 14% of hours
(up by four points year-on-year), meaning that total
originations comprised 79% of peak-time cutput.
This is well ahead of Ofcom’s 70% licence reguirement.

Daytime schedules offer a more balanced spread
of originations and acquisitions, and originations
represented 60% of output on the main channel
across the day in 2020 - two percentage

points less than in 2019 but still comfortably
above the relevant Ofcom quota {of 56%).

Overall, in peak-time, there was a shift from
originations to acquisitions of five percentage
points, and a seven-pointrise in the share of repeats
{(with a corresponding drop in first-run programming).

Percentage of output on the main channel
accounted for by originations and first-run
programmes

Peak (6-10.30pm)

2020 65 14 7 14
2019 74 105 1%
Allday

2020
2019

B Criginations - first-run W Originations - repeat
B Acquisitions - first-ron & Acguisitions - repeat

Souvrce Charnel 4.

£370m

spent on originated
content across all
services

Down 25%

on last year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Investment in originated content

Channel 4 delivers its public remit primarily
through the original content that it commissions
and investsin. In 2020, the reduction in the overall
content budget meant that total expenditure on
originated content {first-run transmissions and
repeats) across its TV channels and online services
fell to £370 million. Year-on-year, thiswas a
decline of £122 million, equivalent to a 25% drop.

On the main channel - which attracts the

biggest audiences and correspondingiy accounts
for the large majority of Channel 4's content
budget - investmentin originations was £337
million {91% of the total}. This was exactly £100
million less than 2019's level, a 23% drop.

Beyond the main channel, £29 million was spent
on original content for the digital channels, £22
million less than in 2019 (a 44% drep). Spend on
digital media content {including websites and
cross-platform content) actually increased by
14% from £3.6 million to £4.1 million {the chart
shows £4 million in both years in rounded terms}.

Metrics

Spend across the Channel 4 networkon
originated content (Em)

~ - - Total
2020 337 29K 370
2019 437 51§ 492
| | Ch_armel 4 (main channel) M Digital TV Cha.nnels
B Digital media iexcluding main channel)
Source: Channel 4.
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Innovation through content

6.3hrs

of first-run criginations
every day on average
across the Channel 4
portfolic

Down 20%

on last year

Originated output across Channel 4 TV portfolio

Channel 4 broadcast anaverage of 6.3 hours

of new commissicned programmes (i.e. first-run
originations) every day across the main channel,
E4, Mored and Film4 in 2020. The main channel
accounted for 5.7 of these daily hours {91% of the
total), There were a further 0.6 hours onthe
digital channels.

Following the reduction in its content budget,

the volume of first-run originations across the

TV portfolio fell by 20% year-on-year to its lowest
tevel since this metric was first reported in 2008.
Hours on the main channel fell by 17% while those
onthe digital channels were down by 46%.

Average daily hours of first-run originations

across the Channel 4 TV portfolio
Total

B Channel4 B Digitalchannels

Source: Channel 4

2,281

hours of first-run
originations across
the portfolio

Down 20%

on last year

Volume of first-run originations by genre

Reflecting the decreases in originated and first-run
content discussed in ‘Cutput mix on Channel 4’

on page 98, Channel 4 broadcast 2,281 hours of
first-run originated programming across its TV
portfolio (main channel and digital channels) in 2020,
down by 581 hours (a 20% drop) year-cn-year.

Mirroring the changes n spend shown in ‘Investment
in all content’ on page 97, volumes were down for

all genres except for News and Film. There were

five more hours of News in 2020 (a 2% increase);
while Film was up by three hours, a17% rise.

Amongst the other genres, the two with the
smallest percentage declines in volume, of

9% and 12% respectively, were Current Affairs
and Factual - two key genres (alongside News)
that Channel 4 prioritised in order to reflect
the challenges the nation was facing on screen,
with programmes that helped audiences

to navigate the unprecedented times (see
‘Chalienge with purpose’ chapter on page 46).

Hours of first-run originations shown across the
Channel 4 portfolio by genre

Film | i
| 14
Drama l 101 -

. 159

’
’

Factual 1.236
1,397

Comedy 115 ”
|29

298
50

Entertainment

l

News 282

257

Current Affairs . 181

- 199

Older Ch;lldren 5

| 23
[18
|24

Education

Sport . 148
— B

W 3020(2,281hrs) W 2019({2,862hrs)

Source: Channel 4,
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Innovation through diversity

£329m

Broadcasters’ investment in the production sector
Channel 4 sources ali of its original programming

Expenditure by Channel 4 on first-run
external commissions (Em)

investment in from externa} suppliers.f‘\nintr.inl_.:ic part - fotal
fistrunexternal UK 8 L0008 o ot mvestment tothe. 2020 > =
fnc;r:]rrélsz:—]c;r;si ionn2tgzeo UK's independent production sector. 12(311? . 432 51 483
. Lo M Mainchannel B Digitalchannels
In 2020, Channel 4's investment in first-run
o originations from external suppliers across its Source. Channel 4
Down 24% TV portfolio fell in line with the Covid-19-related
on last year reductioninits overall content budget (see
introduction to “innovation through content’ on
page 95). On the main channel, spend on external
suppliers was £329 million, 47% of which was spent
on gualifying independent production companies.
With a further £27 million spent on the digital TV
channels, Channel 4's total investment in first-run
originations from external suppliers acrossits TV
portfelio was £356 million. This is 26% below the
2019 figure, a reduction of £127 million. Across
the portfolio, spend fell by 24% on the main
channel and by 46% on the digital channels.
Qutput from suppliers Investment in the Nations and Regions Proportion of first-run originated output
based cutside London: (mainchannel) and spend on Channel 4 which is made
0 Despite the significant disruptions to the schedules outside London
58 /o following the Covid-19-related cut to content - v
i o budgets and the enforced productionrestrictions Vol § 58%
of first-run originated in lockdown (see introduction to ‘Innovation through OﬁtUTte(ﬁows) i .
programme hours content’ on page 95), Channel 4 increased the P
proportions of content sourced from the Nations and 35%
Regions in both volume and spend terms in 2020. ——
'
Up 4pts . . Investmentin H
It sourced 58% of the hours of first-run originated output (Em) 6%
on last year programmes on the main channel from suppliers e
based inthe Naticns and Regions, This is four 35%
percentage points more thanin 2019 and just one m 2020 W 2019 cvata
point below the record level achieved in 2018,
Saurce: Channel 4,
o As a proportion of spend, Channel 4 achieved its
47 /o highest-ever ievel of investment outside London
on the main channel, with 47% of its expenditure
of the value of on first-run originated pregramming scurced
first-run originations from suppliersin the Nations and Regions,
one percentage point up year-on-year.
Up 1pt Both of these figures exceed by a significant
margin the 35% licence quotas set by Ofcom.
on last year
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Innovation through diversity

274

companies working
with Channel 4
portfolic across TV,
film and digital media
in2020

Equal

with last year

161

Independent TV
production companies
supplied the Channel 4
portfolio in 2020

Down 3%

on last year

Diversity of supply base

Channel 4 punches above its weight in terms of

the extent of its relationships with independent

TV production companies (‘indies’}. In 2019, the
most recent year that comparative TV industry data
is available, Channel 4 worked with 166 indies across
its TV channels. Amongst the PSBs, this was second
only to the BBC {354 indies), whase TV portfolic
content budget of £1.6 billienin 2019720 (according
to its Annual Plan} is more than double Channel 4's.
While ITV's content budget is also much larger

than Channel 4's, it only worked with 86 indies.

Turning to 2020 (for which data is available only

for Channel 4), there was inevitably some impact
following the Covid-19-related reduction in original
content spend (see ‘Investment in originated
content’ on page 98). Channel 4's efforts to support
the independent production sector enabled us

to maintain the overall number of suppliers that

we worked with. Across the year, a total of 274
companies supplied the TV, film and digital media
content that it commissioned, the same level as
2019. In TV, thisincluded 161indies - just five fewer
than 2019's total of 166 (the figure used for the PSB
comparisons above), a 3% deciine. Afurther 34 non-
independent producers gave atotal TV supply base
of 195 companies (4% below the 2019 figure of 204).

In other media, there were 20 online suppliers, just
one fewer than in 2019 {a 5% fall). Channel 4 worked
with 79 film companies in 2020, seven more than

in the previous year. Thisincrease, of 10%, is duein
part to the commissioning of a series of short films
in response to the Black Lives Matter movement
that imagine a future through a black cultural lens.

Across all types of content, 37 companies were
new suppliers to Channel 4. While this is s'x fewer
thanin 2019 (a 14% drop), it remains higher than the
2018 figure of 34. Note that some suppliers worked
across TV, film and online; removing the double-
counting that arises from suppliers who worked
across more than one media gives a total figure of
274 companies that Channel 4 worked with in 2020,

Number of independent TV production
companies supplying the PSBs

BBC portfolio n.a.

ITV portfolio 5.

Channel 4

portfolio
n.a.
Five
w2020 EE20t1  WE 2018

Note: 2020 data not available for other PSB channels.
Seurce: Charnel 4, Broadcast (other channels).
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Innovation through diversity

Output from suppliers
based inthe Nations:

12%

of first-run originated
programme hours

Up 1pt

on last year

9%

(o]

of the value of
first-run originations

Up 1pt

on last year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Investment in the Nations (main channef)}

In recent years, the proportion of Channel 4's
commissions made cutside of England bas been
increasing steadily in anticipation of new Gfcom
licence quotas of 9% for the proportions of volume
and spend on the main channel that came into
forcein 2020 (up from 3% in earlier years).

This year, programmes commissioned in the
Nations accounted for 12% of total hours of first-
run originations on the main channel. This is one
percentage point up on the 2019 figure, and

level with the record for this metric previcusly
setin 2017. It exceeds the new Ofcom quota by
three points. Looking at the individual Nations,
Scotland accounted for 5.7% of commissions
this year, Wales 4.2% and Northern Ireland

1.7% (giving a total of 11.6% to one decimal point).

Turning to expenditure, the Nations represented
9% of the total budget for first-run originated
programmes on the main channel. Thisisone
percentage point up on the 2019 figure, again

level with the record previously set in 2017. It
comprised 6.1% spent in Scotland, 2.1% in Wales
and 1.0% in Northern Ireland - totalling 9.2% to one
decimal ptace, just above the new Ofcom quota.

Commissions from the Nations provided 210 hours
of first-run programming on the main channelin
2020. Reflecting the Covid-19-related reduction
in total first-run originated content this year, this

is 38 fewer hours thanin 2019, a 15% decline. Total

spend in the Nations also fell by 15%, to £26.6 million

{a £4.5 million fall). While this mostly translated into
declinesin velume and spend for each Nation, there
were two exceptions: spend in Scotland rose by

1% year-on-year, to £17.7 million (with 102 hours of
commissions). And the velume of programming from
Northern Ireland more than doubled year-on-year
to 3Thours (with spend at £2.8 million). In Wales,
spend was £6.1 million for 76 hours of programmes.

Metrics

Proportion of first-run originated output and
spend on Channel 4 which is made outside

of England
Cutside of

England ocutput
{hours}

Outside of
England cutput
(£m}

W 2020 HE2019 - Quota

Source:Channel 4.
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Innovation through diversity

£14Tm

spent on production
companies based
outside London

Down 25%

on last year

£28m

spent on production
companies in
the Nations

Down19%

an last year

Spend by region across the Channel 4 TV portfolio

In 2020, Channel 4 spent £141million across

its TV portfolic on content commissioned from
production companies based in the Nations
and the English Regions. Reflecting the Covid-
19-related reduction in the overall content
budget, this was down 25% on last year's record
level of £189 million (a £48 million drop).

Expenditure on content from production companies
in the Nations was £28 million this year, a19%
reducticn year-cn-year (equivalent to £7 million).
Scotland accounted for the largest share of

this, with a spend of £19.0 million, followed by
£6.1million in Wales and £2.8 million in Northern
Ireland. TV portfolio spend on commissions from
the English Regions fell by 26% to £106 million
(£38 million down}, with a further £7.2 mitlion
spent on multi-region content (a decline of 27%,
or £2.7 million). Given the overall reductionin the
content budgetin 2020, there were year-on-year
declines in spend in all the individual Nations
and English Regions, ranging from as little as

8% for Scotland up to 67% in the Midlands.

Note: these imvestment figures for the Nations cover spend across
the Channel 4 TV portfolio, and differ slightly from those in the
previous metric (see abave), which relates to the main channel

Percentage of Channel 4's expenditure across
the TV channel portfolio ouvtside London
by region (€m)

h 20)
| W

4 )
\1\

B Midlands B South of England

B Northof England

W Nations (Scotland, Wales and
Northern Ireland)

B Multi-Region

Source: Channel 4,
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e Covid-19 pandemic — and the resulting
production hiatus and budget cuts - significantly
affected Channel 4's plans for a broad swathe
of programming that would have contributed to
its promotion of diverse voices and perspectives.
Production was delayed on some key

ommissions planned for 2020 that will now
air in 2021, such as 1980s AIDS drama ft’s A Sin.
Producing the daily soap Hollyoaks — which
requently highlights social issues in its storylines

was a huge challenge in the circumstances, and

he programme went off air for several months
(as did all the PSBs’ soaps). And the Tokyo 2020
Paralympic Games, which were to be covered
extensively by Channel 4, were also postponed
until 2021. Shows that were commissioned in

heir place sometimes had less space to cover
diverse voices as central themes given their
subject matter (in many cases focusing on Covid-

9-related issues). These changes are likely to
have contributed to some negative trends in the
metrics in this section.

Despite these changes, we maintained our
average lead over the other main PSBs across

2 tracker statements linked to our public service
remit (four are presented in this section and the
other eight in the following sections). These
benchmark the main channel’s reputation against
he other main PSB channels, with the results
ocusing on our leads over the other channels’
average scores. Averaged across the

2 statements, Channel 4’s lead over the

average for the other main PSB channels was
23 percentage points: level with the 2019 figure
and in the middle of the 20-27-point range
achieved over the last decade.

Joe Lycett’s Got Your Back

Take Your Knee Off My Neck




Different voices

76hrs

of first-run pregrammes
covering international
topics on Channel 4
(excluding news) and
True Steries across

the portfolio

Up17%

on last year

183hrs

of first-run foreign-
language content
across the portfelio

Down 20%

on last year

Range of international programming

Channel 4's coverage of international themes
extends across arange of genresin the schedule.
Excluding Channel 4 News, there were 76 hours
of first-run programmes with an international
theme on the main channeland in the dedicated
international documentary strand, True Stories
{which in recent years has run across the main
channeland Film4), in 2020. This figure 1s 17%
above last year’s total of 65 hours (11additional
hours). The True Steries strand accounted for
six hours in 2019 and two hours in 2020.

This year, Lifestyle overtock Current Affairs as the
biggest single genre, with 30% of total first-run hours
of international programming (excluding news), up
from 3% n 2019. This large year-on-year increase

is due to Work on the Witd Side, a 20-part series
following vets and velunteers who moved to South
Africa to rescue, rehabilitate and release some

of the world’s most iconic animals. The second-
biggest genre was Current Affairs, with 27% of

the total (down from 34% in 2019). Alongside the
long-running Unreported World and Dispatches
strands this year were programmes offering arange
of global perspectives on the coronavirus pandemic.

Channel4's acquired TV programmes and films also
include a diverse range of content from around the
world. These include tie-ins with Walter Presents,
Channel 4's innovative on-demand service curating
the best foreign-language TV shows. This year, the main
channel showed 13 series premieres, with the opening
episade of Swedish thriller Stockholm Requiem
attracting 386,000 viewers. Afurther seven series
were launched on Mored, with the first three episodes
of Nordlic Murders averaging 316,000 viewers. Taken
together, the Walter Presents-branded foreign-
language dramas shown on the main channel and
More4 reached 7.0 million viewers in 2020 (11.6% of the
TV population). While down by 1.9 million on last year's
figure, this was compensated by a 36% increasein
views to Walter Presents content on All 4, to 44 million.

Reflecting the overall reduction in content
investment this year, there were 183 hours of first-
run foreign-language TV shows and films across the
TV portfolio, 20% less than in 2019 (46 fewer hours).
Conversely, on the Film4 channel, the number of
hours of films from cutside the UK and US grew by
20% to 927 this year (156 additional hours). This
total - which includes first-runs and repeats, and
films shown both in the English language and in
foreign languages - is at its highest level over the
last decade, due primarily to a large increase in

the number of hours of films qualifying as Mixed
{both English and foreign-language}, refiecting

the increasingly global nature of filmmaxking.

Genres covered by international-themed
originations on Channel 4 (main channel)
as a percentage of total first-run hours

20“

>
-y

®

8 Lifestyle B Current B Nature &
Affairs Environment
W Drama B Documentaries W Other

Source: Channei 4.
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Different voices

9 6 h rs Diversity output onthe main channel Total hours of programming covering

While Channel 4 seeks to reflect the diversity of diversity issues shown on the main channel
of firstorun the UK across its entire cutput, it also commissions (2020 with trends relative to 2019)
shows whose subject matter specifically covers

originations covering

diversity issues diversity issues. In 2020, 184 hours of originated 184
on the main channel programmaes on the main channel included Alloriginated
subject matter covering issues relating to religion, 96

multiculturalism, disability and sexuvality. Of these of which
originated hours, 96 were first-run programmes first 1un 53
[+)
Down 34 A) (the others being repeats), and 53 of the first- ofwhich
run hours were in peak-time (i.e. between 6pm _inpeak.

on last year . ime
and 10.30pm, following Ofcom’s definition). tima .

{31% down) : U 3% dgwny

Our diversity output responded to the Covid-19
pandemic in a variety of ways. Romadon in Lockdown ¢ Ce s
followed the Muslim community as it adjusted

to Ramadan underlockdown conditions {religion),

{s Covid Racist? asked why so many black, Asian

and minority ethnic NHS colleagues have died from

the coronavirus (multiculturalism), while The Last

Leg: Locked Down Undler saw presenters Adam Hills,

Josh Widdicombe and Alex Brooker host the

show from their homes in Melbourne, London

and Huddersfield (disability). Other diversity

highlights included Losing it: Our Mental Heolth

Emergency {disability), The School That Tried To

End Racism {multiculturalism) and comedy series

Feel Good (sexuality).

The Covid-19-related reduction in content
budgets significantly impacted diversity output
this year. In particular, some key series that were
planned for 2020 were pushed back to 2021:
these included Russell T Davies’ majar drama
on the AIDS crisis, it's A Sin, and the return of
The Circle (which contributed 26 first-run hours
in 2019), as well as our extensive coverage of
the Paralympic Games, which were themselves
postponed by 12 months. As a result, the total
volume of originaticns was down by 31%, while
the volume of first-run originations and first-run
criginations in peak-time both dropped by 34%.
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Film

40%

from cutside the US

Up 8pts

on last year

21%

from the UK

Up 6pts

on last year

Diversity of Film4 channel schedule

The Film4 channel differentiates itself from other
mainstream fitm channels by showcasing a diverse
and alternative range of films from around the world.
In2020, the share of the schedule devoted tc nan-
Hollywood-studio titles rose to its highest levelin
seven years.

British films - including projects that were co-
funded by Film4 Producticns - accounted for

20.5% of total programming hours in the schedule,

a substantial jump of 5.1 percentage points year-
on-year when looking at exact figures (2019:15.4%}.
This substantial increase can be attributed to a
greater number of British classics playing in weekday
daytimes, and a marked rise in Film4 Productions
playing throughout the schedule, With the share
accounted for by other non-US films also increasing
this year, by 3.2 points to 19.3%, a total of 39.8% of
hours of output were devoted to films from countries
other thanthe US, 8.3 points up year-on-year (2019:
31.5%). This total, of justunder 40%, is the highest
share of non-US programming on the Film4 channel
since the same level was last achieved in 2013.

The Film4 channel reflected a number of important
public events during the year. Celebrating VE Day
was a selection of films to mark the 75th anniversary
of VE Day. In recognition of Pride in London - and
the cancelled march and other events that would
have taken place on and around Saturday 27 June

- the channel presented a varied and muiti-faceted
season of movies exploring issues, recognising
achievements and celebrating relationships relevant
to LGBT+ culture and lives, including the network
premiere at 9pm of Call Me By Your Name. As part
of Channel 4’s Black and Proud seasaon, Film4 aired
arich and powerful collection of films, beginning with
Fences, starring and directed by Denzel Washington.
The season also reflected on contemporary black
lives with two titles backed by Film4 Producticns:
Been So Long, a big-screen musical starring
Michaela Coel and Arinzé Kene; and playwright
Debbie Tucker Green's intimate drama Second
Coming, starring Idris Elba and Nadine Marshall.

Film4 also extended its reach on digital services,
reflecting the migration of young viewers in
particular to new platforms. Film4 on BritBox
launched in September, bringing some of the

most iconic British films of the last 30 years to the
platform. Meanwhile, Film4 on All 4 significantly
increased its selection of editerially curated titles,
coming closer to replicating the style and scope

of the output on the channel itself. Its range was
further expanded by a selection of shorts from
Film4 Productions, as well as the 15 LGBT+ films
shortlisted for the Iris Prize Best British Short - a
new partnership with Iris Prize, which over its 15-year
history has become a leading voice in championing
LGBT+ short film and introducing vital new talent.
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News and Current Affairs

389

long-form News
and Current Affairs
programmes

in peak-time

Down 3%

on last year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Commitment to long-form journalism

This metric looks at ‘long-form’ journalism in

the News and Current Affairs output on the main
PSB chanrels, defining long-form programmes
as those running for at least 45 minutes for
News and 15 minutes for Current Affairs.

In 2020, Channel 4's main channel showed 389
‘long-form’ News and Current Affairs programmes
in peak-time {(between 6pm and 10.30pm, as
definred by Ofcom), This is substantially more than
the corresponding combined total for the other
main PSB channels {245 programmes between
them). With extended editions of Channel 4 News
displacing some Current Affairs programmes that
would have aired as separate programmes, the
number of long-form programmes on Channel 4
was slightly down year-on-year, by 3%. This decline
is relative to the record level achieved in 2019, and
the 2020 total remains the second-highest-ever
figure on this metric since 2012 (the cldest year
using the current methadology).

These figures — based on the number of programmes
- do not reflect the extended running times of
some special editions of Channel 4 News, as they
would have counted as long-form programmes
anyway. Eight editions were extended a little
beyond the usuat hour, and a further nine were
extended to between 70 and 105 minutes, with
the longest occurring on 23 March, the day of the
Prime Minister's televised address instructing
the British public to stay at home. Overall

across the whole year, looking at the volume of
programming in terms of total hours, Channel 4
showed more news in peak-time than any other
year in the broadcaster’s history, at 289 hours,

Channel 4 maintained a commanding lead over
other channets even when the late evening period
is also taken into account, which includes News
and Current Affairs programmes broadcast after
peak-time (in particular, BBC Two’s Newsnight,
which usually begins after 10.30pm). Between
6.30pm and midnight, Channel 4 showed 428
long-form News and Current Affairs programmes
onits main channelin 2020, 8% below the previous
year's figure. Channel 4's total was considerably
greater than that for any of the other main PSB
channels, with a bigger gap than last year over
second-placed BBC Two, which broadcast 277
long-form News and Current Affairs programmes
{(only 23 of which were shown in peak-time).

That put BBC Two 151 titles behind Channel 4

this year, versus a 129-title difference in 2019.

Metrics

Number of long-form News programmes and
single-story Current Affairs programmes witha
duration of at least 45 minutes and 15 minutes
respectively shown onthe main channel
between 6pm and midnight

BBC Cne 2020 JEEEE:Y 166

ployl*lR 114 90 204

BBC Two 2020 277

ITV1

Channel 4

Five 2020 .39 5 44
2019 |2 2

M W Peak-time = B CH-peak

Spurce: Channel 4, BARB (other channels).
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Different voices

20pt

lead over average for
other channels for
showing different
cultures and opinions

Down 1pt

on last year

Channel reputations - shows different kinds
of cultures and opinions

In 2020, Channel 4 maintained its reputation as
being best for showing different kinds of cultures
and opinions. 31% of respondents selected the
main channel, giving it a lead of 2C percentage
points over the average for the other main

PSB channels, and a 14-point lead over the
next-highest-scering channel, BBC One.

Channel 4's scores tell marginally this year. The
proportion of people selecting the main channel
and its lead over the average for the other main
PSB channels fell by one percentage point relative
10 20192, while its lead over the next-highest-
scoring channel was flat year-on-year, Despite
some small declines over the last three years,
Channel 4's average lead over other channels

sits rovghly in the middle of the 17-24-point

range it has cccupied over the last decade.

Shows different kinds of cultures and opinions

2019 32%

17%

%

18%

W Average for other main PSB channels
{BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)

.- Score for next highest PSB channel

B Channel 4

Source: |psos MORI commissioned by Channel 4.

20pt

lead over average for
other channels for
challenging prejudice

Down 1pt

on last year

Channel reputations - challenges prejudice

Channel 4’s main channel was chosen by 28%

of respondents as the one they most associate

with challenging prejudice in 2020, giving ita
20-percentage-peint lead over the average score
for the other main PSB channels, and a 16-point lead
over the next-highest-scoring channel, BBC One.

All three scores - the proportion of respondents
selecting Channel 4, its lead over the average
forthe other main PSB channels and its lead over
the next-highest-scoring channel - fell by one
percentage point year-on-year. Perhaps reflecting
the schedule changes referred to above, 2020's
scores dipped below the range achieved over
the previous five years. Nonetheless, Channel 4's
average lead over other channeis remains within
the 18-27-point range it has occupied over
thelast decade (albeit at the lower end).

Challenges prejudice

2020 i 28%

8%
12%

2018 i 29%

o I

8%
12%

8 Avarage for other main PSB channels
(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV Tand Five)
'''' Score for next highest PSB channel

& Channel 4

Source: Ipsas MOR| commissioned by Channel 4.
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Different voices

Channelreputations - shows the viewpoints
21 pt of minority groupsin society
Channel 4 has a longstanding reputation for giving
avoicetodiverse groups, including some that are
under-represented on TV. Channel 4 remained
by a large margin the PSB channel regarded
by viewers as being the best for showing the
viewpoints of minority groups in society, and its
scores fell by only small amounts year-on-year.

lead over average

for other channels

for showing the
viewpoints of different
minority groups

Down 1pt 30% of viewers selected Channel 4's main channel as
being the best for showing the viewpoints of minority
groups in society. This translated to a significant lead,
of 21 percentage points, over the average for the other
channels, and a 16-point lead over the next-highest-
scoring channel, BBC One. This year, the proportion
of people selecting the main channel, andits lead
over the average of the other PSB channels, bothfell
by one point, while its lead over the next-highest-
scoring PSB channel was down by two points.

on last year

There still remains a considerable distance between
Channel 4 and the other PSB channels, with
Channel 4's 30% score this year more than double
that of the next-highest-scoring channel (of 14%).

Moaoreover, Channel 4 continued to outperform

the other PSBs by large margins as a platform for
the viewpoints of individual minority groups. The
main channel was selected by 28% of viewers as
being best for showing the viewpoints of different
ethnic groups in the UK {the same as in 2019),

giving it a lead of 19 percentage points over the
average for the other main PSB channels. 31% of
viewers thought Channel 4 was best for showing the
viewpoints of lesbian, gay, bisexuval and transgender
people (2019: 33%), a massive 24 points above

the average of the other PSB channels. And 25%

of viewers thought Channel 4 was best for showing
the viewpoints of disabled people (2019: 26%), 17
points above the average of the other PSB channels.

Shows the viewpoints of minority groups
in society

13%

B Channetd B Average for other main PSB channels
{(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)

----- Score tor next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORI commissioned by Channel 4.

2 6 t Channelreputations - home for alternative voices
p Channel 4 continued to provide a mainstream
platform for alternative veices in 2020. Its main
channelwas selected by 34% of respondents
as being the home for alternative voices. Its lead

over the average for the other main PSB channels
was 26 percentage points, while its lead over

lead over average
for other channels
for allowing people
an alternative point

of view . - .
the proportion selecting the next-highest-
scoring channel, Channel 5, was 23 points.
Equal Despite the revisions to the 2020 schedule,

Channel 4's performance on this metric held
steady this year. Its own score, its lead over the
average for the other main PSB channels, and its
lead over the next-highest-scoring channel, were
all level with the corresponding 2019 figures.

with last year

Channel Four Annual Report 2020 Metrics

Home for alternative voices

5% K
1%

B Channgl4 B Average for other main PSB channels
(BBC Qne, BBC Two, ITV Tand Five}

""" Scorefor next highest PSB channel

1%

Source. Ipsos MORI commissioned by Channel 4
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Revisions to the 2020 schedules - due to the
ovid-19-related budget cuts, production delays
and increased complexity for those productions
hat could continue - impacted the nature of
hannel 4's distinctiveness this year. Some of the
programmes that we are most proud of include
ast-turnaround commissions such as Jamie:
eep Cooking and Carry On and Grayson’s Art
Club, which were filmed in the presenters’ own
homes, and subject to entirely new production
protocols that were developed and implemented |
at speed. These programmes were highly |
distinctive in terms of the production processes |
hat enabled them to be made safely, and were
amongst the fastest lockdown shows to come
o screen on any TV channel.

Nonetheless, some of the tracker statements in

his section show small falls in Channel 4’s leads
over other channels in 2020, due to a number of
actors. First, the innovations in fast-turnaround

hows mostly occurred behind the scenes and

il not always have been apparent to viewers.

econd, some genres that appeared in greater
numbers as a result of the pandemic - such as
news and Covid-19-related documentaries -
by their nature focused on elements of the remit
other than distinctiveness. And third, a few of

he most distinctive programmes that had been

ommissioned for 2020, such as It’s A Sin, were |
busned pack to 20 ‘

I1t's A Sin

Grayson's Art Club




Distinctive approaches

13pt

lead over average for
other channels for
making viewers think in
new and different ways

Down 2pts

on last year

Channelreputations - makes me think about
things in new and different ways

After achieving its joint-highest-ever score in
2019 for making people think about things in
new and different ways, Channel 4's scores
fell back a little this year. 23% of respondents
selected the main channel on this metric,
two percentage points below the 2019 peak.

This gave Channel 4 alead of 13 percentage
points over the average for the other main PSB
channels, two points less than in 2019. lts lead
over the next-highest-scoring channel, BBC One,
was 11 peints, one point down year-on-year.

Despite these small year-on-year declines, this metric
remains stable. Channel 4's average lead over other
channels remains within the tight 12-16-point range

it has occupied over the last decade.

Makes me think about things in new and
different ways

10%
12%
10% [

13%

& Channel4

| Average tor other main PSB channels
(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)
---- Sceorefor next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORl commissioned by Channel 4.

30pts

over average for other
channels for tackies
issues other channels
wouldn't

Equal

with last year
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Channel reputations - tackles issves other
channels wouldn’t

Channel 4 maintained its strong reputation for
being best for tackling issues that other channels
wouldn't in 2020. A huge 38% of respondents
selected the main channel on this metric - this

is almost three times the figure achieved by

the next-highest-scaring channel, Channel 5
{chosen by just 13% of respondents). This meant
that Channel 4 had a 25-percentage-point

lead gver the next-highest-scoring channel,

The other main PSB channels were chosen by

8% of people on average, giving Channel 4's
main channel a 30-point lead over them - level
with the corresponding figure in 2012, This meant
that this metric remains one of two reputational
statements for which Channel 4 has maintained
an average lead over the other PSB channels

of at [east 30% for the (ast five years.

The proportian of respondents selecting

Channel 4 and its lead cver the next-highest-scoring
channet each fell slightly year-on-year, by one
percentage point.

Metrics

Tackles issues other channels wouldn’t

2020 H

38%

8% [N
13%
2019 39%
9% [
13%
® Channel 4 __I_Average forot;;e_r main PSB chanm;-

(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)
----- Score for next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORI commissiaoned by Channel 4.
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Distinctive approaches

25pt

lead over average for
other channels for
taking a different
approach to subjects
compared to other
channels

Down 2pts

on last year

Channel reputations - takes a different approach
to subjects compared with other channels

With one of the highest scores on the reputation
statements, 34% of people selected Channel 4's
main channel as the one they most associate
with taking a different approach to subjects
compared with other channels in 2020. This
translated to substantial leads for Channel 4:

of 25 percentage points over the average for the
other main PSB channels, and of 20 points over
the next-highest-scoring channel, Channcl 5.

There were small declines year-on-year. The
proportion of people selecting the main channet,
its lead over the average for the other main PSB
channels, and its iead over the next-highest-scoring
channel all fell by two percentage points. Despite
these declines, Channel 4's average lead over other
channels remains inthe middle of the 19-29-point
range it has cccupied over the last decade.

Takes a different approach to subjects
compared with other channels

14%

14%

B Channel 4

M Average for other main PSB channels
{BBC Oneg, BBC Two, 1TV 1and Five}

----- Score for next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORI| commissioned by Channel 4.

165

new or one-off
programmes shown
on Channel 4 between
6pm and midnight

Up 3%

on last year

New and one-off programming

Channel 4’s commitment tc experimentation

is demonstrated in part by the number of new
and gne-off programmes that it shows. This year,
despite the reductions in content budgets due to
Covid-19 {see introduction to 'Innovation through
content’ on page 95}, Channel 4 increased the
number of new and one-off programmes in the
evening schedules (when audiences are highest)
and maintained its leads cver the BBC and ITV.

There were 165 new and one-off programmes

on Channet 4’s main channel between 6pm and
midnightin 2020 - many of which were directly
about, orin response to, the pandemic and the
lockdowns that were introduced (see ‘Reinvent
entertainment’ chapter on page 60). This is more
than corresponding figures for BBC One (136
programmes), BBC Two {139 programmes} and
ITV (97 programmes). Of the main PSB channels,
only Channel 5 showed more new and one-off
programmes (179 titles), as it continued its post-
Big Brother revamp of its schedule. Witha 3%
increase, this was the second consecutive year-
on-year rise in the number of new and one-off
programmes in the evening schedules on Channel 4.

Number of new and one-off programmes shown
on the main PSB channels between 6pm
and midnight

W 2020

W& 2019

Scurce: Attentional commissioned by Channel 4.
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Distinctive approaches

31pt

lead over average for
other channels for
taking risks that others
wouldn’t

Down 1pt

on last year

Channel reputations — takes risks with programmes
that others wouldn’t

Risk-taking lies at the heart of Channel 4's public
remit, and its success in delivering on this on the
main channelis reflected in its scores when
respoendents are asked which of the main PSB
channelsis bestfor taking risks with programmes
that others weuldn't. A massive 40% of respondents
selected Channel 4 on this metricin 2020, its
highest score on any of the reputational statements.
Channel 4 maintained a substantial gap over the other
main PSB channels: its score was 31 percentage
points above the average of the other channels,
while it led the next-highest-scoring channel,
Channel 5, by 23 points.

There were small year-on-year declines in this metric:
the proportion of people selecting the main channel,
its lead over the average for the other main PSB
channels, and its lead over the next-highest-scoring
channel, all fell by one percentage point.

Takes risks with programmes that
others wouldn't

2020 40%
|
17:%

9%

17%

B Average for other main PSB channels
(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)

----- Scorefor next highest PSB channet

W Channel 4

Source: Ipsos MORI commissioned by Channel 4.

24pt

lead over average for
other channels for
being experimental

Down 2pts

on last year
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Channel reputations ~ is experimental

Channel 4's main channel was picked by 33% of
respondents as the PSB channel that they most
associate with being experimentalin 2020. This
gave Channel 4 significant leads over the other
channels: the propertion of people choosing
the main channelwas 24 percentage points
higher than the average for the other main PSB
channels, while its lead over the next-highest-
scoring channel, Channel 5, was 16 points.

The scheduling changes in 2020 resulted in less
space for experimentation than planned at the start
of the year, and this may account for small declines in
the scores this year: the proportion of respondents
selecting Channel 4 and its lead over the average

for the other main PSB channels each fell by two
percentage points year-on-year, while its lead over
the next-highest-scering channel fell by one point.

Asaresult, Channel 4’s average lead fell to its
lowest level over the last decade. Nonetheless,
this metric has been fairly stable, with Channel 4's
average leads sitting within a narrow range of 24 to
29 points over the whole period. And even despite
this year’s decline, Channel 4's performance
remains well ahead of the other PSBs, with

its 2020 score of 33% almost double the 17%
achieved by the next-highest-scoring channel.

Metrics

Is experimental

9%

17%

8 Channel 4

2019

18%

W Average for othermain PSB channels
(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)

-+ Score fornext highast PSB channel

Source Ipsos MOR| commissioned by Channel 4,
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Film

26pt

lead over average
for other channels
for being the best for
modernindependent
film

Up 2pts

on last year

Channel reputations - is best for modern
independent film

Channel 4 strengthened its reputation amengst
the main PSB channels as being best for
modern independent film in 2020, with scores
at, or close to, their all-time peaks. 33% of
respendents picked Channel 4's main channel
for this metric, two percentage points more
thanin 2019, and just one point below the
highest-ever score of 34% achieved in 2013.

Channel 4 alsc increased its lead over the average
for the other main PSB channels by two percentage
points, to 26 points, its joint-highest-ever score
(last reached in 2018). And its lead over the
next-highest-scoring channel, ITV, [ikewise rose

by two points, just one point below the highest-
ever lead, of 25 points, achieved in 2016.

Amongst the top-rated film premieres on
Channel 4 this year, acclaimed Film4 production
Three Bitlboards Outside Ebbing, Missouri
attracted 2.1 million viewers (14.1% avdience
share) in July, while Asif Kapadia's Diego
Maradona drew 873,000 viewers in March,
animpressive figure for a feature documentary.

Is best for modern independent film

2020 ! 33%

1%

é
9%

W Channel 4

[BEBC One, BBC Two, ITV Tand Five)
----- Score for next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MORIcommissioned by Channel 4,

B Average for other main PSB channels
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Factual

21pt

lead over average
for other channels
for being the best
for documentaries
that present
alternative views

Up 3pts

on last year
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Channel reputations - is best for documentaries
that present alternative views

Channel 4 seeks to differentiate its documentary
programming from that of other broadcasters
through its subject matter and approach, with a
particular focus on offering alternative viewpoints
less frequently seen on teleyision. In 2020, after
two years of declines, Channel 4's reputation
improved as being best for documentaries that
present alternative views. 33% of respondents
selected the main channel for this metric, giving it
alead of 21 percentage points over the average for
the other main PS8 channels, and a 16-point lead
over the next-highest-scoring channel, BBC Cne.

With no other PSB channel being selected by

more than 17% of respondents, Channel 4's scores
increased markedly this year: the proportion of
respondents selecting the main channel rose by
two percentage paints, its lead over the average

for the other main PSB channels was up by three
points, and its lead over the next-highest-scoring
channel rose by five points - a significant figure for a
year-on-year change. Channel 4's average lead over
other channels is at the upper end of the 10-24-point
range it has occupied over the last decade.

Metrics

Is best for documentaries that present
alternative views

17%

3%

2019

|

13%
20%

& Channel 4 B Average for other main PSB channels

(BBC One, BBC Two, ITV 1and Five)
----- Score for next highest PSB channel

Source: Ipsos MOR! commissicned by Channel 4.
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Factual

69%

of viewers said that
Channel 4’s Factual
programmes inspired
change in their lives

Down 3pts

on last year

Inspiring change through Factual programming

Channel 4's Factual programming seeks to
inspire people to make changes in their lives and
encourages them to think about things in new and
different ways. Some programmes lead to active
engagement, e.g. by encouraging people to talk
to others about their subject matter, to seek out
further information or - at their most engaging

- toactually try something new or different.

Some of the programmes cemmissioned to air
during the first lockdown in 2020 were specifically
intended to inspire viewers who were stuck at
home, and were amongst the best-performing
titles covered by this metric; for example,
Grayson'’s Art Club and Jamie: Keep Cooking and
Carry Onscored 84% and 69% respectively.

Across the whole Factual slate (comprising around
50 programmes and series), 69% of viewers said that
Channel4's programming inspired them in one or
more ways this year. This figure fell by three points
year-on-year, possibly reflecting the rebalancing
ofthis year’s Factual slate, While programmes such
as those cited above were expressly inspirational in
nature, some other Factual programming related to
Covid-19 was inevitably less inspiring in its subject
matter. Notwithstanding the drop in the overall
score this year, it remained at the upper end of the
63% - 72% range it has occupied over the last decade.

The highest-scoring individual programme across all
the statements this year was 700 Kilo Kids: Obesity
50S - adocumentary following young patients and
the specialist NHS staff working in Britain‘s {eading
childhood obesity clinic in Bristol - with a score

of 88%. Top-scoring programmes on individual
statementsincluded Lose a Stone in 27 Days with
Michoel Mosley (53% of viewers were inspired to
think about changing something in thelr own life}
and Peter: The Human Cyborg (49% of viewers
talked about this programme to other people).

Percentage of viewers who said that
Channel 4's Factual programmes inspired
change in their lives

Year-on-year change

Down 3pts
Down 2pts
Up 3pts
Up 3pts
Down 2pts
16% -

@ Anyinspiring change statement(s)
B It made me think aboutitssubject in new and different ways
B It made me think about changing something in my own life
B | tried something new or different after watching this programme
% |talked about the programme to other people
I locked for further information elsewhere after watching this
programme

Source: Ipsos MORI commissioned by Channel 4.
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News and Current Affairs

81%

of Channel 4 News
viewers regard itto
be independent
from government

Down 1pt

on last year
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Independence of TV news

Inayear dominated by major news events - from
the Covid-19 pandemic through the Black Lives
Matter movement and on to the US elections -
2020 saw surges in conspiracy thecries and the
dissemination of inaccurate information, making the
impartial and authoritative news services provided
by the main UK broadcasters mere important

than ever. Channel 4 News continues to be the
most highly regarded news provider in terms of

its perceived independence from the government
and from the influence of big businesses, leading
the other broadcasters by clear margins.

81% of regular viewers to Channel 4 News regarded it
as being independent from the government in 2020.
This is ten percentage points mare than the average
for the other main news programmes (those from

the other public service broadcasters and Sky News)
and six points above the corresponding figure for the
next-highest-scoring news programme (/TV News).

73% of regular viewers to Channel 4 News
agreed thatitis independent from the influence
of big businesses, eight percentage points
morethan the average for the ¢ther main news
nrogrammes and five points more than the next
highest-scoring news programme (BBC News).

There were year-on-year declines in the absolute
proportion of respondents selecting Channel 4 News
in 2020. Its score fell by one percentage point (2019:
82%) for being independent from the government,
perhaps reflecting the important role played by the
broadcasters this year in reporting official press
briefings on Covid-19, Meanwhile, Channel 4's score
for being independent from the influence of big
businesses fell by three points (2019: 76%), possibly
because reporting on the pandemic displaced some
investigations relating to big businesses that would
have been undertaken ina normal year.

These factors affected all broadcasters, and
Channel 4 maintained or extended its lead over
the other main news programmes year-on-year.
For both metrics - independence from the
government and independence from the influence
of big businesses - the trend was the same:
Channel 4's lead over the average for the other
main news programmes rose by one percentage
point, while its iead over the next-highest-scoring
news programme (2019: Sky News and BBC News
respectively for the two metrics) held steady.

Metrics

Percentage of regular viewers to TV news
programmes in 2020 who agree with the
following statements:

Itisindependent from

thegoverrjment - B Yefar—on:_year change
ITV News 75% Opt
News

Five News 73% -2pt
Sky News 74% -2pt

Itis mdependent from

the ‘mftum_ence of big business Year-gn-year change

News

Five News % -1pt

Sky News -6pt

Source Ipsos MORI commissiﬁned by Channel 4. -
e




News and Current Affairs

45%

average programme
reputation statement
for Unreported World

Up 3pts

on last year

45%

average programme
reputation statement
far Dispatches

Equal

with last year

Programme reputation statements -
Current Affairs

Channel 4’s longstanding Current Affairs strands,
Dispatches and Unreported World, differ from
other public service broadcasters’ Current
Affairs programmes in terms of their approach
and subject matter, Across a bread range of
topicalissues - which in 2020 included but was
not limited to Covid-19 and the US elections

- they continued to emphasise investigative
journalism, challenging viewers to see things
differently, giving a voice to those who might not
otherwise be heard and (especially in Unreported
World) providing a window on the wider world.
One-hour Current Affairs specials delivered
additional depth for important stories.

Channel 4 tracks five reputaticonal statements
in these areas looking at avdience perceptions
of the main Current Affairs shows - both regular
strands and cne-off programmes - onthe

main PSB channels. With an average score of
45% across the five statements, Dispatches
and Unreported World were jointly the best-
performing Current Affairs shows on the main
PSB channels in 2020, ahead of BBC Cne's
Panorama (in third place with a 43% score),

Dispatches was the most consistent show,

ranking first or second for four of the five statements:

it scored higher than any other Current Affairs

show for “uncovers the truth” (for which it was
selected by 58% of respondents) and “made me see
something in a different light” (41% of respondents),
and was in second place for “covers things In great
depth” {50% of respondents) and "gives a voice

to groups that aren’t always heard in mainstream
media” (39% of respondents). Dispatches”average
score across the five reputational statements

heid steady year-on-year; it has only once scored
higher over the last decade, with 48% in 2011.

Unreported World was the highest-scoring Current
Affairs show for “shows stories about parts of

the world you would rarely see on British TV”
{53% of respondents) and “gives a voice to groups
that aren’t always heard in mainstream media”
{51% of respondents). It ranked third for another
two statements - “uncovers the truth” {(46% of
respondents) and “made me see somethingin
adifferent light” (36% of respondents). After
small declines over the previous two years,
Unreported World's average score across the

five reputational statements rose by three
percentage pointsin 2020, back to its 2017 level.

Programme reputation

Unreported World
Dispatches
Panorama

Exposure

The Martin Lewis
Money Show
Uncovers the truth

Dispatches

Panorama

EN
)]
B

Unreported World

The Martin Lewis
Money Show

Exposure

i
w
=2

Covers things in great depth

Panorama
Dispatches

Newsnight

The Martin Lewis
Money Show

Unreported World

ES
o
¢

Gives a voice to groups that aren’t always heard in
mainstream media

4
pul 4

Unreperted World
Dispatches
Exposure

Question Time

Wl w
R R
o~ 52 32

Panorama

Made me see someth-ing in a different tight

Dispatches
Panorama

Unreported World

Exposure

The Martin Lewis
Money Show

(%)
=
3¢ «
A ‘
IS Y |
N E
%

Shows stories about parts of the world y?au would rarely see
on British TV

[%)]
[
ped

Unreported World

Exposure 40%
Dispatches
Panorama
The One Show 23%

;Channet 4 sﬁuw Tdther broadcasters;' shows

Source ipsos MORlcommissioned by Channel 4.
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his list includes all our
suppliers of originated
elevision programmes that

ransmitted across the
portfolio in 2020, plus film
and digital companies that
received project funding .
rom us in. We also provided s
development funding to a |
range of other companies.

hile every effort has been

made to identify and name
all of the relevant

ompanies for this list, we
apologise if there are any
accidental omissions.

e
=
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e would also like to thank
all of our advertising and
ommercial partners.
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01 Productions

12 Yard Productions

72 Films

Acme Films

Afro-Mic Producticons
Agile Films

Alcove Entertainment
Allegro Films

Alleycats Films

Amazing Productions
Apocalypso Pictures
Archer’'s Mark

Ardimages UK

Arrow International Media
Assassin Films

Atomized Studios

Avalon

Avanti Media

Baby Cow Productions
Back That

Barcroft Studios
Barefaced TV

BBC Studios

Bee's Wing

Betty

Big Talk Productions
Blacklight (On The Edge)
Producticons

Blakeway

Blast! Films

Blink Entertainment (t/a Blink
Films}

Blink Productions / Industries
Bluebird Film Productions
Blueprint Pictures
Blumhouse Productions LLC
Boom Cymru TV
Boomerang Productions Media
Bosena

Brave New Media

Bridge Way

Bright Button Production
BriteSpark Films

Broody Duck

Brook Lapping
Buccaneer Media

Burning Bright Productions
Buzztrack TV

Bwark Productions
Candour Productions
Caravan Cinema

Century Films

Channel X

Chwarel

Clerkenwell Films
Clockwork Films
Company Television
Cowboy Films

CPL Productions

Crackit Productions

Cuba Pictures

Curve Media

D J Films

Daisybeck Studios
Darlow Smithson Productions
Delaval Fitm

DMC Film

DNA Films

Doc Hearts

Dominic Buchanan Productions
Doarothy 5t Pictures
Double Band Films

Dragonfly Film and Television

Productions

Duck Soup Films

Dura Mater Films

Eagle Eye Drama

Feosse Films

Element Pictures
Emporium Productions
EMU Films Productions LLP
Erebus Pictures

Escape Films

Escape Plan Productions
Euston Films (part of
FremantleMedia UK)
Expectation Entertainment
Fable Pictures

Fifty Fathoms Productions
Filmnova

Firecracker Films
Firecrest Films

Five Mile Films

Flicker Productions

Flint Television

Fly Film Company
Forward Films

Fox Cub Films
Framestore

Free Range Films
Freeform Productions
Fruit Tree Media

Fudge Park Productions
Fuil Fat Television
Fulwell 73 Productions
Greenacre Films

H.C.A Entertainment
Bardcash Productions

Hat Trick
Helle Halo Productions
Heyday Films

Hot Sauce Productions / BFQ

House Preductions
Humble Pie Productions {t/a
Studio Ramsay)l
llluminations

Indefinite Films

InFilm Producticns
Inflammable Films

Initial TV

ITN Preductions

ITV Studios

IWC Media

JW Fiims

Jamie Oliver Productions
Joi Productions
Jolygood TV

Jon Lloyd {t/a Frieda TV)
Juniper Communications
Keo Films

Knickerbocker Glory
Kudos

Labell Television

Left Bank Pictures

Lime Pictures

Lion Television

Little Dot Studios

Littte Gem Media
Livewire Sport

Lobo Films

Love Productions
LuckyChap Entertainment
Lupus Films

Maverick Television

Mayfly Television
Menace Productions
Mentorn Media

Mercury Studios Media
MGM

MiddleChild Productions
Mitk and Honey Productions
Minnow Films

Monkey Kingdem
Mother's Best Child

Mr Box Productions
Naked TV (part of
FremantleMedia UK}
Netop Films

Nineteenll

Nit Television

Noah Media Group
Noho Film and Television
Noor Pictures

Naorth One Television
Number 9 Films

Numiko

Nuwave Pictures
Objective Media Group
October Films

On The Corner Entertainment
One Tribe TV

QOpen Mike Preductions
Optomen Television
OttLion

Qutline Proguctions
Paperepic Productions
Parable

Parti Productions
Picturesque Films

Plan B Entertainment inc
Plum Pictures
Portobello Post (t/a Luti Media}
Potboiler Productions
Primal Media

Proper Content

Putse Films

Quicksilver Media
Quiddity Fitms

Raise the Roof Productions
Raw TV

Ray Pictures

RDF Television

Red Sky Producticns
Remarkable Television
Remedy Productions
Renegade Pictures (UK)
Revolution Films
Ricochet

Rize Tetevision
Rockerdale Studios
Rogan Productions
Rook Films

Rooks Nest Entertainment
Rumpus Media

RVK Studios

Sabina Smitham
Sandpaper Films
Sandstone Global Productions.
Scott Free Productions
Seadog TV & Film Productions
See-Saw Films

Shine TV

Shoebox Films
Significant Productions
Silver Salt Films
Simplestream

Sleeper Films
Snowdog Enterprises
Snowman Enterprises
Spark Media / Kindling
Spelthorne Community
Television

Spirit Studios

Spring Films

Spun Gold TV

Stellify Media

Story Films

Storyboard Studios
Strawberry Blond TV
Stray Bear Productions
Studio Lambert

STV Studios

Svgar Films
Sunset+Vine

Swan Films

Talkback (part of
FremantleMedia UK)
Tern Television
Thames TV (part of
FremantleMedia UK)
That Mitchell & Webb Company
The Bureau Film Company
The Church of London
Publishing

The Connected Set
The Forge

The Garden Productions
Thin Man Films
TIMedia

Tinderbox Films

True North Productions
True Vision

Try Hard Films
Turnover Films

TV Cartoons

Twenty Twenty Television
Twe Rivers Media
Twofour

Uplands Television
Vaudeville Productions
Vertigo Films.

Voltage TV

Waddell Media

Wall To Wall

Warp Films

Wayward Films
Wellington Films
Westend Blackbird
Whisper Films
Whitworth Media

Why Not Productions
Wild Blue Media

Wild Pictures

Wildgaze Films
windfall Films

Wise Owl Films
Wonder Television
Workerbee

Yipp Films

Young Bwark

Youngest Media
Zeppotron
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UK Television
Awards

ational Television Awards
reat British Bake Off

ove Productions for Channel 4
inner Challenge Show

BAFTA Film Awards
or Sama
hannel 4 News / ITN
Best Documentary

RTS Journalism Awards

or Sama

hannel 4 News 7 {TN
internationat Current Affairs Award

Broadcast Awards

Three Identical Strangers

Raw for Channel 4

Best Documentary Programme

ade: The Reality Star Who Changed Britain
Blast! Films for Channel 4
Best Documentary Series

Broadcast Awards

The Virtues
arp Films, Big Arty Productions for
hannei 4

Best Drama Series or Serial

Brexit: The Uncivil War
House Productions for Channel 4
Best Single Drama

Hollyoaks
Lime Pictures for Channet 4
Best Scap/Continuing Drama

The Interrogation of Tony Martin
Storm Films, Stery Films for Channel 4
Best Specialist Factual Programme

RIC Awards

reat British Bake Off
ove Productions for Channel 4
Best Food Programme

RTS Programme Awards

The Virtues — Stephen Graham
Warp Films, Big Arty Productions
for Channel 4

Actor Male

Derry Girls - Saoirise Monia-Jackson
Hat Trick Productions for Channai 4
Comedy Performance Female

The British Tribe Next Door
Voltage TV, Motion Content Group
for Channei 4

Formatted Popular Factual

Jade: The Reality Star Who Changed Britain
Blast! Films for Channet 4
History Winner

BAFTA Craft Awards

This Way Up - Aisling Bea
Merman for Channel 4
Breakthrough Talent

Stath Lets Flats ~ Jamie Demetriou
Roughcut TV for Channel 4
Writer; Comedy

BAFTA Television Awards

Stath Lets Flats - Jamie Demetriou
Roughcut TV for Channel 4
Scripted Comedy Award

Stath Lets Flats - Jamie Demetrioy
Roughcut TV for Channel 4
Comedy Performance Male Award

The End of the F**~ing World
Clerkenwell Films for Channel 4
Drama Series Award

The End of the F**~*ing World - Naomi Ackie
Clerkenwell Films for Channel 4
Best Supporting Actress

Leaving Neverland
Amos Pictures for Channel 4
Single Documentary Award

Encounters Film Festival

The Tiger Who Came To Tea
Lupus Fitms for Channel 4
Animated Encounters Grand Prix

TV Choice Awards

Great British Bake Off

Love Productions for Channel 4
Reality Show Award

BAFTA Cymru Wales Awards
Flooding Strikes the South Wales -
Channel 4 News

ITN for Channel 4

News and Current Affairsin 2020

On the Edge - Liso Walters
BlackLight Tetevision for Channel 4
Breakthrough Award

Edinburgh Television Festival Awards
Feel Good - Mae Martin and Joe Hampson
Objective Fictionfor Channel 4

Writer Comedy

All4
Best On Demand Service

The Big Narstie Show - Mo Giltigan
and Big Norstie

Dice Productions, Expectation
Entertainment for Channet 4
Presenter Award

For Sama
Channel 4 News 7/ ITN
Documentary Programme

Grierson Awards

Jade: The Reality Star Who Changed Britai
Blast! Fiims for Channel 4

Best Documentary Series

Jude: The Reality Star Who Changed Britai
Blast! Films for Channel 4
Best Historical Documentary

For Sama
Channei 4 News /ITN
Best Cinema Documentary

The Restaurant That Makes Mistakes
CPL Productions for Channet 4
Best Reality and Constructed Documentar

Rory Peck Awards
Guillermo Galdos
Channel 4 News

Rory Peck News Award




raft and Design Awards
poghdad Central
uston Films for Channei 4
usic Criginal Title

Boghdad Central
uston Films for Channet 4
[Sound Drama

or Sama - Waad al-Keteab
and Edward Watts
Channel 4 News / TN
Director - Documentary and Non-Drama

For Sama
Channel 4 News / {TN
Music Original Score

oice of the Listener and Viewer Awards
Dispatches
| TN Productions for Channel 4
Best TV News and Factual Programme

Drum Online Media Awards
Ayshah Tull
Channel 4 News

he Grand Prix

Drum Online Media Awards
Ayshah Tull

Channel 4 News

Chair Awarc

Ayshah Tull
Channe! 4 News
ournalist of the Year Award

Channel 4 News
| TN for Channel 4
Oustanding Digital Team

Channel 4 News - Inside Quarantine,
Wuhan Ben

Channel 4 News / ITN

Best Citizen Journalism

hite House News Photographers
Association
Channel 4 News ~ Ben Martin
Channel 4 News / ITN

idec Photographer of the Year

Channel 4 News ~ Ben Martin
Channel 4 News /ITN
Eyes of History

International
Television UK

Animayo Animation Awards (Spain)
The Tiger Who Came Te Tea
Lupus Films for Channel 4

rand Prix Award

funecy International Animation Festival

aalicicr Who Came To Tea
5 Films for Channel 4

nternational Emmys
Channel 4 News

ITN for Channel 4
International News Emmy

For Sama
Channel 4 News / ITN
Best Documentary

Prix ltalia

For Sama

Channel 4 News / ITN
Special Prize

Grayson’s Art Ciub
Swan Films for Channel 4
Special Mentien

Peabody Award

For Sama

Channel 4 News / ITN
Documentary

Buncheon International Animation Festival
The Tiger Who Came To Tea

Lupus Films for Channel 4

Winner of Special Distinction

Rose D'or Awards

The School That Tried to End Racism
Proper Content for Channel 4

Reality and Factuat Entertainment Award

Film UK

London Critics’ Circle Film Awards
Fighting With My Family - Florence Pugh
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Films,
WWE® Studios

British/Irish Actress (for body of work)

Film
Internationatl

San Sebastian Film Festival

The Father

Cine-@, Trademark Films, F comme Film
Audience Award - Best Film

Columbus Film Critics Association
Fighting With My Family - Florence Pugh
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Films,
WWE® Studios

Breakthrough Film Artist

Avstin Film Critics Association

Fighting With My Family - Florence Pugh
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Films,
WWE® Studios

The Robert R. “Bobby” McCurdy Memorial
Breakthrough Artist Award

Georgia Fitm Critics

Fighting With My Family - Florence Pugh
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Films,
AWE® Studios

= Broyioin A

i ance U7 ywo e »iv
Fighting With My Family — Flore
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher
WWE® Studios

Best Breakthrough Performance

Hawaii Film Critics Society

Fighting With My Family - Stephen
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Fil
WWE® Studios

Best First Film

Gold Derby Film Awards

Fighting With My Family - Florence Pul
Seven Bucks Productions, Misher Filmd
WWE® Studios

Best Breakthrough Performer

Boulder International Film Festival
The Personal History of David Copperfi
- Armande fannucci

Best Feature Film

San Sehastian Film Festival
Limbo

Caravan Cinema

TCM Youth Award

Australian Academy Cinema
Television Awards

True History of the Kelly Gang -
Alice Babidge

Parchiight Films, Daybreak Pictures
Best Costume Design

True History of the Kelly Gang -
Kirsten Veysey

Porchtight Films, Daybreak Pictures
Best Hair and Make Up

True History of the Kelly Gang —
Karen Murphy, Rebecca Cohen
Porchlight Films, Daybreak Pictures
Best Production Design

APRA AMCOS Screen Music Awards
True History of the Kelly Gang — Jed Kur
Porchlight Films, Daybreak Pictures
Feature Film Score Of The Year

Macao film festival
Limbo

Caravan Cinema
Best Fitm

Limbo
Caravan Cinema
Best Screenplay

Cairo International Film Festival

Limbo

Caravan Cinema

The Golden Pyramid Award for Best Film

Limbo

CaravanCinema

The International Federation of jmkes
(The FIPRESCI) Award




Awards continuead

imbo
aravan Cinema

Henry Barakat Award for Best Artistic
ontribution

uropean Film Awards

he Personal History of David Copperfield
- Cristina Casali

uropean Production Design

Boston Society of Fitm Critics Winners
he Father - Anthony Hopking
ine-@, Trademark Fitms, F comme Film
Best Actor

he Father - Florian Zeller
ine-@, Trademark Fitms, F comme Film
Best First Fitmmaker

Los Angeles Film Critics
Association Awards
The Father — Yorgos Lamprinos
ine-@, Trademark Films, F comme Film
Best Editing

{orida Film Critics Circle

he Father — Anthony Hopkins

ine-@, Trademark Films, F comme Fitm
Best Actor

Marketing

British Arrows
omplaints Welcome
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Rest Entertainment Promotion (Gold)

omplaints Welcome
hannel 4 / 4Creative
harity and Public Service (Gold)

omplaints Welcome
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Writing (Gold}

omplaints Welcome

hannel 4/ 4Creative
RBest over 60s up to and including 90s
Bronze)

reative Review
Derry Girls Mural
Channel 4 / 4Creative

he Annual{ln Bock)

omplaints Welcome
Channet 4 / 4Creative
he Annual {In Book)

Annual Report
hannel 4 / Emperor
he Annual {In Book)

All 4 re-brana
Channel 4 / 4Creative
The Annual (in Book)

Creative Circle Awards

Derry Girls

Channel 4 / 4Creative

Best use of Guerrilla / Ambient (Bronze)

End of the F***ing World
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Brand Activity at Public Event (Bronze)

Black History Month
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Digi Led Campaign (Bronze)

Bake Off
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Production (Bronze)

Bake Off
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Use of Music (Bronze)

Derry Girls
Channel 4/ 4Creative
Best Regional Poster (single) (Bronze)

Complaints Welcome
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Film Script (Silver)

Complaints Welcome
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Film for Positive Change (single) (Gold)

Complaints Welcome
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best TV 60secs & over (single} (Gold)

Complaints Welcome

Channel 4 / 4Creative

Best Charity/Public Service Film (single)
{Gold)

Shan & Beth
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best New Creative Team (Gold)

Broadcast Digital Awards

The End of the F***ing World
4Creative / That Lot for Channel 4
Best Digital Support for a Programme
(Winner)

Moon Landing Live

Channel 4 / That Lot / Little Dot Studios
Best Digital Support for a Strand, Channet
or Genre (Winner)

ovie AWaru

The End of t
Channel 4 / 4108
Advertising: Best Eve
Campaign (Gold)

The End of the F***ing Wd
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Advertising: Best Event A
Campaign (People’s Lovie

The End of the F***ing Wo
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Sacial: Entertainment & Sp

The End of the F***ing Worl
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Sociat: Entertainment & Sp
{People’s Lovie)

Complaints Welcome
Channei 4 / 4Creative
Advertising: Viral Advertisi

The End of the F***ing Wor
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Advertising: Best Video Ca

Complaints Welcome
Channet 4 / 4Creative
Social: Public Service & Activism (Sil

Promax Awards

New British Cinema

Channel 4 / 4Creative

Best Multiple Film - Clip based (Bro

Biack History Month
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Season (Gold)

Butts
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Brand Spot {Bronze}

Savage Socials
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Something for Nothing {Bronze)

Butts
Channel4 7 4Creative
Best L ockdown Spot (Gold)

Rainbow
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Lockdown Spot (Bronze)

Butts
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Best Reactive Work {Gold)

Rainbow
Channel 4 7 4Creative
Best Reactive Work {Bronze)




Awards continued

he End of the F***ing World

hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Use of Animation / Graphic Design
Brenze}

he Great British Bake Off
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Use of Humour (Gold)

Rainbow
hannel 4 / 4Creative
est Use of Script Writing {Bronze)

iday Night Dinner
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Key Art (Gold)

omplaints Welcome
hannel 4 / 4Creative
est Press / Qut of Home (Goid)

iday Night Dinner
hannel 4 / 4Creative
est Press / Out of Home (Silver)

e End of the F***ing World
hannel 4 / 4Creative
fost Campaign {(Gold)

tay at Home
hannel 4 7 4Creative
Best ldent (Silver)

very Mind Matters
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Brand Partnership (Gold)

The End of the F***ing World
hannel 4 / 4Creative

Best Use of Social Media Show Support
old)

ock History Month

hannel 4 7 4Creative
Best Use of Social Media: Content Strand,
Keason, Channel or Brand (Gold)

oon Londing Live

hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Use of Social Media: Content Strand,
Season, Channel or Brand {Bronze)

omploints Welcome
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Media Planning {Gold)

tay at Home fdents
hannel 4 / 4Creative
Best Production (Silver)

gottive
el 4 / 4Creative

Channel5
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Creative Brand of the Year (Silver)

Campaign BIG Awards

Stay at Home ldents
Channel 4 / 4Creative

Creative Excellence: Best Reactive ldea
TV & Cinema (Finalist)

Campaign Media Awards
Derry Girls

Channel 4 7/ OMD

Media Entertainment (Gold)

Hollyoaks
Channel 4/ OMD
Best Use of insight (Silver)

Female Frontier Awards

Landy Slattery
Channel 4 / 4Creative

Honoree - Conquering Creativity (Winner)

D&AD Awards

Complaints Welcome

Channel 4 / 4Creative

Branding / Multiplatform TV Branding
& Promotions {Yellow Pencil)

Complaints Welcome
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Branding / Tone of Voice (Graphite Pencil)

The End of the F***ing World
Channel 4 7 4Creative

Digital / Integrated Digital Campaigns
(Shortlist)

Webby Awards

Complaints Welcome
Channel 4 / 4Creative
Social: Television & Film video (Winner)

The End of the F***ing World Fan Theories
Channel 4 / 4Creative

Social: Television & Film (series and
campaigns) (Winner)

Media Week Awards

The End of the F***ing World
Channel 4 / OMD
Media Creativity (Silver)

Sales

Media Week Awards
#ClapForQurCarers

Channel 4

Medialdea Launch (Media Owner} (Gold)

Channel 4
Media ldea Over £1M (e

Disability Works

Channel 4, PHD, Wavemaker and Z¢é
with NatWest, Nationwide and Saing
Small Collaboration {under 250k) (G

24 Hours in A&E: Heort Speciat

PHD with Channel 4

Media ldea - under £250k {Media Ag
(Silver)

The TV Family Delivers a Festive First
For Tesco

Channel 4, iTV, Sky and MediaCom
Large Collaboration over £250k {Gold

24 Hours in A&E: Heart Special
PHD with Channel 4
Best Use of Content Under £250k (Go|

24 Hours in A&E: Heart Speciat
PHD with Channel 4
Small Collaboration (under 250k) (Goll

#ClapForQurCarers

Channel 4

Best Ethical or Good Cause during Co
(Silver)

Loundry Against Landfill

Goodstuff with Uncommon Creative 54
Channel 4, The Outfit

Media ldea - £250k - 1M (Media Agend
(Silver)

Starbucks: #WhatsYourName

Channel 4

Medialdea - £250K - 1M (Media Owne
(Bronze)

Save The Children’s Christmas Jumper L)
Channel 4, Mediacom, John Lewis,
Marks & Spencers, Duracell, Moonpig
and Smyths Toys

Large Collaboration over £250% (Bronze¢

Brush Like a Pro with Oral-B and Channe
Channel 4 and Publicis PGOne
Best Use of Content Under £250k {Bronze

#ClapForQurCarers
Channel 4
Media Collaboration - Covid-19 (Bronze)

Mirror On The Industry
Channel 4
Research Insight (Bronze)




Independent Assurance Report to
Channel Four Television Corporation

on selected disclosures included within the Statement of Media Content Policy

We have been engaged by the Directors of the
Channel Four Television Corporation {'Channel 4') to
conduct a limited assurance engagement relating to
the Assured Disclosures* concerning the Statement
of Media Content Policy {('SMCP’} performance
information for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Qur ungualified conclusion

Based on our work as described in this report, nothing has

come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Assured
Disclosures*, which have been prepared in accordance with
Channel 4'sinternal guidelines, materially misstate Channel 4's
SMCP performance for the year ended 31 December 2G20. The
data have been prepared on the basis of the methodology set out
in Channel 4's respective internal puidelines which can be seen
on the Channel 4 website.

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and

assurance provider

The Directors are responsible for preparing the SMCP Report,
including the Assured Disclosures*, and for presenting the SMCP,
including associated information and key measures in accordance
with their methodology. Channel 4 has developed the methodology
ancd summarises this accordingty, including definitions, how data
for measures were selected and the calculation methcedology.

It is Channel 4’s responsibility to implement and maintain the
appropriate systems, processes and controls for preparing the
SMCP and ensuring information is free from material misstatement.

Qurresponsibility is to express a conclusion on the Assured
Disclosures* based on our procedures. We conducted cur
engagement in accordance with international Standard on
Assurance Engagements (ISAE 3000 revised) Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Histarical Financial
Information, issued by the Internaticnal Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board, in order to state whether anything had come to
our attention that causes us to believe that the Assured Data have
not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
appiicable criteria, Our engagement provides limited assurance as
defined in ISAE 3000 (Revised). The evidence-gathering
procedures for alimited assurance engagement are more limited
thanforareasonable assurance engagement, and therefore less
assurance is obtained than in areasonable assurance engagement.

Qur procedures consisted primarily of:

~ interviewing managers at Channel 4's head office, including
those with operational responsibitity for the preparation of the
Assured Disclosures™;

~ evaluating the processes and controls for managing, measuring,
collating and reporting the Assured Disclosures*, including the
application of the methodology within the internal guidelines to
underlying assumptions; and

- testing the compilation of a representative sample of
Channel 4's SMCP data, selected on the basis of theirinherent
risk and materiality to Channel 4, from receipt from third party
throughto the presentation shown in the SMCP data.

* Assured bisclosures are defined in the Appendix of this Report.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Measures which are dependent on scurces outside of Channel 4's
operational boundary {sourced from: BARB and TRP, Attentional,
YouGov and Ipsos MORI) are limited te corroboration with
Channel 4 on how data is received and used within Channel 4 as
part of the SMCP disclosure.

Limitations

Inherent limitations exist in all assurance engagements due

to the selective enquiry of the information being examined.
Therefore fraud, error or nen-compliance may occur and

not be detected. Additionally non-financialinfermation is
subject to more inherent limitations than financial informaticn,
given the nature and methods used for determining,
caleulating and sampling or estimating such information,

Qur work did not include:

- procedures to test the robustness of source data provided by
those third parties (BARB and TRP, Attentional, YouGov and
Ipsos MORI), their management of data including assumptions,
consolidation, normalisation and reporting;

- procedures to challenge the appropriateness of classification
of presentation within the Assured Disclosures*; or

- review of how the data parameters used to classify broadcasts
are produced (originations or acquisitions; first-run or repeat;
genre; broadcast time, duration or channel; regional or national
production; and language).

Our report is made solely to Channel 4, in accordance with [SAE
3000 (revised). Our engagement provides limited assurance as
defined in ISAE 3000, The procedures performed in a limited
assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are less
in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagementand
consequently, the level of assurance ebtained in alimited
assurance engagement is substantially lower than the assurance
that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance
engagement been performed,

Independence

We performed the engagementin accordance with Deloitte’s
independence policies, which cover aii of the requirements of

the International Federation of Accountants’ Code of Ethics andin
some areas are more restrictive, The firm applies the International
Standard on Quality Control1and accordingly maintains a
comprehensive system of quality controlincluding documented
policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professicnal standards and applicable legal

and regulatory requirements.

Deloitte LLP
London
5 May 2021
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Appendix

Deloitte have reviewed the following metrics which form part

of Channel 4's SMCP and are covered by our limited ISAE 3000

revised assurance statement:

- TV viewing share

- Audiencereach

- On-demand viewing

- Share amongst hard-to-reach auvdiences - ethnically diverse

—- Share amongst hard-to-reach avdiences - 16-34-year-olds

- Most popular channels for young viewers

- Viewing to national news

- Reachof Channel 4 News

- Channel reputations ~ catering for audiences other channels
den't cater for

- Total visits to Channel 4's websites and apps

- Viewing to network originations

- Investmentinall content

- Investmentin programming by genre

- Qutput mix on Chanrel 4

- Investmentin originated content

—- Qriginated output across Channel 4 TV portfolio

- Volume of first-run criginations by genre

- Broadcasters'investment in the production sector — Channel 4
(main channel)

- Broadcasters'investment in the production sector -
digital channels

- Investmentin the Nations and Regicns {main channel)

- Diversity of supply base

- Investment in the Nations {main channel)

Spend by region across the Channel 4 TV portfolio

Range of international programming

Diversity output on the main channel

Diversity of Film4 channel schedule

Commitment to long-form journalism

Channel reputations: shows different kinds of cultures

and opinions

Channel reputations: challenges prejudice

Channel reputations: shows the viewpoints of minority groupsin
society

Channel reputations: hame for alternative voices

Channel reputations: makes me think about things in new and
different ways

Channel reputations: tackles issues other channels wouldn’t
Channelreputations: takes a different approach to subjects
compared with other channeis

New and one-off programming

Channel reputations: takes risks with programmes that
others wouldn't

Channel reputations: is experimental

Channel reputations: is best for modern independent film
Channel reputations: is best for documentaries that present
alternative views

Inspiring change through factual programming
Independence of TV news

Programme reputations: Current Affairs
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Inancilal review anc

orporation
revenue

2020 began solidly with revenues in
line with the previous year, butthe
initial wave of the pandemic caused
linear advertising revenue declines of
nearly 50% year-on-yearin Apriland
May. However, the market bounced
back far more gquickly and strongly than
many anticipated later in the year

TV advertising was particularly buoyant
over the last four months of the year,
meaning our annual revenues recovered
well from the sharp declines seenin

Q2, finishing 2020 down only 5% on

the previous year {2019: £985 million)

As expected, Q12021 has once again
been more challenging as a result of
the continued lockdown, but we have
seen positive signs of recovery and
anticipate revenues willimprove as
the economy opens up once again

Digital
advertising
revenue

All 4 views were up 26% on 2019,
reaching 1.3 billien views in 2020
~ the highest-ever level and weli
ahead of our target to exceed a
billion views for the firsttime

Digital advertising revenues
increased by 11% on 2019 in spite of
the econemic effects of Covid-19
and now make up 17% of the Group’s
revenues, up from 15% in 2019

Our Future4 strategy launchedin
2020 will build on these resuits
with an even greaterfocus on
digital content, platforms and
distribution - see pages 2210 23

Digital advertising revenueisa
new metric for 2020 ~ further
details are on page 134

Content
spend

Channel 4's programming response
to the pandemic was both creatively
dynamic and finrancially robust

There were huge Covid-related
challengas in physically producing
programmes, with significant levels

of cancetlations or delays into 2021,

in addition to our need to significantly
reduce our content investment (down
from £660 millionin 2019} to deal with
the financial implications of the crisis (as
set out in more detail on pages 20 to 21}

Despite this chailenging environment,
we delivered a huge range of creatively
successful original programming that
effectively met our remit and all of cur
Ofcom quotas for the year were achieved

We also increased our share of commercial
impacts ('SOCY), with 16-34 performance
on our main channel particularly strong
and portfolio SOCI for this demographic
increasing to 21.3% (2019: 20.9%). Portfclio
SOCIfor ABCls also increased stightly to
16.3% (2019:16.2%)

Pre-tax surplus

+ 2020 presented aunique set of

circumstances, but our strong and swift
financial response at the start of the
pandemic, combined with an impressive
creative response delivering very strong
viewing performance, allowed us to
benefit fully from the recovery in the
advertising market later in the year

The combination of these factors
contributed to delivering a record
financial result, with £68 million of
that surplus delivered in the final four
months of the year as we maximised
our commercial returns from the
advertising market recovery

These resulis demonstrate the flexibility
of Channel 4's business model and our
longer-term sustainabitity even through
unprecedented times, and pave the

way for reinvestment to support cur
Future4 strategy in the period ahead

StrategjcR
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reserves

¢ &4 millienincreass
(considered net of funding f
revolving credit facility ('R(J
2019 reflects the Group’s
surplus and an even greaty
cash management throug
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Second highest positive
Channet 4's history, and the
Group has been cash positive sinc

(e L]

While Channel 4 drew down on its
£75 mitlion RCF at the start of the
pandemic to ensure maximum lig
was available, none of this additig
funding has been used during 202

Net cash reserves is an updated
alternative performance measurg
{'APM’) for 2020, with further
details provided on page 186

Net assets

+ Netassets have grown by £67 mi
during 2020 (2019: £385 million
line with our post-tax surplus for
year, with valuations of key bala
sheet assets like the Horseferry
Road property and our pension
deficit remaining broadly stable
despite economic headwinds

Significantly improved balance
sheet puts Channel 4 in a very st
position heading into ano sk
of uncertainty, and provid
platform for Channel 4 tg
ambitious new strategy g
commerciai self-sufficig




Financial review and highlights
(continved)

Income statement highlights Balance sheet highlights
2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m Em
Sales House revenues! 1,047 1161 Net assets 452 385
Corporation revenues 934 985 Freehold land and buildings 96 100
Content spend 522 660 Growth Fund investments 26 27
Griginated content spend 370 492 Programme stock and film rights 240 291
Pre-tax surplus/(deficit) 74 (26) Net cash reserves’ 201 137
Pension deficit (68) {79)

1 Sales House revenuesincludes the gross revenues of aur partners UKTY and Discovery
{aswellas BT Sport for part of 2020}, The ditference between Sales House revenues
and Corporation revenues relates to the revenue we collect on behalf of our partners.
As Channel 4isanagentin these relationships, we only recognise our commission on
these sales within Corporation revenues.

Following the shock to the TV ad market felt with the initial outhreak
of Covid-19, Channel 4's rapid financial and creative response
allowed us to benefit from a significant bounceback in revenuesin
the second half of the year, meaning that the Group delivered the
largest surplus inits history in 2020 at £74 million,

Theinitial impact of Covid-19 resulted in our linear advertising
revenues falling nearly 50% onthe previous year at the lowest
point, in line with the market as a whole, but by year end these had
recovered to -10% for the full year. Whilst our linear advertising
revenues fell in 2020, strong digital growth even in light of the
pandemic and improved rights revenues protected our Corperation
revenues to reach £934 million, down only 5% year-on-year (2019:
£985 million).

The challenges in physically producing programmes with

significant levels of cancellations or delays in 2021, in addition to
our need to significantly reduce our content investment to deal with
the financial implications of the crisis, meant a large fall in content
spend for the year. We announced a reduction of up to £150 million
if required in April, althcugh we managed to improve against this
initial position and deliver final content spend of £522 million,
down from £660 million the year before. Nearly two-thirds of this
reduction was from content that was delayed into 2021and beyond.
Despite this sitvation, Channel 4's creative response to the
chalienges of 2020 allowed us to grow our share of the audience;
our share of commercial impacts (‘SOCI) increased in 2020, in
particular amongst our key 16-34 demographic but also across

the portfolio as a whole, and All 4 views increased by 26% year-
on-year to over one billion for the first time.

Given the impact of the initial outbreak of Covid-19 on the
Group's revenues, and uncertainty at that point around the timing
of recovery, the Group made the difficult decision in April 2020 to
furlough employees under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
("CJRS') to help protect its financial position. As the advertising
market recovered more strongly than originally anticipated,
particularly during Q4, Channel 4 was in a position by the end of
the year to repay in full the £1 million of payments received under
the CJRS, further underlining its financial sustainability and
self-sufficiency.

1 This alternative performance measure reflects the sum of the Group's cash and cash
equivalents and other financial assets net of cash borrowings at the balance sheet
date; further details are provided on page 186.

As shown on page 183, the Group’s net assetsincreased by

£67 million during 2020. This reflects the Group's post-tax surplus
forthe year of £69 million, with an improvement on our pension
liability {see below) offset by slight declines in the valuation of our
Haorseferry Road building and Growth Fund investments. While our
programme stock and film rights balance decreased by £51 million
inthe year, this was offset by other working capital movements
{notably, higher trade receivables as a result of strong Q4 revenues).

The net pensicn deficit has decreased to £68 million (2019:

£79 million}, with contributions made by the Group during the
year plus strong returns on the scheme’s investment assets more
than offsetting higher liabilities as a result of a lower discount rate.

The Group's results for the year have significantly reinforced our
balance sheet position, putting us in good stead for the continuing
volatility we anticipate in 2021 and underlining Channel 4's
financial sustainability.

Cashflow

In March 2020, Channel 4 drew down the full £75 million of its
revolving credit facility to provide maximum liquidity if required in
response to the Covid-19 pandemic and its negative impact on the
TV advertising market, particularly as working capital requirements
and cash balances fluctuate during the year due to the seasonality
of ad revenues, programme investment and other spend. None of
this additional funding has been utilised during 2020, although the
facility remained fully drawn as at 31 December 2020. Under
HMRC’s VAT deferral scheme the Group deferred £10 million
payments for Q1and Q2 2020, which will be paid ininstalments
overthe course of 2021.

Channel 4 finished 2020 with net cash reserves £64 million higher
than 2019, the second highest positive cash flow in Channel 4’s
history, and the first time the Group has been cash positive since
2015. This cash inflow reflects the £74 million surplus offset by
Channel 4's pension funding commitments, capital expenditure and
investment acquisitions during 2020 balanced by several
successful exits from our Growth Fund investments.
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Financial review and highlights
(continued)

Going concern

As noted on page 147, while we saw significant recovery in the
advertising market as 2020 progressed, the outlook for 2021
remains uncertain, as increased business confidence as aresult

of the vaccine rallout may be offset by continuing lockdowns, high
unemployment and the impact of new variants. Thisis in addition to

ongoing challenges following the end of the Brexit transition period.

Specific consideration has been given to these risks and scenario
analysis performed (see page 147) in addition to normal business
planning and contrel procedures, indicating that the Group has
sufficient financial resources. The Members believe that the Group
is well placed to manage its business risks, and have a reasonable
expectation that the Group witl continue in operational existence
for the 12 months from the date of this Annual Report and for the
foreseeable future. The Group therefore continues to adopt

the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual
financial statements.

Ovur remit and business model

Channel 4 is a unique organisation: a public service publisher-
broadcaster with a distinctive creative remit, funded solely from
commercial revenues, existing to provide a range of distinctive,
challenging and provocative content. In order to fulfil our public
service remit {which is set out throughout the Statement of Media
Content Policy) we seek to optimise returns from cur commerciat
activities and minimise our overheads in order to maximise our
spend on screen, marketing and investment in our digital strategy.

As a not-for-profit public service broadcaster, our aimis to be
commercially self-sufficient in the long term, generating surpluses
and maintaining a strong balance sheet. A key element of our
long-termfinancial strategy is the way we cross-fund commercially
challenging genres with profitable programming. We invest our
surpluses {when financially prudent to do so} back into original
content and digital innovation to evolve our commercial business
model and to maintain the relevance and reach of our remit.

The delivery of Channel 4's unigue remit has always relied on a
challenging funding model which requires an agile, pioneering and
well-executed commercial strategy. The Members’ view is that this
is orme of the organisation’s strengths, incentivising Channel 4 to
remain at the sharp end of innovation.

The Section 172(1} statement made on page 156 sets out how the

Members promote Channel 4's success in line with our remit and
the business model described above.

Channel Four Annual Report 2020

Qurstrategy

In November 2020, Channel 4 launched its new Futured strategy
focusing oninnovation in light of challenges to the traditional

TV marketplace to ensure the Channel remains relevantas a
destination for the next generation of audiences, securing the
Group’s long-term sustainability.

The strategy is centred on a newly articulated view of Channel 4's
purpose: to create change through entertainment. This is supported
by the following key strategic pillars (as shown on page 23):

- Prioritising digital growth over linear ratings

- Putting viewers at the heart of decision-making

- Diversifying our revenve streams to underpin our sustainability

- Focusing on strategic partnerships to compete more effectively

Future4 is outlined in greater detail on pages 22 to 23, inctuding an
overview of the current corporate and financial priorities that our
key pillars translate to. The key performance indicators outlined on
pages 134 to 135 show how we intend to monitor progress against
these objectives going forward. Ourassessment of ourkey
business risks on pages 141 to 146 notes the hurdles faced in
implementing Futured in practice, and the mitigations in place to
ensure we performagainst our strategic targets.

Strategic Report 132




Our principal activities

Our principal activities include free-to-air
television channels which help to maintain
our scale and creative impact (available on
terrestrial, satellite and cable platforms),
our Growth Funds and film investment

/I|_

Channei4

Core focus on the values of innovation,
creativity and diversity through original
UK-commissioned programming, Channel 4
is available in standard and high definition
on the main broadcast platforms and also
encompasses our delayed transmission
service Channei 4+1and 4seven. 4seven
provides another opportunity to watch
Channel 4 programmes from the past week
that have generated public, media and
social media attention.

E4

Focuses on comedy, drama and entertainment,
including originai commissions and US
acguisitions. E4 is the second most popular
digital channelfor16-34-year-olds and the
third most popular digital channel in the UK.

A

All4

All 4, our VoD proposition, and other
interactive platforms, have helped to extend
the depth and impact of programming output.
All 4 enables us to package together a much
wider variety of content: live TV, catch-up,
box-sets and an increasing velume of online-
specific content. All 4 moves perceptions
beyond that of a catch-up TV service, to a
standalone video destination with a clear
editorialtone of voice. We are maintaining
investmentin technology to ensure a
reliable user experience which keeps

pace with heightened competition and
consumer expectations.

Mored

Offers lifestyle-based content to help viewers
to get the most out of their everyday lives.
Mored focuses on popular factual and features
programming including homes, property, food,
health and fashion.
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Fitm4

The UK’s leading dedicated film channel and
the fourth most popular digital channel, Film4
offers a mix of the best British, Furcpean,

US and internaticnal cinema.

4
Ajusic

4Music
A Channel 4-branded music and entertainment
channel targeted atthe 16-34 demographic.

Other

Our channets are available on all the main broadcast platforms
and offer delayed transmission and high definition services.

Channel 4 also broadcasts a suite of entertainment and music
channels targeted at the 16-34 demographic which were acquired
en the full acquisition of The Box Plus Network Limited in 2018,
including Box Hits, The Box, Kiss, Magic and Kerrang!

En
n
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Film4 Productions

Film4 Productions develops and co-finances
films and is known for working with the most
distinctive and innovative talentin UK and
international fitmmaking, whether new

or established.

4Studio

45Studiois our in-house digital content studio,
at the heart of our digital acceleration strategy
leading on all aspects of short-form content
publication across social media platforms and
detivering on Channel 4's strategy to serve
young audiences in the spaces where they like
to consume and interact with content.

Growth Funds

The Indie Growth Fund helps to nurture the
independent production sector by providing
access to finance for a broad portfolio of small
and medium-sized companies based in the UK
to help them grow and develop their business.

The Commercial Growth Fund attracts new
advertisers to TV and helps stimulate existing
advertising sectors. The fund exchanges
advertising airtime for minority stakehoidings
in fast-growing companies.

Rights

QOvur UK secondary rights business generates
income through the distribution of programmes
and other associated products.
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2y perrormance Indicators

he Board uses a range
of quantitative financial
and non-financial
information to monitor
he Group's performance.
he key performance
easures presented
ere have been identified
py the Board as the
most effective indicators
in assessing progress
against Channel 4's key
objectives and strategy.
he KPIs outlined on
hese pages are reviewed
alongside the Statement
of Media Content Policy
('SMCP’) metrics set out
on pages 83 to 119 of
his report and a wider
range of performance
metrics set out on
pages 218 to 220.

Certain KPls we

Digital advertising
revenue

Definition
Digital advertising revenue reflects
revenues generated from advertising
on All 4 as well as other third-party
platforms, This is monitored both in
absolute terms and as a percentage
of the Group's total revenues.

Impertance

Diversifying our revenues is a key pillar
of our Future4 strategy, reflecting the
changing viewing environment that
Channel 4 operatesin, and aimed at
ensuring future sustainability. The
strategy sets a clear commercial
target: digital advertising revenue to be
atleast 30% of total revenue by 2025,

2020 performance

Digital advertising revenue saw strong
growth in 2020, up 11% year-on year
despite the impact of Covid-19 on the
advertising market. Digital advertising
revenue now makes up 17% of our total
revenue, compared with 15% in 2019.

|Report

17% .

% of total revenue

£161m.

Digital advertising revenue

Digital advertising revenue
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8 Digitaiadvertising revenue
—— Digital advertising revenue %
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Non-advertising
revenue

Definition

Nen-advertising revenue includes
allrevenues not generated directly
through either linear or digital
advertising - including (but not
{imited to) rights income, distribution
and theatrical revenues. This

metric also reflects new revenue
streams developed as part of our
Future4 strategy. Non-advertising
revenue is monitored both in
absolute terms and as a percentage
of the Group's total revenues.

Importance

Diversifying our revenues, and
developing new revenue streams
outside of our advertising business,

is a key pillar of our Future4 strategy,
aimed at ensuring future sustainability.
The strategy sets a clear commercial
target: non-advertising revenues to be
at least 10% of total revenue by 2025.

2020 performance

Revenue from new streams, including
our 45tudios unitand new partnership
deals, as well as improved rights
income, saw non-advertising revenue
grow to £84 millionin 2020. The
percentage increase to 9% of total
revenue (up from 7% in 2013) was
accentuated by the impact of the
pandemic on total advertising revenue.

9% .

% of total revenue

£84m.

Non-advertising revenue

Non-advertising revenue
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Programme
streaming views

Definition

A streaming view occurs when aclip
orfull-length programme is accessed
on our All 4 on-demand platform.

Importance

Doubling All 4 viewing by 2025 is a
central goal of our Future4 strategy, to
ensure that Channel 4 remains relevant
inanincreasingly digital viewing
landscape. Streaming views measure
our success in attracting viewing to

our on-demand platform in the face

of competition, both from traditional
broadeasters and global giants.

2020 performance

Streaming views were up 26% on 2019,
bettering our target to exceed a billion
views for the first time ever and finishing
the yearon 1,253 million views.

1,253m A

Programme streaming views
Streaming views

2016
2017
2018
2019

2020

Share of commercial
impacts

Definition

Share of commercial impacts ('SOCI')
measures our share of the commercial
viewing audience, and specifically of
commercial impacts (one member of
atarget audience viewing one advert).
Channel 4focuses onits portfolio
SOCI across the two target avdiences
which make up its key demographic

- 16-34-year-clds and ABC1s.

Importance

SOClis aclear indicator of viewing
performance, and additionally
{unlike a broader general share

of viewing metric) acts asan
indicator of how viewing translates
to revenue generation through

the advertising we sell.

2020 performance

In 2020, portfolic SOCI across
16-34-year-oldsincreased to 21.3%
(2019: 20.9%). Our main channel saw
higher growth among this demographic
than any other channel during 2020.
Portfolic SOCI for ABCs also grew
slightly year-on year to 16.3% (2019:
16.2%). While this performanceisa
reflection of the success of Channel 4's
creative response to the pandemic,
this was also assisted by factors

that may not repeat in future years
(particularly the impact of Covid-19

on production for cur competitors).

21.3%.

SOCI pertfolio 16-34-year-olds

16.3% 4

SOCI portfolio ABC1s
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Ofcom
requirements

Definition

As a public service broadcaster, the i
Channel 4 main service is set various |
licence obligations by Ofcem. Targets

are set for a range of production

and transmissicn measures.

Importance

Channel 4 must demonstrate
compliance with its licence obligations.
Ourdelivery against these targets

is setouton pages 95tc 108.

2020 performance

In 2020 we met or exceeded all of
our licence requirements, despite
challenges and delays to production
posed by Covid-19. Key guotas
achieved are shown below. During
2020, the main channel achieved
60% of overall hours of originated
programmes (target: 56%;) and 78% in
peak hours (target: 70%). As shown on
pages 100 and 102, we also achieved
47% of programme production
spend outside London (target: 35%)
and 9% of programme production
spend inthe Nations (target: 9%).

Exceeded.

Cfcemrequirements

Ofcom requirements
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People and corporate social responsibility

People

In 2020, our concern was the welfare of our employees, to protect
jobis where possible and provide support to enable cur employees
to navigate the life changes that Covid-19 presented to us.

To help us protect our financial position during the first half of

the year, Channel 4 made the difficutt decision to furlougharcund
120 of our employees under the CJRS at the peak of the pandemic,
with most returning to work in the autumn. At the end of 2020,
thanks to an improved financial situation and our clear focus on
commercial self-sufficiency, we repaid the furlough funding back
to the Exchequer. We are very apgreciative of ouremployees

who supported the organisation by accepting to be furloughed.

During the year we held regular all-staff sessions with the Chief
Executive and also conducted quarterly pulse surveys to listen

to our employees and respond as appropriate. Gurannval
engagement score was above the Creative & Media benchmark’
and our employees continue to say that they are "proud te work for
Channel 4",

in response to the surveys, we put in place the following to support
the organisation and our employees:
- Weintroduced no-meetings Friday, to allow employees to
have time to focus and time away from virtual meetings, plus
a company wellness day
- Wesetupacoronavirus hub on our intranet with information on
remote working, how to obtain equipment, occupational heatth
support as weli as guidance for those with caring respensibilities
- Wefocused on our employees’ mental health, providing
guidance, training and workshops in partnership with our
4Minds employee rescurce groups

Diversity profile
Channel 4's focus on Inclusion and Diversity ('I1&D") continues to
ensure we have a diverse makeup of employees.

Qur employees choose whether to voluntarily share their diversity
information with us and have an option to choose “prefer not to say”
for each question.

December December 2023 target

2020 2019 (staff)

Female 54% 56% 50% in the top
{45% intop (46% in top 100 paid

100} 100} employees

Ethnically diverse 17% 7% 20% {and 20%
(12% intop (14% intop  within the top

100} 100) 100 paid

employees)

Disabled 10% 10% 12%
LGBT+ 8% 8% 6% (target

already met)

1 Source: Culture Amp
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Employee breakdown and gender balance

The average number of employees for the year, ona full-time
equivalent basis, was 912 in 2020 (2019: 903). The average
number of people employed by the Corporation for each group
of employees was as follows:

2020 Male no Female no.
Executive team 9 4
Senior managers 20 19
Employees 379 481
Total employees 408 504
Non-Executive Members 7 3
Totalincluding Non-Executive Members 415 507

Our employee resource groups ((ERGs’), listed below, have
played a huge role in supporting our employees and the business
throughout 2020. They have organised and held regular virtual
meetings and support sessions throughout the year, continuing to
raise awareness of difference and fostering an inclusive culture:
- The Collective (diverse ethnicities)

- 4Earth (environment)

- 4Mind (mental health)

— 4Parents & Carers (parents and carers)

- 4Pride (LGBT+)

- 4Purple (disability)

- 4Reps (employee representatives)

- 4Women {(women)

Attracting diverse talent

We monitor recruitment activity each menth by asking all
candidates to share their diversity data with us if they wish to do sc.
As a ‘Disability Confident Leader’ we offer a guaranteed interview
to all candidates with a disability who meet the essential criteriafor
arole. We continue to advocate the benefits of this programme to
other employers by speaking at events and sharing best practice.

The Channel 4 Production Trainee Scheme ran throughout 2020
with trainees placed inindependent TV production companies
across the UK, and in what was originally planned to be a
Paralympic year, all places onthe scheme were offered to peaple
with a disability.

Whilst the pandemic has impacted the activity we had originally
planned interms of youth outreach and engagement, we partnered
with organisations including the National Film and Television School
to offer online and virtual programmes and events to people
tooking to start their careers in the industry. Over 5,000 individuals
signed up to over 40 masterclasses.

In October we cpened applications for our apprenticeship
programme, with all13 places based in Leeds and Manchester
for the first time. We received 1,121 applications and successful
applicants joined the apprenticeship scheme in March 2021,

This coincided with the launch of 4Skills, which aims to turbocharge
our efforts to find, nurture and develop talent in the Nations and
Regions. The 45kills programme, unveiled on the first anniversary
of our national HQ in Leeds, will bring together and build upon
Channel 4's external talent schemes and initiatives to increase our
cverallimpact. It aims to attract people from diverse backgrounds
into broadcasting and production, address skills gaps and help
those who are already in the industry to progress their cargers.
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People and corporate social responsibility

(continued)

Investing in people

Pecple love working at Channel 4 because we offer them the
chance to do the very best work of their career in the broadcast
sector: we give them the chance to learn and grow on-the-job
as wellas supporting themin other learning and development
interventions. Our philosophy is to focus on what people need,
when they need it. Like many other businesses in the UK this year,
our people have been working from home and so our approach
has been to ensure that line managers have had clear guidance
and the toolkits and resources to support their teams through
the new process of furlough.

We also needed to focus on providing support to line managers
and employees on how to fully work remotely and effectively as
aremote team.

We ran wellbeing workshops for both employees and line
managers, focusing on a preventative approach towards mental
health and providing insights and strategies to alleviate anxiety and
chronic stress. We ran additional Mental Health First Aid sessions,
giving employees the opportunity to develop skills and to support
others within their teams. When our employees returned from
furlough, we provided coaching support for the individuals and
organised sessions for line managers to guide on how to integrate
them back into the team to help with the transition back into work
and getting back up to speed.

In November we launched two programmes. The first was our
4Inclusion mentoring programme - The Link. This was launched

in connection with our ERGs to build aninclusive peer-to-peer
network for our diverse Channel 4 colleagues. Our second
programme was our Career Development Programme, launched for
new and senior line managers with our first cohort focusing on our
ethnicatly-diverse colleagues. This is an eight-month programme
providing a series of masterclasses, self-learning and one-to-one
coaching.

Accountability for corporate conduct

Our Board and Executive team have committed to promoting

the highest standards of responsible corporate behaviour and

are ultimately accountable for this. Channel 4 has a Corporate Code

of Conduct and procedures providing a framework for accountability.

Corporate and social responsibility

We are committed to playing a responsible role in cur communities.
The aim of our corporate responsibility strategy is to fulfil our
public service remitin a responsible manner through inspiring and
challenging the behaviour of our people and audience to promote
social, environmental and personal change.

Environmental sustainability
We are bringing Channel 4’s creative vision to sustainability

Qur sustainability strategy
In September 2020 we launched our Sustainability Roadmap and
committed to becoming acarbon net-zero husiness by 2030.

Woe are integrating sustainability into all our processes and
decisions, infourareas:

- Quroperations and offices

- Oursuppliers

- Qurcontent

- Qurinvestments

We are locking at all aspects of our cperations and behaviours

to reduce our carbon emissions as far as we can. This means
everything from the energy supply we use to heat our buildings,

to the programmes we commission: we aim to embed sustainability
inthe heart of our content and in its creation,

in 2020 the measures we took included:

- Switched to 100% renewable energy from April 2020 for directly
procured supplies

- Mandated the use of the ‘albert’ carbon calculator on all
productions and encouraged all suppliers to work towards
‘albert’ certification

- Trained all Channel 4 staff in sustainability with BAFTA ‘albert’

- Appointed a Sustainability Manager to make sure the ambitions
setout in our Sustainability Roadmap become a reality

4Earth

Established in 2019, 4Earth is an employee resource group of
environmental champions who gather to inspire change and put

in place positive action at Channel 4. In 2020, this network grew
to 150+ members spanning the business. Inthe last year,
engagements have included in-persenand online Q8 As,
workshops and collaborative events covering Climate Justice,
Zero Waste, Climate Anxiety and Student Strikes. They ran the
annual Christmas Market online ensuring that all stalls were
sustainable or independent businesses. The co-chalrs of 4Earth
also worked on the Sustainability Roadmap and its launch to staff,
the induction of the newly appointed Sustainability Manager and
rotiout of BAFTA's ‘albert’ Sustainability Training, and regularly work
with the other ERG chairs on premoting various channel-wide

|&D initiatives.

Medasuring emissions

Channel 4 is committed to become net-zero by 2030. We will
formalise this ambition through a Science-Based Target, limiting
globaltemperature rise to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels.
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People and corporate social responsibility
(continved)

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report

Channel Four Television Corporationis a ‘large unquoted company’ under the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 'SECR'}
regulations, so must report annually on greenhouse gas emissions from Scope Tand 2 Electricity, Gas and Transport. This is the first
reporting year so no emissions from previous years are available as a comparisen.

Methodology

The reporting period is the most recent financial year 01/01/2020 to 31/12/2020. This report has been compiled in line with the March
2019 BEIS 'Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance', and the EMA methodology
for SECR Reporting. All measured emissions from activities which the organisation has financial control over are included as required under
The Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report} Regulations 2018, unless otherwise
stated in the exclusians statement.

The carbon figures have been calculated using the BEIS 2020 carbon conversion factors for all fuels, other than the market-based
electricity which has been taken from EDF, E.ON, OPUS, SSE and British Gas as the UK suppliers.

UK Carbon Footprint Data 2019-2020

Scope Description Specific fuels tCOe
Scope Combustion of fuel on site Natuyral gas, LPG, petrol, diesel, 485
angd transportation unknown vehicle fuel, F-Gas
Scope?2 Purchased energy Electricity Location-based 766
Market-baszed 16
Scope 3 Supply chain emissions Voluntary disclosure - information n.a.
not provided for 2020
Total Location based 1,231
Market based 103
Intensityratio tCO.e/ £1mturnover Location based 1.32
Market based on
Energyusage TotalkWhconsumed Electricity, natural gas, gas oil, petrol, 4,079,370

diesel, unknown vehicle fuel

Renewable % Electricity 98.48%

Emissions detail by fuel type location
based method

8 Electricity # Natural Gas B LPG
8 F-Gas B Diesel B Petrol vehicles

B Hybrid Vehicles  Unknown FuelVehicles
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People and corporate social responsibility

(continued)

Statement of exclusions

Scope 1exclusions

Natural gas consumption for communal areas at the Glasgow,
Leeds and GSN {Channel 4 subsidiary) offices were excluded as
actual usage could not be provided by the landlord. A benchmark
estimation could not be produced as occupancy in relation to
communal usage could not be compared between sites.

Scope 2 exclusions

Scope 2 purchased electricity does not include the Transmission
and Distribution element as this is owned by the supplier. Electricity
for Glasgow and communal areas at the Bristol, Glasgow, Leeds
and GSN offices were excluded as usage could not be provided by
the landlords. A benchmark estimation could not be produced

as occupancy in relation to building usage and communal usage
could not be compared between sites.

Scope 3 exclusions
Scope 3 is voluntary - further information on Channel 4’s work to
date around Scope 3 emissions is set out on page 140.

Energy efficiency actions taken

At the close of December 2019, the refurbishment of the third floor
workspace in the London office was completed. This refurbishment
included replacing the dilapidated fan coil and VAV units in the
ceiling, upgrading the lighting to energy efficient LED madules,

and replacing lighting controls to allow configuration of motion
sensors and time clocks. The benefits of these improvements were
recognised for the first time in 2020; however, due to the Covid-19
pandemic resulting in the restricted use of the building from March
2020, we have not had the data to quantify or evidence the specific
associated energy and carbon reductions.

The Covid-19 pandemic stalled planned asset replacements

and upgrades in line with our five+ year strategy that would have
contriputed to energy and carbon objectives in 2020. Atthough

we were unable to achieve the reductions through lifecycle
replacement, the pandemic allowed us to gain efficiencies through
changes to operational parameters during the periods of low
building occupancy. These efficiencies were achieved by restricting
employee access to primarily one floor, thus allowing plant and
equipment on other floors to remain off, or have substantially
reduced run hours, for example: fan coil units (‘FCUs"); lighting;
water heaters; small power.

Operational guidance for heating, ventilation and air conditioning
('HVAC’) plant was issued by the Chartered Institution of Building
Services Engineers ('CIBSE’) and the Federation of Eurcpean
Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning Associations ([REHVA’)
during Covid-19 which outlined that air extracted from the office
space must not be recirculated. This meant that the supply air to the
floors from the air handling units could not be tempered through
heat recovered from the extracted air so there was a subsequent
increase in natural gas consumption to compensate.

In late 2019, we opened new offices in Bristol, Glasgow and

Leeds to add to our already established regional office in
Manchester. These four offices and their energy use are reported
within our SECR figures. These are all leased properties with
landlord-procured energy supplies except Manchester and Bristol.
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic these offices, like London, were
closed to non-essential staff from March 2020, therefore, usage in
2020 was significantly reduced and cannot be used as a baseline
for future years. The new Bristol and Glasgow offices benefit from
heat recovery on ventilation systems, LED lighting and passive
infrared sensor {"PiR"} lighting control and achieved SKA ratings of
Silver, awarded in 2020,

In April 2020 new energy contracts for offices where Channel 4
procures directly were switched to green renewable tariffs for

both electricity and gas. Our leased offices with landlord-procured
supplies are also all on 100% renewable electricity contracts.

The communal gas supply in our Glasgow office will be reviewed

at the next apportunity.

Channel 4 is exploring future opportunities for offsetting in line
with its commitment to be net-zero carbon by 2030.

139




People and corporate social responsibility

(continued)

Sustainability policies and targets

Business travel

We use virtual meetings as much as possible and only travel if there
is a business need. Due to Covid-19, from March 2020 all travel was
prohibited uniess business critical; therefore, travel and resultant
emissions were significantly reduced.

Looking forward, we'll avoid taking flights within the UK and offset
journeys which are deemed business critical. Subject to Covid-19,
safety measures or disability requirements, local business travel
will be by public transport rather than taxi where possible.

Water

We have continued to monitor our water consumptionin 2020 but
due to Covid-19 and government-imposed lockdowns, reduced
huilding occupancy has resulted in water consumption data being
substantially lower (68%) and not comparative to the 2019 data.

Although demand-led, Channel 4 is committed to ensuring water
consumption is keptto a minimum and will continue to ensure it
remains as efficient as possible.

Waste

Channel 4 works with waste management companies to ensure
that all waste is diverted from landfill wherever possible. Dry
recyclables such as paper, cardboard, plastic, metal and glass
containers are sent to a material recovery facility; general waste
(non-recyclable) such as crisp packets, plastic bags, some types
of plastic, laminated foil packaging. cutlery and soiled food
containers are converted into energy (refuse-derived fuel}.

Channel 4 produced a total of 37.00 tonnes of waste in 2020,
substantially less than the 154.6 tonnes generated in 2019. This was
mainfy attributed to minimat occupancy levels in all offices from
Marchinresponse to the Covid-19 pandemic. Overall, 74.11% of the
waste generated in 2020 wasrecycled (59.4% in 2019), 25.22% that
could not be recycled was converted to produce energy (40.7% in
2019) with the remaining C.67% going to landfill{0% in 2019), We are
investigating these waste streams for the Glasgow and Manchester
offices with a view to eliminate where possible going forward.

Split between our offices in 2020

Mixed Waste 1o Waste to

Total recyciing energy landfiil

(Tonnes) {Tennes) {Tonnes) {Tornes}

Bristol’ 0120 0120 0.000 0.000
Glasgow Q773 (0.353 0197 0.223
Leeds’ 0.218 0.218 {.000 0.000
London 35.533 26.399 9134 0.0C0
Manchester’ 0.358 0.334 8.000 0.024
37.002 27424 9,331 0.247

T Figures far Bristol. Leeds and Manchester exclude general waste as this 1s maraged by
the respective landlords and figures were unavailable at ime of report submission.

To complement the above, we alsc have a waste stream to manage
the paper cups used for hot drinks. Paper cups contain an inner
polyethylene layer to stop the rest of the material from getting
soggy. Simply Waste ensures that these are sentto areprocessing
facility that can separate the plastic film from the paper, thereby
allowing materiai recovery and recycling into new paper products.
Channel 4 sent 583kg of paper cups to Simply Waste for processing
in 2020. We offer anincentive to our staff to use mugs/reusakle
cups to avoid the use of paper cups; however, due to Covid safety

Channel Four Annual Report 2020
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measures implemented in our offices, usage of paper cupsin
2020 was increased due to removing multi-touch cleaning points
with reusable mugs.

Electrical waste (under the Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment Directive (‘"WEEE Directive’)) and project-related

waste (documented in Site Waste Management Plans) are managed
separately by specialist contractors and documentation received
to certify that items have been disposed of inthe correct manner.
These figures are not included in the table above.

In 2020, we refurbished the postroom and security areas of the
Lendon office to make them Covid-secure. The waste produced
in this project was 2.2711 tonnes, of which 95.94% was recycled
and 4.06% converted to enargy.

Sustainable procurement

As a member of the BAFTA ‘albert’ consortium, the leading initiative
on sustainability for the film and television industries —and as a
publisher-broadcaster which ccmmissions all its programming
from the independent production industry — Channel 4 requires all
productions to use the ‘albert’ caleulator and, from 2021, expects
all production cempanies to chtain ‘albert’ certification.

We have completed an initial assessment of our Scope 3 emissions,
which makes up the largest part of our carbon footprint (98%). Asa
result we have identified the priority areas within our supply chain
to act on. We will engage with key suppliers, gaining a clearer
understanding of their carbon emissions, and will work
collaboratively to reduce them.

The Covid-19 pandemic has of course meant that our paper usage in
2020 was vastly reduced compared to 2019. We have committed
to not buying paper newspapers or magazines for office use.

Promoting sustainability on screen

In 2020, Channel 4 broadcast sustainability-related programming
including Dispatches: Is Your Ontine Habit Killing the Planet?, How
to Steal Pigs and Influence People and a second series of My Family
and the Galapagos.

In2021, inthe run-up tothe UN's COP26in Glasgow, Channel 4 will
broadcast a Climate Change season. Further, each commissioning
team will facilitate the inclusion of the subject of climate change in
their content across the year.

Ethicai investments

Ourinvestments provide an important opportunity to ensure cur
values and commitments to the environment are integrated into our
wider business activities, including the Commercial Growth Fund,
the Indie Growth Fund and our own pension funds.

We take environmental credentials into account when investing
in indie Growth Fund companies and require all Indie Growth
Fund preduction companies to have, or be working towards,
‘albert’ accreditation.

We also consider the sustainability credentiats of all proposed
investee companies when making investment decisions.
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Risk management

How we
manage risk

The Board is accountable for
identifying the principal risks
facing the Corporation, including
those with the potential to impact
the execution of our strategy,
performance of day-to-day
operations, the delivery of our
remit and the maintenance of our
brand and reputation. On behalf
of the Board, the Audit Committee
monitors the effectiveness of

the risk management process,

as illustrated overleaf.

The pursuit of new opportunities is essential to the delivery of

our strategic objectives and to fulfilling our remit. Effective risk
management is about striking the right balance between risk and
opportunity; making risk-informed decisions is something we do
every day. We have a high appetite for creative risk-taking, which
could give rise to controversial content. However, this is balanced
by a very low appetite for compliance risk, and low appetite for
operational risk. This is reflected in our governance framework,
which comprises policies, procedures, defined roles and
responsibilities and menitoring.

Throughout 2020, Covid-19 was a significant area of focus in our risk
management activities, as it continues to be in 2021. The pandemic
has demonstrated the interconnected nature of risk management,
with the majority of our key risks affected to some extent by the
wide-reaching impacts of Covid-19; from the health and wellbeing
of our people, to the sharp decline in the UK advertising market
early in the pandemic, disruption to our content pipeline (especially
pricr to the implementation of Covid-secure filming guidelines),
and the impact on theatrical releases for Film4. As the situation has
evolved, we have implemented risk mitigations to facilitate the safe
continuation of our business operations.

While Covid-19 dominated, it was not the only item on the risk
agenda in 2020. We continued to monitor for emerging risks, as well
as changes to our key risks, such as the developing situation leading
up to the UK's departure from the EU and the potential impact of
expected changes to advertising regulations and changesin
audience behaviour.

The risk environment in which we operate is continuously evolving.
This year we conducted a full refresh of our key risks, with input
from stakeholders across the business. This refresh took account
of changes to the external enviranment and reflects our Future4
strategy, both in terms of the risks inherent within the strategy and
risks related to its execution. As a result of this exercise some new
risks have been added and some have been redefined to better
reflect the risks we face, now and looking ahead. By updating our
understanding of the key risks to Channel 4, we are better placed to
ensure that the controls in place and the further mitigating actions
we are taking are appropriate for those risks. A small number of
risks reported in our 2019 Annual Report are not included this year
as the Board has concluded that while those risks remain, they no
longer represent principal risks to the Corperation. The revised
articulation of our key risks has been reviewed and approved by
our Executive Management Board, Audit Committee and Board.

Environmental sustainability was highlighted in our 2019 Annual
Report as an area of emerging risk to Channel 4. This year we

have promoted this topic to our key risks, reflecting the increased
priority we have placed on managing the impact of our business on
the environment, including through our supply chain (see page 145
for further information).

41




Delegates
responsibility

The Board

Risk management leadership

Sets strategic objectives and risk appetite
Accountable for maintaining sound risk
management and internal control systems
Monitors performance

Audit Committee

Delegated responsibility from the Board to overseerisk management
and internal controls

Reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management processes

Manitors the role and effectiveness of Business Assurance and the
external auditor, and their independence

Executive Members

Executive Team Committees
Delegated responsibility from » Comprised of commercial,
the Board tor the operation of operational and creative
systems of risk management Executive team committees
and internal control Define risk management roles
Support and help assess risk at operaticnal and project
Encourage open levets

communication on risk matters Userisk as an explicit part
Manitor performance of decision-making and
Assess materiality of risks in management of external
context of the Group as awhole relationships

Monitor controls and Continyous risk identification,
mitigating activities self-assessmentand

Facilitate sharing of risk assurance
management information and
best practices across the Group

Reports four

times annually

to the Audit

Committee

Business Assurance

L

Independently reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal
control processes

Monitors and validates
actions taken by
management

77 Reviewsthe output of these groupsand

* reports back to the Audit Committee

Communicate and disseminate risk management policies




Risk management
(continued)

Purpose

Content

Key'

Strategic pillars

o
@
@
6

Content

Viewers

Commercial

Vision pillars

9 Represent unheard voices

@ Challenge with purpose

@ Reinvent entertainment

Partnerships

Risks and uncertainties

Risk and petential impact

Link to vision,
purpose and
strategic pillars

Mitigating activities

Risk

movement

Strategicrisks

1. Content and audiences

Thereis a risk that we don‘t deliver avdiences with the
relevant, engaging and diverse content they want to
watch, in the places they want to watch it.

Competition for high-quality content and talent that is

representative of the whole of the UK is increasing, from
both traditional broadcasters and new entrants, including

the FAANGs. There is a risk that price inflation impacts
our ability to secure the best content, or that we don't

understand cur audiences sufficiently to ensure that our
content remains relevant. (This risk is exacerbated during

the Covid-19 pandemic due to disruption to the supply
chain and increased costs arising from Covid filming
protocols.)

In this increasingly competitive landscape, failure to

maintain prominence (see also risk 4) or market our brand
and content - in all the placesitis available - to the right

audiences, via the right platforms, in a way that makes a

connection, could result in the underperformance of our

content.

Against a backdrop of digital disruption, there is a risk that
we don't adapt our digital, social and distribution solutions

with the pace and scale required to compensate for the

declinein linear viewing, including investment in our VoD
platform. If this were to occur, we may fail to achieve total
“time spent’ (including linear SOCI, streaming and social

engagement) of sufficient scale for Channel 4 to remain
relevant in the face of competition. Infilm we are also
seeing earlier release via streaming services, disrupting
the traditional ‘theatrical first’ distribution model.

62000

* Evolve how we commission, schedule, planand
develop products, sell and market to be more
viewer-centric

* New audience segmentation approach developed,
with "4’ brand relaunch planned

» Targetto double All 4 viewing by 2025

s |nvest more in youth-skewing content to drive digital
viewing, using deeper avdience insights to find shows
that drive streaming

* Roll out personalisation features on All 4, including
smarter recommendations

» Build on current partnership network and forge new
arrangements to reach the right audiences

* 45tudio to produce more original shorts and grow
branded digital entertainment

+ lLaunch Giobal Format Fund to invest in new content
formats with global potential

+ Covid filming protocols in place at independent
production companies to allow filming to continve
safely during the pandemic

A

2, Revenve generation

With the majority of our income generated from
advertising sales, changes to the advertising market
may impact our ability to sustain revenues.

Economic uncertainty could drive a decline in
consumer and business confidence, leading to a
reduction in advertising spend. In the first half of 2020,
uncertainty due to Covid-19 had a severe effect onthe
demand for advertising in the UK. While tha market
rebounded significantly in the second half of the year,
the UK economy has been hit hard by the pandemic
and a degree of uncertainty remains. If the UK were to
experience a longer-term economic downturn (due to
Covid-19, Brexit and/or other macro-economic factors)
Channel 4 revenues may be affected.

Structural change in the advertising market continues,
driven by changing viewer habits from linear to digital

particularly amongst young audiences, with an increasingly
competitive landscape developing for digital advertising
products. There is a risk that we don't innovate or evolve
our advertising products with the pace and scale required

to compete and to offset the anticipated linear revenue
declines, or that we don't leverage the oppertunities
available to us to generate new revenues.

®90

* Commercial targets set for digital advertising to be
at least 30% of total revenue and non-advertising to
be at least 10% of total revenue by 2025

* Continue toinnovate core advertising proposition
through data-driven targeting, including our "bring
your own data’ BrandMatch offer to target All 4
viewers

* Provide innovative creative opportunities for clients
including ad-break takeovers and branded social
content

* Scale our ad-free All 4+ proposition, Indie Growth
Fund and Channel 4 Ventures further, and launch
a new Global Format Fund to generate commercial
returns from IP

* Participate in the government’s consultation on HFSS
advertising and callfor evidence on gambling

* Routine monitoring and management of cash,
investments and operating costs enabling us to
respond to economic trends

See also our Viability Statement on page 147,

1 The purpose, vision and strategic pillars set outin our Futured strategy

are outlined on pages 22 and 23
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Risk management
(continued)

Link to visian,

purpose and Risk
Risk and potentialimpact strategic pillars Mitigating activities movement
2. Revenue generation continued
Thereis also a risk that adverse regulatory change
{e.g. planned introduction of a watershed for HF5S food
advertising on linear TV and potential new restrictions
on gambling advertising) could trigger acute falls in the
total value of the linear TV and digital advertising market,
impacting Channel 4's revenue generation.
3. Business transformation s Programme governance framework in place, NEW
Todeliver our Futured strategy we are embarking ena 6 facilitated through our Corporate Programme
substantial multi-year business transformation programme Management Office, including regular review
that is complex, interdependent and in¢corporates @ of progress, costs, dependencies and risks
significant technolegy change. As with any \‘arge‘-scale + Organisational changes made to support business
transformation programme,rthere is execution risk. We may @ transformation delivery
underestimate the complexity or cost of the work required,
or we may lack the capability required to deliver the * Rollout ofan enhanced performance management
programme. As a result, the programme may fail to deliver @ framework and leadership development modules
the anticipated benefits within the planned timeframe, N progress
or the cost of doing so may exceed our expectations.
This could impact our ability to compete in the digital
space and to drive new revenues which, inturn, may
impact the sustainability of our business.
4. Government policy, media regulation and * Engaging in Ofcom's review of PSBs and with the
business environment government's panel review and ongoing monitoring A
Our public service remit is agreed by Parliament and for any potential changes to policy
enshrineq inlegislatian. Changes to government policy o * Maintaining effective relations with government
and medl? _regulatlon can present both risks and + Partnering with other UK broadcasters and media
opportunities to Channel 4. Lt ‘

@ organisations to provide to government a shared
Ofcom’s PSB review is in progress, together with the view of the risk relating to PSB prominence and
government’s separate panel review of PSBs; we await @ the potential implications of foreign trade deals
the combined cutcome of these reviews to understand on the sector
fche impUca;ionsfpr PSBs gnd for regulation of the segtor o Since1 January 2021 we are broadcasting our linear
in general (including prominence rules) and for ourunique h b dF h
brand and purpose. ;hgnnel§ to \rgla_nd un_dert e Lux_em ourg and Frenc

jurisdictions, in line with the requirements of the

On prominence spacifically, thereis arisk that the Audiovisual Media Services Directive
regulatory framework supporting PSB prominence does o . . .
nogt adapt to the trend in digital ngﬂedla Eansumption. The * lMomtc_)rlng-the impact of Brexit on our supply chain,
current framework addresses PSB prominence for linear including with regard to the free movement of people
TV within the Electronic Programme Guide ('EPG’) but does
not ensure prominent display of the EPG itself on digital
devices, nor does it consider video-on-demand players
or other evolving digital technologies. The discoverability
of our channels is key to the delivery of our remit and the
generation of revenues.
Now that the UK has left the EU, there will be a period
of adjustment during which any impacts on the filmand
TV industry will be understood. For example, funding
programmes we previously participated in may be
impacted and/cr we may see ageneraldrain ¢f non-UK
EU talent from the UK media industry. The extent to which
changes to pecople's freedom of movement impacts the
production supply chain remains to be seen.
With the government pursuing trade deals with other
countries there is a risk that inclusion of the Audio-Visual
sector has a detrimental impact on P§Bs and the
government’s ability to legislate in this area.
5. Maintaining editorial standards * Established legal and compliance framework in
While challenging with purpose, innovation and risk-taking o place, including policies, procedures, training and ’
are central to our vision, culture and values, we take very monitoring, with an online training module accessible
seriously the need to uphold our editorial standards. A @ 1o independent producers and freelancers
breakdownin those standards, for example relating to + ‘Referral up’ process in place to manage decisions in
impartiality in news, a failure of contributor care or a breach @ relation to editoriat standards
of viewer trust, could be severely damaging to Channel 4's : . .
reputation and could result in significant penalties. * Production companies required to adhere to our

@ rebust contributor care standards on allrelevant

productians
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Risk management
(continued)

Link to vision,

purpose and Risk
Risk and potential impact strategic pillars Mitigating activities movement
6. Our relationship with the independent + Initiatives in place to support new and diverse talent, HNEW

production community

In line with our remit, we provide high-quality programming
that is innovative, experimental and creative, that appeals
to the tastes and interests of a culturally diverse society,
and that exhibits a distinctive character. In supporting
creative talent, we place particular focus on people at

the beginning of their careers and those making innovative
content and films. We also need to make commercially
successful content to fund cur activities. Thereis a risk
that we don’t deliver enough of each and that, due to the
limited financial resources available to us, we can’t fund
everything we would want to ar move fast enough in
support of the creative community.

We may not deliver the expected benefits of the 4 Allthe
UK programme in a sustainable way within the planned
timeline due to insufficient experienced independent
production companies producing content that is suitable/
of appropriate guality or because we don't scale activities
managed from our new regional Commissioning hubs with
the pace expected; as aresult, achievement of our Nations
and Regicns commissicning targets may be impacted.
There is arisk that the welfare of people working on

productions for Channel 4 might not atways be properly
considered and supported.

o
©
@

including Emerging Indie Fund, cur ethnically
diverse-led Indie accelerator, and our takeover
planned for autumn 2021that will launch a series of
commissions led by Black talent

Indie Growth Fund focused on investing in companies
inthe Nations and Regions as well as digital and
diverse businesses across the UK

Tracking ot Nations and Regions commissioning spend

Greater commissioning decision-making authority
moved to our regionally based Commissioning teams

Training schemes and partnershipsin place to support
the development of relevant skills amongst talent in
the Nations and Regions

Procduction companies producing content for
Channel 4 are required to comply with all

applicable legislation. In addition, our Supplier Code
of Conduct sets cut minimum standards of behaviour
for all those carrying out work for us, and companies
are expected to have in place systems to entorce
compliance with this. Contact details of our ‘Speak
Up' facility {or an equivalent) must be included by
preduction companies on daily call sheets, providing
an escalation route through which to report concerns
of wrongdeing.

7. People, inclusion and organisational capability

The environment within which we operate is competitive
and continually evelving. There is a risk that we don’t adapt
the skills profile of our workforce to align with the priorities
setout in our Futured strategy (particularly digital
capabilities) and that it doesn't keep pace over time. We
may struggle to attract and/or retain talent inan
increasingly competitive marketplace that includes glohal
digital piayers.

To successfully deliver on gur remit to represent a
culturally diverse society, we need diversity of thought
within the organisation. If we do not truly embed inclusion
within our warking practices, including our commitment

to anti-racism, we may fail to attract, motivate and retain
adiverse workforce that will best support Channel 4 inits
creative ambitions.

Q00BO0

Ongoing consideration of organisational capability,
with a focus on leadership effectiveness and digital
skills

New performance management process being rolled
out, with greater focus on targets and alignment with
our Futured strategy

Talent acquisition and retention considered by the
Remuneration Committee when overseeing our pay
and bonus strategy

A

Talent development programmes in place

Inclusioninitiatives including a new 4!nclusion Career
Development Programme launched in January 2021

8. Environmental sustainability

The government has committed that the UK will be ‘net
zero' on carbon emissions by 2050 and there is a
responsibility on all businesses to reduce their carbon
footprint in support of this.

The great majority of our environmentalimpact is through
content production, via the hundreds of independent
producers we work with. There is a risk that our approach
to environmental sustainability, both on and off screen,
does not meet the expectations of stakeholders, including
government, regulators, audiences and suppliers, or that
we lag behind other PSBs and UK broadeasters

and fitmmakers.

®

Target set for Channel 4 to be carbon net-zero by 2030,

NEW

supported by arange of initiatives, including:

Allour TV productions required to use the ‘albert’
sustainability calculator, with editorial guidance on
how to make productions more sustainable provided
to producers, extended to Film4, 4creative and
45tudio from 2021

Mandatory ‘albert’ carbon titeracy training for all
employees

Measures inplace to reduce direct emissions,
including purchasing renewable energy and improved
controls over heating and lighting in our offices

Sustainability credentials considered as part of
investment decisions for our Indie Growth Fund
and 4Ventures

Working with the advertising industry to develop
environmental sustainability opportunities

Environmental sustainability criteria under
development to be used in our procurement
processes for non-content suppliers and
service providers
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Risk management
(continued)

Risk and potential impact

Link to vision,
purpose and
strategic pillars

Mitigating activities

Risk

Operationalrisks

9. Cyber-attack or data breach

With the growth of the digital economy, cyber-
attacks are rising globally and are beceming ever
more sophisticated. During the Covid-19 pandemic
there has been anincrease in cyber activity inthe
world at large, including phishing attacks, as cyber-
criminals seek to take advantage of the disruption.

At Channel 4 a signiticant cyber-attack could impact

the availability and integrity of our systems and data, or
the confidentiality of our data assets. This could include
disruption to our customer-facing All 4 VoD platform or
linear TV broadcast, as well as the operating systems
used within the business. Delivering against our Futured
strategy will see our digital footprint grow, further
increasing the importance of cyber security at Channel 4.

There is arisk that we fail to manage personal datain
accordance with GDPR and other data protection
legislation.

In the event of a cyber-attack or other data breach,
there is a risk of regulatory penalties including fines
and other potentially costly enforcement actions,
especially in the event of a parsonal data breach.
Such an event may also result in reputational damage,
including a breach of trust from stakeholders
including DCMS, viewers and/or employees.

Established in-house Information Security function,
supported by third-party specialists

A

Cyber security governance framework in place
including policies, data management and security
standards, and monitoring procedures that are
regularly reviewed and updated to prevent and detect
threats

Monitoring of cyber rigk inteiligence, including liaison
with the National Cyber Security Centre

Mandatory cyber security training for all staff and
communications to raise awareness of phishing
attacks and payment fraud (especially during the
Covid-19 pandemic)

Data Governance Forum in place, as well as principles
governing the use of data across Channel 4 (with a
focus on viewer data)

Additional payment controls implemented during
Covid-19

10. Health, safety and security

A significant physical security or health and safety
incident could eccur, including the risk of a serious
accidentor an act of terrorism resulting in injury or loss of
life of employees, suppliers and/or visitors to our offices.
This could result in business interruption, significant
remediation costs and reputational damage.

With Covid-19 the inherent physical health risk to gur
pecple remains higher than normal. Mental health and
wellbeing risk is incteased due to factors including isclation
and balancing work and home life responsibilities.

Health and safety policies and procedures in place,
including risk assessments for high-risk deployments
and insurance cover reviewed annually

A

Ongoing security reviews conducted and monitoring
of security intelligence

Crisis management framework and business
continuity ptans and procedures in place

Majority of our people working from home due to
Cowid-19, with a range of support mechanismsin place
to support wellbeing

'Covid-secure’ safety measures implemented in our
offices in line with government guidance on working
safely during coronavirus {for those who can't work
from home effectively)

1. Significant disruption to breadcast and VoD services
The technology chain supporting broadcast and VoD
cperations is complex, involving multiple third parties
and systems. A sustajned disruption to broadcast or VoD
services could result in a loss of advertising sales revenue,
damage to our reputation and/or animpact on our ability
to achieve our remit, This risk continues to be heightened
during the current Covid-19 pandemic due to the
operational workarcunds implemented to enable remote
working. The risk also increases when there is a higher
proportion of live broadcasting (including ‘live to VoD')
inourschedule.

Mature governance framework in place, including
continuous monitoring and incident escalation
protocols

>

Business continuity and IT disaster recovery plans
in place, including a backup broadcast location
and remote working procedures

The risks listed do hot comprise all those associated with Channel 4 and they are not presented inany order of pricrity. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to management, or currently assessed as less material, may also adversely affect the Corporation,

Note: Certain risks presented as key to the business in previous years have not been included above in 20G20:
Insufficient investment intechnology - as we impiement our Futured strategy the focus for this risk has moved from ersuring sufficient investment to delivering change with the
incremental investment plarned Thisis captured as part of risk 3 (business transfarmation) for 2020

movement

{nability to attract. motivate and retain talent - this has been refreshed asrisk 7 (pecple, inclusion and organisational capacity) above with a new emphasis oninclusionand diversity.
Allthe UK project delivery - gur presence in the Nations & Regions is now considereo business-as-usual, and the specific risk around project delivery has been retred We capture the
risk that we do not drive expectad berefits from our regional etfices within risk 6 (our relatienship with the independent production community) above.
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Strategic and financial outlook
and Viability Statement

Strategic and financial outlock for 2021

Our financial strategy focuses on balancing the requirements of

our unigue public service remit with the importance of investing in
strategicinnovation, to ensure that Channel 4 remains commercially
sustainable into the foreseeable future, as well as with the

need for financial resilience, to withstand a further economic
downturn or a combination of significant risks materialising.

Our record 2020 results have reinforced an already strong balance
sheet position, supporting our long-term viability and our ability

to withstand future economic shocks, as well as giving us capacity
to invest further and strengthen our position over the next few
years. As we navigated the pandemic during 2020, we have clarified
further our fiscal parameters to frame our investment activity and
safeguard our long-term financial sustainability.

Our Future4 strategy, announced in late 2020, is centred on
ensuring that Channel 4 innovates and adapts to remain relevant
as a destination for the next generation. This strategy underpins
our 2021 Budget and latest three-year plan, and translates to
accelerated investment over the next three years in digital
transformation to support our target to double Al 4 views by 2025
{including focusing on streaming-oriented content and marketing
as well as the All 4 platform itself), as well as scaling up revenue
diversification. Inthe context of continuing viewer migration away
from traditional platforms (particularly among youth audiences),
our new strategic emphasis on digital and non-advertising
revenues ensures we are equipped to meet this challenge.

While we saw significant recovery in the advertising market as 2020
progressed, the outlook for 2021 remains uncertain, as increased
business confidence due to the vaccine rollout may be offset by
continuing lockdowns, high unemployment and the impact of new
variants. This iz in addition to ongoing challenges following the end
of the Brexit transition period.

As part of cur 2021 Budget and three-year plan, we have considered
potential downside scenarios arising from the continuing pandemic,
broader market shocks and lower than expected henefits from
imptementing our Futured strategy. Evenin the most severe case
considered (deemed plausible but beyond the worst-case scenario
currently anticipated by management), analysis shows that our
contingency plans would mitigate slower revenue growth than
anticipated in our base case forecasts and ensure we remain within
our existing credit facility and covenants. Our 2020 results and
response to the initial cutbreak of Covid-19 also demonstrate cur
ability to dynamically manage spend and cash flows to mitigate risks
astheyarise.

Our £75 million revelving credit facility (for afive-yeartermto
March 2023) increases our available liquidity if required. This facility
was drawn down in fullin March 2020 as part of the Group's initial
response to Covid-19, and remains drawn down as at the date of
this report to ensure that maximum liquidity is retained; however,
none of this additional funding has been utilised to date.

Our scenaric analysis and the resources available to Channel 4
indicate that the Group will be able to continue te operate for at
least 12 months from the date that this Annual Report is approved.
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing its financial statements. Further to this, the analysis
indicates that the Group will be able to continue to operate over the
horizon covered by the current three-year plan to the end of 2023.

Looking forward, the Members are confident that the key purpose
outlined in the Future4 strategy - of creating change through
entertainment - allows Channel 4 both to continue delivering its
remit and public service role, and to build a platform for future
financial sustainability.

Viability Statement

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corperate
Governance Code {the ‘Code’}, the Members have assessed
the prospects of the Group over the three-year period to
December 2023. This period was selected as this is the normal
planning herizon in our strategic planning process.

The Members review the three-year strategy and financial plan
annually, taking account of the Board's agreed risk appetite, the
Corporation strategy, and the remit as mandated by legislation
and the Ofcom broadcast licence awarded in January 2015, The
plan makes certain assumptions, including TV advertising market
growth and our share of that market, and is stress-tested
annually for adverse market impacts and other principal risks to
assess theirimpact on long-term revenues, profitability and cash
flows. These principal risks include further economic declines,
including structural declines in the TV advertising market, plus
the risk that benefits anticipated from the implementation of the
Group’s new strategy are not achieved.

In their overall assessment of the viabitity of the Group, the

Members have:

- reviewed the Group's strategic objectives and other key
performance metrics; considered revenue, cost and cash
flow forecasts and liquidity and financing requirements for
the next three years, as well as its current financial position
and cash resources;

~ considered each of the principal risks and uncertainties set
out on pages 141to 146 and how they are managed;

- through the Audit Committee, assessed the Group’s risk
management framework and considered reports
summarising Business Assurance work during the year;

- specifically considered the risks to the business presented
by the Covid-19 pandemic and the potential financial impact
of continuing market and revenue declines as a result;

- discussed the sensitivity of the Group’s three-year planto a
combination of severe but plausible risks materialising; and

- reviewed performance updates in the normal course of
business that underpin the long-term strategy.

Although this assessment does not consider all of the risks the
Group may face, the Members confirm that their assessment

of the principal risks facing the Group was robust. Based on

the results of their activities around principal risks and viability,
the Members have a reasonable expectation that the Group will
be able to continue to operate and meet its liabilities, as they fall
due, over the three-year period of their assessment.

This report was approved by the Board on 5 May 2021and
signed on its behalf by

Charles Gurassa
Chair
5 May 2021
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The Channel 4 Board

Executive

Alex Mahon
Chief Executive

Respensibilities and skills:

Alex became the first female CEO
of a major UK broadcaster when she
joined Channel 4 in Cctober 2017,
Alex was CEO of global producers
Shine Group, where she oversaw
the build-and-buy strategy of
building up 27 production labels
over1Zinternational territories
and was responsible for all content
strategy, inciuding the launch of
global scripted divisions and the
rollout of formats internationally,
and then was CEO of Foundry,

a global software provider.
Appointment to the Board:

30 Cctober 2017

Term completion:

N/A

Committee membership:
Attends Remuneration and

Audit Committee meetings

but is not a member

Previoys roles:

Executive

CEQ, Foundry

CEO, Shine Group

CCO, Talkback Thames
Director of Commercial &
Strategy, Fremantle Media
Non-exgcutive

Deputy Chairman, Foundry

Senior Independent

Director, Ocade plc

Chair, RTS Programme Awards
Appeal Chair, Sear Free Foundation
Chair, Bandstand

Non-Executive Director, Edinburgh
International Television Festival

Jonathan Allan
Chief Operating Officer

Responsibilities and skills:

Prior to joining Channel 4, Jonathan
worked at major London media
agency OMD UK, jeining in 1995
and progressing to Managing
Director in January 2007 In this
role, he defined the agency’s
future direction and broadened
its offer, expanding digital
capability as well as taunching
marketing services, data planning
and creative functions.

At Channel 4, Jonathan has
transformed Channel 4 Sales

into an industry leader in
delivering commercial innovation
by working with brands and
agencies to adapt and evolve
inthe face of unprecedented
technological advances.
Throughout 2019 and until January
2020, Jonathan was the Chief
Commercial Cfficer. In February
2020, Jonathan became the Chief
Cperating Officer for Channel 4.
Appointment to the Board:

13 September 20N

Term completion:

N/A

Committee membership:
Attends Remuneration and

Audit Committee meetings
butisnota member

Current external appointments:
Board Member, Advertising
Association

PanelMember, ASA

Industry Advisory Panel
Previcusroles:

Executive

Managing Director, OMDUK
Deputy Managing Director, OMD UK
TV Director, OMD UK
Non-executive

Board Member, Thinkbox
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lan Katz
Chief Content Cfficer

Responsibilities and skills:

lan has overall responsibility

for the creative outputacross
Channet 4, its portfolio of
channels and All 4, He leads the
creative commissioning team to
ensure Channel 4's unique remit
to represent the whole country,
challenge with purpase and
reinvent entertainment is reflected
inits programmes and content.
Under his leadership, the channel
has earned a slew of awards for
shows including End of the Fucking
World, The Big Narstie Show,
Stath Lets Flats, Jode, For Sama,
Brexit: The Uncivil War, Leaving
Neverland and Hellycaks.

lan has a backgreund in both
breadeast and newspaper
journalism and digital
innovation. He was editor of

the BBC's flagship daily news
and current atfairs programme
Newsnight from 2013 to 2017,
Previously he worked in a wide
range of writing and editing

roles at The Guardian, where as
Deputy Editor and Head of News
{2008-2013), he oversaw the
groundbreaking Wikileaks and
phone-hacking investigations,
aswellas leading The Guardian’s
strategy to become a glohal leader
on environment coverage. lan
was responsible for developing
The Guardian’s first website

and played a centralrole in The
Guardian’s digital development
over the subseguent 15 years.
Appointment tothe Board:

8 January 2018

Term completion:

N/A

Committee membership:

None

Current external appointments:
None

Previous roles:

Executive

Editor, BBC Newsnight

Deputy Editor and Head of News,
The Guardian

Governance
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The Channel 4 Board

(continued)

Non-Executive

Charles Gurassa
Chair

Responsibilities and skills:
Charles has 40 years’ experience
inmanagement and senior Board
roles in industries that have
seenradical transformation,
including travel, tourism,
telecommunications and media.
He has also been Chairman and
Non-Executive Director of significant
commercial and sccial enterprises
in many different sectors,

from heritage and housing to
environment and culture
Appointment to the Board:

28 January 2016

Term completion:

27 January 2022

Committee membership:

Ethics Committee

No formal membership, but
attends Audit and Remuneration
Committee meetings

Current external appointments:
Chair, Great Railway Journeys
Chair, Oxfam

Chair, Migration Museum
Trustee, English Heritage
Previous roles:

Executive

Executive Chair, TUI

Northern Europe

Cirector, TUlI AG

Chief Executive, Thomson
Travel Group plc

Director, Passenger & Cargo
business, British Airways
Nen-executive

Chair, Genesis Housing
Association, Virgin Mobile,
LOVEFILM, Phones4U,

MACH, Tragus, Parthenon
Entertainments, NetNames,
Alamo/National Rent a Car
Deputy Chair, easyletple
Deputy Chair, The National Trust
Senior Independent Director,
Merlin Entertainments plc
Non-Executive Director,
Whitbread plc

Trustee, Whizz-Kidz

Member, Development Board
of the University of York

Lord Chris Holmes MBE
Deputy Chair

Responsibilities and skills:

Lord Holmes is Britain’s most
successful Paralympic swimmer,
winning nine gold medals, including
anunrivalied six at a single Games.
Heis a preminent campaigner on
diversity and inclusion, on which he
has acted as an adviser to the Civil
Service.

Appointment to the Board:

5 December 2016

Term completion:

10 June 2021

Committee membership:
Rermuneration Committee (Chair)
Current external appointments:

Director and sole shareholder,
CHconserve Ltd

Director and sole shareholder,
CHedserve Ltd

Co-Chair, APPGS on Assistive
Technology, FinTech, Al,
Blockehain and 4IR
Chancellor, BPP University
Data and Policy Advisory Board
Member, Civil Service
Previous roles:

Executive

Lawyer, Ashurst

Non-executive

Non-Executive Director, Equality
and Human Rights Commission
Nan-Executive Director, UK Spert
Member, Select Committees

on Digital Skills and Social
Mobility, House of Lords
Director, Paralympic

Integration at LOCOG

Althea Efunshile CBE
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Althea brings 35 years’ experience
of senior strategic leadership and
management within the public
sector. She has beenalocal
autharity Director of Educatien;
a senicr civil servant within

the Department for Education;
and Deputy Chief Executive of
Arts Council England. She has
peen Chair and Non-Executive
Director of a range of public
bodies spanning the arts, health,
further and higher education, and
housing. Althea is committed to
the delivery of Channel 4's public
service remit. She has a passion
for diversity and inclusion and

for centributing to Channel 4's
efforts to strengthen the diversity
ofits audiences, programming
andinternal organisation.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018

Term completion:

December 2027

Committee membership:

Audit Committee

Current external appointments:
Chair, Metropolitan

Thames Valley Housing

Chair, Ballet Black
Mon-Executive Director,
University College London

NHS Foundation Trust
Previousroles:

Executive

Deputy Chief Executive,

Arts Council

Director level Senior Civil Servant,
Department for Education
Executive Director for
Education and Culture, London
Borough of Lewisham
Non-executive

Chair, National College
Creative Industries
Non-Executive Director,
Goldsmiths College
{University of London)

Paul Geddes
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:

Paul is the CEO of QA, a digital
education and skills provider,
and was previously CEO of Direct
Line Group, the insurance group
and home of the Direct Line,
Churchill, Privilege and Green
Flag brands. Paul has built brands
using the power of TV advertising
throughout his 26-year career.
His marketing career began

at Proctor & Gamble and then
retailing, before joining NatWest
and RBS retail banking and then
entering general management.
From 2009 he tock over RBS’
insurance business and floated
itas Direct Line Group in 2012,
Paul's experience of running mass-
market, multi-site and increasingly
digital consumer businesses in
competitive and fast-changing
markets, as weli as helping
arganisations with their technical
training and talent, is a valuable
addition to the Channel 4 Board.
Appuointment to the Board:

5 December 2016

Term completion:

5 December 2022

Committee membership:

Audit Committee (interim

Chair during 2020)

Current external appointments:
CEO, QA Limited

Director, QA Limited subsidiaries
Previous roles:

Executive

CEO of DirectLine
Insurance Groupple

Director, Churchill
Ingurance Company Ltd

Director, DL Insurance Services Ltd
Director, UK Insurance Ltd

CEO, RBS Group mainland
UK retail banking

Other senior roles in multi-
channel retailing and marketing at
companies including Kingfisher,
GUS and Procter & Gamble
Non-executive

Deputy Chairman, Association

of British Insurers

Director, Direct Line Group Ltd
Director, Direct Line Insurance Ltd
Director, Indemnity Insurance Ltd
Director, The National Insurance
& Guarantee Corporate Ltd
Director, Protection

Life Company Ltd
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The Channel 4 Board

(continued)

Non-Executive

Uzma Hasan
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Uzma is & multi-award-winning film
producer and industry consuyltant
with a globaltrack record inthe
development, production and
exptoitation of feature tilms. She
has pivoted from international
executive to start-up cwner and
has worked across four continents
with studios and independents.
Shejeined the Channel 4 Board
with a particular focus on
embracing the challenges and
opportunities brought by FAANG
disruptors. She brings adeep
commitment to the creative
industries and the ways inwhich
cultural output can positively
shape our society. She credits
Channel 4-backed My Beautiful
Laundrette asinstrumentalin her
decisionto become afilmmaker.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018

Term completion:

September 2027

Committee membership:

Audit Committee

Current external appointments:
Producer and Co-Founder,

Little House Productions. Her
latest feature film, FirstBorn,
sold worldwide to Netflix; she

is currently developing BAFTA-
nominee Ritesh Batra’s next film
for Amazon Studias as well as the
adaptation of Gautam Malkani’s
cult novel Londonstan) for the BFI.
Selection Committee, British
Independent Film Awards

Jurer, British Academy of

Fitm and Television Arts
Non-Executive Director,

Babber Films

and Chisel Films

Trustee, Birds Eye View

Previous roles:

Executive

Executive Producer, Dharam
Sankat Mein and Flying Paper
Producer, The Infidel and FirstBorn
Associate Producer, Termented
Film Financing Consultant,

Doha Film Institute

Head of Development,
Slingshot Studios

Fru Hazlitt
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:

Fru has spent over 25 years
inthe media, entertainment
and technology sectors with
a commercial background
and extensive general
management experience.

She has served as a Director of
Boards - both as an Executive
and as a Non-Executive Director
- across a wide variety of high-
profile consumer businesses.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018

Term completion:

September 2021

Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current externalappointments:

Founder CEQ, La Piazza Group
SRL, Colory*itand GRLS.it

Chair of the Board of Governors,
Downe House School

Trustee, Merlin’s Magic Wand
Previous roles:

Executive

Managing Directeor of Commercial,
Online and Interactive, ITV
Managing Director, GCap Media
Chief Executive, Virgin Radio
Managing Director, Yahoo UK
Non-executive

Director, Betfair

Independent Birector,

Merlin Entertainments
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Tom Hooper
Neon-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:

Tom brings to the Channel 4

Board three areas of relevant
responsibilities and skills. Firstly,
as an Oscar-winning film and
television drama director he can
help Channel 4 keep creativity and
innovation ¢central to its mission as
a public service broadcaster. Tom
won the bestdirector Oscar for The
King’'s Speech - in all, his films have
won a total of eight Oscars. His
tetevision work has won 22 Emmys
and ten Golden Globes, including
Elizabeth | (Best Director Emmy)
and Longford, both of which he
directed for Channel 4. Secondly,
his wide experience of working in
the Nations and Regions of the UK
has relevance for Channel 4 moving
substantial parts of its operation
out of London. He directed Byker
Grove in Newcastle, Cold Feetin
Manchester, The Damned United in
Leeds, and directed and executive
produced Philip Pullman’s His
Dark Moterials in Cardiff. Thirdly,
as aformer Governor of the BF)
and a member ofthe London
Coordinating Committee of the
Directors’ Guild of America,

he has developed a strong and
respoensible understanding of

the existential issues tacing the
future of the cinema and public
service broadcasting today - in
the age of internet streaming.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018

Term completion:

December 2021

Committee membership:

None

Previous roles:

Executive

Director of The Domned United,
The King’s Speech, Les Miserables,
The Danish Girl and Cats
Non-Executive

Governor, British Film

Institute (since 2011)

Governance

Roly Keating
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:

Roly brings extensive experience
of public service broadcasting
fram his work in programme-
making, editorial and senior
executive roles atthe BBC.

His current role at the British
Library provides additional
perspective from another
cultural organisation within

the DCMS group.

Appointment tothe Board:

5 December 2016

Term completion:

5 December 2022

Committee membership:

Ethics and Remuneration
Committees

Current external appointments:
Chief Executive, The British Likrary
Chair, Conference of Evropean
National Librarians

Trustee, The British Library Trust
Trustee, American Trust

for the British Library

Trustee, The Gilson Trust
Trustee, Friends of the

National Libraries

Trustee, Clore Leadership
Programme

Trustee, The Bushy Trust
Director, Marine Cottages
Residents Ltd

Previous roles:

Executive

Director of Archive Content, BBC
Controller, BBC Two and BBC Four
Controller, Arts
Commissioning, BBC

Head of Programming, UKTV
Non-executive

Trustee, Turner Contemporary
Board Member, Barbican Centre

Chair, Knowledge
Quarter London Ltd
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The Channel 4 Board

(continued)

Non-Executive

Andrew Miller
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Andrew was recently appointed
Chief Executive of Motability
Operations ple, arole he took up
at the end of 2020, Anaccountant
by training and a leader in digital
transformation, Andrew has also
held senicr executive positions ata
number of multinational consumer
and media groups. These include
Food Folk Group Heldings - owner
ofthe McDonald’s licence for the
nNordics Scandinavia - Guardian
Media Group and Autotrader,
taking the latter from a print
magazine to a digital platform. Prior
to this, Andrew held senior finance
roles atFrito-Lay Europe, Procter
& Gamble and Bass. He has also
held Non-Executive Director roles
and was Audit Chairatthe AA ple
and Ccean Cutdoor Mediaplc.
Appointment to the Board:

1June 2020

Term completion:

31 May 2023

Committee membership:

Audit Committee

(Chair from Qctober 2020)
Current external appointments:
Chief Executive, Motability
Operations ple

Previous roles:

Audit Chair, AA plc

Avdit Chair, Ocean Outdoor Media
Director, Guardian Media Grovp ple
Director, Auto Trader

Holding Limited

Director, Food Folk

Group Holdings AS

Director, Top Right Group
{Ascential plc)

Stewart Purvis CBE
Non-Executive

Respensibilities and skills:
Stewart has specialisms in TV
journalism {as former CEQ of ITN),
regulation of broadcast content
{as aformer Ofcom Partner),

and government relations {as
aformer adviser to DCMS).
Appeintment to the Board:

1 September 2013

Term completion:

31 May 2021

Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current external appointments:
Vice President, Royal

Television Society
Non-Executive Director,
Brentford Football Club
Chairman, Brentford Community
Football Society Ltd
Previcygroles:

Executive

Chief Executive and
Editor-in-Chief, ITN

President, EyroNews, Lyon
Editor of Channel 4 News, ITN
Partner, Content and

Standards, Ofcom

Protfessor of Television Journalism,
City University London
Nen-executive

Chair, UK Government media
literacy group

Adviser to Houge of Lords Select
Committee on Communications
on the governance of the BBC
Independent Chair of multi-
party negotiations to progress
digital radio in the UK {DCMS)
Member, DCMS Advisory
Committee on BBC Charter
Visiting Professor of Broadcast
Media, Oxford University
Trustee, SSVC (registered charity)
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Report of the Members

Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 20086, the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 154 to 161 and the information
contained in the Strategic Report on pages 128 to 147 form part
of this Report of the Members and are incorporated by reference.
The Members have decided to comply with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006 to the extent that these are relevant to
Channel 4 and its status as a statutory corporation,

The Members present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. Details of
the Executive and Non-Executive Members are disclosed on
pages 148 to 151.

The Chair and Chief Executive present their statements on
pages 4 to 7 and 8 to 11 respectively. A review of the Group,
outlining its business model, development and performance
during the financial year, together with its position at

31 December 2020 and financial outlook, is provided inthe
Strategic Report on pages 130 to 147. The Strategic Report also
outlines the principal risks and uncertainties facing Channel 4.

The Group's financial statements are set out on pages 181to 271
and Channel 4's financial statements are set out on pages 212
to 217.

Legal status

Channel Four Television Corporation (‘Channel 4’} is a statutory
corporation, without shareholders, established under the terms
ofthe Broadcasting Act 1990,

Regulatory environment

Under the regulatory modet, Channel 4 receives access to the
digital spectrum and prominence on the digital terrestrial
television platform. In return, Channel 4 must fulfilits public
service remit obligations as set outin the 1990 and 1996
Broadcasting Acts and as amended by the Communications Act
2003, the Digital Economy Act 2010 and the ten-year licence
issued by Ofcom, which came into effect in Januvary 2015. We
are prohibited by legislation from producing programmes to be
broadcast on the main Channel 4 service and thereisa
statutory limit of £200 million on the amount of debt the
Corporation canraise.

Disclosure of information to the avuditor

Each of the persons who is a Member at the date of approval of

this Annual Report confirms that:

~ sofarasthe Memberis aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and

- the Member has taken all the steps that he/she ought to
have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

Deloitte LLP has been appointed as auditor to Channel 4 with
the approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media
and Sport.

Goingconcern

The Group's business activities, its future strategy and cther
factors likely to affectits future development and performance,
the financial position of the Group, its cash flows and Viability
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Statement are set out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 15 to
the financial staterments includes the Group’s approach to financial
risk management, including its financial instruments and hedging
activities and its exposures to liquidity and credit risks.

As noted an page 147, while we saw significant recovery in the
advertising market as 2020 progressed, the outlook for 2021
remains uncertain, as increased business confidence as a result of
the vaccine rollout may be offset by continuing lockdowns, high
unemployment and the impact of new variants. Thisis in addition to
ongoing challenges following the end of the Brexit transition period.
Based on specific consideration of these risks and scenaric analysis
performed (see page 1471 in addition to normal business planning
and centrol procedures, the Group has sufficient financial rescurces
and the Members believe that the Group is well placed to manage
its business risks. The Members have a reascnable expectation that
the Group will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future, and therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

Members'interests

During 2020, Members, in addition to their salaries, benefits and/or
feesas disclosed on page 168, were interested in the following
transactions negotiated at arm’s length on normal commercial
terms with the Group:

Alex Mahon was a Director of Creative Diversity Network Limited
during part of 2020. During 2020, Channe!l 4 paid £141,759 to
Creative Diversity Network Limited.

Jonathan Allan is a Director of the Advertising Association. During
2020, Channel 4 paid £193,738 to the Advertising Association.

Paul Geddes is a Director of QA Limited. During 2020, Channel 4
paid £2,168to QA Limited.

Uzma Hasanis a member of the Selection Committee of the British
Independent Film Awards. During 2020, Channel 4 paid £20,820to
the British Independent Film Awards. UzmaHasan is also a member
of the jury for British Academy of Film and Television Arts (‘BAFTA").
During 2020, Channel 4 paid £105,513 to BAFTA.

Tom Hooperis a Governor at the British Film Institute. During 2020,
Channei 4 paid £34,748 to the British Film Institute.

Stewart Purvis is Vice President of the Royal Television Society.
During 2020, Channel 4 received £174 from and paid £21,582 to the
Royal Television Society.

Where the Members have aninterestin an advertising or
sponsership client of the Group, the amounts paid or payable are
not disclosed as they are negotiated and transacted via media
buying agencies. All such transactions are negotiated and
transacted on an arm’s length basis.

insurance and indemnities

The Group has qualifying third-party indemnity provisionsin place
for the benefit of the Members which comply with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006,

Employment policy for people with disabilities

Channel 4 is committed to recruiting, developing and retaining
employees with disabilities. We continue to act as a ‘Disability
Confident Leader’ as part of a government scheme, offering a

guaranteed interview to all candidates with a disability who meet
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the essential criteriafor a role. Qur initiatives in these areas are
detailed further on page 136

Providing informationto employees

Employees are provided with information on matters of concernto
them via presentations by the Executive team in regular all-staff
meetings, regular e-news updates and through other email
communication when appropriate.

There is also an employee representative committee of individuals
across the Corporation who represent all staff and consult with
senior management on matters that affect staff.

Employee engagement

Details of the Group's engagement with its employees are outlined
on page 158,

Business relationships

Details of the Group’s key business relationships and engagement
with these stakeholders is outlined on page 157.

Responsibility statement of the Members inrespect of the
annual financial statements

The Members are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group’s and the Corporation’s financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations. The
Corporation is required by its governing legislation (the
Broadcasting Act 1990) to keep proper accounts and proper
records in relation to the accounts, and to prepare financial
statements in respect of eactifinancial year. Under that law,
the Members have elected to prepare the financial statements
of the Group in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted by the EU and the
requirements of Chapter 4 of Part 15 of the Companies Act
20086, and elected to prepare the financial statements of the
Corporation in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard {'FRS’) 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework”.

The Members accept responsibility for approving the financial
statements only after they are satisfied that, when taken as
awhole, they are fair, balanced and understandable, and
provide the information necessary to assess the Corporation’s
performance, business model and strategy. In preparing

the parent company financial statements, the Members:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

- state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ has been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Corporation
will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International

Accounting Standard ('IAS'} 1 requires that Members:

- property select and apply accounting policies;

- presentinformation, including accounting policies, ina
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

- provide additicnal disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enabte
users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance; and

- make an assessment of the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Members have accepted respensibility for keeping proper
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group’s and the Corporation’s transactions and to disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
ofthe Group and the Corporation. They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably opento
them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Members have voluntarily decided to prepare a
Remuneration Report in accordance with Schedule 8 ta The
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports} Regulations 2008, made under the Companies
Act 20086, as if those requirements were to apply to the Group
and the Corporation.

The Members are responsible for ensuring compliance with the
requirements of Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003,
as set out an page 160. Following the Digital Economy Act
2010, revised arrangements, approved by Ofcom,

were implemented from 15 September 2016.

The Members are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included on
the Corporation’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

- thefinancial statements, prepared in accordance with
the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liahilities, financial position and
surplus or deficit of the Group and the Corporation and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
awhaole;

~ the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group, and the Corporation and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a
whole, together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that they face; and

- thatthe Annval Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary
to assess the Corporation’s position, performance, business
modeland strategy in accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code,

This report was approved by the Board on 5 May 2021 and signed
on its behalf by

Charles Gurossa
Chair
5 May 2021
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Board sub-committees

The Board has an established Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Ethics Cemmittee to assist with the discharge of its
functions and has delegated each certain responsibilities, as set
out below.

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate
governance, The Members voluntarily prepare a Corporate
Governance Statement to demonstrate that they apply the
principles, where relevant, of the UK Corporate Governance
Code issued by the Financial Reparting Council {{FRC') in 2018,
and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and Listing Rules of
the Financial Conduct Authority. Channel 4's statusas a
statutory corporation without shareholders means those
provisions concerning shareholders’ interests are not directly
applicable. Information required under LRS.8.4R of the Listing
Rules, where relevant to Channel 4, is disclosed in the Report
of the Members (page 172) and in the Members’ Remuneration
Report (pages 166 to 173). The Board considers that it was
compliant with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate

Board nominations

Givenits constitution and specific statutory provisions regarding
the appointment of Members, Channel 4 does not have a formal
Neominations Committee. Instead, there are formal nominations
procedures which are described below.

The following formal nemination procedures are in place:
- Non-Executive Members are appointed for fixed terms by

Governance Code throughout 2020, with the exception of the
composition of the Audit Committee (in regard of which it was
compliant from June 2020 onwards). The code can be accessed
at www.frc.org.uk.

The Board

Channel Four Television Corporation is controlled through

its Board of Members. The Board's main role is to discharge
Channe! 4’s statutory functions and ensure the fulfilment of the
public service remit in accordance with allapplicable laws

Ofcom following consultation with Channel 4's Chair and the
approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media
and Sport

The Chair is appointed by Ofcom for a fixed term with the
approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media
and Sport

The Deputy Chairis appointed by Ofcom

The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board

Other Executive Members are appointed to the Board after
nomination by the Chief Executive and the Chair acting jeintly

and regulations.
We work with Gfcom to ensure that each Board appointment brings
to the Board the skills and experience that are required to meet
Channel 4's needs and contribute to its long-term success.

The Board meets at least eight times a year and has a schedule
of matters reserved forits approval as noted in the table below.
Inaddition, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure the
fulfilment of Channel 4’s statutory duties and functions, the
Board continues to focus on ensuring the successful delivery
of Channel 4's remit and other public service responsibilities.
Content output and plans for future investment of the content
budget are regularly discussed as part of the overall Board
agenda, as are regular updates on audience reactions to
Channel4’s content. The Board also approves Channel 4's
proposed Statement of Media Content Policy {incorporating
the Statement of Programme Policy and Review) prior

to publication.

The Board

The division of responsibilities between the Chair of the Board
and the Chief Executive is clearly defined as described on the
following page.

The following matters must be referred to the full Board: - Theestablishment, purchase or acquisition of any qualifying
company and the approval or variation of terms of reference tor any

- Channel 4's annual budget and three-year financial plan and strategy subsidiary
- Theappointment of the Chief Executive - Approval of any significant new business investment or programme
- Cuanfirmation of the appointment of the other Executive Members investment

nominated by the Chief Executive and the Chair acting jointly - Significant proposed changes to Channel 4’s headcount
- Banking arrangements and loan facilities - Such other matters as the Board may from time to time resolve to
-~ Anysignificant proposal outside the ordinary course of Channel 4's review or decide upon

business
~ Theappointment and reappointment of the statutory auditor The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to the sub-committees
- Theaudited Annual Repart and financiat statements below
Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Ethics Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for
monitering the integrity of the Corporation’s
financial statements, reviewing the
Corporation'sinternal contrel and risk
management systems and making
recommendations to the Board in respect of the
external auditor, The Audit Committee Reportis
setout on pages 162t0165.
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The Remuneration Committee oversees all aspects
of pay for Channel 4, reviewing proposals for the
annval pay awards and variable pay schemes
applicable to allstatt. It recommends tothe Board
remuneration for the Chief Executive and sets
remuneration for the rest of the Executive team The
Members’ Remuneration Report s set out on page
16610173,

Governance

The Ethics Committee reviews any conflicts
of interest that may arise for Channel 4’s
Board and matters relating to the Code of
Conduct as may be referred to it by the
Chairman or otherwise and offers advice to
the Chairman on conflicts of interest relating
to Non-Executive Members and/or Executive
Members.
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(continued)

The role of the Chair

The Chair is responsible for:

- Leadingthe Board in setting the values and standards of
Channel 4

- Maintaining a relationship of trust with and between the
Executive and Non-Executive Members

- Leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness on all
aspects of its role, including the setting of the agenda

- Ensuring that all Members receive accurate, timely and clear
information

- Ensuring that all Members continually update their skills and the
knowledge and familiarity with Channel 4 required to fulfil their
role both on the Board and on committees

- Facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive
Members and ensuring constructive relations between
Executive and Non-Executive Members

- Undertaking anannual evaluation of Board and committee
performance

Charles Gurassa was appointed Chair for aninitial three-year term
from 28 January 2016 and was reappointed for a further three-year
termto 27 January 2022,

The role of the Chief Executive

The role of the Chief Executive is to run the business of Channel 4
under the delegated authority from the Board, to implement the
policies and strategy agreed by the Board, and to communicate
with Ofcom and other key stakeholders.

During 2020, Alex Mahon continued as Chief Executive.

Members and Members’ independence

The 2020 Board Members and their skills, experience and
responsibilities are set cut on pages 148 to 157,

The Non-Executive Members constructively challenge and help
develop proposals on strategy, and bring strong, independent
judgement, knowledge and experience to the Board’s
deliberations. The Non-Executive Members are of sufficient
calibre and number that their views carry significant weightin
the Board's decision-making. The Members are given access to
independent professional advice at the Group’s expense when
the Members deem itis necessary in order for them to carry out
their responsibilities.

Details of the current Chair's professional commitments are
included in his biography. These do not adversely affect his role
with Channel 4.

The Beard considers all its Non-Executive Members to be

independent in character and judgement. At the time of this report,

no Non-Executive Member:

- Has been an employee of the Group within the past five years

- Has, or has had within the past three years, a material business
relationship with the Group (although attention is drawn to the
related party transactions on page 152)

- Receivesremuneration from Channel 4 other than their
Member’s fee

- Has close family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, Members
or senior employees

- Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other
Members through invclvement in other companies or bodies,
with the exception of Charles Gurassa and Fru Hazlitt whoe both
served on the Board of Merlin Entertainments plc during the year

- Hasserved on the Board for more than nine years from the date
of their first election

Professional development

On appointment, the Members take part in an induction programme
when they receive information about the Group, the role of the
Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of
reference and membership of the principal Board and Executive
Committees and the powers delegated to those committees, the
Group's corporate governance practices and proceduresincluding
the powers reserved to the Group’s most senior executives, and the
latest financial information about the Group. This is supplemented
by meetings with members of the senior management team. On
appeintment, all members are advised that they have access to
advice and the services of the Head of Corporate Governance.
Throughout their pericd in office the Members are continually
updated on the Group’s business and environment and other
changes affecting the Group and the industry it operatesinasa
whole, by written briefings and meetings with senior executives.

A formal Board effectiveness review that uses a detailed
questionnaire to allow Board Members to express both qualitative
and quantitative views on Board performance is undertaken
annually. In 2020, the Corporation Secretary conducted a review of
the Board and of the Audit and Remuneration Committees using the
tools and approach designed in 2017 by an independent reviewer,
Independent Audit. Findings and analysis were presentedtothe
Board by the Corporation Secretary and discussed at the January
2021 Board meeting. Committees also held their own discussions
on the findings. Cverall, the Board and committees were found to
be performing well, with good communication between Non-
Executives and management, and confidence in the Board's ability
to hold management tc account, in spite of the challenges posed
to the organisation by Covid-19 during 2020. Proposals for actions
to ensure continuous improvement of the Board and Committees
were tabled and agreed. Areas of focus that were identified
included the potential for Including wider perspectives in the
Board's decision-making, and addressing wider societal concerns,
particularly with regard to climate change.

Board information

Regular reports and papers are circulated to the Members before
Board and committee meetings. These papers are supplemented
by information specifically requested by the Members from time
to time. A monthly performance pack is prepared by the Chief
Operating Officer providing a month-by-month report on progress
against the main performance indicators set by the Board.

The Corporation Secretary’s responsibilities include ensuring an
effective flow of information within the Board and its committees,
induction of new Members, assisting with professional
development as required, and advising the Board through the
Chair on all governance matters.
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Board meetings

The number of full Board meetings and committee meetings
attended by each Member during the year is shown in the table
below:

audit Remuneraticn Ethics
Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings
attended attended atiended attended
Name tinwited) {invited) {invited) linvited)
Charles Gurassa 13013) 5 (5) 5(5) -
Lord Chris Holmes? 2(13) - 1(5) -
Althea Efunshile 12Q13) 5(5) - -
Paul Geddes 13(13) 5(5) - -
Uzma Hasan 12(13) 10 - -
Fru Hazlitt 12 (13) - 5(5) -
Tom Hooper 9(13) - - -
Roly Keating 1203) - 1M -
Andrew Miller & (6) 2(2)
Stewart Purvis 13013 - 55} -
Alex Mahon 13013) 5(5) 5(5) -
Jonathan Allan 13013) 4(4y 22y -
lan Katz 13(13) - - -

1 The Chair, Chief Executive and Chief Operating Officer attended Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee meetings but were not membaers of those committees.

2 Duetc legal proceedings in 2020, Lord Chris Holmes decided to step back from
attending Board and Committee meetings for part of the year.

The Board meets at least eight times a year; extraordinary sessions
of the Board and committees were also held in 2020. The Non-
Executives meet without management twice a year, and meet with
just the Chief Executive present once a year.

The Ethics Committee did not meet in 2020 as no matters arose
requiring its consideration,

Board diversity

As shown on pages 26 to 37, diversity is at the heart of Channel 4
and this is egually important at the most senicr levels of the
organisaticn as at entry-level positions. At May 2021, the Channel 4
Board comprised three Executive Members and ten Non-Executive
Members. As stated on page 354, Non-Executive Members are
appointed by Ofcom, and Executive Members by the Chief
Executive and the Chair.

At 31December 2020, one of the three Executive Members was a
woman (December 2019: one of three). At 31 December 2020, the
Board comprised four women and nine men, with the four women
making up 31% of the Board membership {December 2019: 33%).
At 31December 2020, two Members of the Board were from
ethnically-diverse backgrounds (December 2019: two).
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Section 172 statement

In July 2018 a revised version of the UK Corporate Governance
Code was published, containing an updated set of principles that
emphasise the value of good corporate governance to long-term
sustainable success. As stated above, as a statutory corporation
without shareholders, Channel 4 voluntarily applies the principles
of the Code, where relevant.

The Code requires the Board to assess the basis on which

Channel 4 generates and preserves value over the long term. The
Board believes that the annualreview of Channel 4's performance
in relation to its Statement of Media Content Policy (presented on
pages 83 to 119 of this Annual Report) represents a strong
statement of the value generated by the Group. Cur corporate
strategy (set out on page 132} is aimed at ensuring we can continue
to generate and develop this value over the long term. As a
not-for-profit public service broadcaster, ouraimis to remain
commercially self-sustainable with a strong supporting balance
sheet over the long term. A key element of our financial strategy is
the way we cross-fund commercially challenging gerres with
profitable programming. We believe surpluses built up over time
should be prudently reinvested back into original content and
digitalinnovation through cur Futured strategy to enhance our
commercial business modeland to ensure the continuing relevance
and reach of cur remit.

Some of the ways in which Channel 4's value is measured externally
currently remain rcoted In a traditional, linear PSB paradigm and do
not reflect structural and strategic changes. The number of
measures reviewed in relation to our Statement of Media Content
Policy also makes our focus and decision-making complex. As a
result the Board continues to review how we articulate and measure
Channel 4’s long-term impact in a changing {andscape.

The Code alsorequires boards of directorsto understand the views
of their companies’ key stakeholders and describe in the Annual
Report how their interests, and the matters set out in section 172

of the Companies A¢t 2006, have been considered in Board
discussions and decision-making. Section 172 deals with the
directors’ duty to promote the success of the company for the
benefit of its shareholders as a whole, having regard to a number

of broader matters including the likely consequence of decisions
for the long term and the entity’s wider relationships.

Although provisions arcund shareholders’ interests are not
directly applicable to Channel 4, cur Board seeks to make
decisions remaining mindful of our remit, values and strategy,

and taking into account their impact on our key stakehclders.
Engagement with these stakeholders is key to maintaining the
Corporation’s reputation. The following table identifies these
stakeholders, outiines how we engage with them, and provides
examples of how these relationships have shaped Board decision-
making during the year.
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{continued)

Our stakeholders

Stakeholder Engagement Impact on Board agenda and decision-making

Viewers {mainstream, We monitor audience engagement The Board receives regular updates on viewing performance

youth, ethnically-diverse  via both proprietary trackers and

and under-represented, third-party trackers, bespoke audience

Nations and Regions) studies (pilot testing, focus groups,
genre and trend studies, behavioural
studies) and an annval digital
landscape study.

toinform its decision-making. In 2020, it reviewed

Channel 4's strong viewing figures especially over pericds of
lockdown, and considered the Channel’s importantrole as a
public service breadcaster during a time of crisis.

The Board continues to focus on the growing importance

of digital viewing - in particular, taking this intc account in its
assessment of the new Futured strategy which underpins the
Corperaticon’s three-year financial plan and annual budget.

Reviews of viewing performance inform Beard approvals for
commissioning of new and returning content when Board
approvalis required under Channel 4's delegation of
authority.

The Board also scrutinised how Channel 4’s commitment

to inclusion and diversity is reflected in its creative output,
particularly in response to the Black Lives Matter movement.
It received updates during 2020 on the Corporation’s historic
content review, aimed at ensuring archive content reflects
current social attitudes.

Creative partners We engage with creative partners via
{production companies, direct meetings, industry events, talent
talent) outreach programmes, partnerships,

gualitative and quantitative research
{including direct feedback) and
third-party industry data.

Channel 4's Creative Contract sets out
our commitments to the independent
production community to foster
creative partnerships, and maintain
our reputation as the best partner

for producers.

The Board receives regular updates on Channel 4’s creative
performance to help inform its decision-making, with a focus
in 2020 on disruption to the supply chain as a result of the
pandemic and resulting government restrictions.

The Board considered the impact of the pandemic on the
independent production community, particularly in light of
cuts made to the Group’s commissioning budget to protect
Channel 4’s financial position, The Board also reviewed the
success of Channel 4's creative response to the challenges
posed by the pandemic, and the support it had received from
its creative partners in making this possible. |t supported

a donation to the Film and TV Charity in recognition of the
hardship the sector experienced.

The Board is updated on the results of stakeholder surveys,
and oversees actions to ensure positive relationships with
our creative partners are maintained.

The Board emphasised the importance of contributor carein
2020, and received updates from management on
Channel 4's work to protect on-screen talent.

Commercial partners Engagement with commercial partners
{mediaagencies, comes in the form of regular meetings,
advertisers, trade 4lives agency takeovers, our Big 7V
organisations) Festivaland Up Fronts (deferred for

20203, as well as sponsorship of
industry platforms, insight events and
projects. We also carry out an annual
reputation survey with commercial
stakeholders.

During 2020, the Board has received freguent updates on
conditions in the TV advertising market - particularly during
the initial shock to the market during April and May, but also
with regard to subsequent recovery over the second half of
the year.

The Board reviews the success of previous commercial
ventures and the stakeholder relationships built to ensure
that lessons learned are applied in future. Key stakeholder
relationships are carefully considered by the Board when
approving major commercial agreements, and they are
regularly briefed on the development of existing partnerships
as well as new ventures in the pipeline.
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{continued)

Stakeholder

Engagement

Impact on Board agenda and decision-making

Employees

Engagement with Channel 4 employees
comes in many forms including all-staff
sessions, staff forums, regular internal
communications and staff surveys
(considered in more detail on page
136).

The Board was kept updated as Channel 4 moved to home
working at the start of the pandemic, and on the decision
both to participate in the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
when this was anncunced in April and to repay these monies
when the financial position improved later in the year. The
Board continued to review staff wellbeingin light of Covid-19
throughout the year, assisted by results frem maore frequent
staff surveys carried out while staff remained based at home.
The Board also considered the safety of employees during
phased returns to Channel 4's offices in the later part of the
year.

The Board reviewed the Channel’s six-point commitment as
an anti-racist organisation, including commitments to strive
for equality as an employer. Board Champions for inclusion
and diversity provided input into this work. The Board
discussed how progress on these commitments is to be
monitored to ensure improvement going forward and inform
future decision-making. The Board also scrutinised the
results of the 2020 Pay Report.

Board Champions supported the work of Channel 4's
employee resource groups during the year, and provided
updates to the rest of the Board.

Political and regulatory
{decision-makers,
influencers and opinion
formers)

We ensure engagement with our
political and regulatory stakeholders
via cne-to-one meetings as well as
events, briefings and quarterly
stakeholder meetings.

We are in regular contact with our key
regulator Ofcom through meetings and
reporting. We are also currently
engaging with Ofcom’s review of the
future of public service broadcasting.

We also report to regulatory
stakeholders via our pay gap and
diversity reperting, and carry out an
annual reputational survey.

The Beard has received regular updates throughout 2020 on
the progress of Ofcom’s review on public service
broadcasting, and discussed Channel 4's engagement in this
process. It has received updates on potential regulatory
changes, including those around HFSS advertising.

The Board performs an annual review of the effectiveness of
the Corporation’s compliance activities and agrees action
points where necessary.

The Board has also reviewed internal policy in light of any
concerns raised by our regulators during the year and
proposed actions to address these.

Financial (governmental
stakeholders, banks}

In 2018, Channel 4 entered intc a
Mermorandum of Understanding ('MoU’}
with the Department for Digital,
Culture, Media and Sport {{DCMS'). This
clarified the requirements for

Channel 4's engagement with DCMS

- to provide informaticn to DCMS and
to secure DCMS aporoval in certain
limited cases outside the normal course
of Channel 4's business.

The Channel 4 Annual Reportis laid
before Parliament, and Members of the
Channel 4 Board attend an annual
Select Committee session to discuss
the report and the Channel’s current
activities.

Channel 4 also provides regular
reporting to its financial stakeholders
cn its performance and covenants.

The Board was kept updated on discussions with our financial
stakeholders on the decision to draw down the £75 mitlian
revolving credit facility at the start of the pandemic.

The Board reviews and approves the Annual Report ahead of
it being laid before Parliament.
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Internal control

In accordance with good corporate governance practice,

the Board:

- Isresponsible for maintaining sound risk management and
internal control systems, ensuring they are effective in
identifying key risks and reporting on the adequacy of actions
to respond to and manage those risks

- Seeksregularassurance and receives regular reports that
enable it to satisfy itself that the system is functioning effectively

- Isrespensible for the Group’s process for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

The Board is not responsible for the internal control environment
or corporate governance for any of the Group’s joint ventures
orassociates.

Control environment

Clear management responsibilities are established for the
Executive Members. The Corporation has a Code of Conduct
and a suite of policies and procedures which encompass ethical
behaviour, conduct and internal controls.

The Audit Committee satisfies itself that internal controls are
operating throughout the year based on a programme of internal
audit reviews, which are reported to the Committee at its quarterly
meetings.

All expenditure is authorised in line with a delegated authorities
framework. An electronic invoice authorisation system is used
to further enhance the control environment. Authorisation and
payment duties are strictly segregated, and bank signatory limits
are clearly defined by bank mandate.

Risk management

In addition to its requirements under Schedule 9 of the
Communications Act 2003 set out below, the Board and
management have a clear responsibility for the Identification

of risks facing the Group and for putting in place procedures to
menitor and mitigate such risks. Channel 4 has a high appetite

for creative risk-taking, which could potentially give rise to
controversial content. The Group has a tow appetite for operational
risks. The Board and Executive team operate a risk management
framework for identifying, evaluating and managing (rather

than eliminating) significant risks faced by Channel 4, Material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
are monitored and reviewed by senior management, Business
Assurance and the Audit Committee. Remedial plans are put

in place where internal reviews identify control weaknesses or
opportunities for improvement. Serious control weaknesses (if
any) are reported to the Board and appropriate actions taken.

This framework has been developed in accordance with relevant
good practice guidance on internal controls and risk management,
and has been rearticulated in 2020 to align with the current key
risks faced by the Group and its new strategy. A summary of the
key risks that the Group faces, together with how those risks are
mitigated, is presented in the Strategic Report on pages 141to 146.

Editorial and compliance

Channel 4 has a long-established compliance culture, which is
fully integrated into its commissioning process and provides clear
editorial ‘reference-up’ to senior executives and appropriate Board
oversight. Its importance is widely recognised and understood by
independent production companies we work with and they share
equal responsibility for ensuring that programmes and online
content conform to the compliance culture we work within. The
Commissioning team works in close collaboration with the Legal
and Compiiance department on all significant commissions.
There are strong editorial, legal and compliance systems and
controls in place over the content commissioned by Channel 4,

These include specific guidance and protocotls contained within the
Channel 4 Producers’ Handbook, which encompasses the Ofcom
Breadcasting Code, other relevant regulations, medialaw and best
practice guidelines. This is supported by extensive training for both
staff and independent producers. The Members are satisfied that
Channel 4 has in place suitable procedures tofulfil the
requirements of paragraph 3b of the Ofcom licence, which exists to
ensure that difficult or fine-cut decisicns on editorial and
compliance issues are properly considered by the most
appropriately experienced and senior editorial executives

and programme lawyers within Channel 4.

Reporting to the Board

Information is provided to the Members in advance of each
Board or Committee meeting. The information provided over

the course of the year includes strategic plans, detailed annual
budgets, quarterly reforecasts and key projects and inftiatives as
well as monthly performance packs. Amongst other things, the
monthly performance packs monitor progress against the agreed
objectives for the year, and compare actual performance metrics,
income and expenditure to date with budget and prior year.
Explanations are provided for significant variances to facilitate
discussion and review at the Board meetings.

The Members also receive information in between Board meetings
as appropriate, including weekly risk and viewing updates. The
Board Secretary is responsible for the provision of information to
the Members.

Pension plan

There were five Trustees of the Channel Four Television Staff Pension
Plan at 31 December 2G20. The Trustees, who meet several times
each year, also meet the Plan‘s investment managers from time to
time: Legal & General Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited,
Veritas Asset Management LLP, BMO Glohal Asset Management,

JP Morgan Asset Management, Ruffer LLP, IFM Investors and Just
Retirement Limited during the year.
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During the year, the Trustees were as follows:

Channel 4 Executives
Martin Baker
Vince Russell'

Director of Commercial Affairs
Finance Dirgctor

Keith Underwcod? Chief Operating Officer

Channel 4 Non-Executive
Trustees

Lord Chris Holmes MBE Non-Executive Member

Member-nominated Trustees

Neil Pepin® Deputy Head of Legal &
Compliance

Client Sales Lead

Pensioner Member Nominated
Trustee

Independent Corporate Trustee

Sarah Honeyball*
Gill Monk?

Cinesh Visavadia, Independent
Trustee Services Limited

1 Appointed asa Trustee on 4 December 2020
2 Resigned as a Trustee on 31 January 2020

3 Resigned asa Trusteg on ] January 2021

4 Appointed as a Trustee on 1 January 2021

Further details of the Channel Four Television Staff Pension Plan are
provided in note 19 to the financial statements.

Requirements of Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003
(the ‘Act’)

The Actrequires Channel 4 to submit proposals to Ofcom detailing
the arrangements under which it proposes to secure, so far as
reasonably practicable, that all significant risks to the primary
function are identified, evaluated and properly managed. These
proposals are referred to as ‘the Arrangements’.

In addition, the Arrangements must include proposals which
Channel 4 considers appropriate for securing the transparency
objectives as set outin the Act, namely:

- anappropriate financial and organisational separation between
the activities of Channel 4 that relate to the carrying out of their
primary functions and their other activities; and

- anappropriate degree of transparency in financial and other
reporting where resources are shared between separated
activities or where there is some other financial or practical
connection between otherwise separated activities.

The Act sets out the matters to which the submitted Arrangements

may relate. These include the procedures and other practices to be
followed by Channel 4in the case of the initiation and management
of new ventures, the exercise of particular powers, the assessment
of risks, the imposition of charges and the keeping of records.
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The Act requires Channel 4 t¢ putin place regular checks to
cantirm that Channel 4 is complying with the Arrangements. The
Arrangements proposed by Channel 4 must contain provision for
compliance, with the Arrangements to be checked regularly by a
person {other than Channel 4's auditor) appointed in accordance
with that provision, Revised Arrangements came into force on

15 September 2016.

Channel 4 appointed BDO LLP to review compliance with the
Arrangements. Copies of the Arrangements are available from the
Corporation Secretary.
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Independent Reporting Accountant’s report to Channel Four
Television Corporation (“the Corporation’) and the Office of
Communications (‘Ofcom’)

We have performed areview of the Corporation’s compliance
during the year ended 31 December 2020 with the
arrangements agreed by the Corporation and the Office of
Communications {'Ofcom’) in 2016 under Section 2 of
Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003.

This report is made solely ta Channe| Four Television
Corporation and Cfcom in accordance with our letter of
engagement dated 10 March 2021 and in order to (a) allow the
Corporation to meet its obligations under the Licence and
Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003 to procure such
reports and (b} to facilitate the carrying out by Ofcom of its
regulatory functions. Qur work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Corporation and Gfcom those matters we
are required to state tothem in areporting accountant’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Corporation and Ofcom (in accordance with our
Regulator’s Contract with Ofcom dated 11 March 2021), for our
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Channel Four Television

Corporation and reporting accountants

The Corporation has agreed arrangements with Ofcom to

secure the following objectives (the ‘Objectives’) as set out in

Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003:

- Sofarasreasonably practicable, secure that all significant
risks that their other activities will have an adverse effect on
the carrying out, during the relevant licence period, of their
primary functions are:

a) identified;

b} evalvated; and

c) properly managed.

- The transparency objectives of securing:

a) Anappropriate financial and organisational separation
between the activities of the Corporation that relate to
the carrying out of their primary functions and their other
activities; and
An appropriate degree of transparency in financial and
other reporting where resources are shared between
separate activities or where there is some other financial
or practical connection between otherwise separated
activities.

b

The arrangements between the Corporation and Ofcom are
available from https://www.ofcom.crg.uk/__data/assets/
pdf_file/0031/88519/Channel-4-5chedule-9-Arrangements.
pdf. The responsibility of the Corporation in terms of Schedule
9 of the Communications Act 2003 is to act inaccordance with
these arrangements throughout the review period.

Our responsibility is to check whether the Corporation has
complied with these arrangements during the year ended
31 December 2020 and report te you our independent
conclusion as to whether they have done so.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1
and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system of guality
control. We have complied with the independence and other
ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountantsissued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our work in accordance with Internationat

Slandard on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance

Engagements’. Our work consisted of:

- Confirming our understanding of the Corporation and the
internal procedures and controls in place made to comply
with the arrangements made under Schedule 9 of the
Communications Act 2003 through enquiry of senior
management and other appropriate personnel; and

- Testing the operation of the relevant internal procedures
and controls and examining of the financial records relating
to the above.

Qur work was carried out based on the internal procedures and
controls in place to comply with the arrangements during the
year ended 31 December 2020. We are not responsible for
concluding whether the arrangements are sufficient and
appropriate to achieve the objectives set out above. Any
system of internal control can only give reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives will be met.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Corporation has comptied with the
arrangements under Schedule 9 of the Communications
Act 2003, in all material respects for the year ended
31December 2020.

Restriction of use of our report

Our report should not be regarded as suitable to be used or
relied on by any party wishing te acquire rights against us other
than Charnel Four Television Corporation and Ofcom, for any
purpose or in any context. Any party other than Channel Four
Television Corporation and Ofcom who obtains access to cur
report or a copy thereof and chooses to rely on our report {or
any part thereof) witl do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we accept or assume no responsibility and
deny any liability to any party other than Channel Four
Television Corporation and Ofcom for our work, for this report,
or for the conclusions we have reached.

BDOLLP

Chartered Accountants
London

5 May 2021

BDO LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England
and Wales {with registered number QC305127)
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Audit Committee Report

Chair’'s introduction

During the year the Committee has closely monitored the
impact of Covid-19 and the accompanying economic
downturn on the business, and in particular on our key
audit risks and accounting judgements. This has been
considered alongside ongoing work to identify wider
business risks arising in the Corporation’s activities, and
ensure that these are managed appropriately and that
robust mitigating controls are in place. A detailed analysis
of the risks facing the Corporation, including new or
increased risks arising as a result of the pandemic, is
disclosed in the Strategic Report on pages 141to 146,

Composition

During 2020 the Auvdit Committee comprised Pauvl Geddes
(Interim Chair following the departure of Simon Bax in
December 2019), Althea Efunshile, Andrew Miller (appointed
to the Committee in June 2020}, and Uzma Hasan (appointed
to the Committee in September 2020). All the members of

the Committee are Independent Non-Executive Members. As
disclosed on page 149 Paul Geddes brings previous
experience as CEQ of Direct Line Group and QA Limited to the
Committee. Having been appointed to the Board in June 2020
following Simon Bax’s departure, Andrew Miller commenced
his term as Audit Committee Chair in January 2021. As
disclosed on page 151 Andrew Miller is a qualified accountant
and brings previous experience as Audit Chair of both AA plc
and QOcean Qutdoor Mediato the role. The appointments made
during 2020 ensure that the Audit Committee has sufficient
members to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code
inthis regard from June 2020 onwards. Further details of the
Members of the Audit Committee can be found on pages 148
to 151,

The Committee met five times dusing 2020. Details of
attendance at Audit Committee meetings by the Members of
the Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance
Report on page 156.

At the Committee Chair's invitation, the Chair of the Board,
the Chief Executive, the Chief Operating Officer, the Finance
Director, the Head of Business Assurance, the Corporation
Secretary and the external audit partner {among others)
attended Committee meetings. The external avdit partner
and Head of Business Assurance have directaccess to the
Chair of the Audit Committee.

Role of the Audit Committee

The Committee monitors the effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting, systems of internal controland risk
management and the integrity of the Group's external and
internal audit processes.
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Responsibilities

As noted in the Corporate Governance Report on page 154,

the Board has discharged certain responsibitities to the

Audit Committee:

- Tomonitor the integrity of the financial statements of
Channel 4 and any formal announcements relating to
Channel 4's financial performance and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them

- Toreview the Corporation’s internal financial controls and
internal control and risk management systems

- To monitor the Corporation’s whistleblowing procedures,
ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for
employees to be able to raise matters of possible impropriety
in confidence, and with suitable follow-up action

- Toreviewthe findings of Business Assurance reviews and to
monitor and review the effectiveness of Channel 4's
Business Assurance function

- Tomake recommendations to the Board in relationto the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor

- Toreview and monitor the external avditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into consideration relevant UK professional and
regulatory requirements

~ Todevelop and implement pelicy on the engagement of
the external auditor to supply non-audit services including
the pre-approval of such services, taking into account
ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit
services by the external audit firm; and to report to the
Board, identifying any matters where it considers that
action or improvement is needed and making
recommendations on steps to be taken

- Toupdate the Board about the Audit Committee’s activities
and ensure the Board is aware of matters that may have a
significant financial impact on Channel 4
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Activities
The Committee discharged its key responsivilities in 2020 and 2021
to date as set out below.

January 2020 meeting

- Confirmed with the external auditor the key audit risks to be
disclosed inthe 2079 Annual Report and discussed the external
auditor’s progress to date on the audit for the year ended
31December 2019

- Approvedthe proposalto take the Companies Act exemption
available regarding audits of subsidiary financial statements

- Considered the Viability Statement in the 2019 Annual Report,
particularly in light of Brexit uncertainty and conditions in the
TV advertising market, and assessed the appropriateness of
the going concern basis for preparation of the 2019 financial
statements

- Reviewed the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Corporation and the mitigating actions in place

- Reviewed and approved changes to our risk management
process, including criteria implemented to assess risk likelihood
and impact

- Approved updates to the Delegated Authorities matrix for
expenditure approval

- Received a Business Assurance update with afocus on emerging
risks

March 2020 meeting

- Reviewed the 2019 financial statements and other sections of
the Annual Reportincluding the Statement of Media Content
Policy and discussed whether these were fair, balanced and
understandable to stakeholders

- Reviewed the Corporation’s accounting policies in respect of
the key audit risks, significant accounting and reporting issues
and a detailed financial reportin respect of 2019 and discussed
these with the external auditor

- Considered the report of the external auditor on their key
findings for the 2019 audit

- Reviewed the findings of the independent reporting accountants
concerning compliance with the arrangements under Schedule @
of the Communications Act 2003 in relation to 2019

- Reviewed the Viability Statement and the going concern
assumption for the 2019 financiat statements {previously
considered at the January 2020 meeting} further in light of the
Covid-19 pandemic

- Considered business continuity updates with regard to Covid-19

May 2020 meeting

- Received updates on the Group's latest financial outiook,
liquidity and cash flows

- Reviewed the Viability Statement and the use of the going
concern assumption for the 2019 financial statements with
regard to the latest status of the Covid-19 outbreak, government
leckdown measures, current market visibility and updated
financial modelling over the revised planning horizon

- Considered uncertainty around timing of improvement in the
advertising market in light of the use of the going concern
assumption inthe 2019 Annuai Report

- Reviewed FRC guidance on the impact of Covid-19 on financial
reporting timelines, and agreed to receive further updates on
viability and going concern at future meetings

June 2020 meeting

- Discussed the latest status of the Covid-19 outbreak and its
market impact

- Received updates on the Group's tax status and reviewed
updates to the Treasury policy

- Received updates on Business Assurance activity and the
Group's Key risks

- Received an update on work to define the Group's Internal Audit
‘universe’ and align future coverage and resourcing with the
Group's key risks

- Considered the annual Health and Safety update

September 2020 meeting

- Reviewed the Viability Statement and confirmed that the use of
the going concern assumption for the 2019 financial statements
was appropriate with regard to the latest status of the Covid-19
outbreak and the Group's current financial outlook over the
revised planning horizen

- Considered the final report of the external auditor on their key
findings for the 2019 audit

- Reviewed the Corporation’s accounting policies in respect of
its significant accounting judgements, and a detailed financial
report in respect of the half yearto 30 June 2020

- Considered the key audit risks to be disclosed in the 2020
Annuai Report and other key areas of focus for the external audit

- Reviewed the preliminary audit plan for 2020 presented by the
external auditor

- Received updates on Business Assurance activity and the
Group’s key risks

- Reviewed progress in developing Channel 4's Internal Audit
‘universe’

- Received updates on Information Security and related risks

Janvary 2021 meeting

- Confirmed with the external auditor the key audit risks to be
disclosed inthe 2020 Annual Report and discussed the external
auditor's progress to date on the 2020 audit

- Received updates on the Group's tax status and reviewed
updates to the Treasury policy

- Reassessed the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Corporation and the mitigating actions in place, following a
detailed exercise to fully refresh the risks identified by the Group
and ensure this reflects both the current external environment
and the Group’s new strategy

- Reviewed and approved the Business Assurance plan for 2021

- Discussed the findings of the 2020 Board Effectiveness Review
with regard to the Audit Committee and suggested actions
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Key avdit risks

After discussions with both management and the external auditor,
the Audit Committee determinedthat the key risks in relation to
misstatement of the Corporation’s 2020 financial statements
related to revenue recognition and the use of the going concern
assumption.

These key risks were discussed while the audit strategy was being
reviewed and at the conclusion of the audit of these financial
statements.

Revenue recognition

Advertising revenue is recognised on transmission of the
advertisement while sponsorship revenue is recognised on a
straight-line basis in accordance with the transmission schedule
for each sponsorship campaign. Although revenue is processed
through avtomated transactional processes and the general
accounting policy is not complex, there are occasions where
judgementis required around the timing and value of revenue.

Certain advertising revenues are recognised from barter and other
similar contractual arrangements and revenues are measured with
reference to the fair value of the goods or services received.
Judgement is required in assessing the fair valve of the goods or
services received,

Total revenue for 2020 was £934 million, as detailed in note 1

to the financial statements. The revenue recognition accounting
policies of the Corporation are disclosed on page 187. The
accounting treatment for new or unusval revenue contracts is
reviewed and presented by management to the Audit Committee.

The Committee reviews the accounting treatment for any

material revenue streams where significant judgement is applied.
Management also provided papers explaining the accounting
treatment to the auditor during the 2020 financial audit. The
Committee has reviewed the results of management’s judgements
in respect of revenue recognition at the balance sheet date, and

is satisfied that the procedures performed and the assumptions
made were rebust.

On the basis of its audit work, the auditor considered that the
value of revenue recognised was appropriate in the context of the
materiality of the financial statements as awhole.

Going concern

Giventhe impact of Covid-19 onthe TV advertising market,
particularly in the first half of 2020, the Committee considerad

an elevated risk around the use of the going concern assumption

for the 2020 audit. They noted in particular the risk to the valuation
of the Group's balance sheet assets in light of the economic
downturn, as well as the challenges posed to accurate management
forecasting given the fast-moving nature of developmentsin the
pandemic and uncertainty around the timing of recovery.

The Committee has reviewed regular updates during the year
regarding the Group's latest financial outlook, noting that the
advertising market recovered significantly over HZ 2020, allowing
the Group to record a surplus of £74 million and reinforcing an
already strong balance sheet position.

On the basis of its avdit work, the auditor considered that the use of

the going concern assumption was appropriate for the 2020
financial statements.
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of

estimation uncertainty

The Audit Committee received updates from both management
and the external auditor with regard to the estimation uncertainty
around the Group's deferred tax assets, which are recognised to
the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which these can be recognised. Management applies
estimates in calculating the deferred tax assets with regard to
future taxable surpluses, meaning significant changes in forecast
profitability could lead to a material change in the valuaticn of
these assets. The Committee noted the additional complexity

in assessing future profitability given the current circumstances
of the pandemic.

The Committee has also received confirmation that management
continues to make other critical accounting judgements in line
with previous years relating to the programme and film rights
amaortisation profile and the valuation of film rights held for
exploitation, as well as in the application of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

to the Group's satellite transponder contracts.

Misstatements

Management confirmed to the Committee that it was not

aware of any material misstatements orimmaterial misstatements
made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation. The auditor
reported to the Committee all misstatements that it found in the
course of its work over the reporting threshold previously agreed
with the Committee. No material misstatements remain unadjusted.

After reviewing the presentations and reports from management
and consulting where necessary with the auditor, the Committeeis
satisfied that the financial statements appropriately address the
critical judgements and key estimates, both inrespectto the
amounts reparted and the disclosures. The Committee is also
satisfied that the significant assumptions used for determining the
value of assets and liabilities have been appropriately scrutinised
and challenged and are sufficiently robust.

Fair, balanced and understandable

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that the Annual Report and
financial statements, when considered as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the information
necessary for stakeholders to assess the Corporation’s position,
performance, business model and strategy.

External audit

Audit tender

Deloitte LLP was appointed as external auditor for the audit of
the financial statements in 2017 and Kate Houldsworth began her
tenure as audit partner at that point. The Audit Committee does
not expect to carry out an audit tender process in the short term,
and anticipates that Deloitte LLP will continue as avditor for the
foreseeable future.

The Committee confirms that it is satisfied that the auditor has
fulfilled its responsibilities with diligence and professicnal
scepticism.
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Auditor independence
Channel 4 will not use its external avditor to provide other services
unless it is efficient and effective to do so and authorised by the
Chair of the Audit Committee. The Committee has also taken action
to ensure the objectivity and independence of the external auditor
is maintained. To discharge this responsibility, the Committee has:
— approved the proposed auditfee and scope of the audit;
- reviewed all non-audit fees payable to the Group’s external
auditor; and
- reviewed Deloitte LLP's annual statement to the Audit
Committee to ronfirm its independence within the meaning
of regulatory and professional requirements.

A summary of the fees earned by Deloitte LLP in respect of all
services provided in 2020 to the Corporation is shown in note 3 to
the financial statements. Other services provided by Deloitte LLP
during 2020 relate to certain permitted advisory services which
the Committee considered to be appropriate.

Audit effectiveness

The Committee has reviewed the external audit process and has

satisfied itself that it is effective by reviewing:

- the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the Group's financial
statements, including the key audit risks identified above;

- the external auditor’s reports on the Group’s draft financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020;

- the conduct of the audit through enguiries with management;

- thercbustness and perceptiveness of the external auditorin
their handling of key accounting and audit judgements identified
and in responding to questions in one-on-one meetings; and

- the effectiveness of management in preparing and carrying out the
audit and providing the external auditor with timely information.

Business Assurance

The Corporation has a Business Assurance function and the Head
of Business Assurance reports jointly to the Finance Director and
the Chair of the Audit Committee.

The Business Assurance function plays a key role in Channel 4's
crisis management and business continuity procedures, and is
closely involved in the Group’s response to the Covid-19 outbreak,
producing regular updates to the Committee to identify where the
pandemic has elevated existing business risks as well as identifying
emerging risks during the year. The Business Assurance function
also continued work to provide assurance that control processes
were appropriate and working effectively, and where necessary
recommend improvements.

The Head of Business Assurance is responsible for coordinating the
risk management framework for the Group and for taking a risk-based
approach when setting out the Business Assurance plan for the year.
To provide a wide range of expertise across a number of specialist
areas, the Head of Business Assurance supplements resources

by bringing in specialist expertise from PwC. Whistleblowing
procedures are led by the Head of Business Assurance and

reported to the Audit Committee.

This report was approved by the Board on 5 May 2021and signed
onits behalf by

Andrew Miller
Chair of the Audit Committee
5May 2021
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Members’ Remuneration Report

Chair's intreduction

During 2020, the Committee has concentrated on
ensuring appropriate remuneration decisions were taken
in conjunction with Channel 4's wider response to the
Covid-19 pandemic.

Another of the Committee’s priorities was staff wellbeing,
with the majority of employees working from home and
furlough arrangements in place for part of the year. The
Committee continved its focus on pay gap reporting with
the publication of the 2020 Pay Report in October.

Annual statement by the Chair of the Remuneration
Committee

This report sets out the activities of the Remuneration
Committee for the year ended 31 December 2020. It discloses
the remuneration policy and remuneration details for the
Executive and Non-Executive Members of the Corporation.
It has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 of the
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Greups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended in August 2013.
Channel 4's status as a statutory corporation without
shareholders means these provisions are not all directly
applicable, but the Members have decided to comply
voluntarily with the provisions to the extent that they are
relevant to Channel 4, inline with the Board’s commitment
to high standards of corporate governance.

The reportis set out in three sections: the statement by the
Chair of the Remuneration Committee, the annual report on
remuneration, and the policy report. The annual report on
remuneration provides details on remuneration relating to
2020 and other information required by the Regulations.
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The Companies Act 2006 requires the auditor to report on
certain parts of the Members’ Remuneration Report and to
state whether, inits opinion, those parts of the report have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Regulations.
The parts of the annual report on remuneration that are subject
to audit are indicated in the Auditor’s Report. The statement
by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee and the policy
report are not subject to audit.

The Remuneration Committee oversees all aspects of pay

for the Executive Members and staff of Channel 4, reviewing
proposals for the overall annual pay awards and variable pay
schemes applicable to all staff, and the details of remuneration
packages for the Executive team. The Committee’s
recommendations and decisions in 2020 reflect its
remuneration policy, which is designed to enable Channel 4

to attract, motivate and retain high-calibre staff by offering
both fixed and variable pay to reward commercial and creative
success, while being sensitive to Channel 4's positionasa
public service broadcaster.

Where Executive Members or senior management are involved
in advising or supporting the Remuneration Committee, care is
takentorecognise and avoid conflicts of interest. No Executive
Members attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee at
times when any aspect of his or her individual remuneration,
benefits or terms of employment are being discussed.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee

During 2020, the Remuneration Committee comptised Stewart
Purvis (Chair until the end of his term in September 2020 and
who subsequently remained as a member of the Committee),
Lord Chris Holmes (who began his term as Chair in November
2020), Fru Hazlitt twho stood in as interim Chair between
these terms) and Roly Keating {who joined the Committee

in November 2020). All the members of the Committee are
independent Non-Executive Members. The Chair of the Board,
the Chief Executive, the Director of People, the Chief Operating
Officer and the Corporation Secretary attended mestings by
invitation as appropriate.
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Responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are:

- torecommend tc the Board the level of any average annval
salaryincreases and variable pay awards and the structure
of remuneration;

- torecommend tc the Board the structure of the annual
Corporate Variable Pay and Advertising Sales Schemes and
to review progress against the targets set for the schemes;

- toreview any other aspect of HR strategy or performance as
appropriate; and

- toreviewany athersignificant change in Channet 4’s
remuneration arrangements and policies,

The Chalr of the Remuneration Committee reports to the Board on
the Remuneration Committee’s discussions and recommendations,
and brings to the Board's attention any matters of an unusval or
sensitive nature.

Activities of the Remuneration Committee

The Committee’s work in 2020 and 20217 to date included making

an award recommendation to the Board for the Corporate Variable

Pay Scheme inrespect of 2020, and reviewing the structure and

appropriateness of the Corporate Variable Pay and Advertising

Sales Schemes for 2021:

- Thevariable pay award for 2020 and the details of the Corporate
Variable Pay Scheme are detailed on pages 16810 171

- InJanuary 2020, the Committee reviewed the framework
and agreed the 2020 corporate objectives for the Cerporate
Variable Pay Scheme to ensure performance achievement
was appropriately linked to scheme rewards. These target
and measyure in equal weighting key corporate metrics {linear
and digital viewing targets and financial performance), strategic
objectives (digital transformation, inclusion and diversity and
creative success) and personal objectives.

- InJanuary 2020, after careful consideration and review, the
Committee agreed that an average pay award of 1.5% would
be made to all staff effective 1 March 2020. This refiected an
average pay award of 1% for the Executive and Leadership teams
and 2% for other staff. They also recommended an average
award of 85% of the maximum opportunity under the Corporate
Variable Pay Scheme for 2019.

- InApril 2020, the Committee reviewed and approved preposals
for temporary voluntary pay cuts of 20% for the Executive and
Non-Executive Members as part of the Corporation’s response
to a substantial fallin revenues during the initial Covid-19
outbreak, as well as a temporary suspension of the Corporate
Variable Pay Scheme for the Executive Members

- InJune 2020 the Committee confirmed that previously agreed
salaries would be reinstated from 1 July 2020, reflecting the
improvement in the advertising market since the cuts were
initiatly made

- InNovember 2020, the Committee reviewed the proposed
corporate objectives for 2021, aimed at tracking detivery against
the Channel's remit and levels of staff engagement, in addition
to key financial and viewing measures. These objectives were
approved by the Committee in Januvary 2021.

- InJanuary 2021, the Committee approved an average pay award
of1.5% to be made across Channel 4 effective from 1March 2021.
It was also confirmed that no repayment of salary foregone by
the Members would be made for the period from April 2020 to
June 2020.

- InFebruary 2021, after careful consideration, the Committee
agreed to reinstate the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme for
Executive Members, and approved their 2020 variable pay as
well as a 2021 pay award in line with the rest of the business

During 2020, the Committee agreed adjustments to existing
Executive remuneration for Jonathan Allanin light of hisnew
responsibilities as Chief Operating Officer from February 2020 (see
page 148). In January 2021, it approved changes to remuneration for
lan Katz reflecting increased responsibilities.

The Committee also received regular updates throughout 2020 on
the impact on Channel 4 employees of widespread home working
and use of the furlough scheme over part of the year.

Pay Report 2020

The ‘Channel 4 Pay Report 2020" was published in October 2020,
and included ethnically-diverse, LGBT+ and disability pay data
within its scope as a reflection of Channel 4’s commitment to
inclusion and diversity. This reporting was in addition to the gender
pay reporting required by the Equality Act.

The report showed areduction in the mean gender pay gap of 1.6%
year-on-year, to 21.5% in March 2020 (2019: 23.1%) - down 7.1% since
Channel 4 started reporting on the gender pay gap in 2017. While this
decrease indicates steps in the right direction, the main drivers of the
gender pay gap remain the same: the lower half of the organisation is
comprised of 65.6% women compared to 47.4% in the upper half.
Channel 4 continues to target a 50:50 gender balance in the top 100
earners by 2023, and the proportion of senior women in the business
has grown slightly to 44 in March 2020 {(March 2012: 43).

The report also revealed a mean ethnically-diverse pay gap of
15.3% at March 2020, substantially down from 19.0% in 2019. Just
as with our gender pay gap, there are two factors that drive the
ethnically-diverse pay gap: a lower representation at senior levels
and a higher representation at junicr levels. By 2023, Channel 4’s
target is to have 20% ethnically-diverse employees across

Channel 4 and in the top 100 paid. The number of ethnically-diverse
employees in the top 100 earners was down slightly to 14 in March
2020 {March 2019: 15).

Channel 4 reported an LGBT+ pay gap of 10.6% at March 2020,
again a substantial reduction from 17.7% in 2019. The gap remains
driven, as in other diversity groups, by having fewer employees
identifying as LGBT+ in the most senior roles.

Regrettably, the report showed anincrease in the mean disability
pay gap from 0.4% in 201910 12.6%in 2020. As the number of
employees with disabilities is relatively small compared to the
overall number of employees, the disability pay gap can be
significantly affected when a small number of employees in the
upper quartiles leave the business, as was the case in 2020. The
median disability pay gap has, however, decreased from 7.6% in
201910 5.2%in 2020, suggesting that the distribution of employees
with disabilities has improved.

To help drive change throughout the organisation and develop our
approach to targeting these pay gaps, Channel 4 named its Chief
Marketing Officer, Zaid Al-Qassab, as Executive Sponsor for
Inclusion and Diversity, as well as appointing a dedicated Inclusion
and Diversity Lead.
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Remuneration Report

The following provisions on this page are subject to audit
The remuneration of the Executive Members for the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019 is made up as follows:

Taxable Total Variable Totalfor Taxable Total  Vanable Total for
£000 Salary  benefits  Pension fixed pay 2020 Salary  benefits  Pensior fixed pay 2019
Alex Mahon 555 2 141 698 293 291 578 2 116 696 247 943
Jonathan Allan 459 1 36 496 194 690 448 1 38 485 205 690
lan Katz 347 1 42 390 146 536 360 1 44 405 123 528
Total 1,361 4 219 1,584 633 2217 1,384 4 198 1586 575 2161

The figures in the table above represent the gross amounts received by Executive Members in 2020 and 2019, after taking account of
salary increases during the year where applicable and salary reductions between April and June 2020 (both of which are cutlined in more
detail on page 167).

In2020 and 2019, ail of the Executive Members received pension benefits in the form of cash payments.

In 2019, Jonathan Allan’s variable pay was split between the Advertising Sales S5cheme and the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme, Following
a change in role in 2020 his variable pay is no longer split between the two schemes and he participates in the Corporate Variable Pay
Scheme only.

Taxable benefits includes private medical insurance for all Executive Members,

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Members for the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

2020 salary 2019 salary

£000 and fees and fees
Charles Gurassa 90 95
Lord Chris Holmes 17 30
Stewart Purvis 22 22
Andrew Miller {term commenced on 1June 2020) 14 -
Simon Bax {term concluded on 4 December 2019) - 20
Paul Geddes 24 22
Althea Efunshile 2 22
Uzma Hasan 21 22
Fru Hazlitt 21 22
Tom Hooper 21 22
Roly Keating 2] 22
Total 272 299

No detailed disclosure has been provided for the Non-Execytive Members other than that relating to their fees, as itis the only form of
remuneration they receive.

Variable pay
During the year, the Committee regularly monitored performance as part of its oversight of variable pay across the business. The
Committee metin February 2021 to agree on a recommendaticn to the Board on variable pay once results for the year were available.

Corporate Variable Pay Scheme outline

The Corporation’s business model and strategy are set out in the Strategic Report on page 132. The Corporate Variable Pay Scheme has
been designed specifically to link variable pay with the business model, with specific corporate objectives setin January 2021 (focused on
share of commercial impacts ('SOCt'), programme streaming views and continued financial sustainability) which were used as key
performance measures for the scheme for the year.

Achievement of at least the budgeted surplus or deficit before tax for the year and Ofcom licence requirements is a condition for any
element of the scheme to pay out to staff. There may be circumstances where additional strategic or content investments are made or
accounting adjustments arising from one-off events occur in the year which means the budgeted surplus or deficit before tax is adjusted for
the purpose of the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme award, as agreed by the Board. Where this is the case, the surplus or deficit before tax
ismeasured against the adjusted budget so that the financial impact of suchitems can be considered.
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Most staff and the Executive team participate in the Corporate
Variable Pay Scheme, where the amounts provided can be up to
10% of total gross salary for staff, 20% for Heads of Department and
between 30% and 50% for the Executive team. These percentages
represent the maximum average amount that can be provided
across each employee category. Actual awards for each staff
member may vary from the average in certain years to reflect their
individual achievement against personal performance objectives.

Process for determining variable pay

Te decide how much variahle pay should be provided each year, the
Remuneration Committee reviews business performance using a
monthly performance dashboard and report which tracks
performance across a range of qualitative and quantitative metrics.
Where relevant, performance versus competitors against the same
metrics is also a key part of the Committee’s deliberations. The
Committee also monitors progress against the corporate objectives
set for the year and considers a report written by the Chief Executive
in conjunction with othersin the Executive team, describing how the
Corporation has performed.

The scheme is based on a mix of both qualitative and quantitative
information, and a degree of judgement is required around certain
creative performance measures, The weighting allocated to each
corporate objective in a given year is at the discretion of the
Committee.

After due consideration of performance during the year, the
Remuneration Committee makes a judgement on the overall
performance for the year and proposes an amount, based on what
it considers the average payout across the Corporation should be
forthe year. The Committee produces a narrative assessment of its
evaluation which is then presented to the Board, which has the final
approval of any payout. The Committee will review the Corporate
Variahle Pay Scheme each year to ensure it remains appropriate.

Variable pay decision for 2020

It was reported that the first gateway to the scheme - meeting the
Ofcom licence requirements - had been met, despite obstacles to
production posed by tockdown restrictions and the spending
reductions necessitated in response to the pandemic. The Group's
record financial results for the year ensured that the second
gateway, of achieving the budgeted result for the year, was clearly
exceeded despite the financial impact of Covid-19.

The Committee’s assessment was based on a detailed review of
alithe information available ta it, including the CEQ and Executive
team’s 2020 end-of-year report, the Corporation’s perfermance
across a wide range of performance metrics and the progress

and achievement of the corporate objectives set for the year,
particularly in the context of the unforeseen challenges 2020

had posed to Channel 4. An extract of the performance metrics
considered by the Remuneration Committee s set cut on pages
218 to 220 and includes programme quality, creative achievements,
linear and digital viewing performance, commercial impact
performance in key demographics and financial and commercial
performance. The creative achievements and financial results are
also outlined in detail throughout this Annual Report.

The Committee reflected that there had been a clearer focus than
ever before on setting and communicating clear, Corperation-wide
objectives for 2020, focused on three areas: Channe! 4's SOCI
across its portfolic, growing views on All 4, and continued financial
sustainability (assessed onthe Group's pre-tax result).

SOC! performance for the year was very strong, with portfolio
SOClfor both 16-34-year-olds and ABC's up year-on-year (see our
Key Performance Indicators on page 135). Notably, Channel 4 saw
higher year-on-year SOC| growth among our key 16-34-year-olds
demographic than any other channel during 2020,

All 4 viewing outperformed our target to exceed one billion views
for the first time ever in 2020, finighing the year with 1,253 million
views (see our Key Performance Indicators on page 135).
16-34-year-olds account for just under half of monthly average
viewers on All 4, and we now have shows where the majority

of young viewing is on All 4.

Financially, the Corporation finished the year with the largest
surplus in its history, putting it in a strong position to face any
further volatility in 2021. These results also meant that 2020 saw a
positive contribution to Channel 4's cash reserves for the first time
since 2015. While the Corporation’s £75 millicn revolving credit
facility was drawn down in full in March 2020 to ensure sufficient
liguidity in the business as it responded to the pandemic, none of
this funding was utilised during the year. By late 2020 Channel 4
was also in a position to repay in full the payments received under
the Corenavirus Job Retention Scheme earlier in the year, further
underlining its financial sustainability and self-sufficiency.

The Committee acknowledged that while at the start of the year it

had anticipated a third successive year of transformation within

Channel 4, aimed at bringing the Corporation’s operations and

culture truly into line with the Channel’s digital focus as well

as continuing to build on its 4 All the UK programme, 2020 had

brought an additional and unprecedented set of challenges to take

on. Here the Committee recognised two achievements in

particular:

- Channel 4's creative response to the pandemic

- Its operational response, and in particular the hard work and
dedication of its staff

2020 had confronted the commissioning team with challenges on
three fronts — replacing more than 800 hours of Covid-disrupted
programming, responding editorially to the most dramatic
international crisis of recent times, and identifying up to £150
million of cuts from the content budget if required to mitigate a
substantialimpact on advertising revenue. The Committee agreed
that two key editorial pricrities - to reflect the human impact of the
pandemic on the country, and to help our audiences get through
lockdown - had resulted in a creative response that had been
second to none.
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Channel 4 News's coverage of the pandemic saw it attract record
audiences across 2020 - up17% for individuals and up 43% for
16-34-year-olds with haif a billion views of our coverage on social
platforms. Most signihicantly, Ofcom found Channel 4 News to be
the most trusted media source of information on the pandemic.
Meanwhile, Channel 4's ‘Stay at Home Academy’ shows - from
Jamie’s Keep Cooking and Carry On (en air within days of the first
lockdown being announced) to Grayson's Art Club, the
hreakthrough hit of lockdown programming - created a real
audience connection during a dramatic shared experience.

The significant effort that went into keeping cur major shows onar,
or producing them as soon as conditions allowed, was also noted
by the Committee, as was the fact that this was rewarded with
record audiences for many of our biggest titles, Despite being
produced in difficult circumstances and without a studic audience,
Taskmaster made a hugely successful debut in our line-up, more
than doubling its audience as it moved over from Dave and helping
us to record three of the biggest young audiences across all
channeis in its launch week. Meanwhile, a major focus for the
commissioning team through the spring and summer was how to
produce The Great British Boke Off, and this was rewarded with
the biggest audiences for the series ever, and the biggest overnight
Channel 4 audience onrecord for the final.

The Committee considered the Corporation’s 2020 performance
across the range of its Statement of Media Content Policy ('SMCP')
metrics (pages 83 tc 119} and determined that 2020 had
represented ancther successful year of remit delivery. The
Corporation maintained its strong lead over other broadcasters
across arange of the SMCP metrics, in spite of hurdles to
production posed by Covid-19 and significantly lower originated
content spend than in previous years — down to £370 millionin
2020, compared with £492 million in 2019, As the advertising
market recovered in the later part of the year, we were able to
reinvest additional revenues in commissioning, ensuring cuts to
the content budget were less steep than originally envisaged in
ourinitial response to the pandemic,

Channel 4 won an impressive array of awards in 2020, across
multiple genres, with more Broadcast Awards, BAFTAs, Griersons
and Edinburgh International Festival Awards than any other single
channel, including BAFTAs for both best drama series, End of the
F***ing World and best comedy series, Stath Lets Flats. Winning
‘Best Video On Demand Service’ atthe Edinburgh TV Awards
reflected an exceptional year for All 4. Film4 ended the yearona
high with 52 nominations for the British Independent Film Awards,
including a BIFA record 17 for Saint Maud and three of the four most
highly nominated films.

The renewedfocus on Channel 4's commitment to inclusion and
diversity, in light of the killing of George Floyd and the subsequent
wave of protests around the world, was also recognised. As well
as an on-screen response including shows such as The Talk, The
School That Tried to End Rocism, and our strongest Black History
Month yet, off screen we set out our six-point commitments to
being an anti-racist organisation. The Committee noted the recent
investment in Proper Content, a ethnically-diverse-led indie, as
well as the faunch of our ethnically-diverse-led Indie Accelerator
Fund and planning underway for the ambitious Black to Front Day
next autumn. The Corporation had also reaffirmed its commitment
to disability talent on and off screen, signing up to The Valuable 500
and committing to CDN's Doubling Disability plan.
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Lower statf turnover as a result of Covid-19 slowed progress in
increasing the diversity of our employee base. Nevertheless, we
remained stable in our makeup with 17% ethnically-diverse (vs a
20% target for 2023), 10% with a disability [vs a 12% target), and 8%
LGBT+ {already ahead of cur 6% target). Importantly, all but one of
our pay gaps reduced this year, reflecting the efforts we have made
to facilitate transparent pay and bonus data. Top 100 figures have
remained mainty stahle throughout the year - female at 45% and
ethnically-diverse at 12% as at Decemper 2020,

Continuing progress on the 4 All the UK programme was reviewed,
including the formal opening of the Bristol office in Finzels Reach
atthe start of 2020. Work also continued on our commitment to
enable the growth of small, emerging indies across the UK, with
further Nations and Regions investment through our Indie Growth
Fund and the announcement of the Emerging Indie Fund. 4Skills
launched on the first anniversary of cur move to Leeds, with the aim
of bringing together external training and development and in
particular supercharging efforts ouvtside London.

In terms of operational transformation, the Committee
acknowledged that work already in progress on strengthening
project and investment management was quickly apptied as
Covid-19 hit to ensure close monitoring of the situation, set revised
financial targets across the organisation and install a carefully
gated approach to reinvestment as the crisis progressed. There was
also a clear ambiticn to improve employee engagement through

a more meaningful dialogue with the wider leadership team, which
was only amplified by the move to home working. The frequency

of leadership sessions had increased, with the topics covered
becoming sighificantly broader, and more of the leadership team
involved. Staff engagement has been further boosted with regular
all-staff MS Teams sessions, weekiy emails, greater use of the
intranet and team meetings, with the results of this evident in
recent staff surveys.

After a careful and detailed consideration, following a strong year
of creative, commercial and financial performance in response to
aonce-in-a-generation challenge, and as areflection of Channel 4
staff’s dedication during a difficult period, the Committee
recommended that it was apprepriate to set the award for 2020 at
the maximum opportunity under the Corporate Variable Pay
Scheme.

Advertising Sales Scheme

Staff working within advertising sales have a separate Advertising
Sales Scheme, linked to advertising revenue and paid biannually
based on performance. They are not eligible for the Corporate
Variable Pay Scheme,
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The following provisions on this poge marked with * are subject
to audit

Variable pay awards to Executive Members*

The Committee made the following awards to Executive Members

inrespect of 2020 performance:

- AlexMahon was awarded an amount of 50% of year-end salary
underthe Corporate Variable Fay Scheme

- Jonathan Allan was awarded an amount of 40% of year-end
salary under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme

- lan Katz was awarded an amonnt nf 40% of year-end salary
under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme

Taxable benefits*

Executive Members are eligible for arange of taxable benefits,
which can include a pension allowance and membership of a private
medical insurance scheme (which is provided to all staff). No
expenses claimed by Executive Members were chargeable to UK
income tax as they were incurred wholly for the purposes of the
business of the Corporation.

Pension*

The Corporation has two pension schemes: a defined contribution
scheme cpen to all staff, and a defined benefit scheme which is
closed to new entrants and closed to future accrual from
31December2015. Further details relating to the defined benefit
planare provided in note 18 to the financiat statements.

All of the Executive Members received cash payments in lieu of
pension benefits in 2020.

Non-Executive Members are not eligible for membership of either
pension scheme,

CEQ remuneration table

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of
the CEO and the Corporation’s employees as a whole between the
years 2019 and 2020:

CEO All staff’
Salary and fees -4% +1%
Variable pay +18% +24%
Total +5% +4%

1 All staff includes the CEQ but excludes the costs of a smail number of on-screen talent
who are remunerated via Channeld's payroll Thisis consistent withthe information in
note 4 to the financial statements.

The Group is not presenting a table on CEO pay in comparison to
Total Shareholder Return as itis a statutory corporation without
shareholders and the requirements are therefore not applicable.

The ratio of remuneration for the highest paid Executive member
{the CEO) in comparison with the median employee is shown in
Note 4 to the financial statements an page 193.

Payment for loss of office*

No payments were made for loss of office in 2020 to Executive
Members, and atthe balance sheet date there were no provisions
made for compensation payable for early termination of contracts
or loss of office to Executive Members.

Payment to past Members*
No payments to past Members were made in 2020.

Members’ service contracts

Members’ service contracts are kept available forinspection at
the Corporation’s Head Office, 124 Horseferry Road, London
SWIP 2TX.

Relative importance of spend on pay
The graph below shows the actual expenditure of the Group and the
change between the current and previous years.

Total £90m
Employee

pay(+6%) £86m
Total cost of

and sales {-15%) £967m

W zoze Wz0m
The Members have chosen the change in total cost of transmission
and sales as disclosed on the face of the income statement as the
comparative measure for relative spend on pay as it is considered
to be the most significant indicator in understanding total
Corporation expenditure year-on-year in light of its new Future4
strategy announced inlate 2020. Employee pay was approximately
11% (2019: 9%) of total cost of transmission and sales, with the
increase in this metric driven by non-staff cost savings as part of our
response to Covid-19.

Total employee pay is detailed in note 4 to the financial statements.

This report was approved by the Board on 5 May 2021 and signed
on its behalf by

Lord Chris Holmes

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
5 May 2021
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Remuneration policy for 2021

The remuneration of Executive Members is determined by the Remuneration Committee, the membership and terms of reference of which
are detailed on pages 166 to 167, In framing its remuneration policy, the Committee has given full consideration to the best practice
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code. There have been no significant changes to the remuneration policy for 2020 except

as noted below.

Future policy table
The tollowing table sets out the key components of the remuneration package for Executive Members:

How this supports the Performance
Compenent  strategic aims of the Group How this operates Maximum amount payable measures
Salary Salaries are paid monthly. Annual salaries for the year to 31 December None.
2027 are approved as follows:
The Remuneration Committee discusses - AlexMahon - increase from £586,135 to
the performance of each Member with £594,927 with effect from 1 March 2021
the Chair of the Board and with the Chief - lanKatz - increase from E365,550tc
Executive for other Executive Members, £415,550 with eftect from 1 March 2021
- Jonathan Allan - increase from £486,000
to £493,290 with effect from 1 March 2021
Salaries are usvally reviewed annually
inthefirst quarter of the year.
Jaxable Offering competitive The Corporation offers a range of benefitsto  The value of private medical insurance in None.
benefits remuneration packages all staff, including private medical insurance. 2021is expected torange from £1,000
helps the Corporation Other benefits, such as life assurance, are to £2,000 for Executive Members.
attract, motivate and available through a flexible benefits scheme.
retain a high-calibre
Executive team.
Pensicns The Corporation currently offers a defined Allof the Executive Members receive cash None.
contribution pensicn scheme for new staff. payments in lieu of pension benefits and are
not members of the defined contribution
Certain Executive Members also receive or previous defined benefit schemes.
cash payments in lieu of pension benefits.
Variable All of the Executive team participate in the The Corporate Variable Pay Scheme will Performance
pay Corporate Variable Pay Scheme. Payoutis pay between 40% and 50% of total gross measures of
determined annually by the Remuneration salary for the Executive Members. the schemes
Committee shortly after the financial are set out
year end based on performance and on pages
paid in March following the year end. 16810171,

None of the components of remuneration contain any provisions for recovery of sums paid.

There are no other differences between the Corporatien’s policy onthe remuneraticn of Directors and the policy on the remuneration of
other employees.

The following table sets out the key components of the remuneration package for Non-Executive Members:
Operation

Component Purpose

Fees are set by Ofcom, paid monthly and
reviewed periodically.

The Non-Executive Members constructively challenge
and help develop proposals on strategy, and bring strong,
independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the
Board’s deliberations.

Fees

Annual fees for the year to 31 December 2021 are
expectedtobe:

Chair - £95,000

Deputy Chair - £29,940

Committee Chairs - £25177

Other Non-Executive Members - £22177

Non-Executive Members are appointed by Ofcom and service contracts are subject to fixed terms of a maximum of three years. Fees for
Non-Executive Members do not contain any provisions for recovery of sums paid. No other components of remuneration are available
for Non-Executive Members.

Non-Executive Members are entitled to reimbursement of travel and accommodation expenses incurred in connection with attending
Board and other meetings in relation to fulfilling their duties.
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Remuneration policy framework

The Corporation looks to attract, retain and motivate the best people in the market. Te be able to do this, it looks to offer afair and
competitive rewards package. The Committee will seek to align the remuneration package offered to new Executive Members with the
policy, which will involve determining remuneration appropriate and necessary to recruit and retain the individual. A summary of the policy
is set out below:

Fixed remuneration Base salary is benchmarked against the external market and broadly aligned to market median.

Variable remuneration  Awards under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme are limited to between 50% and 40% of base salary for the
Chief Executive and other Executive Members.

Benefits Executive Members are provided with private medicalinsurance, life assurance, Group income protection and
health screening. Ail other benefits are provided on a voluntary basis.

The Cerporation has a standard pension contribution scale but will consider paying a cash alternative
depending on individual circumstances.

The Corporation will pay legal fees incurred by any new Executive Member in respect of their appointment.

Internal promotions Inthe event that an internal candidate was promoted to the Board, legacy terms and conditions would normally
be honoured, including pension entitlements.

The Committee monitors the effectiveness of Executive Member remuneration and has regard te the impact and compatibility with
remuneration pelicies in the wider workforce. During the year the Committee is provided with information regarding pay in the wider
workforce which gives additional context for the Committee te make informed decisions. The Committee determines the overall approach
for salary and variable pay for the overall workforce and similar principles are applied when considering Executive Member arrangements.

Policy on payment for loss of office
The service contracts of all the Executive Members are subject to notice perieds of one year or less. The Committee’s policy is to make
payments in line with contractual obligations covering paymentin lieu of notice including base salary and other benefits.

The Remuneration Committee will consider what compensation commitments (including pension contributions and all other elements)
the Executive Members' terms of appointment would entail in the event of early termination. The aim of this is to avoid rewarding
poor performance.

Illustration of application of remuneration policy
The graphs below represent the variations in the remuneration at different levels of performance for the 2021 remuneration policy for the
Executive Members.

Chief Executive Officer Director of Programming
Minimum Minimum
fEAEN s

In line with Inling with 76%
expectations (£1,008k} expectations (£598k)
Maximum Maximum
{£1.041) (£616k}
& Fixed M Annualvariable B Fixes M Annual variable

Chief Operating Officer

Minimum
(£529k)

Inline with
expectations (£705k)

Maximum
{E727k)

8 Fixed M Annualvariable

The variable element of total remyneration in relation to ‘in line with expectations’ reflects the average award under the Corporate Variable
Pay Scheme over the last five years.

Audited information

The Members’ Remuneration Report (pages 166 to 173), where indicated, has been audited by the Corporation’s auditor in accordance
with Schedule 8 of the Companies Act 2006 as if those requirements were to apply to the Corporation.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport on Channel Four
Television Corporation

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion

In our epinion:

- thefinancial statements of Channet Four Television Corporation (the ‘Corporation’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’} give a true and
fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Corporation’s affairs as at 371 December 2020 and of the Group’s surplus for the year
then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union;

- the Corporation financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generaily Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’; and

- thefinancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (as if it were to apply
to the Corporation).

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

- the consolidated income statement;

- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

- the consolidated and Corporation statements of changes in equity;

- the consolidated and Corporation balance sheets;

- the consolidated cash flow statement;

- the Group and Corporation accounting policies;

- therelated notes 1to 21to the consolidated financial statements; and
- therelated notes 1to 7 to the Corporation financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Corporation financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 'Reduced Disciosure Framework’ (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described inthe auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of cur report.

We are independent of the Group and the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to public interest
entities, and we have fulfilled cur other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-avdit services provided to
the Group for the year are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's
Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Corporation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our epinion.

While the Corporation is not a public interest entity subject to European Regulation 537/2014, the members have decided that the
Corporation should follow the same requirements as if that Regulation applied to the Corporation.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
- Accounting for non-cash revenue; and
- The going concern basis of accounting.

Within this report, key audit matters are igentified as follows:
Newly identified

@ Increased level of risk

(D) similarlevel of risk

@ Decreased level of risk

Moateriality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £2.0 million which was determined by
considering two key metrics, revenue and total assets. Thisis arevised approach from the prior year, when
materiality was determined based on 1% of revenue.

Scoping We audited the Group as a single component, covering 100% of net assets, revenue and profit before tax.

Significant changes  There have been no significant changes to our approach, with the exception of the change in our materiality
in our approach approach.
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4. Conclusions reloting to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting is discussed in section 5.2.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concernfora
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Inrelation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or
draw attention to in relation to the members’ stalementin Lhe linancial statements about whether the members considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our respensibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of rescurces in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Accounting for non-cash revenue @

Key audit matter The Corporaticn earns a significant portion of its revenues from TV advertising, for which most contracts are

description standard and the recognition of such revenue is processed through avtomated transactional processes. There is
asub-set of contracts which have non-standard terms, Including those which include barter arrangements in
relation to the transfer of non-cash consideration in exchange for the advertising airtime provided. This typically
includes consideration such as programme rights or equity investments.

As a result of the nature of these contracts, there is significant judgement invelved in determining the valvation
of non-cash items. This year we have focussed on these contracts where programme rights are received. We
therefore identified a key audit matter relating to the risk of inaccurate revenue accounting for these contracts,
whether due to error or fraud.

The amount of revenue which is not settled in cash was £44 million (2019: £34 million). The Corporation’s policy
inrelation to this is included in the Group Accounting Polticies on page 187. Refer to page 164 where thisis
included as a significant matter in the Audit Committee report.

How the scope We obtained an understanding of the process and tested relevant controls around non-cash revenue relating to
of our audit contracts where programme rights are received,

respondedtothe e analysed a statistical sample of contracts to identify any non-standard contractual terms to determine

key audit matter whether these were accounted for appropriately,

We selected a sample of non-standard revenue contracts, focusing on those which in our judgement had a higher
probability of error, and assessed whether the accounting treatment for these contracts was in line with their
terms, the Corporation’s accounting policy and relevant accounting standards including IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers.

We tested a sample of contracts where programme rights are received by tracing to signed contracts and
internat management approvals.

We obtained and assessed evidence to support the fair value of the non-cash consideration received. For
programming received in these barter contracts in return for advertising, we agreed consideraticn received to
programming contracts.

Key observations We consider the accounting applied to be in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenve from Contracts with Customers
and the Corporation’s accounting policy.
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5.2. The going concern basis of accounting @

Key audit matter
description

The Members are required under IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to make an assessment of the
Group’s and the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and determine whether any material uncertainties exist. In making
this assessment, management prepared forecasts and scenario planning over the going concern period which
modelled available liquidity and covenant calculations.

As aresult of the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsequent economic impact, there was significant judgement
involved in preparing the forecasts and financial models for future periods used in the going concern
assessment.

Owing to the increased level of audit effortinvelved, we identified a key audit matter in relation to the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of accounting. Further details of the Members’ assessment,
including the sensitivities applied, are included within the Strategic Report on page 147 and in the Group
Accounting Policies on page 186.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key qudit motter

We obtained an understanding of relevant controls relating to the Group'sforecasting process and the
preparation of management’s going concern modets.

We obtained management’s updated financial models used to support its going concern assumptions and
tested their numerical accuracy. We obtained and assessed evidence used to support the assumptions used
by management and considered whether reasconable downside scenarios were considered. We performed our
own sensitivity analyses to determine whether there were other reasonably possible downside scenarios which
could lead to a material uncertainty in going concern and considered whether any potential mitigations were
reasonable, realistic and within management’s control.

We obtained and read analyst reports, industry data and other external information, comparing these with
management’s estimates to determine if they provided corroborative er contradictory evidence in relation to
management’s assumptions.

We obtained and reviewed the revoiving credit facility documents to understand the nature of any financial
covenants to determine the impact on the going concern assessment and we obtained evidence of the
£75m draw down of the revolving credit facility. We considered the amount of liquidity and covenant
headroom available in management’s forecasts and we assessed the historical accuracy of forecasts
prepared by management.

Key observations

We are satisfied that management's adoption of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate and concur
that there are no material uncertainties relating to going concern.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of
areasonably knowledgeabte person would be changed or influenced. We use materiatity both in planning the scope of our audit work and
in evaluating the results of cur work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as foliows:

Group and Corporation-only financial statements

Materiality

£9.0million {2019: £9.6 million)

Basis for determining materiality We determined materiality by considering two key metrics; revenue and total assets. The determined

materiality equates 1o 0.96% of revenue and 0.95% of total assets. Thisis a revised approach from
the pricr year, when materiality was determined based on 1% of revenue.

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

As aresult of Covid-19 and the significant impact it had on the business, we considered the use

of two key metrics - revenue and total assets - rather than just one measure to be appropriate.
The benchmarks that have been chosen to determine a materiality consider both balance sheet
and income statement metrics in the current year. This provides a representation of the size of the
business, and reflects the investmentin programme content and film rights and the Corporation’s
aim is to reinvest surpluses into original content and digital inncvation.
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6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Group and Corporation performance materiality was set at
70% of Group (and Corporation) materiality for the 2020 audit (2019: 70%). In determining performance materiality, we considered the
following factors:

- Qurrisk assessment, including the quality of the control envirenment; and

- Our past experience of the avdit, which has indicated a low number of corrected and uncorrected misstatements in prier periods.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £450,000 (2012
£480,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds. We also report to the
Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including internal control, and assessing
the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to risks of material misstatements was performed directly by the audit
engagement team.

The Group maintains a single aggregated set of accounting records for all of its operations and we therefore audited the entire Group
as a single component, covering 100% of net assets, revenue and profit before tax. For the audit of the Corporation, management
deconsclidated the Group financial information in order for us to identify the relevant Corporation-only balances and transactions.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

In assessing the control environment of the Group, we obtained an understanding of the relevant IT controls associated with the
Group's key accounting and reporting system. We gained an understanding of the relevant controls asscciated with certain business
processes, being transactional advertising revenue, non-cash based revenue, programme inventory, payroll, trade payables and
trade receivables. On IT systems related to the processing of transactional advertising revenue and programme inventery, as in prior
year, we have identified certain contrel deficiencies and accordingly took a nen controls reliance approach to cur audit testing.

We planned and took a controls reliance approach in relation to non-cash based revenue. For this process we tested the relevant
controls based an a sample of control instances, determined by the frequency of the control’s operation. We did not plan to take a
controls reliance approach in the other business processes. For transactional revenue and programme inventory we would have
planned to take a controls reliance approach if we had been able to rely on the IT systems involved in their processing.

8. Otherinformation

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report including Audit We have nothing to report
Committee reporting and Members’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance inrespect of these matters.
Code, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are

responsible for the other information contained within the annuat report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclysion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
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9. Responsibilities of members

As explained more fully in the members’ responsibilities statement, the members are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the members determing is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Corporation's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
members either intend to liguidate the Group or the Corporation or to cease aperations, or have norealistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted inaccordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materiat if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonabty be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: :
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

M. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fravd

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fravd is detailed below.

1.1, Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

Inidentifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and

regulations, we considered the following:

- the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business perfermance including the design of the Group’s remuneration
policies, key drivers for members’ remuneration, bonys levels and performance targets;

- results of our enquiries of management, business assurance and the Audit Committee about their own identification and assessment of
the risks of irregularities;

- any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:
- identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-cempliance;
- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- theinternal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including IT and analytics, pensions, real
estate and tax specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As aresult of these procedures, we considered the oppartunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fravd in the accounting of non-cash revenue. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK}, we are
also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management overrice.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, fecusing on provisions of those
laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The key laws and regutations we considered in this context included the Broadcasting Act 1990, the Communications Act 2003, the
UK Companies Act and Listing rules (as if they were to apply to the Greup), pensions legislation and tax legislation.

in addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but
compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s and Corperation’s ability to operate ar to avoid a material penalty. The key
laws and regulations we considered in this context included compliance with the Ofcom Broadcasting Code, Ofcom on-demand
rules, and Advertising Standards Agency guidelines.
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11.2. Audit response to risks identified

A
fr

s aresult of performing the above, we identified the accounting of non-cash revenue as a key audit matter related to the potential risk of
aud. The key audit matters section of cur report explains the matter in mere detail and also describes the specific procedures we

performed in response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond torisks identified included the following:

reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant
laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel cencerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement
dueto fraud;

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing Business Assurance reports and reviewing correspondence
with HMRC and summaries of correspondence with Ofcom; and

in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating
the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the members’ remuneration report to be audited has been property prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, as if that Act were to apply to the Corporation,

In our opinion, based onthe work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- theinformation given in the strategic report and the members’ repert for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the strategic report and the members’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Inthe light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Corporation and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the members’ report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

Based on the work undertaken as part of cur audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate

Governance Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and cur knowledge obtained during the audit:

- the report of the members with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material
uncertainties identified set out on page 152;

- the members’ explanation as to its assessment of the group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is
appropriate set out on page 152;

- the members’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 153;

- the board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 147;

- the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out
on pages 141to 148; and

- the section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 154.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
141, Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the terms of cur engagement we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: We have nothing to report

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or in respect of these matters.
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Corporation, or returns adequate for our audit

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the Corporation financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

14.2. Members' remuneration

Under the terms of are engagement we are also required to repaert if in our opinion certain disclosures of We have nothing toreportin
members’ remuneration have not been made, or the part of the members’ remuneration repoert to be respect of these matters.
audited is notin agreement with the accounting records and returns.
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15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1. Auditor tenure

We were appointed with the approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport on 10 August 2017 to audit the
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is four years, covering the years ending 31 December 2017 to
31December 2020.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Ovr audit opinionis consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accordance with
1SAs (UK).

16. Use of ourreport

This report is made solely to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Spert, in accordance with the Broadcasting Act 1990 and the
terms of our engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Department for Digital, Culture, Mediaand
Sportthose matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Group and the Department for Digitai, Culture, Media and Sport, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Kate J Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory ouditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, UK

5 May 2021
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Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 December

2020 2019

Note £m £m

Revenuve 1 934 985
Cost of transmission and sales (825) (967)
Gross surplus 109 18
QOther operating expenditure 3 (38) (45)
Operating surplus/(deficit) 71 27
Net finance expense b ) M
Gain on sale of investments 7.8 5 4
Impairment losses on investments 7 - {2)
Surplus/{deficit) before tax 74 (28)
Income tax (expense)/credit 6 {5 1
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 69 (25)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive

income

for the year ended 31 December

2020 2018

Note £m £m

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 69 (25)
Net remeasurement surplus/{deficit) on pension scheme 19 4 (23}
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings 9 (4} 2
Deferred tax on pension scheme 12 - 6
Adjustment te non-centrolling interest 21 - (4)
Loss on revaluation of investments 7.8 (2} -
Other comprehensive expense for the year (2} (29)
Total comprehensive income/(expense} for the year 67 (54)

None of the items in other comprehensive income/expense will be reclassified to the income statement.
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Consolidated statement of changes

in equity

for the year ended 31 December

Retained earnings

Other

retained Content Revsluation Total

earnirgs rgserve reserve equity

£m £m £m £m

At January 2019 365 20 54 439
Deficit for the year (25) - - (25)
Transfer 20 20) - -
Other comprehensive (expense)/income 31 - 2 (29)
Total comprehensive expense for the year {36) (20) 2 (54)
At 31December 2019 329 - 56 385
At 1Janvary 2020 329 - 56 385
Surplus fer the year 69 - - 69
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 2 - (4} 2)
Total comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 71 - 4 67
At 31December 2020 400 - 52 452

We established a content reserve in 2014 1o ensure surpluses generated are reinvested into original centent and digital innovation in order
to maintain the relevance and reach of our remit. Our aim is to remain commercially self-sufficient in the long term. In 2019, the deficit after
tax for the year of £25 million was partially funded by a £20 million transfer from the content reserve. This transfer reflected the Group's

strategic investment during 2019 in youth and digital, and in delivering our Nations and Regions remit.
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December

2020 2013

Necte £m £m
Assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method 7 6 7
Otherinvestments 8 20 22
Property, plant and equipment 9 106 14
Right-of-use assets n 12 3
Intangible assets 10 28 30
Deferred tax assets 12 26 22
Total non-current assets 198 198
Programme and film rights 13 240 291
Trade and other receivables 14 229 179
Other financial assets 15 10 7
Cash and cash equivalents 15 166 130
Total current assets 745 607
Total assets 943 805
Liabilities
Employee benefits — pensions 19 (68) (79)
Lease liabilities 1 (12) (3)
Deferred tax liabilities 12 (5) (4
Total non-current liabilities (85) (86)
Trade and other payables 16 (326) (332)
Current tax payable (3) -
Provisions 17 @ {2}
Borrowings 15 (75) -
Total current liabilities (406) (334}
Total liabilities (491) (420)
Net assets 452 385
Revaluation reserve 52 56
Retained earnings 400 329
Total equity 452 385

The financial statements on pages 181to 211 were approved by the Members of the Board on 5 May 2027 and were signed on its

behalf by:

Charles Gurassa
Chair

Chief Executive
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December

2020 2019
Note £m £m

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus/{deficit) for the year 69 {(25)
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense/(credit) 3] 5 m
Depreciation 9 M 8 5]
Amartisation of intangibles 10 2 2
Net finance expense 5 2 1
Gain on sale of investments 7.8 (5) {4)
Impairment losses on investments 7.8 - 2

81 (19}
Decrease/{increase)in programme and film rights 13 51 {B)
Increase in trade and other receivables 14 (50) n2)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and cther payables 16 (6) 19
Increase/(decrease) in provisions, excluding unwinding of discounts 17 - 1

76 (7N
Defined benefit pensicn contributions 19 (9 an
Tax paid 6 (5) -
Net cash flow from operating activities €2 (28)
Cash flow from investing activities
Acguisition of investments 7.8 2 @ (14}
Proceeds on sale of investments 7.8 15 9
Purchase of property, plant and equipment g 3) (m
Interest received and effects of foreign exchange rates 5 - 1
(Increase)/decrease in other financial assets’ 15 103) 41
Net cash flow from investing activities (100} 26
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 15 75 -
IFR5 16 lease payments 1L 4} -
Net cash flow from financing activities 74 -
Net increases/{decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 36 (2}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Janvary 130 132
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 166 120
1 Amgunts invested in term deposits of three months or wonger and other funds with time-restricted access.
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Group accounting policies

Introduction

Channel Four Television Corporation {{Channel 4} is a statutory
corporation domiciled in the United Kingdom. The consolidated
financial statements of Channel 4 for the year ended 31 December
2020 comprise Channel 4 and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the ‘Group’) and the Group’s investments accounted for using
the eguity method. Channel 4's Company financial statements
present information relating to Channel 4 as a separate entity and
not aboutits Group.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Members
on 5 May 2021, The registered office of Channel 4 is 124 Horseferry
Road, Londen SW1P 2TX,

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared and
approved by the Members in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
{('IFRS"). The Corporation’s individual financial statements have
been prepared under the Financial Reporting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'.

The financial statements as a whole have been preparedina

form directed by the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media
and Sport with the approval of HM Treasury, and are principally
prepared under the historical cost convention (except that freehold
properties, derivatives and certain financialinstruments are stated
at fair value). In line with IFRS5 13, fair value is defined as the price
that would be received to sellan asset or paid to transfer a liability
inan orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.

The financial statements are presented in pounds Sterling, rounded
to the nearest million.

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation
uncertainty

In applying the Group's accounting policies (as described in this
section), the Members are required to make judgements (other than
those invelving estimations) that have a significantimpact onthe
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other scurces. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, orin the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (which are presented separately below), that the
Members have made inthe process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in financial statements:
- Thefollowing aspects of cur programme and film rights policy
require judgement (see further detail on page 189}
- The transmission profile over which to amortise programme
and film rights
- Assessment of programme value with reference to the guality
of programme that has ultimately been delivered and its
expected viewing performance
- Assessment of the future revenues from distribution when
evaluating the carrying value of film rights held for exploitation
- Management's application of IFRS 16 'Leases’ requires
judgement regarding the classification of transpender contracts
under the standard. Management has concluded that these
contracts do not constitute leases under the definition given by
IFRS 16, as the Group does not control these assets due to the
nature of the operation of these assets and due to certain rights
which the supplier retains based on the detailed terms provided
inthe contracts. Further details of these contracts {including
remaining term and estimated payments) are disclosed in
note 18.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the reporting peried that may have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

are discussed below:

- UnderlAS12‘Income Taxes’, deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit willbe
available against which they can be recognised. Management
applies estimates in calculating the deferred tax assets with
regard to the levet of future taxable surpluses that are expected.
The Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £26 million in
2020; significant changes to our estimation of forecast
profitability could lead to a material change in the valuation of
deferred tax assets or their derecognition.

Alternative performance measures

In reporting financial information the Group presents alternative
performance measures (‘APMs’) which are not defined or specified
underthe requirements of IFRS. The Group believes that the
presentation of APMs provides stakeholders with additional and
heipful information on the performance of the business, but does
not consider them to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS
measures. APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of
information between reporting periods, by adjusting for
uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS measures, to aid users
inunderstanding the Group’s performance.
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As areflection of the draw down of our revelving credit facility in
March 2020, the Group presents net cash reserves as an APM
which reflects the sum of the Group's cash and cash eguivalents
and other financial assets, net of cash borrowings at the balance
sheet date. This measure does not reflect the impact of other debt
held on the balance sheet such as lease liabilities under IFRS 16.
This provides stakeholders with additional relevant information
relating to the overall cash resources available to the Group, not
only those categorised as cash and cash equivalents. This APM s
calculated in 2020 and 2019 as follows:

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents 166 130
Other financial assets 10 7
Borrowings (75) -
Netcash reserves 201 137

In previous years the Group has presented its underlying operating
surplus as an APM inthe Strategic Report to provide stakeholders
with additional useful information on the underlying performance of
the business. This metric is no longer considered to reflect the way
that management and the Board monitor the Group's performance
inline with its strategy and objectives, and so has not been
reported for 2020.

Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis where the Members have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will continue in operational existence, as setoutin
the Report of the Members. As noted on page 147, while we saw
significant recovery in the advertising market as 2020 progressed,
the outiook for 2021 remains uncertain, as increased business
confidence as a result of the vaccine rollout may be offset by
continuving lockdowns, high unemployment and the impact of new
variants. This is in additian 1o ongoing challenges following the end
of the Brexit transition period.

As part of our 2021 Budget and three-year plan, we have
considered potential revenue downside scenarios arising from
the continuing pandemic, broader market shocks and lower than
expected benefits from implementing our Future4 strategy. Even
in the most severe case considered (deemed plausible but beyond
the worst-case scenario currently anticipated by management),
analysis shows that cur contingency plans would mitigate slower
revenue growth than anticipated in our base case forecasts and
ensure we remain within our existing credit facility and covenants.
Our 2020 results and response to the initial cutbreak of Covid-19
also demonstrate our ability to manage spend and cash fiows to
mitigate risks as they arise.

Our £75 million revolving credit facility {for a five-year term to
March 2023) increases our available tiquidity if required. This facility
was drawn down in full in March 2020 as part of the Group's initial
response to Covid-19, and remains drawn down as at the date of
this report to ensure maximum liquidity is available; however,

none of this additional funding has been utilised to date.

Our scenario analysis and the resources available to Channel 4
indicate that the Group will be able to continue to operate for at
least 12 months from the date that this Annual Report is approved.
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing its financial statements.
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Basis of consoclidation

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has exposure, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee by
directing the relevant activities of the investee (i.e. the activities
that significantly affect the investee’s returns). The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences to
the date that control ceases.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method. Associates are those entities over which
the Group has significant influence. Where the Group holds 20%
or more of the voting power (directly or through subsidiaries) ot an
investee, it will be presumed the Group has significant influence
unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. if the
holding is less than 20%, it will be presunted the Group does not
have significant influence unless such influence can be clearly
demonstrated. Significant influence exists when the Group has
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint
control of those policies.

Joint arrangements are those entities over whose activities

the Group has joint control. Joint controlis established by a
contractual agreement whereby the decisions about the relevant
activities (i.e. the activities that significantly affect the investee’s
returns) of the entity require the unanimous consent of the two
or more parties sharing joint control of the arrangement. A joint
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have

joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement.

Under equity accounting, the consolidated financial statements
include the Group's share of the total recognised gains and losses
of agsociates and joint ventures on an equity accounted basis,
from the date that significant influence or joint control commences
until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases or
until the associate or joint venture is classified as held for sale.

When the Graup’s share of losses exceeds its interest inan
associate orjoint venture, the Group’s carrying amount is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued,
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
anassociate or joint venture.

Intra-Group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or
income and expense arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the equity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
ofimpairment.

Accounting policies

A summary of the Group and Channel 4 significant accounting
policies that are material in the context of the financial statements
is set out on the next page. All accounting policies have been
applied consistently in all material respects to all periods
presented in these financial statements.
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Group accounting policies
(continued)

There are no new standards that became effective during 2020 that
have had a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

There are no new standards that will become effective during 2021
that are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenues are stated net of value added tax and are recognised
when a contract with a customer has becn identified and as each of
the Group's performance obligations are fulfilled. Contract assets
and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet as accrued and
deferred Income respectively. Each of the Group's significant
revenues are recognised as described below:

Linear and digital advertising revenves
Revenues are stated net of advertising agency commissions
and rebates.

Linear and digital advertising revenue are recognised on
transmission of the advertisement. Revenue from sponsorship of
the Group's programmes and films is recognised on a straight-line
basis in accordance with the transmission schedule for each
sponsorship campaign, reflecting the satisfaction of the Group’s
performance obligations.,

Commission revenue earned from advertising representation

for third parties is recognised on transmission of the related
advertisementsin line with contractual arrangements. Following
the adoption of IFRS 15 'Revenues from Contracts with Customers’
the Group reviewed its treatment of this revenue stream, concluding
that it does not control the specified goods or services in these
transactions before they are transferred to the customer, and
therefore acts as an agent for these parties. The gross advertising
sales of these arrangements are not recognised in revenue, but the
commission earned by the Group inits capacity as agent is.

Revenues are recognised from barter and other similar contractual
arrangements involving advertising when the services exchanged are
dissimilar. Revenues are measured with reference to the fair value of
the goods orservices received. Judgementis required in assessing
the fair value of the goods or services received. The total recognised
for such revenuesin 2020 is £44 million (2019: £43 million}.

Non-advertising revenues
Revenues earned from syndicating content to third-party online
platforms are typically generated from some or all of the following
contractual arrangements:
- Licence fee income - revenue is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the contract term as performance cobligations are met
- Pence-per-view or revenue share - revenues are calculated
based on the number of content views and are recognised
when the amounts can be reliably measured

Revenues generated from the exploitation of programme rights are
recognised when the rights are transferred to the customer, reflecting
the fact that the Group's performance obligations have been fulfilled.

Revenues generated from the exploitation of developed film rights
(for example, from theatrical box office releases) are recognised
when revenues can be reliably measured.

Segment reporting

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ requires the segmentinformation
presented inthe financial statements to be that which is used
internally by the chief operating decision-maker to evaluate
performance and allocate resources.

The Group has determined that the Board of Membersis its chief
operating decision-maker, and the financial statements are
presented in aggregate as a single operating segment consistent with
how the Board evaluates performance and allocates resources.

Taxation

Tax onthe surplus or deficit for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Taxis recognised in the income statement except

to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which case it is also recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.

Current taxis the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred taxis provided on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purpoeses and the amounts used for taxation purposes,

The following temporary differences are not provided for: the
initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities that affect neither acccunting nor taxable profit other
thanina business combination, and differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent

that they will probably nct reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent thatitis
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures are recognised using
the equity method, where the investment is recorded at cost

and adjusted thereafter to include the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and dividends received.

Other investments

Other investments includes equity holdings without significant
influence. Equity investments are normally carried at fair

value in accerdance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’.
Where an active market value is not available or when itis not
possible to measure fair value, the investment is recorded

at costless provision for impairment. The Members believe
that this valuation reflects a reasonable approximation of fair
value, On adopting IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ during 2018
the Group elected to recognise any changes in the fair value

of the Commercial Growth Fund investments through other
comprehensive income, reflecting the fact that the management
of these investments is not part of the Group’s core activities.
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Group accounting policies
(continued)

Property, plantand equipment

Freehold land and buildings are stated at open market valuation
(fair value) and are revalued at 31 December each year. Directions
from the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
require freehold land and buildings to be valued at current value.
The Members believe that the fair open market value approximates
the current value.

Any gain arising from a change in fair value is recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, unless the gain reverses an
impairment of the same asset previously recognised in the income
statement, in which case it is also recognised in the income
statement. Any loss arising from a change in fair value is charged
directly to other comprehensive income to the extent of any
credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus of that asset.
Ctherwise, the loss is recognised in the income statement.

Fixtures, fittings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost
or valuation of the asset evenly, on a straight-line basis, over its
estimated useful life. Useful lives are estimated taking intc account
the rate of technological change and the intensity of use of each
asset. The annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehoid buildings 2%
Computer hardware 25%-50%
Office equipment and fixtures and fittings 25%

Technical equipment 14%-25%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
forimpairment when events or other changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. Where
anindicator of impairment exists, an estimate is made of the
recoverable amount. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to the recoverable amount.

Intangible assets

Expenditure on internally developed computer software applications
is capitalised to the extent that the project is technically and
commercially feasible, sufficient resources existto complete the
development and itis probable that the asset will generate future
economic benefits. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost
of software licences, direct staff costs and consultancy costs.

Amortisation of capitalised software development costs is charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis cver the estimated
usefullives of the assets from the date that they are available for
use. For capitalised computer software, the estimated useful life is
between two and five years.

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group, including

network distribution rights, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any provision for impairment. Network
distribution rights are amortised over an estimated useful life of

16 years. Broadcast licences are amortised over auseful life of
seven years. Where assets are considered to have finite lives,
amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful life. Brand intangibles are deemed
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to have anindefinite useful life and are tested annually
forimpairment.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Groun's interest in the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liahilities of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition.

Goodwillis initially recognised as an asset at cost and subsequently
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwillis not subject to amortisation but is tested annually
forimpairment.

A gain realised on bargain purchase arising on the acguisition of an
entity represents the excess of the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition over the cost

of acquisition.

Any gain realised on bargain purchase is recognised in the income
statement inthe year that it arises.

Impairment

An impairment charge is recognised if the carrying value of

an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment charges are recognised in the
income statement {with the exception of impairments which
the Group has elected to recognise in other comprehensive
income under tFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’).

The carrying values of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to seil and its value in use. Value
in use is determined by discounting the future net cash flows for
the specific asset, or if the asset does not generate independent
cash flows, the discounted future net cash flows for the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs.

Estimates are used in deriving these cash flows and the discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the risks specific
tothe asset and the time value of money. The complexity of the
estimation process, including projected perfermance, the discount
rate and long-term growth rate applied, affects the value in use
calculation and amounts reported in the financial statements.

A cash-generating unitis the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
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Group accounting policies
(continved)

Reversal of impairments

Animpairment charge inrespect of freehold land and buildings is
reversed in the event of a subsequent increase in fair value. Such a
gainis recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the gain
reverses an impairment of the same asset previcusly recognised
inthe income statement, in which case itis also recognisedin the
income statement. Animpairment charge in respect of goodwill is
notreversed. In respect of other assets, animpairment charge is
reversed when there is an indication that the impairment may no
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable armount.

Programme and filmrights

All programme and film rights are valued at the lower of the direct
costincurred up to the balance sheet date and value to the Group.
Development expenditure is included in programme and film rights
after charging any expenditure that is not expected tc lead to a
commissioned programme, or a ‘greentit’ film, directly to the
income statement.

Programme and acquired film rights

Direct cost

Direct costis defined as payments made or due to programme
suppliers.

Payments for programme and film rights made in advance of taking
delivery and/or of the legal right to broadcast the programmes

are recorded in programme and film rights, but are separately
identified as in the course of production. Before being included

in programme rights, the rights are disclosed as contractual
commitments (see note 18).

Value to the Group

Consistent with Channel 4's business model, in which programmes
that generate more revenue cross-subsidise programmes witha
higher public but sometimes lower commercial value, the value to
the Group of the programme and acquired film rights portfolio is
assessed on an aggregate basis.

This assessment is overlaid by an evaluation of individual
programmes when there is an indicator that the value of these
specific programmes may be less than originally envisaged.
Value to the Group of individual programmes is assessed both
quatitatively and quantitatively, with reference to the quality of
programme that has ultimately been delivered and its expected
viewing performance.

In certain instances Channel 4 is committed to funding the acquisition
or production of specific pregrammes where the value to the Group
no longer warrants the level of expenditure to which the Group is
committed. Inthese instances provision is first made against the
costs incurred to date and then a liability recognised to reflect the
unavoidable costs in relation to the remaining commitment.

Amortisation

Programme and acquired film rights are exploited by transmission
onthe Channel 4 suite of channels and availability on the Group's
All 4 piatform. The cost of broadcast programmes and acquired
films are wholly written off on first transmission, except for certain
feature films, sports rights and certain acquired series, the costs
of which are written off over more than one transmission in line
with the expected value to the Group. Content exclusive to All 4

is written off in line with the anticipated viewing profile.

Developed filmrights
Direct cost
Direct costis defined as payments made or due to the film producer.

Rights are recorded on the balance sheet when the Group commits
to financing a film.

Value to the Group
Developed film rights are exploited both through broadcast on
Channel 4's suite of channels and through distribution.

Broadcast film rights are assessed in the same way as programme
and acquired film rights.

To the extent that develeped film rights are expected to generate
revenue, where Channel 4's share of distribution revenues the
filmis anticipated to earn does not support the associated cost
held within inventory, provisicn is made. The main assumptions
employed to estimate future distribution revenues are minimum
guaranteed contracted revenues and sales forecasts by territery.

Amortisation

Developed film rights expected to generate future revenues from
distribution are held on the balance sheet and expensed to the
income statement in the proportion that the revenue in the year
bears to the estimated uitimate revenue, after provision for any
anticipated shortfalt. Management has rebutted the presumption
under IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ and concluded that a revenue-
based amortisation profile is appropriate for developed film rights
as the revenue and consumption of econcmic henefits embodied
in the film rights are highly corretated and management does not
consider there to be any methodology that is more appropriate.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are reflected net of any expected
credit loss. For trade and other receivables with a remaining life
of less than one year, the Group applies the practical expedient
under IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ to assume that there is

no significant financing component, and the receivables are
therefore measured at the transaction price. All other receivables
are recognised at fair value, estimated as the present value of
future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at

the reporting date. The adoption of IFRS 9in 2018 did not have
amaterial impact on the value of the Group’s trade and other
receivables as it has no significant record of historical credit losses.

Otherfinancial assets

Other financial assets comprise deposits of three or more months’
duration and other funds with time-restricted access, and are
stated at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits
of less than three months’ duration from the date of placement,
including money market funds repayable on demand.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabi{ities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at

that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation

are recognised inthe income statement.
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Derivative financial instruments

The Group transacts primarily in Sterling but also in Euros and US
Dollars. Certain exposures to fluctuations in exchange rates are
managed by transactions in the forward forelgn exchange markets.
These derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value based
on quoted market rates. Changes in the fair value of these derivative
financial instruments are recognised in the income statement, The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Channel 4 has not sought to apply hedge accounting treatment
for any of its foreign exchange hedging activity in either of the
years presented. As aresult, changesin the fair value of hedging
instruments have beenrecognised inthe income statement as
they have arisen.

Where Channel 4 has identified forward foreign exchange
derivative instruments within certain contracts (embedded
derivatives), these have beenincluded in the balance sheet at fair
value. Fair value of these derivatives is determined by reference
to quoted market rates. The value of the derivatives is reviewed
onanannual basis or when the relevant contract matures.

Leases

The Group adopted the lessee accounting model required
under IFRS16 ‘Leases’ on 1January 2019, This removes the
distinction between finance leases and operating leases
previcusly reflected in the Group’s accounting policy.

On adoption of the standard {and at the inception of subsequent
new leases) a right-of-use asset is recognised inthe Group's
financial statements reflecting its right to control the underlying
lease assets and use them to generate future economic benefits.
A corresponding lease liability is also recognised in line with the
principal and interest to be repaid over the lease term. These
amounts are determined based on the present value of the
minimum lease payments 1o be made over the contract term,
discounted using the rate implicit in the lease if this can be
determined, and otherwise using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The Group subsequently recognises depreciation relating to the
right-of-use asset, as well as interest accrued on the lease liability,
inthe income statement.

The Group applies practical expedients provided in IFRS 16 to

exclude shart-term and low-value lease contracts from the new
accounting model, and these are presented as operating costs.
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Employee benefits - pensions

Defined benefit scheme

The Group maintains a defined benefit pension scheme. The net
obligation under the scheme is calculated by estimating the future
henefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods, discounting to determine a value at today’s
prices, and deducting the fair value of scheme assets at bid price.
The assumed discount rate for the liabilities is the current rate of
return of high-quality corporate bonds with similar maturity dates.

The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement gains and losses that arise in calculating

the Group’s obligation in respect of the plan are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income within the statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
The finance cost is recognised in the income statement.

Defined contribution scheme
Obligations under the Group’s defined contribution scheme are
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred,

Provisions

A provisien is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group

has a present legal or constructive obligation as aresultofa

past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic

benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is
significant, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability.

Before provisions are established in relation to onerous contracts,
impairment reviews are carried out and impairment charges
recognised on assets dedicated to the contract.
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Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

1. Revenve
2020 2019
£m £m
Linear advertising revenue 689 767
Digital advertising revenue 161 145
Non-advertising revenue 84 73
Totalrevenue 934 985

The Group's revenues have been reclassified for 2020 and 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report, to more closely reflect the allocation
of revenue used in the Group's internal reporting and monitored by management and the Board. This reclassification has also been
outlined on page 134, showing the impact on our key performance indicators.

For 2020, the revenues presented inthe 2019 Annual Report have been reclassified as follows:
Per2019 Annual Report

TV advertising

and Other

spensecrship Digital commercial
revenue revenye revenue Total

Asahove

Linear advertising 767 - - 767
Digital advertising - 145 - 145
Non-advertising 5 8 50 73
Total 772 163 50 935

The reduction between digital revenue (as disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report) and digital advertising revenue {as restated above) is due
to the reclassification of revenues relating to our digital activities but not generated through the sale of advertising or sponsorship. These
amounts have been presented gs non-advertising revenues in 2020.

Gross revenues from transactions with one individual external customer comprised more than 10% of the Group's revenues in 2020,
amounting to £126 million (2019: no individual external customers comprising over 10%). The Group's major customers are all media
buying agencies. Approximately 5% of the Group's revenues {2019: 4%) are attributable to external customers outside the UK and these
are therefore not separately presented.

The Group has material contracts with customers with a duration of more than one year, relating to partnerships and distribution of
channels and services. The aggregate amount of the transaction price for these contracts aliocated to performance obligations which are
still unfulfilled as at 31 December 2020 is £70 million {2019: £71 million). The Group expects to recegnise £27 mitlion of revenue relating to
these performance obligations in 2021 (2019: £24 million to be recognised in 2020), with the remainder recognised on a straight-line basis
until 2023.

The Group recognised £28 million of revenue during 2020 that was recorded as a contract liability at the previous year end (2019: £20
million).

2. Cost of transmission and sales

2020 2019

£m £m

Content 522 660
Other content-related costs 79 70
Broadcast and transmission costs 99 98
Other cost of sales 125 139
Total cost of transmission and sales 825 967

The Group's cost of transmission and sales is reported here as one segment as described in the ‘Group accounting policies’ section on
page 187. Other cost of sales includes direct costs of linear and digital advertising and rights, marketing, technolegy and audience research
costs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

3. Other operating expenditure
Other operating expenditure includes:

2020 2019

£m £m

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (notes 3, 11) 8 6
Amortisation of intangible assets {note 10) 2 2
4 Altthe UK programme - 9
Other restructuring costs 1
Impairment of trade receivables (note 14) - 1
Cther administrative expenses (including Box) 27 26
Other operating expenditure 38 45

The total cost of the 4 Allthe UK programme recognised in the income statement in 2019 was £10 million, with £9 million recognised in

Other operating expenditure and £1million recognised in Cost of transmission and sales.

In 2020 £4 million of restructuring costs were expensed to the income statement in respect of initiatives to increase operational efficiency
within the Group (2019: £7 million predeminantly relating to the 4 All the UK programme). Of this amount, £3 million is recognised within

Cost of transmission and sales, with the remainder in Other operating expenditure.

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees inrespect of services provided by the auditor were:

2020 2018
£000 £000
Audit of these financial statements 230 195
Amounts receivable by auditor and their associates in respect of:
Audit-related assurance services 40 35
Auditor remuneration 270 230
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continved)

4. Employee expenses and information
A detailed analysis of Members’ remuneration, including salaries and variable pay, is provided in the Members’ Remuneration Report.

The direct costs of all employees, including Members, appear below:

2020 2019

£m £m

Aggregate gross salaries 77 73
Employer's National Insurance contributions 7 7
Employer's defined contribution pension contributions 6 5
Total direct costs of employment a0 85

During 2020, the Group claimed £1million under the CJRS, which was subsequently repaid by the year end.

The Executive Members are considered to be the key management of the Corporation. As disclosed in the Members’ Remuneration Report
on page 168, the total remuneration of the Executive Members for the year ending 31 December 2020 is £2,217,000 (2019: £2,161,000).

The salary multiple of highest paid to median employee was as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Total remuneration of highest paid Executive Member {page 168) 99 943
Total remuneration of median employee 63 61
Multiple of highest paid to median employee 15.7 155
Total remuneration is defined as base salary, variable pay, employer pension contribution and other benefits.
The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Members, was as follows:
2020 2019
Number Number
Commercial 261 264
Creative 314 287
Operational 325 329
4Talent 12 23
Total 912 903

The headcount calculation reflects the actual proporticn of hours worked in a week for each individual employee. The employee
information disclosed in this note excludes a small number of on-screen talent who are remunerated via Channel 4's payroll.
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5. Netfinance expense
Netfinance expense recognised in the year comprised:

2020 2019
£m £m
Interest receivable on short-term deposits 1 1
Foreign exchange loss on forward contracts and cash and cash equivalents - n
Net interest expense on pension scheme (note 19) (2) m
Other finance expense [4)] -
Net finance expense {2) (N
6. Income tax expense/{credit)
The taxation charge is based on the taxable profit for the year and comprises:
2020 2019
£m £m
Current tax:
Current year 7 -
Prior year 1 m
Deferred tax: origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 12)
Current year (2) -
Prior year m -
Total income tax expense/{credit) 5 (1

Corporation tax is charged at the standard UK rate of 19% for the year (2019: 19%). A further reduction to 17% (effective 1 April 2020)

was previously expected based onlegislation enacted in 2016; however, it was announced inthe Spring Budget on 11 March 2020 that the
corporation tax rate would remain at 19%. The corporation tax rate was also set at 19% for the year commencing 1 April 2021. The deferred
tax asset at 31 December 2020 has been calcvlated based on the current rate. A proposed increase inthe corporation taxrate 10 25%
was announced in the 2021 Spring Budget: this has not been used to calculate cur deferred tax asset as it was announced after the
balance sheet date and is not yet substantively enacted. The change in rate is not expected to have a material effect on the Group's
deferred tax balances.

Reconciliation of income tax:

2020 2020 2019 2019
Rate £m Rate Em
Surplus/(deficit) before income tax 74 (26)
Income tax using the domestic corporation taxrate 19.0% 14 18.0% (3
Effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 1 1
Utilisation of brought forward losses (9
Deferred tax notrecognised - 4
Other tax adjustments (1 (1
Totalincome tax expense/(credit) 5 m

The income tax expense excludes the Group’s share of income tax of investments accounted for using the equity method of £nil {2019: £nil}
which has beenincluded in the Group's share of post-acquisition profits, net of income tax (note 7},
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7. Investments accounted for using the equity method
The carrying value of the Group's investments accounted for using the equity method is as follows:

Indie Growth

Fund

£m

Carrying value at 1 January 2019 10
Acquisitions 2
Disposals (2}
Impairment loss (2}
Fair value loss m
Total carrying value at 31 December 2019 7
Carrying value at 1 January 2020 7
Acquisitions 2
Disposals 3

Total carrying value at 31December 2020

The Indie Growth Fund

In 2020, Channel 4 invested £2 million (2019: £2 millien) in the Indie Growth Fund. Investment activity during 2020 reflected the new
investment strategy set by the Fund in 2019, geared to fast-growing independent production companies in the Nations and Regions as well
as digital and diverse businesses across the whole of the UK.

Channel 4 set out two key aims when launching the Indie Growth Fund. Firstly, to provide access to funding for a broad portfolio of small
and medium-sized independent production companies based in the UK to help them grow and develop their business. Secondly, to put
our capital to work in more remit-delivering ways and open Channet 4 up to sharing in the benefits of companies that go on to generate
shareholder value in the medium term, Therefore, the Indie Growth Fund companies are held for investment purposes and it is not
management’s intention to control these entities. The Indie Growth Fund companies have been classified as associates as Channel 4
generally has commitments to purchase more than 20% of the equity and voting rights in these entities. Where this is not the case,
manragement is satisfied that significant influence exists over these entities due to Channel 4's ability to influence, but not control,

the financial and operating policies of these entities.

During 2020, Channel 4 sold its stake in two Indie Growth Fund entities - Whisper Films Limited (for consideration of £3 million,
recognising a gain on disposal of £1 million) and Eleven Film Limited (for consideration of £8 million, recognising a gain on disposal of £4
million). During 2012, Channel 4 sold its stake in Barcroft Studios Limited for a total consideration of £6 million to Future plc, recognising a
total gain ondisposal of £4 million. The consideration received comprised cash of £4 miltion and a £2 million equity shareholding in Future
plc (see note 8).

The Indie Growth Fund investments are assessed annually to identify any indicators of impairment, and if any are noted then a full
impairment review is performed. Management has not identified any indicaters of impairment relating to the Indie Growth Fund companies
at 31 December 2020. During 2019 an impairment loss of £2 million was recognised in non-operating expenditure. Channel 4 also
recognised afair value loss of £1 million through other comprehensive income in 2019 on one Indie Growth Fund entity which was

not accounted for as an associate.

Of the £522 million {2019: £660 million) total of programme rights recognised as expenses in 2020 {note 13), Channel 4 commissioned
£15 million (2019: £17 million) of content from Indie Growth Fund companies. Channel 4 owed the Indie Growth Fund companies £nilin
respect of these transactions at 31 December 2020 (2019: £nil).

Channel 4 had committed £nil for subseguent investment in the Indie Growth Fund entities as at 31 December 2020 {(2019: £2 million).
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7. Investments accounted forusing the equity methed continued
The Indie Growth Fund is comprised of the following entities incorporated in the United Kingdom:

Prepertion of eguity owned
at 31 December

Company Activity Registered address 2020 2019
Dial Sguare 86 Limited TV programme production Somerset House, Strand, London WC2R LA 4.7% 47%
activities
Eleven Film Limited TV programme production 14-18 Great Titchfield Street, 4th Floor, Great - 20.0%
activities Titchfield House, London W1W 8BD
Lightbox Media Limited TV programme production Regina House, 124 Finchiey Road, London 22.0% 22.0%
activities NW3 515
Spelthorne Community TV programme production 2nd Floor, 63-64 Margaret Street, London 25.0% 25.0%
Television Limited activities WIW 85w
Voltage TV Productions TV programme production SElstree Gate, Borehamwood, Herts WD6 1JD 15.0% 15.0%
Limited activities
Whisper Films Limited Motion picture production Unit B Scuth Avenue Studios, 7 South Avenue, - 25.0%
activities Richmond, Surrey TW9 3EL
Parable Ventures Limited TV programme production 64 New Cavendish Street, London W1G 8TB 18.0% 18.0%
activities
Firecrest Films Limited TV programme production Fairfield, 1048 Govan Road, Glasgow G514XS 25.0% 25.0%
activities
Two Rivers Media Limited TV programme production 1st Fleor, Tontine Building, 20 Trongate, Glasgow 17.0% 10.0%
activities G15ES
Candour Productions TV programme production 18 The Glasshouse Studios, Fryern Court Road, 25.0% 16.0%
Limited (formerly True activities Burgate, Fordingbridge, Hampshire SP61QX
Vision Yorkshire Limited)
Five Mile Films Limited TV programme production Lower Ground Floor, 2 St Pauls Road, Clifton, 18.0% 18.0%
activities Bristol BS8ILT
Eagle Eye Drama Limited TV programme production 35 Soheo Square, London W1D 30X 25.0% 25%
activities
Yeti Media Limited TV programme production Lon Cae Ffynnen Unit 10, Cibyn Industrial Estate, 16.7% -
activities Caernarfon LL55 2BD
Proper Content Limited TV programme production 6th Floor Charlotte Building, 17 Gresse Street, 20% -
activities London WAT 1QL
The equity owned for each of the entities listed above relates to ordinary shareholdings.
Summary annual financial information of Indie Growth Fund investments
[Loss)/profit
from
Current  Non-current Current Long-term continying
assets assets liabilitics liabilities Revenue operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m
2020 27 - (20) 4) 40 (2)
2019 28 1 (16) (2} 72 2
Other

Channel 4 holds 25% of the shares and voting rights in European Broadcaster Exchange (EBX) Limited, a digital advertising sales venture
with other Eyropean broadcasters. European Broadcaster Exchange (EBX) Limited is incorporated in the United Kingdom.

Propartion of eouity owned
3t 31 December

Company Activity Registered address 2020 2019

European Broadcaster Television programming and  6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7TNQ 25% 25%
Exchange (EBX) Limited broadcasting activities

Channel Four Annuval Report 2020 Consolidated financial statements 196




Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

8. Otherinvestments
Commercial Growth Fund

Commercial
Growth Fund Other Total
£m £m £m
Carrying value at i Janvary 2019 6 - 16
Acquisitions 8 2 10
Fair value movement 2 - 2
Impairment loss {n - g
Disposals (5) - 5
Total carrying value at 31 December 2019 20 2 22
Carrying value at 1 January 2020 20 2 22
Acquisitions 3 4 7
Fair value movement (n m (2}
Disposals (6) M (7}
Total carrying value at 31 December 2020 16 4 20

Commercial Growth Fund

During 2015, Channel 4 launched the Commercial Growth Fund, a fund with the aim of attracting new advertisers to TV and stimulating
existing sectors. The Commercial Growth Fund exchanges advertising airtime in return for equity shareholdings or convertible lean
instruments. During 2020, the Corporation invested a further £2 million (2019: £8 million} in the Commercial Growth Fund.

The Commercial Growth Fund investments are recorded at fair value. The Group elected to recognise any movement in the fair value of
the Commercial Growth Fund investments through other comprehensive income from 1Janvary 2018 when it adopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial
Instruments’. Fair value has been assessed against quoted prices in active markets where available or against other observable inputs.

A net fair value loss of £1 million (2019: gain of £2 million and impairment loss of £1million) have been recognised in other comprehensive
inceme during 2020.

There were no other transactions with the Commercial Growth Fund companies in 2020 (2019: none).

Other investments
During 2020 Channel 4 acquired a £4 million equity sharehelding in BritBox SVOD Limited.

During 2019 Channel 4 acquired a £2 million equity shareholding in Future plc as consideration relating to the sale of Barcroft Studios
Limited, one of its Indie Growth Fund investments. The Group disposed of this holding during 202C.
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Fixtures, Assets

land and fittings and under

building equipment  construction Total

£ £m £m £m

Cost or valuation
At1January 2019 94 52 - 146
Additions 6 4 1 1
Transfers from intangible assets - 4 - 4
Disposals - (7) - )
At 31 December 2019 100 53 1 154
At 1January 2020 100 53 1 154
Additions - 3 - 3
Transfers 14 (14) - -
Revaluation (18) - - (18)
At 31 December 2020 86 42 1 139
Depreciation
At1January 2019 — 43 - 43
Charge for the year 2 4 - &
Revaluation {2) - - (2)
Disposals - (7) - (7
At 31 December 2019 - 40 - 40
At1January 2020 - 40 - 40
Charge for the year 2 5 - 7
Transfers 12 12) - -
Revaluation (14) - - (14)
At 31 December 2020 - 33 - 33
Net book value
At1Janvary 2020 100 13 1 14
At 31 December 2020 96 9 1 106
At 1January 2019 94 9 - 103
At 31 December 2019 100 13 1 114

The disposals made during 2019 relate to retirement of assets previously held at nil net book value and no longer in use by the Group.

Thereis no commitment to purchase property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet date (2019: £nil). No assets have been pledged
for security (2019: none).

Valuation of freehold property

The freehold property at 124 Horseferry Road, London SW1P 2TX was valued at 31 December 2020 by independent valuers CBRE Limited,
inaccordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of The Royal institution of Chartered Surveyors, CBRE Limited has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant location. The property was valued on the
basis of open market value, which the Members believe approximates to current value. In reaching their conclusions, the vatuers have paid
attention to comparable transactions which have taken place inrecent months within the Victoria area of London.

The open market value for this property was £96 million (2019: £100 million). After additicns made to the building during 2020 and

depreciation charged on the open market value at 31 December 2020 (£2 million), a loss on revaluaticn of £4 million has heen recognised
in the statement of other comprehensive income (2019: gain of £2 million}.
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9. Property, plant and equipment continued

If freehold property had not been revalved it would have been included in the financial statements at the following amounts:

2020 2019
£m £m
Cost 72 66
Additions - 6
Transfers 14 -
Accumulated depreciation (41) (27)
Impairment (6} (B)
Net book value based on cost 39 39
10. Intangible assets
Software Netwark
Developed Broadcasting under distribution
Goodwill software licence  construction rghts Brands Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At1Janvary 2019 2 26 5 5 27 1 66
Transfers to property, plant and equipment - - - 4 - - 4)
At 31December 2019 2 26 5 1 27 1 62
At January 2020 2 26 1 27 62
Disposal - 3) - - - - )
At 31 December 2020 2 23 5 1 27 1 59
Amortisation
At1January 2019 - 25 5 - - 30
Amortisation for the year - - - - - 2
At 31 December 2019 - 25 5 - 2 - 32
At Janvary 2020 - 25 - 2 - 32
Amortisation for the year - - - - 2 - 2
Dispesal - ) - - - - 3)
At 31 December2020 - 22 5 - 4 - 3N
Carrying amount
At 1 Janvary 2020 2 1 - 1 25 1 30
At 31 December2020 2 1 - 1 23 1 28
At1Janvary 2019 2 1 - 5 27 1 36
At 31 December 2019 2 1 - 1 25 1 30

Goodwill represents goodwill arising on the acquisition of Global Series Network Limited (' GSN') on 30 July 2015. GSN holds the rights to

the Walter Presents foreign language content transmitted across the Channel 4 portfolio.

Developed software represents amounts capitalised on internally developed computer software, principally in relation to the management
of advertising and sponsorship revenues, and programme scheduling applications meeting the recognition criteria for internally generated

intangible assets.

The network distribution rights and brands arose during 2018 on the acquisition of Box Plus Network Limited ('Box’).
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11. Lease assets and liabilities
Right-of-use assets

Property Total
£m £m
At1January 2019 1 1
Additions and changes interms 2 2
At 31December 2019 3 3
At 1January 2020 3 3
Additions and changes in terms 10 10
Charge for the year m n
At 31 December 2020 12 12
The Group expenses shart-term leases and low-value assets as incurred in accordance with the exemption permitted by IFRS16.
These expenses amounted to less than £0.1 million in 2020 (2019: less than £0.1million).
Lease liabilities
Praperty Total
£m £m
Current
Within one year 1 1
Non-current
Betweentwoto five years 4 4
Greater than five years 7 7
Total 12 12
The interest expense relating to lease liabilities under IFRS 16 was £0.1 million in 2020 (2019: £nil).
12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at 19% (2019: 17%) reflecting the corporation tax rate substantively enacted as at
31 December 2020.
Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Net Net
2020 2019 2020 2018 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Preperty, plant and equipment 3 3 - - 3 3
Employee benefits 13 13 - - 13 13
Trading losses 10 6 - - 10 &
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets - - (5) - (S) -
Channel 4 deferred tax assets 26 22 (5 - N 22
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets - - - 4) - (4)
Group deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 26 22 (5) {4) 21 18

A deferred tax assetis only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised (either now or in later accounting periods). At 31 December 2020, based onleng-term forecasts, and
in line with the Group’s aim to remain commercially self-sustainable in the long term, management considers it probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which to recognise these assets. Unrecognised deferred tax assets include losses carried forward that the

Groupis not yet able to utilise.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised inrespect of:

2020 2019
£m £m
Carried forward capital losses 1 1
Carried forward trading losses 4 12
Tax assets 5 13
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12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued

Movements in temporary differences during the yeor
The amount of deferred tax recognised in the income statement in respect of each type of temporary difference is as follows:

Recognised

Balance at in other Balance at

1Jan Recognised comprehensive Merger 31Dec

2020 inincome income accounting 2020

£m £m £m adjustment £m

Property, plant and equipment 3 - - 3
Employee benefits 13 - - 13
Irading losses 6 4 - 10
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets - - - (5) (5)
Channel 4 deferred tax assets 22 4 - (5) 21
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets (4} n - 5 -
Group deferred tax assets 18 3 - ~ 27

Recognised

Balance at inother Balance at

1lJan Recognised comprehensive 310ec

2019 tnincome income 2019

£m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 3 - ~ 3
Employee benefits 9 {2) 6 13
Trading losses 5 1 - 6
Channel 4 deferred tax assets 17 M 6 22
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets 5} 1 ~ 4)
Group deferred tax assets 12 - 6 18

13. Programme and film rights

2020 2019

£m £m

Programmes and films completed but not transmitted 95 132
Acqguired programme and film rights 56 68
Programmes and films in the course of production 89 91
Total programme and film rights 240 29

Programme and film rights held on the balance sheet have decreased since 2019 given to hurdles to production posed by Covid-19,
as well as lower commissioning and acquisitions activity.

Certain programmes and film rights may not be utilised within one year but are expected to be consumed during the normal operating
cycle and are therefore disclosed as current assets. The proportion of total programme and film rights not expected to be utilised within
one yearis 13% (2019:14%).

Programmes and films in the course of production are disclosed within programme and film rights, rather than within prepayments, as
management believes this most clearly reflects the total value of current assets relating to the production of content and that it is most
useful to the readers of the financial statements to include the total value of current assets relating to the production and acquisitions
of content inone line on the balance sheet,

Programme and film rights to the value of £522 million were recognised as expenses in the year across the main and digital television
channels (2012: £660 million). Cf this amount, obsolete programmes and developments written off totalled £28 million (2019:
£26 miltion).

Programme and film rights include £26 million (2019: £33 millien) in respect of developed film rights.
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14. Trade and other receivables

2020 2019

Em Em

Trade receivables 186 139
Prepayments 25 24
Accruedincome 18 16
Totaltrade and other receivables 229 179

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of trade and other receivables. Trade receivables are shown net of impairment
charges amounting to £1 million (2019: £1 million) recognised during 2019 in relation to outstanding balances from customers.

Creditrisk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

(i) Trade receivables

Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is principally related to amounts due from advertising agencies and retailers, A risk strategy
exists to protect these receivables including insurance for most customers. Exposure is monitored continually and reviewed on a weekly
basis, and any issues are formally reported. Based on credit evaluation and discussions with insurers, customers may be required to
provide security in order to trade with the Group.

The Group may establish an allowance for impairment that represents our expected credit loss in respect of trade and other receivables.
The main cemponent of this allowance is a specific loss component that relates toindividually significant exposures. Losses with regard to
these receivables are historically low as advertising revenue is either protected by trade credit insurance or pre-paid pricr to transmission.
The Group's expected lifetime credit loss at 31 December 2020 was £1miltionin line withthe provision held at that date.

(ii) Counterparty
See interest rate risk and exposure in note 15.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying ameunt of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum credit exposure at the balance sheet
date in relation to trade receivables was £186 million for the Group {2019: £139 million), with £110 millien of other financial assets (2019:
£7 million), and cash and cash equivatents of £166 million (2019: £130 million). The exposure to credit risk all arises in the UK.

Trade receivables of £186 million for the Group (2019: £139 million) were aged under six months and were not yet due under standard
credit terms at the balance sheet date. The increase in the trade receivables balance in 2020 reflects higher revenues in Q4 compared with
2019, in addition to timing of cash collection for certain key customers. £162 mitiion of the receivables were insured at the balance sheet
date (2019: £119 million) and £184 million (2019: £136 million) has been subsequently collected by the Group since the balance sheet date.
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15, Treasury

2020 2019

£m £m

Bank balances 7 37
Money market funds’ 139 93
Money market deposits with initial maturity of less than three menths 20 -
Cash and cash equivalents 166 130
Money market deposits with initial maturity of more than three months 10
Investment funds 100
Other financial assets 10 7
1 Amounts held in money market funds are repayable within seven days.
There is no difference between the fair value and book value of cash, cash equivalents and other financial assets.
Cash flow information

2020 2019

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 130 132
Other financial assets at 1 January 7 48
Total cashreserves’at1Janvary 137 180
Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 62 {(28)
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 3 {15}
Net cash flow used in financing activities m -
Total cash flow 64 {43}
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 166 130
Other financial assets at 31 December 10 i
Borrowings as at 31 December (75) -
Total net cash reserves’at 31 December 201 137

1 The Group presents net cash reserves as an alternative performance measure; an explanation of this APM is provided on page 186. Net cash reserves represents the total of Cash
and cashequivalents and Other financial assets above net of cash borrowings

Interestraterisk and exposure

The Group invests surplus cash in fixed-rate money market deposits, high-interest bank accounts and variable and constant net asset
value money market funds. Funds are invested only with an agreed list of counterparties that carry a minimum of an A- credit rating or
equivalent from Standard and Poor's and Moody's credit rating services with government support, or with money market funds that
have an AAA credit rating from either of these credit rating services.

Itis estimated that if interest rates had been 0.5% points lower/higher throughout the year, with all other variables held constant,
the Group's surplus before tax would have been £1million lower/higher (2019; £1 million).

At the balance sheet date the Group had no debt and was not exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. In 2018 the Group enteredinto a
revolving credit facility ('RCF’). The RCF is for a five-year term until March 2023 and provides £75 million of additional liquidity. The facility
is unsecured and is committed with a single tangible net worth covenant. This facility was drawn down in full during 2020 to provide
additional liquidity if required as part of the Group’s response to the Covid-19 outbreak, and remained drawn as at 31 December 2020.
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15. Treasury continued
The interest rate profile of the Group’s cash and deposits at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Eftective Effective
interest interest
rate rate Total Total
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % £m £m
Interest-bearing deposits maturing in less than three months held in Sterling 0.0 07 165 126
Interest-bearing deposits maturing in less than three months held in foreign currencies 0.0 0.9 1 4
Total cash and cash equivalents 0.0 07 166 130
Money market deposits maturing after three months held in Sterling 0.3 - 10
Investment funds 0.8 1.0 100
Other financial assets o.8 1.0 10 7

Foreign currency risk and derivative finoncial instruments

The Groupis exposed te currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other than Sterling. The currencies that
give rise to this risk are US Dollars and Euros. The Group helds bank accounts inforeign currencies and uses forward exchange contracts
and currency cash receipts to hedge its currency risk. Changes in the fair value of exchange contracts that econemically hedge monetary
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, and for which no hedge accounting is applied, are recognised in the income statement. Both the
change in the fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to monetary items are recognised as
part of net finance expense (note 5).

The Group does not have any material foreign subsidiaries and as a result is not exposed to foreign currency risk in this regard. The Group
is exposed to currency movements on foreign cash holdings. Amounts held by currency are detailed above within the analysis of the
Group's and Channel 4's cash and deposits.

At 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any forward contracts used as economic hedge of monetary liabilities (2019: none).

Itis estimated that if Sterling had strengthened/weakened by 10% at the balance sheet date against other currencies, with atl other
variables held constant, the Group’s deficit before tax would have been Enil lower/higher (2019: £nil).

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group‘s income orthe
value of its assets and liabilities. These risks are managed by the Group’s treasury function as described below.

The Board isresponsible for approving the treasury policy for the Group. The Group’s policy is to ensure that adequate liguidity and
financial resource is available to support the Group’s continuing activities and growth while managing the risks described above. The
Group’s policy is not to engage in speculative financial transactions. The Group does not seek to apply hedge accounting. The Group's
treasury and funding activities are undertaken by a treasury function, whose work is overseen by a Treasury Risk Committee reporting in

to the Finance Director. Its primary activities are to manage the Group’s liquidity, funding requirements and financial risk, principalty arising
from movements ininterest and foreign currency exchange rates within the parameters of the approved treasury policy.
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16, Trade and other payables

2020 2019

£m £m

Trade payables 16 38
Taxation and social security 1 1
Other creditors 61 49
Accruals 182 197
Deferred income 30 28
VAT 36 19
Tatal trare and other payables 326 332

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of trade and other payabtes. The contractual cash flows are equal to the
carrying amount and are payable within six months or less at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group endeavours to pay all invoices in accordance with contract terms and, unless agreed payment terms specify otherwise, the
Group’s standard payment terms are within 45 days of the date of the invoice, with the exception of certain programme and transmission
costs with qualifying independent production companies which are on immediate payment terms. Any complaints about failure to pay on
time should be addressed to the Chief Operating Officer, who will ensure that they are investigated and responded to appropriately.

The number of days taken to pay suppliers of services in 2020, as calculated using average payable balances, was eight (2019: nine). Thisis
significantly lower than the Group's standard payment terms due to the impact of the immediate payment terms described above.

Under HMRC's deferral scheme, the Group deferred £10 million of VAT payments for Q1and Q2 2020, and expectsto repay thesein
instalments during 2021.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group fails to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The management of operational liquidity risk
aims primarily to ensure that the Group always has a liguidity buffer that is able, in the short term, to absorb the net effects of transactions
made and expected changes in liguidity both under normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses orrisking
damage to the Group’s reputation. The cash balances held by the Group and, from March 2018, the £75 million revolving credit facility,
are considered to be sufficient to support the Group’s medium-term funding requirements.

17. Provisions

Onerous
lease/  Restructuring

ditapidations costs Total

Em £m Em

At 1 Janvary 2019 - 1
Utilised in the year - 1) M
Charged to the income statement - 2 2
At 31December 2019 - 3 2
At1January 2020 - 2 2
Utilised in the year - 2) (2)
Charged to the income statement 1 1 2
At 31December 2020 1 1 2

Provisions have been analysed as current and non-current as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Current 1 2
Non-current 1 -
Total 2 2

Contingent ligbilities
The Members are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings, pending or threatened, against any Member of the Group which gives
rise to a significant contingent liability.
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18. Commitments

Due within Due within Due after
1year 2-5years 5years Total
2020 £m £m £m £m
Programme commitments 405 226 1 632
Transmission contracts 29 89 61 179
Total 434 315 62 an
Due within Due within Due after
1year 2-5years 5years Total
2019 £m £m £m £m
Programme commitments 385 303 1 689
Transmission contracts 37 108 ra 216
Total 422 41 72 205

Transmission contracts represent committed capacity costs for transmission on the digital terrestrial and satellite network. Committed
payments for digital terrestrial transmission capacity costs amounted to £26 million in 2020 (2019: £29 million). The digital terrestrial
transmission contracts expire between 2020 and 2031. Committed payments for satellite transmission capacity costs were £8 million
in 2020 (2019: £8 million). The satellite transmission contracts expire in 2024.

In addition to the above, the Group is party to the shareholder agreement for Digital 3 and 4 Limited. The Group is committed to meeting
its share of contracted costs entered into by that company. The Group’s share of Digital 3 and 4 Limited's committed payments was

£24 million in 2020 (2019: £23 million} and is forecast to be £24 million in 2027, Digital 3 and 4 LimTted has entered into [ong-term
distribution contracts that expire in 2022 and 2034 and the Group is committed to funding its contractual share.

The Group has no commitments for further subscriptions for minority shareholdings in companies in the Indie Growth Fund as at
31December 2020 as disclosed in note 7.

19. Employee benefits - pensions

During 2015, the Group operated a defined benefit pension scheme - the Channel 4 Television Staff Pension Plan {the 'Plan’), providing
benefits based on final salary for employees. The scheme closed to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2015 without material
impact to the Group’s defined benefit obligation.

Nature of benefits, regulotory framework and governance

The Planis a registered defined benefit final salary scheme subject to the UK regulatory framework for pensions, including the Scheme
Specific Funding reguirements. The Trustees of the Plan are responsible for operating the Plan and have a statutory responsibility to act in
accordance with the Plan’s Trust Deed and Rules, in the best interests of the beneficiaries of the Plan, and UK legislation (including Trust
law). The employer has the power to set the contributions that are paid to the Plan, following advice from the scheme actuary. However,
these must be agreed by the Trustees to the extent required by Part 3 of the Pensions Act 2004 (Scheme Funding}.

Risks to which the Plan exposes the employer

The nature of the Plan exposes the employer to the risk of paying unanticipated additional contributions to the Plan in times of adverse
experience, The most financially significant risks are likely to be:

- members living for longer than expected;

- higher than expected actual inflation and salary increase experience;

- lower than expected investment returns; and

- therisk that movements in the value of the Plan’s liabilities are not met by corresponding mevements in the value of the Plan's assets.

The sensitivity analysis disclosed on page 209 is intended to provide an indication of the impact on the value of the Plan’s liabilities of the
risks highlighted.

Plan amendments, curtailments and settlements
There have not been any material curtailments or settlements during the year.
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19. Employee benefits - pensions continued

Investment strategy

The Trustees’ primary objectives are that the Plan should meet benefit payments as they fall due; and that the Plan’s funding position
should remain at an appropriate level. The Trustees are aware that there are various measures of funding, and have given due weight
to those considered most relevant to the Plan.

The Trustees’ investment objective is to target an appropriate return on the Plan’s assets to meet the objectives above whilst managing
and maintaining investment risk, taking into account the strength of the employer covenant.

The Trustees, with the help of their advisers and in consultation with Channel 4, undertake a review of investment strategy from time
to time. This includes consideration of the broad split between growth and matching assets, as well as asset class and asset manager
arrangements.

The Trustees regularly seek advice from their investment adviser about the benchmark allocation and consider the impact of further
opportunities to enhance the current investment strategy, taking into account market conditions and anticipated future cash flows.

The Trustees undertook a comprehensive strategy review in 2015. The result of the 2015 review was that the Plan should have a diversified

mix of UK and global equities and bonds. It was also decided that part of the Plan’s assets would be invested in a multi-asset portfolio with
an absolute return focus, and that part of the Plan’s bond assets would be invested in a dynamic liability driven investment ('LDI") portfolio,
so that the Plan’s assets better match its liabilities under movements in long-term interest rates and inflation assumptions.

The most recent investment strategy discussions, which took place during 2019, focused on efficiently achieving returns. Due to new
offerings inthe LDI market, the Plan was able to increase its credit exposure and maintain its exposure te equities, whilst leaving the levels
ofinterest rate and inflation liability matching broadly the same.

The 2019 review, which occurred in conjunction with the actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2018, resulted in the Plan:

- replacing its passive global equity allocation with equity-linked LEI {which maintained overall equity exposure};

- replacing part of the existing LDI allccation with credit-linked LDI (introducing credit exposure but, in combination with the above
switch, maintaining overall lability matching); and

- increasing its allocation to absolute return bonds,

These changes increased the expected return of the investment portfolio whilst keeping the investmentrisk to an acceptable level.
Inorder to begin to tackle tongevity risk (that is, the risk that members of the Plan live for longer than expected over time), the Trustees

entered into a ¢.£45 million bulk annuity policy with Just Retirement in March 2018. This provides income to match the requirements of
certain pensioner liabilities (providing protection against interest rates, inflation and longevity risks).
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19. Employee benefits — pensions continued
Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

2020 2019
£m £m
Present value of funded obligations (590} (532)
Fair value of Plan assets 522 453
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations (68) (79)
Movements in the fair value of Plan assets recognised in the balance sheet:
2020 2019
£Em £m
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 453 40%
Interestincome on Plan assets 9 12
Return on Plan assets (excluding amounts in interest income) 67 43
Employer contributions net of charges 9 m
Benefits paid 16) {18)
Fair valve of scheme assets at 31 December 522 453
The fair value of the Plan assets at the balance sheet date is comprised as follows:
2020 2019
£Em £m
Overseas and emerging markets equity 63 46
Total equity securities 63 46
Corporate bonds 90 87
Infrastructyre 50 47
Totaldebt securities 140 134
Multi-asset absolute return 47 35
Liability driven investments 228 141
Total investment funds 275 176
Cash and cash eqguivalents 1 58
Annuity policy buy-in 43 39
Fair valve of scheme assets at 31 December 522 453

The Plan assets do not include any directly or indirectly owned financial instruments issued by the Corporation. The valuation of the assets
aboveis based on Level 1inputs inthe IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy, with the exception of the infrastructure assets and annuity policy buy-in

which are valued based on relevant Level 3inputs.

All equities and bonds are held as part of investment portfolios which have quoted prices in active markets.

Movements in the present value of scheme liabilities for defined benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet:

2020 2019
£m £m
Presentvalye of scheme liabilities at 1 January 532 461
Interest expense on pension scheme liabilities n 13
Remeasurement deficit on plan liabilities arising from changes in demographic assumptions - {7}
Remeasurement deficit on plan liabilities arising from changes in financial assumptions 71 69
Experience remeasurement (8) 14
Benefits paid {16) (18)
Present value of scheme liabilities at 31 December 590 532
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

19. Employee benefits - pensions continued
Expenses recognised inthe income statement arose as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
Net interest expense 2 !
Net charge to income statement 2 1
The remeasurement deficit recognised in other comprehensive income arose as follows:
2020 2019
£m £m
Remeasurement deficit on plan liabilities (63) (76)
Remeasurement gain on plan assets {excluding amounts in interest income) 67 43
Net remeasurement surplus/(deficit) on pension scheme 4 (33}

The cumulative amount of net remeasurement deficits/gains recognised in the statement of changes in equity since transition tc IFRS is
a £140 million deficit (2019: £144 million deficit).

Principal actuarial assumptions at the bolance sheet date

2020 2019

% %

Discount rate 1.30 2.05
Rate of increase in sataries 200 295
Rate of increase in pensions 2.80 2.90
Inflation 2.85 295
2020 2019

years years

Life expectancy from 65 {now aged 45) - male 235 234
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 45) - female 261 26.0
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 65) - male 224 222
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 65) - female 249 248

These assumptions were adopted in consultation with the independent actuary te the Channel Four Television Staff Pension Plan. If
experience is different from these assumptions, or if the assumptions need to be amended in future, there will be a corresponding impact
on the net pension scheme liability recorded on the Group balance sheet. The expected returns on Plan assets are set by reference to
historical returns, current market indicators and the expected long-term asset allocation of the Plan.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below sets out the sensitivity of the scheme's pension liabilities to changes in actuarial assumpticns at 31 December 2020:

Revised present

valve of scheme

liabilities

£m

0.5% decrease indiscount rate 657
Tyear increase in life expectancy 613
0.5% increase in salary assumptions 584
0.5% increase in inflation {and inflation-linked) assumptions 645

The sensitivities disclosed are calculated using approximate methods taking into account the duration of the Plan’s liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

19. Employee benefits - pensions continued

Funding arrangements

The Plan was closed to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2015. The Corporation’s contributions to the scheme are determined
by a qualified Independent actuary (the ‘Actuary to the Plan'} on the basis of triennial valuation using the projected unit method. The most
recent triennial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2018. The results of the valuation at 31 December 2018 showed that the
scheme’s assets represented 75% of the benefits that had accrued to members, reflecting a deficit of £134 million. The next triennial
valuation will be carried out as at 31 December 2021,

Following the vatuation and discussions with the Actuary to the Plan, the Trustees and the Board agreed a revised schedule of contributions
toreduce the Plan’s funding deficit of £9 million per annum from January 2020 until August 2028,

The weighted average duration of the Plan’s defined benefit obligation is approximately 22 years. The majority of the Plan’s benefits are
to be paid as annyities from retirement of a member until their death.

Inaccordance with the fund rules, the Corporation can realise any surplus on the winding up of the scheme after all other benefits have
been paid. As a result, no adjustmentis required in respect of IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Reguirements and their Interaction’.

20. Related party transactions
Members
Details of transactions in which Members have an interest are disclosed in the Report of the Members (page 152).

Details of Members’ remuneration are shown inthe Members’ Remuneration Report (page 168).

Key management personnel
The Executive Members are considered to be the key management of the Group.

Joint ventures and associates
Details of transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates as at 31December 2020 are disclosed in note 7.

Other
The Group alse contributes to the funding of the following organisations, each of which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. The table
below presents the Group's ownership of the entities, or legal guarantee (indicated with *), and transactions with them during the year.

Servicesreceived Funding and services pravided

Nature of Cwnership 2020 2019 2020 2019

Name business Shareclass interest £m £m £m £m
Broadcasters’ Audience Research

Board Limited Research * - - - 2 2

Clearcast Limited Regulator Ordinary, deferred 25.0% - - 2 1

Digital 3 and 4 Limited Operator  'A’ Ordinary 50.0% 1 1 24 24

DTV Services Limited Marketing Ordinary 20.0% 7 7 4 4

Digital UK Marketing * - - - 2 2

Thinkbox Limited Marketing Ordinary 20.0% 1 1 2 2

YouView Limited Piatform  Voting, non-voting 14.3% - - 1 1

The Group had £1million trade payables remaining with the organisations listed above at 31 December 2020 (2019: £3 million).
No dividends were received in 2020 (2019: £nil) from any of the related parties listed above.

These related party disclosures are also applicable to the Channel 4 financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continved)

21. Business combinations

Global Series Network Limited { GSN‘}

On 1January 2019 Channel 4 acquired the remaining 20% holding in GSN for £4 million which comprised cash of £2 miltion and deferred
cansideration of £2 million. GSN had been accounted for (following the acquisition of the previous 80% shareholding in 2015} asa
subsidiary and fully consolidated into the Group's financial statements. This resulted in an adjustment to the previous non-controlling
interest, recognised in other comprehensive income:

Equity adjustment on change in non-controlling interest

£m
Carrying value of nen-controlling interest -
Consideration on date ot acquisition 2
Deferred consideration 2
4

Adjustment to parent’s equity

2n




Channel 4 balance sheet

as at 31 December

Group Channel 4 2020 2019
note noe £m £m

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 106 114
Right-of-use asset 1 12 3
Intangible assets 2 22 2
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 3 - 23
Other investments 3 -
Deferred tax assets 12 26 22
Total non-current assets 170 164
Programme and film rights 4 235 289
Trade and other receivables 5 226 174
Other financial assets 6 10 7
Cashand cash equivalents 6 161 125
Total current assets 732 595
Total assets 902 759
Liabilities
Employee benefits - pensions 12 (68) (79
Lease liabilities i (12) (3)
Deferred tax tiabilities {5} -
Total non-current liabilities (85) (82)
Trade and other payables 7 {450) (441
Current tax payable (3)
Provisions 17 2) {2)
Borrowings 15 (75) -
Total current liabilities (530} (443)
Total liabilities {615) (525)
Net assets 287 234
Revaluation reserve 52 56
Other retained earnings 235 178
Total equity 287 234
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Corporation has not presented its own income statement. A surplus of
£82 million has been recognised in relation to the Corporation in 2020.
The financial statements on pages 212 to 217 were approved by the Members of the Board on 5 May 20271 and were signed oniits
behalf by;
Charles Gurassa
Chair Chief Executive
The notes on pages 215 to 217 form part of these financial statements.
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Channel 4 statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December

Retained earnings

Other

retained Content Revaluation Total

earnings reserve reserve equity

£m £m £m £m

At1January 2019 209 20 54 283
Deficit for the year (24) - - (24)
Net remeasurement deficit on pension scheme (33) - - (33}
Deferred tax on pension 6 - 6
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings - - 2 2
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (51 - 2 {49)
Reserve transfer 20 (20) - -
At 31 December 2019 178 - 56 234
At 1January 2020 178 - 56 234
Surplus for the year 62 - - 62
Net remeasurement surplus on pension scheme 4 - - 4
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings - - {4) (4)
Merger accounting adjustment (9) - - (9
Total comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 57 - {4) 53
At 31 December 2020 235 - 52 287
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Channel 4 accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except that freehold properties, derivatives and certain
financial instruments are stated at fair value, and are presented in pounds Sterling, rounded to the nearest million.

The financial statements have been prepared under the Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'. The
Corporation’s financial result and balance sheet are included in the consolidated financial statements presented on pages 181t0 211
As permitted by Financial Reporting $Standard 101, the Corporation has not presented its own cashflow statement and has not provided
the disclosuras required by IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companias Act 2006, the Corporation has not presented its own income statement. A surplus of
££62 million (2019: £24 million deficit) was recorded in relation to the Corporation. Accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
Corporation’s financial statements are consistent with the Group policies presented on pages 185 to 120, except as stated below,

In preparing these financial statements the Corporation has taken advantage of ail disclosure exemptions conferred by FRS 107, Therefore,
these financial statements do not include disclosure of related party transactions with other wholly owned members of the Group headed
by the Corporation. Details of transactions between the Group and its related parties are disclosed in Group note 20 on page 210.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at histcrical cost less provision forimpairment.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are carried at historical cost less provision for impairment.

Equity investments

Equity investments represent equity holdings without significant influence. Equity investments are normally carried at fair value. Where an
active market value is not available, the Members believe that valuation at cost less provision for impairment is a reasonable approximation
of fair value.

Trade and otherreceivables
Trade receivables are reflected net of any expected credit loss.

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The ¢ritical accounting judgements made by management and the sources of estimation uncertainty in the application of IFRS that have
a significant risk of material adjustment on the financial statements of the Corporation are considered to be programme and film rights
amortisation and the classification of transponder assets as service contracts under IFRS 16, as disclosed for the Group on page 185.
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Notes to the Channel 4 financial statements

1. Operating expenditure

Auditor’s remuneration

Feesin relation to the audit of the Corporation financial statements and additional fees paid to the auditor for the year ended 31 Cecember
2020 are presented in note 3 to the consoclidated financial statements on page 192.

Staff costs

All staff costs are borne by Channel 4 and are presented in note 4 to the consclidated financial statements on page 194 and in the
Members’ Remuneration Report on pages 166 1o 173.

The average monthly number of employees of the Corporationis 904 {2019: 854).

The key management of the Corporation are considered to be the same as for the Group, as disclosed in Group note 4.

2. Intangible assets

Network
Devetoped  Assets under distribution Negative
software  construction rights Brands goodwill Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1Januvary 2019 26 5 - - - 3
Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (4} - - - (4)
At 31December 2019 26 1 - - - 27
At1January 2020 26 1 - - - 27
Merger accounting adjustment - - 27 1 {5) 23
Disposal (3) - - - - (3)
At 31December 2020 23 1 27 1 (5) 47
Amortisation
At 1Janvary 2019 25 - - - - 25
At 31December2019 25 - 25
At Janvary 2020 25 - - - - 25
Merger accounting adjustment - - 4 - {1} 3
Disposal {3) - - - - 3}
At 31 December 2020 22 - 4 - (1) 25
Carrying amount
At 1January 2020 . 1 1 - - - 2
At 31 December 2020 1 1 23 1 (4) 22
At 1Janvary 2019 1 5 - - - 6
At 31 December 2019 1 1 - - - 2

During 2020, the trade and assets of The Box Plus Network {Box'}, previously a 100% owned subsidiary, have been hived up into the
Corporation, as part of Box's operational integration into Channel 4 following the full acquisition of the business in 2018, As a result of this
transaction, intangibles with a net bogk value of £24 million which were recognised on consclidation of Box inte the Group following the
full acquisition are now recognised in the Corporation’s books {see note 2). This transaction also results in an adjustment to the
Corporation’s retained earnings to retrospectively recognise the accounting treatment of these intangible assets under FRS101.
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Notes to the Channel 4 financial statements
(continued)

3. Investments
Subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures
The cost ofinvestments at 31 December is:

2020 2019
£000 £000
4 Ventures Limited 1 1
The Box Plus Network Limited - 23,000

During 2020, the trade and assets of The Box Plus Network ['Box’), previously 2 100% owned subsidiary, have been hived up into the
Corporation, as part of Box's operational integration into Channel 4 following the full acquisition of the business in 2018, As aresult of this
transaction, the value of the Corporation’s previous investment in Box has been reduced to zero.

The subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2020 are as follows. Where the Members have taken the
exemption under Companies Act s479A from having an audit of the financial statements for subsidiaries contrelled and consolidated by
the Group, thisis noted below:

Issued

ordirary Ownership
Name Nature of business £1shares interest
Registered office address is: 124 Horseferry Road,
London SW1P 2TX
4 Ventures Limited’ Intermediate holding company and non-primary function 1,000 100%

activities

Filen Four Limited™? Film distribution 1,000 100%
Channel Four Investments Limited'? Indie Growth Fund 1 100%
The Box Plus Network Limited? Music TV channels 1,000 100%
Global Series Network Limited™2 TV and film distribution 2,000 100%
Channel Four Television Company Limited Nen-trading 100 100%
E4.com Limited? Non-trading 1,000 100%
E4 Television Limited? Naon-trading 1,000 100%
Film on Four Limited? Nen-trading 100 100%
Sport on Four Limited? Non-trading 2 100%

Issued ‘A

ordinary

shares of Gwnership
Name Nature of business £1.000each interest
Registered office address 1s: 35 Scho Square, 6th Floor,
Sohe Square, London W1D 30X
GSN Holdings International Limited’ TV and film distribution 1,000 82.5%

3 Exemption from audit of subsichary financial statements taken by the Members
2 Indirect shareholding through 4 Ventures Limited.

Associated undertakings
For the Corporation’s indirect shareholdings in the Indie Growth Fund through Channel Four investments Limited and European Broadcast
Exchange ('"EBX') Limited, referto Group note 7.

Forthe Corporation’sindirect shareholdings in the Commercial Growth Fund through 4 Ventures Limited, refer to Group note 8.

Other investments
Total
£m
Carrying value at 1 January 2020 -
Additions 2
Carrying value at 31 December 2020 2
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Notes to the Channel 4 financial statements
(continued)

4, Programme and film rights

2020 2019

£m £m

Programmes and films completed but not transmitted a5 133
Acquired programme and film rights 51 65
Programmes and films in the course of production 89 91
Total programme and film rights 235 289

Certain pregramme and film rights may not be utilised within one year as disclosed in note 13 to the conselidated financial statements.

5. Trade and otherreceivables

2020 2019
£m £m
Trade receivables 187 135
Prepayments 25 24
Accruedincome 14 15
Totaltrade and otherreceivables 226 174
6. Treasury
2020 2019
£m £m
Bank balances 2 32
Money market funds 139 93
Money market deposits maturing in less than three months 20 -
Cash and cash equivalents 161 125
Money market deposits maturing after three months 10 -
Investment funds 100 7
Otherfinancial assets 10 7
7. Trade and other payables
2020 2019
£m £m
Trade payables 15 37
Taxation and sccial security 1 1
Other creditors 59 52
Amounts due to subsidiaries 130 118
Accruals 179 186
Deferred income 30 27
VAT 36 20
Total trade and other payables 450 441

The amounts due to subsidiaries relate to cash balances managed by the Corporation on behalf of Group companies, and as such the

Corporation does not expect settlement of these balances to be required in the foreseeable future.
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Historical metrics 2016-2020

Page ref 2016 2077 2018 2019 2020
Creativity
Commissiening success
Originated content spend (Em) 98 501 510 489 492 370
Engaging audiences
Portfolio high peak-time viewing share {8-11pm) 12.5% 121% 126% 12.2% 12.8%
Portfolio viewing share ABC1s 10.8% 10.8% 10.4% 101% 10.2%
Portfolio viewing share 16-34-year-olds 89 16.2% 16.4% 15.9% 15.7% 157%
Channel 4 viewing share 85 5.9% 59% 59% 5.8% 5.9%
Portfolio viewing share 85 10.5% 10.5% 10.2% 9.9% 101%
Portfolio 15-minute reach 86 835% 81.4% 78.7% 75.8% 73.0%
Programme streaming views (m) 87,135 620 719 915 995 1,253
Registered viewers (m)’ 24 14.9 16.6 19.6 222 24.0
1 Registered viewers are net of duplicate and active users withinthe last two years.
Sustainability
Financial metrics
Corporation revenve (E£m) 181 995 960 975 985 934
Digital advertising revenue (£m} 191 84 100 120 145 161
Non-advertising revenue 191 67 75 81 73 84
Content spend (£m) 191 695 675 662 660 522
Year-end net cash reserves (Em) 186 215 190 180 137 201
Pre-tax surplus/{deficit} (Em) 181 (15} (17} 5 (26) 74
Ad sales measures
Linear advertising revenue (£m) 191 844 785 774 767 689
SOCI portfolic high peak-time (8-11pm) 191% 187% 17.9% 17.6% 18.2%
SOCI portfolio ABC1s 17.9% 17.5% 16.6% 16.2% 16.3%
SOCI portfolio 16-34-year-olds 21.5% 21.4% 208% 20.9% 21.3%
SOCi portfolio 15.6% 15.4% 14.7% 14.3% 14.7%
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Historical metrics 2016-2020
(continved)

2016 2007 2018 2019 2020
Performance versus competitors
Portfolio viewing share
Channel 4 10.5% 10.5% 10.2% 9.9% 101%
BBC 323% 316% 309% 307% 3%
ITV 21.3% 21.7% 23.2% 23.2% 22.2%
Channel 5 6.2% 6.5% 6.3% 6.5% 6.7%
Source: BARB allindividuals.
Portfolio high peak-time viewing share 8-11pm
Channel 4 12.5% 12.7% 12.6% 12.2% 12.8%
BBC 321% 31.3% 296% 30.3% 29.4%
TV 23.5% 23.6% 252% 246% 22.8%
Channe! 5 73% 15% 12% 7.3% 8.0%
Source: BARB allindividuals.
SOCl portfolio
Channel 4 15.6% 15.4% 14.7% 14.3% 14.7%
TV 34.4% 34.5% 361% 357% 34.6%
Channel 5 9.2% 9.4% 8§9% 9.0% 9.6%
Sky 248% 255% 261% 272% 27.4%
Source: TechEdge.
SOCI portfolio ABC1s’
Channel 4 17.9% 17.5% 16.6% 16.2% 16.3%
ITV 337% 34.0% 357% 35.3% 34.7%
Channel 5 8.6% 8.8% 88% 8.9% 9.5%
Sky 23.6% 24.0% 24.2% 25.5% 25.9%
1 See also Key Performance Indicators on pages 134 to 135
Source: TechEdge
SOCI portfolio 16-34-year-clds’
Channel 4 21.5% 21.4% 208% 20.9% 21.3%
ITV 273% 28.8% 324% 329% 30.0%
Channel 5 8.4% 8.4% 8.0% 8.0% 8.5%
Sky 25.5% 24.8% 241% 257% 27.9%

1 Seealso Key Performance Indicators on pages 13410 135
Source: TechEdge.
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Historical record

20M 2012 2012 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
£m £m £m fm £m £m £m £m £m £m
Consolidated results
Revenue o41 925 908 938 979 995 960 975 985 934
Operating surplus/(deficit) 41 (29) (15} 4 24 (18) (25) 8 (270 Fal
Net financial income/{expense) 2 1 (1} M {1 - (4] - m 4}
Gain on sale of investment - - - - - - 8 4 5
Share of profit/(loss} in joint venture/
investments 2 1 - 1 3 3 1 - {2) -
Fair value loss on joint venture - - - - - - - 9) - -
Gain on bargain purchase - - - - - - - 5 - -
Surplus/ideficit) before taxation 45 (27) (16) 4 26 (15) (17) 5 (26) 74
Taxation (10) - 1 M - (3) 2 (2) 1 (5}
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 35 27 (15) 3 26 (18) (15) 3 {25) 69
Allfigures are shown in accordance with IFRS.
Advertising sales
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m Em
Channel 4 Sales House 1,008 1009 1,036 1,073 107 1,203 13166 1183 1161 1,047
Total TV market 3754 3808 3936 4169 4478 4485 4342 47344 4191 3,698

Source (Total TV Market} Thinkbeox. Channel 4 Sales House revenues are based oninternaldata and include immaterial revenue streams nat included inthe Thinkbox Total TV market

Audience share (portfolio}

2011 2012 2013 2014 2075 216 2017 2018 2019 2020
% % % % % % % % % %

BBC 329 336 324 331 328 321 316 309 307 311
ITv 231 224 231 22.0 21.2 21.3 217 23.2 232 222
Channel 4 excluding $4C 11.6 15 1.0 10.9 10.6 10.5 105 10.2 99 10.1
Channel 5 59 6.0 6.0 59 6.0 6.2 6.5 6.3 6.5 67
Qther 265 265 215 281 294 299 297 294 297 29.9
Total 10006 1000 1000 1000 100.0 1000 1000 100.0 100.0 1000
Source- BARB all individuals
Audience share

20M 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

% % % % % % % % % %

BBC One 207 2.3 21.0 217 219 220 218 213 209 21.3
BBC Two 6.6 61 58 a1 57 59 5.8 5.8 57 5.6
ITV and GMTV 16.6 15.7 16.2 15.6 15.0 15.4 155 16.9 16.9 16.7
Channel 4 excluding $4C 6.8 6.6 61 59 59 5.9 59 59 5.8 5.9
Channel 5 4.4 45 4.4 4.4 4.2 41 42 4.0 4.0 4.3
Other 449 45.8 46.5 46.3 473 467 46.8 467 467 46.2
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 1000 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Saurce. BARB allinoividuals
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